ALRC 82

Integrity: but not by trust alone AFP & NCA complaints and disciplinary systems

Contents

Terms of references Overview List of Recommendations

1. INTRODUCTION

The references

The AFP reference

The NCA reference

Other reports and work

Federal reports and inquiries

Queensland

Western Australia

New South Wales

Victoria

Overseas

Other Australian complaints systems

International approaches

The Commission's work

Structure of this report

2. COMMISSION'S APPROACH

Introduction

Complaints and disciplinary systems in context

Major task - achieving an appropriate balance between internal and external responsibilities

Balancing different demands

Law enforcement misconduct

The Commission's key recommendations

Objectives of a complaints system

Major objectives

Prevention of the causes of complaints and corruption

3. ASSESSING THE AFP COMPLAINTS SYSTEM

Introduction

Background

The current AFP complaints process

Criticisms of the AFP complaints system

Submissions and consultations

4. A COMPLAINTS MODEL FOR THE AFP

Introduction

Existing investigative models

Option 1. An internal investigation model

Option 2. An external investigation model

Option 3. Internal investigation with external oversight

Option 4. Combination of internal and external investigations

The Commission's favoured option: a single agency with a focus on handling complaints and anti-corruption policies and mechanisms

5. A COMPLAINTS SYSTEM FOR THE NCA

Introduction

Background

The current complaints process

Major defects of the current NCA complaints process

A formal complaints system including external review necessary

Which body should provide external scrutiny?

The NCA's views

The Commission's response

Funding

Summary of Commission's views

Should the IGC and the PJC be part of the NCA complaints system?

The secrecy provisions

A dedicated internal investigations unit?

6. THE NIIC'S ROLE, STRUCTURE AND POWERS

Introduction

The NIIC - role, functions and structure

Staffing

Funding

Powers

Confidentiality provision

Accountability

Intelligence data

NIIC research and policy role and related reporting obligations

Possible extensions to the NIIC's work and jurisdiction

7. THE NIIC'S INVESTIGATIVE PROCEDURES AND RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AFP AND NCA

Introduction

The general relationship

Categories of complaints

Dealing with Category A complaints (serious criminality, corruption or significant public interest)

Dealing with Category B complaints (serious misconduct)

Dealing with Category C complaints (minor)

Resolving any major conflicts

Time limits

Role of the IID

8. RESPONSES TO THE NIIC

Introduction

The need for an external corruption body

Commission's views

Should complaints and corruption be dealt with by one external agency?

Civil liberties issues

Cost effectiveness

Staffing

Funding

Additional comments on current expenditure

Submissions

Some other suggested alternatives to the NIIC

9. REASONS FOR ESTABLISHING THE NIIC

Introduction

How should the NIIC be characterised?

The potential variety and sensitivity of matters relating to the AFP and NCA

Major advantages of the NIIC

Costs

The paramount need for law enforcement integrity and accountability

Special difficulties in achieving and maintaining integrity and accountability

The constant risk of significant corruption and misconduct

Special risks for the AFP and the NCA

Difficulties of detecting and dealing with misconduct and corruption

10. DISCIPLINARY SYSTEMS FOR THE AFP AND NCA

Introduction

Current AFP non-disciplinary responses to misconduct or poor performance Application of these options to the NCA

The AFP disciplinary process

Comments on the current AFP disciplinary process

A new approach: managerial responsibility and administrative review

The lack of a formal NCA disciplinary process

Administrative review by the AAT of NCA decisions

11. CONSEQUENCES OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BY THE AAT

Introduction

The standard of proof

Modified right to silence

Derivative use

Proceedings normally to be public

Parties to a decision

Limit on the availability of administrative review

Costs

Individual liability for costs

Legal assistance

Appeals from the Tribunal

Reforms to disciplinary proceedings

12. ADR. SANCTIONS AND PROVISION OF INFORMATION

Introduction

ADR

Sanctions

Should superannuation orders be available?

Providing information

Legislative structure of the disciplinary systems

13. ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION PLANS AND MEASURES

Introduction

Need for planning

Anti-corruption measures

Training and education

Articulating rights and responsibilities

Potential for a national or regional strategy

14. SCOPE OF COMPLAINTS SYSTEMS

Introduction

Definition of complaint

Removal of the distinction between 'allegations' and 'complaints'

Discretion not to investigate

Who may be subject to a complaint?

Who should be able to complain?

Recording complaints outcomes

Use of offences to achieve proper scope of complaints system

Protection and encouragement of whistleblowers Other issues

15. PROCESSING COMPLAINTS

Introduction
Receiving complaints
Recording complaints
Information and advertising

16. SPECIAL NEEDS OF THE TERRITORIES

Introduction
The ACT
Jervis Bay
The external territories

17. GROUPS WHO MAY HAVE SPECIAL NEEDS

Introduction

Part 1 - Internal complaints

AFP's EEO policy and grievance systems

NCA's EEO policies and grievance procedures

Women in Policing Conference

Part 2 - External complaints

AFP complaints system and Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders

People from non-English speaking backgrounds

Gays and lesbians

Women

Youth

People with disabilities

Appendix A: Participants
Appendix B: Abbreviations
Appendix C: List of Submissions
Appendix D: International Obligations

Select Bibliography Table of Legislation Table of Cases

Index

This Report reflects the law as at 22 November 1996.

© Commonwealth of Australia 1996

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission. Inquiries should be directed to the Manager, Commonwealth Information Services, Australian Government Publishing Service, GPO Box 84, Canberra ACT 2601.

ISBN 0 642 26423 6

Commission Reference: ALRC 82

The Australian Law Reform Commission was established by the *Law Reform Commission Act 1973*. Section 6 provides for the Commission to review, modernise and simplify the law. It started operation in 1975.

Terms of references

Australian Federal Police

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA

Law Reform Commission Act 1973

- I, MICHAEL LAVARCH, Attorney-General of Australia, HAVING REGARD TO:
- (a) the importance of the Australian Federal Police (AFP) in Australia's law enforcement efforts;
- (b) Australia's obligations under international law, including under -
 - the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
 - the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
 - the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
 - the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment
 - the Convention on the Rights of the Child;
- (c) the responsibility of the Commonwealth to protect human rights and civil liberties and the need to maintain a proper balance between that protection on the one hand and protection of the community by practical and effective law enforcement on the other;
- (d) Australian Law Reform Commission Reports No. 1 Complaints against Police 1975 and No. 9 Complaints against Police Supplementary Report 1978;
- (e) the passage of time since the enactment of the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981* (Cth) and any changes in public attitudes towards the accountability of police in that time;
- (f) the attainment of self-government by the Australian Capital Territory; and
- (g) the report of the Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs on the Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Amendment Bill 1994;

in pursuance of section 6 of the Law Reform Commission Act 1973 (the Act), at the request of the Minister for Justice and the AFP, HEREBY REFER to the Law Reform Commission for inquiry and report the Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981 (Cth) (the Act).

In particular the Commission is to inquire into and report on:

- (a) the complaints and disciplinary system applying to police and staff members of the AFP in its entirety, including all related laws and subordinate instructions;
- (b) whether the Act and associated legislation meets the expectations of the public in terms of police accountability, effectiveness and efficiency;
- (c) the laws, practices and procedures for handling complaints against police in the Australian States and Territories and in comparable overseas jurisdictions;
- (d) appropriate standards for handling complaints against police;

- (e) appropriate ways to handle complaints against police, including through use of mediation and conciliation in cases involving minor complaints;
- (f) the appropriateness of sanctions provided for in the Act and associated legislation, including the forfeiture of superannuation benefits;
- (g) means by which the Government of the Australian Capital Territory can be more involved in cases where complaints or allegations are directed against police and staff members of the AFP under the command of the Chief Police Officer for the Australian Capital Territory or against the practices and procedures applicable to that command;
- (h) any related matters of particular relevance to Australia's external territories; and
- (i) what amendments, if any, should be made to the Act and other legislation applying to police and staff members of the AFP.

IN PERFORMING its functions in relation to the reference, the Commission is to consult widely among the Australian community, particularly in the Australian Capital Territory and Norfolk Island, with the AFP and other relevant federal, State and Territory authorities and with relevant non-government organisations.

THE COMMISSION IS REQUIRED to report not later than 30 June 1996.

DATED 29 March 1995

Michael Lavarch

National Crime Authority

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA

Law Reform Commission Act 1973

I, MICHAEL LAVARCH, Attorney-General of Australia, HAVING REGARD TO:

- (a) the importance of the National Crime Authority (NCA) in Australia's law enforcement efforts;
- (b) Australia's obligations under international law;
- (c) the responsibility of the Commonwealth to protect human rights and civil liberties and the need to maintain a proper balance between that protection on the one hand and protection of the community by practical and effective law enforcement on the other;
- (d) Australian Law Reform Commission Reports No. 1 Complaints against Police 1975 and No. 9 Complaints against Police Supplementary Report 1978;
- (e) the reports of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority Who is to Guard the Guards?: An Evaluation of the National Crime Authority 1991 and Investigating Complaints Made against the National Crime Authority 1994;
- (f) terms of reference given to the Commission on 29 March 1995 to inquire into and report on the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981* (Cth);

in pursuance of section 6 of the *Law Reform Commission Act 1973* (the Act), at the request of the Minister for Justice and the NCA and with the agreement of the Inter-Governmental Committee on the NCA, HEREBY REFER to the Law Reform Commission for inquiry and report procedures for the investigation and resolution of complaints against the NCA and staff members of the NCA or police officers seconded to the NCA.

In particular the Commission is to inquire into and report on:

- (a) the complaints and disciplinary system applying to police and staff members of the NCA in its entirety, including all related laws and subordinate instructions;
- (b) whether the complaints and disciplinary system meets the expectations of the public in terms of accountability, effectiveness and efficiency;
- (c) appropriate standards for handling these complaints;
- (d) appropriate ways to handle these complaints, including the use of mediation and conciliation in cases involving minor complaints;
- (e) appropriate sanctions to be applied if a complaint is established;
- (f) what laws, if any, should be enacted to give effect to the Commission's recommendations.

The Commission is to consider the particular situation of police officers seconded to the NCA and the appropriateness or otherwise of their being subject to any complaints system established for the NCA rather than to complaints systems for the police services from which they were seconded.

The Commission should undertake this inquiry in conjunction with its inquiry under the terms of reference dated 29 March 1995 referred to above.

IN PERFORMING its functions in relation to the reference, the Commission is to:

- (a) have regard to the laws, practices and procedures for handling complaints against police in the Australian Federal Police (AFP) and in Australian States and Territories and in comparable overseas jurisdictions;
- (b) consult widely among the Australian community, with the NCA, the AFP and State and Territory police services, with other relevant federal, State and Territory authorities and with relevant non-government organisations.

THE COMMISSION IS REQUIRED to report not later than 30 June 1996.

DATED 26/7/95

Michael Lavarch

Overview

Integrity without knowledge is weak and useless, and knowledge without integrity is dangerous and dreadful.

Samuel Johnson, Rasselas (1759) 41

The Australian Law Reform Commission has reviewed the complaints and disciplinary processes of the Australian Federal Police (AFP) and the National Crime Authority (NCA).

A list of the Commission's recommendations is set out in this report.

Complaints and disciplinary systems are vital in ensuring that law enforcement agencies perform according to high standards of integrity and accountability. They must also support the achievement of the specific objectives of effective and efficient law enforcement.

The Commission considers that a new approach is necessary for complaints and disciplinary processes for the AFP and NCA to ensure that this balance between accountability and effectiveness is properly maintained. The Commission is recommending a single and comprehensive framework of accountability to replace the present fragmented systems.

Complaints systems

Objectives

The Commission has found general agreement that the major objectives of the AFP and NCA complaints systems are to

- ensure public confidence in the agencies
- be credible to the agencies and their officers
- be accessible
- promote appropriate standards of conduct from officers
- provide feedback to management
- take into account other agency priorities
- be timely in process and outcome
- use resources efficiently.

The Commission has determined that an effective complaints system must also deal specifically with corruption issues and, in response to those issues, provide adequate preventive and proactive measures with effective external scrutiny.

Assessment of present systems

The Commission considers that the current AFP complaints process provided for by the *Complaints* (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981 (Cth) fails to meet these objectives for complaints and corruption. The Commission has reached the same conclusion in relation to the NCA complaints process which is tainted by the lack of any formal external scrutiny. These conclusions in respect of the AFP and the NCA are generally supported by the consultations the Commission undertook, the submissions it received and a number of case studies that it examined.

Special issues for the NCA

Consideration of NCA complaints and disciplinary processes is complicated by the diverse workforce of the NCA. NCA staff may fall within one of the following categories:

- those employed under the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth)
- seconded personnel (eg AFP, State and Territory police officers or other law enforcement officers)
- legal counsel
- task forces (officers of the AFP, State and Territory police services and other agencies may be members of NCA task forces under the NCA Act).

The NCA currently has no legislatively based complaints system. Instead the NCA has an internal administrative arrangement for complaints to be dealt with internally. The NCA often refers complaints about seconded officers or task force members to the home agencies.

The Commission recommends that the NCA Chairperson, members and all staff members should be subject to an NCA complaints system. This single system would provide the clearest line of procedure, accountability and consistency.

Seconded police, consultants, legal practitioners and task force members would only be subject to the NCA complaints procedure in relation to their work for the NCA. For example, Task Force members from a State or Territory agency would only be subject to the NCA complaints procedure in their capacity as a member of that Task Force. The legislation could specify the range of conduct covered by providing that the action that may be subject to the operation of the NCA complaints provisions is that action in performance or purported performance of the person's powers or functions under the NCA Act or action arising directly or indirectly in the course of the person's employment or engagement under the NCA Act.

NIIC

The Commission has concluded that, in order to achieve the proper objectives of the AFP and NCA complaints systems, the level and effectiveness of external scrutiny should be increased. Therefore the Commission has recommended that a new body should be the external complaints and anti-corruption authority for the AFP and the NCA. That new body, the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC), is specially designed to meet the particular integrity and accountability demands of the AFP and the NCA. It would be an auditor, with full access to all relevant information, of the AFP's and NCA's performances in relation to integrity and accountability. It would replace the Commonwealth Ombudsman in relation to complaints and would be the first external agency introduced to handle NCA complaints.

The NIIC would

- focus specifically on the AFP and NCA
- have two main divisions the Office of the Commissioner for Complaints and the Office for Anti-Corruption
- have a staff of about 30 with about 15 investigators and be located in Canberra
- have royal commission powers exercisable in relation to issues of integrity and accountability
- be subject to
 - the Privacy Act 1984 (Cth)
 - the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Cth)

- the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth)
- be accountable under its specific legislation to the Attorney-General with protocols established for monitoring the NIIC's performance and for handling any complaints made against it
- determine categories for complaints according to seriousness and public interest these categories would act as guidelines for determining the level of NIIC and AFP or NCA involvement in the investigation and handling of particular complaints
- conduct investigations into the most serious complaints and corruption matters
- have the capacity for overall direction and control of less serious matters but tailor its involvement to
 meet the particular circumstances of the case, including managing, supervising or reviewing
 investigations conducted by the AFP or NCA
- ordinarily audit the handling of minor complaints by the AFP or NCA
- audit AFP and NCA anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans and measures
- assist the AFP and NCA in the developing suitable training and education in relation to integrity and accountability
- have a research and policy role that includes keeping under continuous review trends and issues relating to AFP and NCA integrity and accountability, including complaints and disciplinary data.

Other recommendations

Other recommendations are to

- broaden the definition of complaint to include all situations where a person expressly or by implication seeks review of, or challenges, the validity or appropriateness of the conduct of an AFP or NCA officer or of the AFP or NCA as organisations
- remove the current distinction under the AFP complaints legislation between complaints and allegations
- remove any requirement for a person to have any particular interest or standing in a matter to be able to lodge a complaint
- introduce legislation to protect and encourage whistleblowers
- have statutory definitions of complaints investigations outcomes, namely *substantiated*, *unsubstantiated*, *incapable of determination* and *false*
- introduce criminal offences for officers who deliberately fail to record a complaint or who deliberately fail to report suspected criminal offences by officers
- impose a duty on AFP and NCA officers to inform persons under arrest or who are formally interviewed of the existence of the complaints process
- introduce measures to improve the accessibility of the complaints systems, including the provision of information and advertising
- amalgamate the investigative functions of the AFP's Internal Investigation Division (IID) and its Internal Security and Audit (ISA).

Disciplinary systems

Disciplinary systems are intended to ensure that agency personnel comply with appropriate standards of conduct. There is a policy imperative that law enforcement agencies must only have officers who meet the standards expected and demanded by those agencies.

The AFP has its own disciplinary process provided by the Complaints Act and the AFP Act. The Commission considers that the AFP disciplinary system retains many elements of the traditional paramilitary disciplinary model of discipline with its quasi-criminal focus. This model is outdated and unsatisfactory.

The NCA has no formal disciplinary process. Staff who are employed under the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth) are subject to Australian Public Service disciplinary proceedings. However, no other categories of NCA staff, including seconded police, come within that Public Service Disciplinary Code. The Commission recommends that the NCA should have its own disciplinary code that should apply to all NCA members and staff. The form and content of the NCA disciplinary code and the extent to which it applies to seconded officers and members of Task Forces should be determined after appropriate consultation with relevant federal, State and Territory agencies.

In the place of this traditional approach to discipline, the Commission is recommending a new managerial model that gives the AFP Commissioner and the NCA Chairperson primary responsibility and decision making for imposing discipline on their personnel.

However, this managerial decision making would be subject to review on the merits by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT). The one exception to this process of full merits review would be that the AAT would not be able to review decisions by the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson to terminate an officers appointment for 'loss of confidence', a term which would be statutorily defined.

As a consequence of these recommendations the Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal (FPDT) which currently has jurisdiction in relation to AFP disciplinary matters would no longer be necessary. The Commission has come to this conclusion on the basis that merits review of managerial decision making would be more readily and effectively carried out by the AAT than the FPDT.

Other recommendations

Other key recommendations are as follows.

- AFP and NCA supervisors should be able to take action other than formal disciplinary proceedings for minor disciplinary matters (eg issuing caution notices).
- Deductions of superannuation should not be available as a sanction for disciplinary offences (they are currently available in relation to AFP officers for certain disciplinary matters).
- Complainants and officers the subject of disciplinary proceedings should be given proper notification of, and reports on, complaints investigations and disciplinary proceedings.
- The right to seek review by the AAT of a disciplinary decision should be expressly limited to the officer the subject of a complaint and to the Chairperson of the NIIC where he or she is satisfied the penalty imposed is inadequate.
- The AAT should have the right to compel answers and the production of documents when reviewing cases involving the AFP and NCA. Evidence so given should not be admissible in criminal or civil proceedings apart from proceedings relating to contempt or giving false evidence before the Tribunal.
- The AAT should be able to award costs in AFP and NCA disciplinary matters.
- There should be a right of appeal on a question of law from the AAT to the Federal Court.

List of recommendations

Chapter 2 - Commission's approach

Objectives of AFP and NCA complaints systems

- 1. The main objectives for the AFP and NCA complaints systems are to
- ensure public confidence in these agencies and their complaints systems
- achieve proper accountability of the agencies and their officers
- be fair to complainants and to AFP and NCA officers and staff including taking into account the requirements of natural justice and privacy considerations
- be credible to the agencies and their officers and staff
- be accessible to the community
- promote appropriate standards of conduct, ethics and integrity from officers and staff and their agencies
- provide the appropriate response, particularly the appropriate level of investigation, to the full range of complaints, from minor to serious, including those involving corruption
- provide feedback to the agency about individual officers and staff, agency practices, procedures and operations
- take into account appropriately other agency priorities such as law enforcement operations
- be timely in process and outcome
- use resources efficiently.

These objectives should be included in an objects clause in the new legislation. They should also be incorporated in AFP and NCA codes of conduct and corporate goals and practice where appropriate.

Ensuring effective management responses

- 2. Complaints forms should contain a section on suggested remedial action and the consequences for management in relation to the particular complaint including implications for policies, practices and procedures. There should also be a record of follow-up and implementation.
- 3. AFP and NCA managements in consultation with the NIIC should consider how best to incorporate into their management processes proper consideration of complaints and misconduct including
- action in relation to specific officers and staff members
- management issues arising from complaints and misconduct
- implications for policies and practices (eg personnel selection, training, supervision, rules and procedures)
- regular reviews of the complaints and corruption systems and the disciplinary process.

- 4. The NIIC in consultation with the AFP and NCA should consider what information about complaints, corruption and discipline should be contained in their respective Annual Reports. The NIIC may consider establishing guidelines and standards. The Commission would expect that Annual Reports would include useful information on the incidence and nature of complaints and any action taken including an analysis of trends and managerial responses.
- 5. The NIIC should develop as part of its protocols with the AFP and the NCA a process for monitoring the implementation of its recommendations by the agencies.

Chapter 4 - A complaints model for the AFP

The National Integrity and Investigations Commission

6. A new single agency to be known as the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) should be established to investigate or manage/supervise the investigation of complaints against the AFP and the NCA.

Chapter 5 - A complaints system for the NCA

A complaints system for the NCA

- 7. The NCA should have a formal complaints system established under legislation that provides effective external participation and scrutiny.
- 8. There should be one uniform NCA complaints system applying to NCA members and all its staff that is, to (a) members and the Chairperson (b) staff employed under the Public Service Act, (b) seconded staff (c) consultants (d) legal practitioners and (e) members of task forces.
- 9. The National Integrity and Investigations Commission should provide external scrutiny of, and participation in, the system of complaints against the NCA and its staff.
- 10. The IGC and the PJC should not be part of the NCA complaints system.
- 11. There should be an exception to the NCA Act secrecy provisions so that
- it does not apply to a person making a complaint to the NCA or to the NIIC or to any person designated to be able to receive complaints about the NCA, and
- the appointed investigator of a complaint has full access to relevant information.

The Chairperson of the NIIC should have access to all information that the AFP and NCA has and may request information from each agency which is to provide it. The NIIC Chairperson should be in the same position as the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson in respect to access to information in respect to their agencies.

12. The NCA should have permanent arrangements in place for the handling of complaints and anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans and measures. The NCA should determine in consultation with the NIIC the best way to implement a permanent structure, including whether there should be a special unit.

Chapter 6 - The NIIC's role, structure and powers

13. The new legislation to establish the NIIC should include complaints provisions for both the AFP and the NCA. The Act should be called the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (Australian Federal Police and National Crime Authority Complaints) Act.

The Act should be drafted so that it is easy for a reader to identify and follow the complaints process.

- 14. The NIIC should have two main divisions
- the Office of the Commissioner for Complaints and
- the Office for Anti-Corruption.
- 15. The NIIC would have a full-time Chairperson, a full-time Commissioner for Complaints and at least one part-time Commissioner.

Miscarriages of justice

- 16. The NIIC should develop a procedure for dealing with cases where it forms the view that an AFP or NCA officer may have been guilty of obstructing the course of justice. The procedure should include efforts to determine the extent of the suspected corruption and who may have been adversely affected by it. It should also include notifying relevant authorities, for example, the Attorney-General, the DPP and any person that may have been adversely affected by the suspected corruption.
- 17. Consideration should be given to whether the Commonwealth Crimes Act should have provision for reviewing convictions, for example, similar to the NSW Crimes Act provisions for reviewing unsound convictions.

NIIC's powers

- 18. The NIIC should have conferred on it the full range of investigative and inquisitorial powers of a royal commission.
- 19. The NIIC's entry and search powers should accord with current Commonwealth policy as reflected by Part 1AA of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth).
- 20. The NIIC's power to punish for contempt should be drafted in such a way as to proscribe specific conduct rather than by attributing a general contempt power to the NIIC.
- 21. The NIIC Act should provide that the NIIC has the power of control and direction of any investigation about the AFP or the NCA in relation to a complaint or corruption.
- 22. The NIIC should have the power to make recommendations, give opinions and make assessments to the AFP or the NCA on the basis of its investigations or those of agencies which it has managed or directed.
- 23. The NIIC should have a power to make recommendations to provide a specific remedy for a complainant where it reports that a complaint is substantiated including
- an apology or explanation
- financial compensation or restitution of property
- a change in decision or course of action.
- 24. The NIIC should be empowered to inquire into a matter relating to the AFP or the NCA that is referred to it by the Attorney-General.

Confidentiality provision

25. The Chairperson of the NIIC, its members and staff should be subject to a confidentiality provision. It would be an offence for them to make unauthorised disclosures of information obtained in the course of their functions or exercise of powers.

Duty to report misconduct

26. An AFP appointee should face a criminal charge in relation to a wilful or intentional failure to report as soon as practicable, when that appointee was under a duty to do so, the commission of, or a reasonable suspicion of, the commission of a criminal offence by an AFP appointee. There should be a defence that the person had a reasonable belief that there was no obligation upon him or her to report the matter or that he or she had a reasonable belief that he or she had discharged the obligation. A negligent or careless failure should constitute a disciplinary offence with the same excuse of reasonable belief.

The failure to report a breach of a disciplinary rule or a breach of the law other than a criminal law when under a duty to do so should be the subject of a disciplinary proceeding. The excuse of reasonable belief should also apply.

The same provisions should apply to the NCA.

Similar provisions should apply to NIIC officers so that they have a duty to report in relation to their staff and also in relation to AFP and NCA officers.

Accountability

27. The NIIC should be accountable to the federal Attorney-General who would have portfolio responsibility for NIIC thus complementing the Attorney's portfolio responsibility for the AFP and NCA.

Duty to report a 'reportable matter'

28. Every AFP appointee other than the AFP Commissioner and every NCA staff member other than the NCA Chairperson would be obliged to report a 'reportable matter' as soon as practicable to the Commissioner of the AFP or the Chairperson of the NCA respectively and to the NIIC.

Complaints against the NIIC

29. The NIIC Act should provide that the Chairperson of the NIIC must report to the Attorney-General any complaint of misconduct against the NIIC or its staff. The Attorney-General's Department and the NIIC as part of their protocol should establish procedures for the reporting of complaints and action that should be taken in response including monitoring and review.

Intelligence database

- 30. The NIIC should have an intelligence database that would collect, analyse and disseminate information particularly about criminal activities including corruption.
- 31. The NIIC database should be designed and maintained after consultation with the AFP, the NCA and other relevant agencies. Duplication of resources and effort should be avoided and appropriate protocols for the exchange of information developed.

Privacy Act and Freedom of Information Act to apply

32. The NIIC should be subject to the provisions of the *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth). The Privacy Commissioner should audit the information handling process of the NIIC and report to the Attorney-General. The *Freedom of Information Act 1982* (Cth) should also apply.

Research and policy role

33. The NIIC should keep under continuous review trends relating to relevant aspects of AFP and NCA conduct coming to its notice and in particular trends relating to complaints and corruption. It should also monitor AFP and NCA cultures and undertake research relating to complaints and corruption and make recommendations on those matters.

34. The outcomes of the research and policy work of the NIIC should be published at large except where operational security or privacy laws dictate otherwise.

Developing a national scheme

35. A body such as the Australian Police Ministers' Council should consider developing a national scheme for investigations including accreditation for investigators with appropriate skills and integrity checks and arrangements for the interchange or sharing of information, facilities, equipment and other resources.

Potential for extended jurisdiction

36. If the NIIC is established, active consideration should be given to the proposal that its role should be extended to other aspects of federal law enforcement.

Developing national standards

37. Consideration should be given to developing national standards for law enforcement complaints and disciplinary standards. This process could be begun through bodies such as the Australian Police Ministers' Council.

Intercept audit function

38. Consideration should be given to the NIIC auditing telephone intercepts conducted by the AFP and the NCA.

Chapter 7 - The NIIC's investigative procedures and relationship with the AFP and NCA

Categories and guidelines

39. The NIIC should issue guidelines about investigative procedures for different categories of complaints. The Commission considers that the main categories should be

- Category A serious criminality, corruption and significant public interest
- Category B misconduct
- Category C customer service matters
- Category D internal management matters.

Investigative procedures

40. The NIIC should have different investigative procedures depending on the category of the matter.

(i) Category A for the AFP

For Category A complaints involving the AFP the NIIC should investigate the matter itself with the power to request that the AFP provide personnel and/or facilities and equipment.

(ii) Category A for the NCA

For Category A complaints involving the NCA the NIIC should investigate the matter itself with the power to request that the NCA provide personnel and/or facilities and equipment. Where it appears to the NIIC that a complaint against the NCA or a staff member is a Category A complaint that goes *beyond the conduct of AFP* seconded personnel, the NIIC would consult with any State or Territory agency whose staff were involved as to the appropriate course of action including the matter's investigation.

Preferably the NIIC and all relevant State and Territory agencies should develop memoranda of understanding on the process of investigation of complaints involving the NCA and seconded staff, consultants or joint task force members.

One option that should be available and specified in the legislation would be the establishment by the NIIC of an Investigatory Board to assist it in investigating the complaint or aspects of the complaint. The legislation should not prescribe the composition of any Board. This would be a matter for the NIIC and the relevant agencies to determine in the particular circumstances.

(iii) Category B for the AFP

For Category B complaints involving the AFP the NIIC would

- require the AFP Commissioner to conduct an internal investigation with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC, or
- establish a joint investigation with the AFP and, where appropriate, including members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers, or
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considered that the nature of the complaint was such that it ought to conduct the entire investigation by itself this would be the only option available if the complaint concerned the Commissioner of the AFP or a Deputy Commissioner, or
- refer a complaint that concerns the AFP generally to the Commissioner of the AFP for consideration and response.

(iv) Category B for the NCA

For Category B complaints involving the NCA the NIIC would

- refer a complaint about the actions of a staff member to the Chairperson of the NCA for investigation and report with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC, or
- conduct the investigation but with involvement from the NCA and, where appropriate, members of
 other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations
 would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where
 necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers, or
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considers that the nature of the complaint is such that it ought not be investigated internally by the NCA in the first instance this would the only option available if the complaint concerned the Chairperson of the NCA or a member, or
- refer a complaint that concerns the NCA generally to the Chairperson of the NCA for consideration and response.

(v) Categories C and D

Category C complaints (customer service) would be dealt with by informal resolution provided by the AFP or the NCA. The NIIC would be advised of all such complaints and their resolution and have powers of review and audit.

Category D complaints (internal management matters) would, if they came to the attention of the NIIC, be referred back to management for appropriate action. The NIIC would be able to review any decision taken by management.

Resolving major conflicts

41. The NIIC legislation should provide that the Commissioner of the AFP and the Chairperson of the NCA may serve a certificate on the Chairperson of the NIIC to the effect that the Commissioner or the Chairperson (as appropriate) is satisfied that a course of action contemplated or undertaken by the NIIC would seriously prejudice, or is seriously prejudicing, an operation of the AFP or NCA and that appropriate consultation with the NIIC has not resolved this concern.

The legislation should also provide that, where the Commissioner or the Chairperson issues such a certificate, the Chairperson of the NIIC shall not undertake the relevant action or continue it unless satisfied that the need for action outweighs the concerns of the AFP Commissioner or NCA Chairperson.

The Chairperson of the NIIC would be required to report the service of a certificate immediately to the Attorney-General and report on the issue of any certificates, and the response of the NIIC to those certificates, in each NIIC Annual Report, subject to privacy considerations and operational security requirements.

Time limits

42. There should be time limits for action in relation to complaints. These would be set out in guidelines issued by the NIIC.

Role of the IID

- 43. The IID and ISA should be amalgamated to form a new IID.
- 44. The objectives of the IID should be provided for in the complaints legislation.
- 45. There should be no statutory requirement that only the IID can be involved in, or conduct, complaints or corruption investigations concerning the AFP. This recognises that there may be occasions where it would be more appropriate to use all or some non-IID personnel.
- 46. The AFP should continue to improve the calibre, training and status of the IID.

Chapter 10 - Disciplinary systems for the AFP and NCA

Options for AFP management

- 47. The AFP management should continue to have a wide range of options available to it to deal with inadequate or poor performance or misconduct. This should include fixed term appointments, an effective performance appraisal system and the capacity to retire a person as provided for under s 26E.
- 48. Section 26E should be amended so that merits review for decisions under that section relating to failure to meet employment standards would be provided by the AAT.

Section 26E should also be amended to refer to decisions by the Commissioner to retire a person that is based on 'loss of confidence' by the Commissioner in an appointee. 'Loss of confidence' should be defined as situations where the Commissioner is of the view based on reasonable grounds that the ethics, character, integrity or honesty of the appointee is such that he or she is no longer suitable for service in the AFP. In situations where the s 26E decision is based on a judgement of 'loss of confidence' the AAT should be restricted to reviewing decisions by the AFP Commissioner as to whether any compensation should be provided and, if so, its amount. The AAT would not be able to order the reinstatement of the person the subject of a decision of loss of confidence.

There would be no merits review of decisions made under s 26F.

Options for NCA management

49. Consideration should be given to the NCA having its own employment regime including fixed term appointments, a power similar to s 26E (expanded to include 'loss of confidence') and effective performance appraisal. Any equivalent to a s 26E provision should be subject to merits review by the AAT as recommended for s 26E itself (see rec 48).

Merits review by AAT

50. The AAT should provide review on the merits of misconduct decisions by the AFP.

NCA misconduct code

51. The NCA should have its own misconduct code that applies to all NCA members and staff. The preferable method for achieving this is for the NCA to enter into agreements with the relevant home agencies of seconded officers or joint task force members to enable those officers to be subject to the misconduct system of the NCA in relation to their actions or purported actions under the NCA Act or the exercise of their powers and functions under the NCA Act.

AAT review of NCA misconduct decisions

52. The AAT should provide merits review of NCA misconduct decisions.

Chapter 11 - Consequences of administrative review by the AAT

Standard of proof

53. The appropriate standard of proof should be in disciplinary review proceedings the 'balance of probabilities.'

Modified right to silence

- 54. There should be no right to silence during investigations by the NIIC. However, as is currently the case for investigations by the IID, no information obtained under a direction should be admissible against the member in any civil or criminal proceeding other than misconduct proceedings. The IID's power to compel answers from a member of the AFP during an investigation should continue.
- 55. The NIIC when conducting a hearing should have the power to compel answers and the production of documents. Such information should not be admissible in evidence against the person in criminal or civil proceedings but should be admissible in misconduct proceedings.
- 56. The AAT should likewise have the same powers as those investigating complaints, that is, to compel answers and the production of documents when reviewing cases involving the AFP and NCA. However, evidence so given should not be admissible in criminal or civil proceedings apart from proceedings relating to contempt or giving false evidence before the Tribunal.

Derivative use

- 57. A immunity against derivative use should be included in the immunities given in relation to the abrogation of the privilege against self incrimination for the IID and NIIC investigations and hearings and during AAT review.
- 58. There should be no prohibition against the use of compelled evidence in proceedings to which the party from whom the evidence was compelled is a witness.

Proceedings normally to be public

59. Review of misconduct decisions by the AAT should be in public unless the AAT determines otherwise as currently provided for under the AAT Act s 35.

Parties to a decision

60. The right to seek review by the AAT of a disciplinary decision should be expressly limited to the officer the subject of the action and to the Chairperson of the NIIC where he or she is satisfied that the penalty imposed is inadequate.

Availability of administrative review

61. There should be no limit on the availability of review by the AAT according to the type of sanction imposed. However, there would be a filing fee for making an application for review. The amount of the fee should be determined by considering such fees in other similar jurisdictions, particularly the AAT's jurisdiction.

Costs

- 62. The legislation for the AFP and the NCA should provide that the AAT may award costs. It should also provide that as a general rule each party should bear their own costs but also specify the following exceptions where the AAT
- makes a decision more favourable to the applicant then the AAT should be able to order that all or part of the costs of the proceedings should be paid by the respondent
- is satisfied that the application for review is wholly unreasonable or frivolous then it may order that the applicant pay all or part of the costs of the proceedings
- determines to impose its own disciplinary and case management costs orders to enhance compliance with AAT procedures
- is satisfied that an order for costs is necessary to permit the party to present his or her case properly or to negotiate a fair settlement taking into account the resources of the parties and the likely costs of the proceedings to each party.

Individual liability for costs

63. There should be no statutory discretion for the AFP Commissioner or the Chairperson of the NCA to be able to require an individual officer to pay all or part of the agency's legal costs where the Commissioner or Chairperson is satisfied that the officer's misconduct was intentional or reckless and led to charges against an individual being dismissed or for a person being wrongly charged in the first place.

Legal assistance

64. The current AAT provision about legal assistance should apply for the review of AFP and NCA misconduct decisions.

Appeals

65. There should be a right of appeal on a question of law to the Federal Court in accordance with the existing procedures of the AAT.

Removal of inappropriate terminology

66. The terms 'discipline' or 'disciplinary' should be removed from the legislation and the term 'misconduct' substituted. All language that has usage in criminal matters should also be avoided in the legislation such as 'guilt' and 'offences' and 'charges'.

Need for negligence proceeding

67. A misconduct proceeding that an appointee was negligent or careless in the discharge of his or her duties should be included in the AFP misconduct legislation.

Chapter 12 - ADR, sanctions and provision of information

Principles for ADR

68. The NIIC in consultation with the AFP and NCA and peak ADR bodies should develop a series of principles and guidelines to determine the use of ADR for complaints. This should include

- in consultation with NADRAC and other peak bodies developing appropriate definitions of the types of resolution to be used including informal resolution and mediation
- a policy that mediators should be independent and have appropriate training
- guidelines about the use of ADR for different types of complaints including sexual harassment cases
- guidelines about time limits but they should be subject to flexibility where there is genuine evidence of a matter being resolved.

Use of informal resolution

69. The use of informal resolution for appropriate cases as determined by guidelines developed by the NIIC and the AFP and the NCA should be encouraged. Its use and effectiveness should be monitored and audited by the NIIC.

Should ADR be compulsory in any case?

70. Complainants should not be required to agree or be pressured into agreeing to any form of ADR. The officer's consent for informal resolution of minor matters should not be required. In all other cases the officer's consent for participating in ADR should be necessary.

Admissibility

71. Statement or answers made by subject officers in the course of ADR should not be admissible in any proceedings nor should they be available for employment related purposes.

ADR and official records

72. The AFP and NCA should keep records of both referral to ADR and also the outcome of the ADR process. Such records might be kept on performance review documents rather than personnel files but there must be a co-ordinated system that provides a full employment history and profile.

Time limits

73. Any time limits imposed on the alternative dispute resolution process should be flexible to allow for situations where there is genuine evidence of movement between the parties.

Conferencing

74. The AFP and NCA should consult with peak bodies about the use of conferencing in these areas and if it is considered a worthwhile option to explore for some categories of complaints should consider a feasibility study with appropriate guidelines and reporting.

Power of suspension

75. The power of suspension should continue with the following additional elements

- the AFP Commissioner should be able to approve where appropriate an appointee undertaking paid employment during the period of the suspension
- immediately upon being suspended, an appointee must surrender his or her certificate of identity, uniform and equipment issued to him or her for the performance of his or her duties
- an appointee who does not surrender the above things is guilty of an offence and a warrant may be issued to search for those things and to seize them
- an appointee who has been suspended must comply with an order to return temporarily to work a failure to comply would be an offence
- an appointee who is suspended must not, while on suspension, enter any AFP premises, other than those areas available to the public, unless under a direction to do so a penalty would apply to a breach of this requirement.

Dealing with minor misconduct

76. For minor cases of misconduct, supervisors and managers should be able to take positive, direct and immediate responses including requiring attendance at counselling or training programs or issuing Caution Notices. These should be able to be issued on the spot. A failure to respond to these lower level measures may result in a misconduct proceeding being commenced.

The penalty of admonishment should be removed from the regulations.

Telegraphing penalties

77. The AFP Commissioner should have a discretion to advise an AFP appointee, who is the subject of a disciplinary proceeding, of the penalty, or the range of penalty, that the Commissioner would impose if he or she were to find that the action against the officer was sustained.

The legislation should provide that the AFP appointee who is the subject of the action is able to request the Commissioner to exercise that discretion. The Commissioner should determine in a particular matter to what extent the penalty will be specified. The Commissioner should be bound by any indication given if the matter proceeds to the determination of the penalty. No inference as to responsibility on the part of the appointee should be able to be drawn from the fact that the appointee has sought an indication of penalty in any matter where that appointee subsequently contests the proceeding.

Sanctions

78. The following sanctions should be available to the Commissioner in all situations where a misconduct proceeding is proved

- reprimand
- counselling, training or retraining

- fines
- reduction in rank or seniority
- reduction in remuneration.
- 79. Regulation 22(2) of the AFP (Discipline) Regulations should be amended to ensure that the Commissioner has access to the full range of sanctions in all cases.

Superannuation orders should not be available

80. Superannuation orders should not be available as a sanction for a misconduct proceeding or under s 26F of the AFP Act for serious misconduct. Consequently s 49 of the AFP Act should be repealed.

Expungement

81. There should be no statutory provision for the expungement of misconduct proceedings.

Reporting to complainants about investigations

82. Complainants and officers the subject of a complaint should be given regular reports on the progress of any investigation. This should be subject to, particularly in the case of reporting to the officer, any necessary protection of the privacy and confidentiality of the complainant and any measures necessary to protect operational security.

Reports should contain sufficient information for a complainant to understand and follow the course of the investigation and decision-making process. Where a complaint is not investigated or substantiated the reasons for this should be provided to the complainant. That might involve for example, an explanation of the standard of proof that applies.

Contact officers

83. The NIIC, the AFP and the NCA should designate a contact officer for a complainant in respect of each individual complaint. That person would be responsible for periodically reporting to the complainant about the progress of the investigation, the reasons for any significant delay and for answering any direct inquiries from the complainant. One possibility is an obligation of reporting at least monthly. This could be done where appropriate by telephone.

Reporting on misconduct proceedings

84. The AFP and NCA should advise complainants that disciplinary or criminal action has been or is to be taken against a member arising out of that complainant's matter. Complainants should also be informed of the outcomes of those proceedings or actions and wherever possible this should be done in person or verbally.

Officers the subject of the complaint should also receive similar notification.

85. The AFP and the NCA should disseminate widely information about the results of proceedings throughout their respective organisations subject to appropriate protection of the identity of complainants. For example, this could be done by using gazettes, in-house information bulletins and notice boards.

Legislative structure

- 86. The AFP misconduct regulations should remain under the AFP Act.
- 87. The misconduct provisions to be drafted for the NCA should be provided for under the NCA Act.

Chapter 13 - Anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans and measures

Integrity testing

88. The AFP and NCA in consultation with the NIIC should each develop a program for integrity testing, including whether it is to be targeted or force wide, what form it will take and how frequently it should be carried out. In developing these programs there should be consultation with the Federal Privacy Commissioner, the Federal Disability Commissioner and other relevant bodies to ensure that any integrity tests are consistent with Federal legislation. Due regard must also be paid to the law relating to entrapment.

Need for NCA anti-corruption plan

89. The NCA should develop an anti-corruption plan that includes a risk assessment for corruption and appropriate integrity testing of all staff. The NIIC should be involved in developing and monitoring AFP and NCA anti-corruption plans.

NIIC's role in anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans

90. The NIIC should regularly consult with the AFP and the NCA about their anti-fraud plans and anti-corruption plans. The NIIC would be empowered to conduct random audits of all aspects of the process and to make recommendations about these systems. The NIIC would include in their annual reports to Parliament information about the AFP and NCA strategies and would report on the results of its auditing.

The AFP and the NCA in developing and reviewing these measures and strategies would need to develop appropriate information links with the NIIC.

Avoiding duplication

91. The NIIC and CLEB should enter into a protocol to avoid any duplication of roles in relation to antifraud policies of the AFP and the NCA.

Training

92. The NIIC should play a significant role in assisting the AFP and NCA to develop appropriate training in relation to integrity and accountability and the working of their new complaints systems.

Articulating rights

93. The AFP and the NCA should have a document that is accessible to both their staff and to the general public that sets out the rights and obligations of staff and the public in relation to making and resolving complaints. This could be part of a broader code of conduct or a mission statement. A breach of the code or statement would not confer any legal right.

Developing a national strategy

94. The Commission endorses the measures taken so far, such as the Australasian Policing Strategy, to develop a national strategy to ensure the integrity and competency of Australian law enforcement agencies. The national strategy should include standards for recruitment, training, policy and procedures and data systems.

Developing a regional strategy

95. The Commission endorses the AFP proposal for a regional strategy against law enforcement corruption and recommends that this strategy be further developed.

Chapter 14 - Scope of complaints systems

Definition of 'complaint'

96. A 'complaint' should be defined to include all situations where a person expressly or by implication seeks review of, or challenges, the validity or appropriateness of the conduct of an AFP appointee or of the AFP as an organisation.

Interagency communications

97. Under its guidelines the NIIC should be able to declare that interagency communications are not complaints unless one of the agencies requests that the communication be dealt with as a complaint under the Act. The same discretion should apply to matters raised in court or tribunal proceedings.

Definition of complaint for NCA

98. A similar definition of complaint should be adopted for the purposes of the NCA.

Removal of the distinction between 'allegations' and 'complaints'

99. In the definition of 'complaint' in recommendation 96, 'Conduct' should be defined to include any action or inaction (or alleged action or inaction):

- whether or not it also involves non-AFP participants
- whether or not it occurred while the AFP appointee was officially on duty.

100. The distinction between allegations and complaints should be abolished with matters currently defined as allegations under AFP General Order 6 to be regarded as complaints.

Internal management matters

101. The NIIC should have a discretion to refer matters that relate solely to internal management back to the AFP or NCA for investigation and resolution.

102. In conjunction with the AFP and NCA the NIIC should draft a set of guidelines which deal with the matters that will be referred back to the AFP and NCA.

Discretion not to investigate

103. Each of the discretions contained in s 24 of the Complaints Act should be available to the NIIC although the time limit in s 24(1)(a) should be extended to two years.

Who may be subject to a complaint?

104. All employees, temporary employees, secondees and consultants of the AFP should be covered by the complaints legislation.

Collective action

105. The Act should provide that a complaint can be about the AFP as an organisation or about the collective action of the AFP.

Who should be able to complain?

106. The legislation should not require persons or organisations to have any particular standing to make a complaint. The current requirement of 'sufficient interest' should be removed.

Organisations or corporate bodies may complain

- 107. The legislation should specify that organisations or corporate bodies may lodge a complaint in the same way as individuals.
- 108. The legislation should expressly allow complaints by organisations on behalf of individuals but the legislation should not specify any organisation.

Agency

109. The legislation should not specify a requirement of proof for an agent to lodge and proceed with a complaint.

Should anonymous complaints be accepted?

110. Anonymous complaints should continue to be accepted. There should not be any legislative prescription as to how they should be treated or in what circumstances they should be investigated.

No specific discretion necessary for anonymous complaints

111. The NIIC does not require a specific discretion not to investigate anonymous complaints as the discretion to determine that an investigation is not warranted in all the circumstances is sufficient.

Recording of complaint outcomes

112. The current complaint outcomes of 'substantiated', 'not substantiated', 'incapable of determination' and 'conciliated' should be retained but with the additions of the category of 'deliberately false' and the option of 'substantiated - no fault'.

Options for investigations outcomes

113. The options for investigation outcomes for complaints should be provided for in the legislation and each outcome should be statutorily defined.

False complaints

114. The false complaints offence should be retained but should be amended to allow a court on conviction of a person to award the costs of any investigation into the false complaint against that person.

Victimisation of complainants

115. The offence of victimisation should be retained under the NIIC Act and should also apply to complaints concerning the NCA.

AFP and NCA secrecy provisions

116. The secrecy provisions in the Complaints Act s 87 should be redrafted to ensure that information relating to appointees does not need to include information identifying the complainant. The legislation should provide that information relating to appointees, including complaint investigation details, should be available for defined purposes within the AFP as discussed above, but that personal information identifying the complainant should not be disclosed without the consent of the NIIC.

Similar provisions should apply to the NCA.

Protection and encouragement of whistleblowers

117. The Commission supports legislation to protect and encourage whistleblowers. This should cover all Commonwealth agencies including the AFP and the NCA. The legislation should be enacted as a matter of priority.

118. The NIIC should assist the AFP and NCA in developing and reviewing whistleblower policies and programs.

Avoiding disciplinary action

119. The NIIC Act should include an amended equivalent to s 52 of the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act*. The provision should ensure that the Commissioner's power to defer a resignation is available where the Commissioner has initiated an action for misconduct by serving the appointee with notice in writing of the initiation of that action or where a formal investigation into the appointee's conduct has been commenced by the NIIC or at its direction.

Powers in relation to ex-staff

120. The NIIC should have power to investigate or deal with conduct even though an AFP appointee or NCA staff member has ceased to be an AFP appointee or a NCA staff member.

Provision of AFP members' name and address upon request

121. Officers should be under a duty to provide their names and work addresses on request where the person requesting the information indicates that he or she wishes to make a complaint. However, AFP officers should have a discretion not to provide their names or addresses where they believe on reasonable grounds that to do so would jeopardise their safety or the safety of others or jeopardise operational security. The requirement for officers to wear numbers when they are in uniform should be extended to apply to all officers and the numbers should be permanently affixed.

Medical examinations

122. The AFP should liaise with the Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine and any similar specialist services to assist in establishing medical procedures for complainants including:

- services for the investigation process
- the training of medical practitioners in this role and
- the provision of expert opinions to both investigators and the courts.

These medical procedures should include developing a pro-forma report for medical practitioners asked to examine a person who has complained about assault or other mistreatment by the police or any other law enforcement officer. In the event that a complainant chooses their own doctor, the doctor should be provided with the best possible information which might assist in the determination of the complaint investigation.

Vicarious liability

123. The operation of s 64B should be extended to cover staff members as well as members. The section should be amended to make it clear that the corrupt activities of a member do not fall within the definition of the performance or purported performance of duties.

Chapter 15 - Processing complaints

Receiving complaints

124. The legislation should specify that complaints can be lodged with the NIIC, the Commonwealth Ombudsman, the AFP, the NCA and the NIIC. The complainant would be able to nominate an agent to act on his or her behalf.

Complaints lodged with Ombudsman

125. The legislation should specify that complaints lodged with a Commonwealth Ombudsman's office should be forwarded to the NIIC within 48 hours of receipt. Confidentiality obligations should also apply.

Other possible reception points

126. Consideration should be given to State and Territory anti-discrimination bodies, ICAC, the CJC and the NSW PIC as well as other State and Territory external agencies for handling police complaints as possible reception points for complaints against the AFP and the NCA. These bodies should be consulted as to their availability and capacity.

Methods of making complaints

127. Written and oral complaints should continue to be accepted. Where a complaint is made orally the NIIC, the AFP, the NCA or any other formal recipient should be entitled to require the complainant to reduce the complaint to writing at any time or to provide sufficient information so that the complaint may be reduced to writing.

Complainants in custody

128. The provisions of the Complaints Act relating to complaints made by people in custody should be retained.

Recording complaints

129. The current provisions for particulars required should be maintained but with the addition of management action taken in response to the complaint.

Additional information from complainants

130. The collection of personal information relating to complainants should be collected through surveys and other research processes from complainants on a voluntary basis only. Survey and research work might include information such as

- the complainant's sex
- whether the complainant is a juvenile
- the language spoken at home
- the ethnicity of a complainant
- whether the complainant is Aboriginal
- whether the complainant is disabled.

Any request for information should be explained to the complainant along with an explanation of the reason why the information is being collected and any persons or agencies to whom the information might be disclosed.

131. No further details of complainants, AFP appointees or the complaint itself should be specified in the legislation.

Recording complaints

132. The recording of complaints by an officer who is under a duty to do so should be a legislative requirement. A deliberate failure to comply with the duty to record a complaint should be a criminal offence, while a negligent or careless failure to comply with the duty to record a complaint should be a specific disciplinary offence. A defence should be available where the person had a reasonable belief that there was no obligation upon him or her in the circumstances or he or she had discharged the obligation.

Information and advertising

133. The NIIC in consultation with the Commonwealth Ombudsman should conduct advertising and information campaigns in innovative and accessible ways targeting youth, women, gays and lesbians, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, people from non-English speaking backgrounds and the socially disadvantaged. The NIIC should ensure that its campaigns are conducted both in written and oral forms so that those with literacy problems are not excluded.

Greater accessibility

134. The Commissioner for Complaints should

- operate a hotline for complaints against the AFP and the NCA
- have an Aboriginal and Torres Straits Islander liaison officer and
- should conduct outreach programs directed at specific ethnic groups and other groups with special needs.

A duty on the AFP to provide information

135. There should be a legislative duty on police to inform persons under arrest or formally interviewed by the police of the existence of the complaints process. This information should be conveyed to the person by a non-involved supervising officer or commissioned officer. Part 1C of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth) should be amended to include this duty.

Chapter 16 - Special needs of the territories

The ACT

136. The NIIC Act should allow the AFP or the NIIC to make recommendations or to report to the ACT Attorney-General and the Legislative Assembly where the complaint or matter relates to ACT policing (subject to privacy considerations).

137. A protocol should be established for allowing the ACT Attorney-General to be advised as soon as practicable by the AFP or the NIIC of any complaint about ACT policing that raises significant public interest for the ACT (subject to privacy considerations).

138. Information and analysis about trends in complaints against the AFP should be provided annually by the AFP and the NIIC to the ACT Attorney-General and, through him or her, the ACT Legislative Assembly.

Jervis Bay

139. The NIIC should arrange with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories for the Jervis Bay Territory Administration to be a lodgement point for sealed complaint documents about the AFP. It should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. It should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

140. The AFP should enter into a memorandum of understanding with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories in relation to the policing of Jervis Bay.

Requirements on non-AFP appointees

141. Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories personnel handling complaints need to be subject to the same accountability, confidentiality and privacy requirements as apply to AFP appointees.

The external territories

142. The NIIC should arrange with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories for the respective administrations of Christmas, Cocos (Keeling) Islands and the Office of the Administrator of Norfolk Island to be lodgement points for sealed complaints documents about the AFP, for transmission to the NIIC. Each should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. Each should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

143. The AFP in conjunction with the NIIC should develop a policy for increasing awareness of the complaints systems in the external territories.

Training for AFP personnel

144. The AFP should develop specific training programs and induction packages for officers who are to work in the external territories. In developing these measures it should consider consulting with the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade and the Department of Environment, Sport and Territories.

Translating and interpreting services

145. The AFP should develop a policy in relation to the external territories for the availability and use of independent and qualified interpreters and translators. This policy should be particularly focussed on Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands.

Chapter 17 - Groups who may have special needs

EEO

146. Education of officers on the productivity benefits of an EEO program is essential to effect desired long term changes in AFP culture and to promote EEO. The AFP should consider consulting with bodies with relevant expertise and experience such as the Office of the Status of Women as it continues to develop its EEO program and grievance procedures.

147. NCA and AFP members who sit on recruitment and promotion panels need to be adequately trained to assess applicants in relation to EEO and also to ensure they correctly apply the principles of EEO to the selection process.

Women in policing

148. The Commission supports the recommendations made at the first Australasian Women Police Conference and encourages the AFP and the NCA to actively participate in implementing the recommendations in their own organisations and throughout the Australasian law enforcement environment.

Cross-cultural training

149. Decision makers in the AFP and NCA complaints and disciplinary systems should have effective cross-cultural communications training. The NIIC as the proposed primary investigatory body should also develop its own programs and strategies particularly for those who deal with complaints.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander liaison and support

150. The NIIC should employ an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander liaison and support officer in relation to assisting, where appropriate, Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander complainants. The officer should also assist in helping to publicise the programs amongst Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

151. The NIIC should establish links with relevant bodies concerned with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander interests.

Interpreters and translators

152. The AFP and the NCA should ensure that interpreters and translators who satisfy the standards of the National Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters are used wherever there is an issue of proper comprehension because of linguistic reasons. This should be especially the case for formal interviews and statements.

The AFP and NCA should monitor the implementation of this principle and explain failures to meet its requirements.

Racially prejudiced behaviour

153. There should be a misconduct proceeding for the AFP and the NCA available against an officer who abuses his or her authority or acts improperly on the grounds of another person's race, ethnicity, national origins, cultural or religious beliefs.

Policing beats

154. The AFP should develop a formal policy for the policing of beats and should consider the policy developed by the NSW Police Service.

Gay and lesbian issues

155. The AFP should provide training to all members and staff members to encourage attitudes of acceptance of gays and lesbians within the workplace and within the community.

The AFP's policies and performance on these issues should be monitored and examined in consultation with relevant community groups.

Domestic violence

156. The AFP strategy in relation to domestic violence in the ACT should include the following matters.

- Police need to be clear about their law enforcement role and not confuse this with a conciliator role which might minimise the seriousness of the violence and may jeopardise the safety of the victim.
- Training should be given to all new recruits and refresher training to all officers at appropriate intervals. The content of that training should be consistent with the guidelines of the National Committee on Violence Against Women and the National Strategy on Violence Against Women.
- Police should have clear guidelines on charging and on their powers of arrest where a criminal offence has occurred.

- Police regional instructions should direct police to charge where police have reasonable grounds to believe that a criminal offence has occurred in the context of domestic violence.
- The regional instructions should specify that the practice of referring the victim to a service to obtain a domestic violence protection order or a restraining order as a substitute for charging is unsatisfactory and unprofessional.
- The decision about whether to charge should be made by the police and not by the victim. Both victim and offender should be told that the police will decide whether to charge.

There should be a specialist domestic violence unit to

- drive and monitor the implementation by police of the ACT Domestic Violence Strategy
- provide support and advice to other police on domestic violence matters
- monitor the quality of domestic violence response by the police
- liaise with external agencies and victims
- undertake police domestic violence training
- undertake law reform activity
- co-ordinate police-community education initiatives.
- The Unit should also
- have a Domestic Violence Liaison Officer
- recognise the need for new instructions on exercising the power to arrest and to grant bail, and on the timing and content of training for police on domestic violence.

Strip searches

157. The AFP Commissioner should consider the imminent Ombudsman's report on strip searches and determine in conjunction with the Ombudsman any changes to rules, procedures, training and information. The results of the Ombudsman's report should be available to the NIIC and considered by it.

Youth

- 158. The Commission endorses the recommendations of the first national summit on police and ethnic youth relations and suggests that the AFP and the NCA should consider these initiatives and participate as appropriate.
- 159. The AFP should consider the Ombudsman's report on youth and determine in conjunction with the Ombudsman any changes to rules, procedures, training and information. The results of the Ombudsman's report should be available to the NIIC and considered by it.
- 160. The AFP and NIIC should also consult with peak youth organisations on appropriate methods of providing information and education about the complaints procedure to youth.

People with a disability

161. The AFP and NCA should seek advice from peak disability organisations in developing a comprehensive policy to meet their obligations under the Discrimination Disability Act particularly in relation to recruitment, conditions of employment and provision of services.

- 162. Any policy on the response to people with a disability should consider the definition of disability provided for under the DDA.
- 163. The AFP, NCA and NIIC should consult with peak disability organisations and the Disability Discrimination Act Legal Advocacy Services on appropriate methods of providing information and education about the complaints procedures to people with a disability.

1. Introduction

The references

1.1 In 1995 the then federal Attorney-General, the Hon Michael Lavarch MP, asked the Commission to review the complaints and disciplinary systems of the Australian Federal Police (AFP) and those of the National Crime Authority (NCA). The Commission received the AFP reference on 29 March 1995 and the NCA reference on 26 July 1995. The terms of the references are reproduced at p 3-6.

The AFP reference

1.2 The Commission has been asked to report on the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981* (the Complaints Act) and the AFP's complaints and disciplinary systems. The Complaints Act provides for the complaints process while the disciplinary process is provided for under the AFP Act and its regulations and the Complaints Act. The Commission is required to consider whether the legislation meets the expectations of the public in terms of police accountability, effectiveness and efficiency.

Background to the AFP reference

1.3 This is the first extensive review of the legislation. It arises because of a concern to ensure that the systems for complaints and discipline of the AFP are appropriate, fair and effective for the 1990's and the future. The current Act is broadly based upon the Commission's recommendations in its earlier reports published about 20 years ago.¹

The NCA reference

1.4 The terms of the NCA reference are similar to those for the AFP. The Commission is required to inquire into and report on procedures for the investigation and resolution of complaints against the NCA and staff members of the NCA or police officers seconded to the NCA. It is asked to consider whether the system meets the expectations of the public in terms of accountability, effectiveness and efficiency. In doing this the Commission is to have regard to its reference on the AFP and to carry out the two references in conjunction.

Background

- 1.5 There is currently no formal complaints system against the NCA, its staff or those seconded to it. Instead there is an internal administrative arrangement for complaints to be forwarded immediately to the Chairperson of the NCA. The Chairperson then directs officers of the NCA to conduct inquiries and to compile reports. The Chairperson considers these reports and decides upon appropriate action.
- 1.6 The current lack of any formal, external complaints system is widely regarded as highly undesirable. The major issues have been who should provide the review and to which groups of the NCA's mixed workforce² should it apply. There have been two major attempts to legislate to establish a formal complaints system but they have been unsuccessful.³
- 1.7 There is also no formal NCA disciplinary system except for those NCA staff who are employed under the *Public Service Act 1992* (Cth) and who are subject to the Australian Public Service disciplinary procedures. In their case the Chairperson of the NCA has all the powers of a Departmental Secretary.

Other reports and work

1.8 This inquiry has been conducted against a backdrop of a plethora of Australian and overseas reports and inquiries that have dealt with police complaints systems, corruption and police cultures and have investigated specific allegations of police misconduct and corruption. The following describes the major works relevant to the Commission's references.

Commission reports

1.9 In addition to the earlier reports on complaints the Commission's current reference on children and the legal process⁴ is also relevant to this inquiry. That reference considers children and the criminal law, including police questioning of children and young people. The Commission will be releasing a draft recommendations paper in early 1997. The Commission also has a current reference on adversarial litigation that will be considering federal court and tribunal decision making processes. That reference is relevant to a consideration of the appropriate decision making processes for determining disciplinary matters discussed in chapter 10 in this report.

Reports and inquiries relating to the AFP

- 1.10 *The Niland report on the AFP*. The AFP commissioned Ms Carmel Niland & Associates to audit the AFP 1992-95 Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) program. That review included an assessment of the AFP's culture. In February 1995 180 employees of the AFP participated in 20 focus groups Australia-wide. The resulting report was confidential but the AFP has publicly commented on the main findings.⁵ It is referred to in chapter 9 of this report.
- 1.11 *The Harrison inquiry*. On 5 August 1996 the Attorney-General, the Hon Daryl Williams AM QC MP announced an inquiry into allegations of corruption within the AFP. The inquiry is being conducted by Mr Ian Harrison SC.
- 1.12 The inquiry is being conducted pursuant to the AFP Complaints Act s 50. That section provides that the Minister may arrange for an inquiry into any action taken by an AFP appointee or any other matter relating to the AFP and in such manner as the Minister determines. Under a s 50 inquiry the inquirer may enter AFP premises and inspect documents and examine property. The inquirer may also direct AFP appointees to provide information and answer questions. There is no right to fail to produce or answer questions on the ground that it may incriminate the person. A failure to comply with a direction to produce data or answer questions makes the person liable to a penalty of \$1000 or 6 months imprisonment. There is no power under s50 to require persons other than current AFP appointees to provide information or answer questions or to search premises other than AFP premises.
- 1.13 The inquiry is particularly directed to investigate allegations made by a former AFP officer, Mr Alan Taciak. Mr Harrison is to report on associated practices and procedures used by the AFP which may be deficient and which may have contributed to, or facilitated, corrupt practices. The inquiry is expected to report to the Attorney-General by 18 April 1997.

Federal reports and inquiries

Royal Commission into Aboriginal deaths in custody

1.14 The Royal Commission was established in October 1987 to investigate concerns about Aboriginal people dying in custody and the apparently inadequate investigations into their deaths. Volume 4 of the Royal Commission's report deals specifically with complaints mechanisms against the police. The Commonwealth Government's responses to the Royal Commission Inquiry are the subject of annual reports by the Commonwealth. The House of Representatives Standing Committee on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs has also reported on the implementation of the recommendations of the Royal Commission.

Inquiry into Racist Violence

1.15 The National Inquiry into Racist Violence was initiated by the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission following representations to it about an apparent increase in the incidence of racially motivated violence in Australia. The report made recommendations about police complaints procedures, particularly in the context of racist violence against Aboriginal people and against people on the basis of their ethnic identity.

PJC report on the NCA

1.16 The Parliamentary Joint Committee (PJC) on the National Crime Authority has provided an evaluation of the NCA in its report *Who is to Guard the Guards? An Evaluation of the National Crime Authority.*¹⁰ That report considers the accountability of the NCA and makes a recommendation about the handling of complaints made against it. That material is considered in detail in chapter 5.

Access to Justice

1.17 The Access to Justice Advisory Committee was appointed by the then Attorney-General and the then Minister for Justice to make recommendations for reform of the administration of the Commonwealth justice and legal system in order to enhance access to justice and make the system fairer, more efficient and more effective. The report deals with access to justice generally and also deals specifically with complaints against lawyers, standards of service for consumers and the role of the Ombudsman.

Review of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

1.18 In 1991 the Senate Standing Committee on Finance and Public Administration reported on the scope of the Ombudsman's jurisdiction, the Ombudsman's powers and functions and the adequacy of its resources.¹²

Queensland

The Fitzgerald inquiry

1.19 In response to a number of media exposes in 1987 of widespread corruption in Queensland, implicating among others, members of the Queensland Police Department, the Queensland Government set up an inquiry led by Mr GE Fitzgerald.¹³ That inquiry recommended a wide range of reforms including the establishment of an Electoral and Administrative Review Commission and a Criminal Justice Commission. The latter was to be a permanent body charged with monitoring, reviewing, co-ordinating and initiating reform of criminal justice in Queensland.

Carruthers inquiry

- 1.20 On March 1996 an inquiry led by the Hon Kenneth Carruthers QC began into the Memorandum of Understanding purported to be signed by the President of the Police Union of Employees and the then Opposition leader Mr Borbidge (now the Queensland Premier) and the then Coalition Spokesperson for Police, Corrective Services and Racing, Mr Cooper (now the Minister). The inquiry includes an investigation into whether any member of the Queensland Police Service or any other person should be charged with a criminal or disciplinary offence.
- 1.21 On October 29, 1996 Mr Carruthers resigned from the inquiry stating that his independence had been 'fatally compromised' by a separate inquiry into the CJC established by the Queensland Government and which is headed by Mr Peter Connolly QC. This inquiry is to review the future role, structure, powers and operations of the CJC. It was announced on 7 October 1996.

Bingham inquiry

1.22 In March 1996 the Minister for Police and Corrective Services and Minister for Racing appointed a committee chaired by Sir Max Bingham QC to review the Queensland Police Service. ¹⁴ It presented its report in July 1996. The report dealt with, among other things, the complaints and disciplinary systems and accountability.

Western Australia

Argylle Diamond inquiry

1.23 The WA Police Service engaged officers from the AFP to review two WA police investigations in 1990 and 1992 into the theft of diamonds from the Argyle Diamond Mines Pty Ltd. There were suggestions that the investigations were inefficient and or compromised by police corruption.

WA Select Committee report

1.24 The Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service released an interim report considering the role of the Internal Affairs Unit of the WA Police Service and other methods of dealing with police corruption. The Select Committee recommended the development of a Police Anti-Corruption Commission.

New South Wales

NSWLRC inquiry into people with disabilities and the criminal justice system

1.25 The NSW Law Reform Commission is currently inquiring into the law and practice of New South Wales relating to the treatment of the intellectually disabled in the criminal justice system. It has released a discussion paper that includes comment on the adequacy of police complaint mechanisms for the intellectually disabled.

NSW Parliamentary report on Ombudsman

1.26 In April 1992 the Joint Committee on the Office of the Ombudsman reported on the role of the Ombudsman in investigating complaints against the police. Its main focus was on improving the capacity and efficiency of the conciliation process. The Joint Committee resolved in September 1995 to conduct a further review of the Ombudsman's role in complaints against the police, including the relationship of the Office of the Ombudsman with other bodies which have a role in the investigation of complaints against the police, for example, the NSW Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC).

NSW Ombudsman's report

1.27 In December 1995 the NSW Ombudsman made a special report to the NSW Parliament on the NSW Police Complaints System. This report described the workings of that system. ¹⁷

The NSW Royal Commission into the Police

1.28 On 13 May 1994 The Hon Justice James Wood was appointed sole Commissioner to inquire into the operations of the NSW Police Service. The Royal Commission published interim reports in February 1996¹⁸ and November 1996¹⁹. Its final reporting date is on or before 31 March 1997.

Victoria

Project Guardian

1.29 In response to issues arising from commissions of inquiry into police corruption in other jurisdictions, both local and overseas, the Victorian Chief Commissioner of Police established Project Guardian in February 1996 and directed that an Ethical Standards Department be established to replace the existing Internal Investigations Department.²⁰ Project Guardian is also considering responses to the negative aspects of police culture, police corruption and the disciplinary system. The Project submitted its recommendations to the Chief Commissioner in July 1996. Those recommendations are currently being considered.

Overseas

Mollen Commission report

1.30 The Mollen Commission inquired into allegations of corruption and anti-corruption procedures in the New York Police Department.²¹ It provides a case study on the resilience and adaptability of police corruption and is referred to in chapter 9.

Other Australian complaints systems

1.31 The Commission conducted research into State and Territory police complaints systems and sought comment and information from the agencies involved in those systems. A summary of those systems, including major similarities and differences, is contained in the Commission's issues paper, *Under the spotlight. Complaints against the AFP and the NCA* (IP 16).²² The institutions that review police complaints take various forms. South Australia has a specialist Police Complaints Authority, Queensland has an omnibus approach provided by the Criminal Justice Commission, while the other jurisdictions have a generalist Ombudsman providing review. In Victoria there is a Police Complaints Ombudsman within the Victorian Ombudsman's office.

International approaches

International consultations and submissions

- 1.32 The Commission investigated the complaints systems of a number of overseas countries including England, the United States of America, New Zealand, Canada and the Scandinavian countries.²³
- 1.33 The Commission requested information on complaints against law enforcement agencies from two peak international bodies, namely, the International Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement Agencies (IACOLE) and the International Ombudsman Institute. The President of IACOLE provided information and views to the Commission as did the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Public Complaints Commissioner, and the Hong Kong ICAC. The Commission also held discussions with Dr Maurice Hayes who is reviewing the Northern Ireland police complaints procedures. Dr Hayes visited Australia.

The Commission's work

Publications

1.34 In mid 1995 the Commission sent a short summary of its preliminary views on the major issues in these inquiries to organisations and individuals with a special interest or expertise in this area. The Commission received 29 submissions in response. The Commission then released an issues paper *Under the spotlight*. *Complaints against the AFP and the NCA* (IP 16) in November 1995. IP 16 identified what the Commission considered to be the relevant issues and sought comment. In July 1996 a draft recommendations paper (DRP 2) was published and circulated. It indicated the preliminary views of the Commission and formed the basis for further consultation. The Commission received over 60 submissions in response to IP 16 and over 40 in response to DRP 2. In all the Commission has received about 140 submissions in the course of this inquiry.

Consultations

- 1.35 *Honorary consultants*. The Commission appointed honorary consultants with a wide range of experience and expertise who have met with the Commission to discuss major issues. The Commission thanks them for their contributions. They are listed in Appendix A.
- 1.36 *Consultations*. Throughout this inquiry, but particularly in February, March and April 1996 the Commission consulted with a number of organisations with a special interest in these references including the AFP, the NCA, State and Territory police services and Ombudsmen, the Queensland Criminal Justice Commission (CJC), the South Australian Police Complaints Authority and the NSW Royal Commission into the Police. The Commission conducted consultations with AFP and NCA personnel at each of the AFP and

NCA's major offices. The Commission also met with representatives of professional associations representing AFP and NCA personnel.

- 1.37 The Commission had a number of meetings with the AFP Commissioner and the NCA Chairperson including the current NCA Chairperson Mr John Broome and his predecessor, Mr Tom Sherman. On 16 September 1996 members of the Commission appeared before the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the NCA to discuss the Commission's draft recommendations paper, particularly in relation to the NCA.
- 1.38 The Commission also contacted academics, legal practitioners, community legal centres, and a wide range of organisations representing different groups in the community such as Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders, people from non-English speaking backgrounds, gays and lesbians, women and youth.
- 1.39 During February and March 1996 the Commission also held public meetings in the Australian capital cities, Norfolk Island and Jervis Bay.

Structure of this report

- Chapter 2 discusses the Commission's approach to this inquiry and identifies major themes and issues.
- Chapter 3 assesses the current AFP complaints system.
- Chapter 4 discusses investigation models for the AFP and describes the Commission's preferred model, the establishment of a National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC).
- Chapter 5 discusses a complaints system for the NCA and recommends the NIIC.
- Chapter 6 explains the suggested role and structure of the NIIC.
- Chapter 7 discusses the investigative procedures of the NIIC including categories of complaints and time limits.
- Chapter 8 examines responses to the Commission's proposed NIIC.
- Chapter 9 expands on the reasons for establishing the NIIC.
- Chapter 10 discusses the current AFP and NCA disciplinary processes and suggests an alternative approach based on increased managerial responsibility and then the avenue of administrative review by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT).
- Chapter 11 considers the consequences of having AAT review for matters such as the standard of proof and orders for costs.
- Chapter 12 discusses Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR), sanctions and the provision of information to complainants and officers.
- Chapter 13 concerns the role of the AFP and the NCA and the NIIC in strategies and measures to prevent complaints and corruption.
- Chapter 14 considers the scope of the complaints systems for the AFP and the NCA including the definition of complaint, discretions not to investigate and classification of outcomes of complaint investigations.
- Chapter 15 examines the processing of complaints including their receipt and recording.
- Chapter 16 discusses some special issues for the AFP in its community policing role in the Australian Capital Territory (ACT), Jervis Bay and the external territories.

•	Chapter 17 examines some personnel in the AFP and the NCA who may have special needs in relation to complaints systems and groups external to these agencies who also may have special needs.

2. Commission's approach

Introduction

2.1 The Commission is required to look at the complaints and disciplinary systems of the AFP and the NCA. This chapter discusses the Commission's general approach to the major issues raised in this inquiry. It identifies the main themes of the report and the major arguments that have emerged. It also identifies and summarises the key recommendations of the report.

Complaints and disciplinary systems in context

- 2.2 Complaints and disciplinary systems are to give support to the overall objectives of law enforcement agencies, namely that there is effective and efficient law enforcement and that law enforcement powers are exercised according to law. Law enforcement agencies should be professional, effectively managed, vigilant against corruption and misconduct and publicly accountable. Powers should be exercised with respect for human rights and with regard to the appropriate balance between civil liberties and effective law enforcement. Complaints and discipline are integral parts of law enforcement accountability. They are as essential to the notion of 'good' policing as they are to preventing police malpractice and abuse of authority.²⁴
- 2.3 Some law enforcement officers will be corrupt and others will engage in other forms of serious misconduct. No system or package of reforms will totally eradicate these problems. However, the Commission sees as its major objective in this inquiry to recommend a coherent raft of reforms that will act to reduce the incidence of misconduct and corruption and to achieve and maintain high levels of integrity and accountability within the AFP and the NCA. In trying to achieve that objective the Commission has faced a major task of balancing competing interests.

Major task - achieving an appropriate balance between internal and external responsibilities

- 2.4 The major task in this inquiry is to recommend an appropriate mix between internal and external responsibilities in both the AFP and NCA complaints and disciplinary systems. Internal responsibilty refers to the extent to which and the manner in which the AFP and the NCA should investigate complaints and corruption and make disciplinary decisions. It is concerned with the appropriate level of the AFP and the NCA's managerial responsibility and how that can be best achieved. External responsibility refers to the role of bodies independent of the AFP and the NCA in their complaints and disciplinary systems.
- 2.5 The main aim of external responsibility is to ensure that complaints investigations and disciplinary matters are conducted fairly, impartially and with appropriate levels of transparency to the Government, the Parliament and the Australian community. The system must be credible to complainants and to officers who are the subject of a complaint. It must also be credible to the agencies themselves and to the general public.
- 2.6 The main aim of managerial responsibility is to allow the agency itself to have a significant role in putting its 'own house in order'. The agency must take a meaningful level of responsibility and accountability for ensuring that complaints are effectively dealt with and that appropriate responses are made to prevent or deter the re-occurrence of the cause of a complaint or corruption. Special responsibilities in this regard must rest with the Commissioner of the AFP and the Chairperson of the NCA.

Balancing different demands

2.7 The Commission's current terms of reference refer to the need to achieve a proper balance between the protection of human rights and civil liberties and the need to protect the community by practical and effective law enforcement.

Practical law enforcement and civil liberties

- 2.8 The actions of law enforcement agencies have great potential to affect the rights and liberties of citizens. In maintaining social order these agencies are constantly faced with complex and sometimes competing demands to protect and promote particular rights. Depending on their actions, rights and liberties may be violated as well as protected and enforced.²⁵ The United Nations *Code of Conduct for Law Enforcement Officials*²⁶ recognises this:
 - Article 1. Law Enforcement officials shall at all times fulfil the duty imposed upon them by law, serving the community and by protecting all persons against illegal acts, consistent with the high degree of responsibility required by their profession.
 - Article 2. In the performance of their duty, law enforcement officials shall respect and protect human dignity and maintain and uphold the human rights of all persons.
- 2.9 It is within the context of this need to strike an appropriate balance between these imperatives that any discussion as to the form and content of complaints and disciplinary systems must take place.

International obligations

- 2.10 A further demand is that the complaints and disciplinary systems should comply with Australia's international obligations. The terms of reference require the Commission to have regard to its obligations under international law including under
- the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
- the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
- the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment
- the Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The relevant provisions of those Conventions for the purpose of this inquiry are contained in Appendix D. The following summarises the thrust of the Conventions for this inquiry:

- there should be equality before the law for all, with effective remedies for violations
- the legal process is to be fair and impartial
- detention and any punishment should not be cruel or inhumane
- public bodies should eliminate discrimination on the basis of sex or race
- in all actions concerning children, the best interests of the child shall be a paramount consideration
- children's rights, for example the rights to liberty and privacy, shall be respected and protected.

Balancing integrity and accountability with operational demands

2.11 The AFP and the NCA have in their consultations with the Commission mentioned the challenges they face in meeting their objectives of law enforcement in the context of limited budgets and contracting staff levels. The AFP and the NCA are key national law enforcement agencies with high priority objectives in preventing and investigating serious crime including illegal drug importations and fraud. These objectives are further discussed in chapter 10. The challenges they face are likely to become greater given the increasing globalisation of organised crime, its use of sophisticated technology and its capacity to operate within apparently legitimate activities.

- 2.12 The Commission recognises that the combination of those competing demands and new challenges mean that any time or resources that the AFP and NCA spend on complaints and discipline must be well spent. The Commission considers that the recommendations in this report present a comprehensive and effective program for helping them to achieve and maintain high levels of integrity and accountability which should be regarded as core goals. They are not collateral or supplementary to the AFP and NCA operational side. They should not be considered only when something major goes wrong with a particular operation. The AFP and the NCA should be continually considering integrity and accountability issues and their ramifications in every facet of their work.
- 2.13 The Commission also recognises that the AFP and the NCA have genuine and understandable concerns about complaints or corruption investigations interfering with their operations and the extent to which their own managerial responsibility is affected by the Commission's recommendations. This report deals with those concerns.²⁷

Law enforcement misconduct

- 2.14 Law enforcement misconduct covers a broad spectrum of activity from minor transgressions of rules and procedures to significant misconduct. While there is some argument about exact demarcations, broadly speaking there are three main types of significant law enforcement misconduct. They are the excessive use of force, corruption and 'process corruption'.
- 2.15 Many complaints will concern the excessive use of force. Excessive force can involve death, the infliction of grievous bodily harm or serious assault.
- 2.16 Corruption can broadly be defined as law enforcement behaviour that results in private gains at public expense. It can involve the misuse of authority by law enforcement officers so as to produce personal gain for themselves or others. There can also be 'process corruption' where law enforcement officers fabricate evidence, act illegally in the course of investigations or in other ways subvert or obstruct the administration of justice.

Why the Commission is considering corruption

- 2.17 In this report the Commission deals with responses to corruption and anti-corruption measures. The NCA questioned the Commission's decision to consider responses to issues about AFP and NCA corruption, preferring that the Commission examine, for the purposes of this inquiry, only complaints.²⁹ Certainly the Commission's terms of reference do not refer explicitly to corruption. However, the Commission has concluded that to ignore corruption would be to provide only a partial analysis and a package of incomplete reforms. First, to put corruption to one side would be to ignore one of the most significant complaints system options. The CJC single agency model deals with complaints and corruption and is the subject of national and international scrutiny and interest. The second and fundamental reason is that complaints and corruption cannot and should not be rigidly separated.
- 2.18 Some complaints will be directly about corruption. For example, the Ombudsman in her 1995-96 Annual Report suggests that were 14 such complaints to her in that year.³⁰ This would not include internal allegations, where it is more likely that complaints concerning corruption will be made. The Commission expects that an improved complaints system, improved law enforcement cultures and greater protection and encouragement of whistleblowers may lead to more complaints directly concerning corruption. However, the reason to avoid rigid distinctions between complaints and corruption goes beyond the number of complaints that directly raise corruption.
- 2.19 One of the major limitations of the current AFP complaints system is that it has drawn artificial distinctions between complaints and allegations. This has meant that internal complaints, including those made by whistleblowers and matters that may directly or indirectly concern corruption, have not as a matter of course received external scrutiny or sufficient external scrutiny. Yet these are the matters that need considerable and direct external involvement because they may be complex and contentious and, more importantly, they squarely raise the issue of whether the law enforcement agency should be relied upon to

investigate their own. Any external agency providing external input must have the mandate, powers and capacity to investigate those matters that raise serious misconduct.

- 2.20 If a rigid distinction is maintained between complaints and corruption it would mean that the external agency could never build up a full picture of the level and nature of misconduct in the agency and identify trends and problem areas. It is necessary to recognise that misconduct and deviance are part of a continuum and not to draw artificial distinctions in that continuum.
- 2.21 Many complaints, even minor ones, may provide indirect but highly relevant information about corruption. This view has been confirmed by the CJC which advises that it is undesirable to draw rigid distinctions between complaints and corruption. What is necessary is to use information from complaints and from other intelligence to build profiles of personnel and units and to test hypotheses. That is a core task of any effective anti-corruption unit.
- 2.22 One of the great failings of police management has been the tendency to 'segementalise' issues and areas and to take narrow, compartmentalised perspectives on corporate problems.³¹ In the Commission's view drawing too rigid a distinction between complaints and corruption would be an example of that tendency. Complaints and corruption should not be shunted off to discrete areas as they have often been in police complaints systems.
- 2.23 From the public viewpoint, complaints and corruption are about law enforcement agencies and officers doing the wrong thing. They are both about misconduct. The major policy objectives are the same that is, protecting and improving law enforcement integrity and accountability. There is a clear public concern with corruption in Australian law enforcement agencies that affects each jurisdiction. Corruption can be a significant drain on the resources of public and private organisations and on the public revenue. It can diminish the effectiveness and efficiency of law enforcement agencies. It can require a huge expenditure of resources to detect and punish. It can cause very heavy damage to public confidence in the police and the administration of justice. Inquiries into police corruption receive extensive media coverage as evidenced by the current NSW Royal Commission into Police and the Fitzgerald Inquiry in Queensland in the 1980's. The Commission's consultations and submissions received have confirmed this as have other inquiries and research. From that public interest perspective it would be remiss of the Commission to try to avoid dealing with corruption issues in the AFP and the NCA.
- 2.24 Finally, the Commission would add that only the NCA took the view that it was inappropriate or undesirable for the Commission to consider corruption in the way that it has. Many others consulted or who made submissions accepted that complaints and corruption should be examined. The AFP, for example, clearly saw the need to give full consideration to how best to ensure its integrity and accountability. It recognised that the lack of direct and active involvement of an external agency for matters involving serious misconduct and corruption was a weakness of the current AFP complaints system. The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security commented that complaints handling goes hand-in-hand with efforts to encourage and promote high ethical standards and the fight against corruption.³²

The Commission's key recommendations

2.25 The Commission believes that the recommendations in this report get the balance right between these different demands. There are two major reforms that represent paradigm shifts from the current law and processes.

The NIIC

2.26 The Commission recommends a new body to be the external complaints and anti-corruption authority for the AFP and the NCA. The National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) would replace the Commonwealth Ombudsman in relation to AFP complaints and would be the first external agency introduced to handle NCA complaints.

- 2.27 The NIIC is a hybrid investigative body that draws upon some of the features of other existing agencies but is not exactly the same as any other. It is specially designed to meet the particular integrity and accountability demands of the AFP and the NCA.
- 2.28 The NIIC is a very different body with very different capacities to the Commonwealth Ombudsman. It has a specific focus on the AFP and NCA. It would be an active investigator of complaints and corruption and an auditor, with full access to all relevant information, of the AFP and NCA's performance in relation to integrity and accountability. Unlike the Commonwealth Ombudsman it would not be an external agency that predominantly reacts to complaints and reviews internal investigations into them. This is inadequate in today's criminal justice environment. Modern strategies in law enforcement are beginning to rely more and more on proactive investigations and strategic intelligence.³³ The traditional reactive approach to incidents is no longer adequate.³⁴
- 2.29 The NIIC would also be involved in approving anti-corruption and anti-fraud strategies and endorsing investigation procedures to be followed by the AFP and NCA. Together these changes would constitute a significant re-arrangement and restructuring of the balance between internal and external input.
- 2.30 The AFP and the NCA would continue to have a significant role in handling and investigating complaints. However, their work in doing so would be managed, supervised or audited by the NIIC which would have a wide range of powers and ultimate responsibility to the Executive and to Parliament for its role in the working of the whole system. This would achieve the objectives of credibility and effectiveness including clear accountability. It also establishes a system whereby each complaint receives the appropriate response to its particular circumstances. But more importantly it reflects the Commission's conviction that properly attending to complaints and allegations of misconduct should be given equal priority to the discharge of operational responsibilities. The Australian experience is that to do otherwise will in the medium to longer term inevitably lead to the loss of professionalism of the AFP and the NCA and to a sapping of public confidence.
- 2.31 It is important to stress that the Commission is not recommending a federal ICAC or CJC. Such bodies would have much broader ambits than the NIIC. The NSW ICAC model looks at corruption across the whole range of the NSW public sector (now excluding the NSW Police Service). If there was a federal ICAC it would have jurisdiction in relation to all federal departments and agencies. The CJC has a very broad role in the functioning and administration of the Queensland criminal justice system. Its functions are
- investigating alleged or suspected misconduct by members of the Queensland Police Service (QPS)
- monitoring and reviewing the administration of criminal justice
- providing witness protection
- in some circumstances to mount major operations to investigate organised crime or major crime
- overseeing and managing criminal intelligence and
- providing policy and research on the QPS and law enforcement generally.

Managerial responsibility for misconduct and AAT review

2.32 Disciplinary systems are intended to ensure that personnel comply with appropriate standards of conduct. The Commission recommends a significant change in the approach to discipline. In the Commission's view the traditional para-military, disciplinary model with its quasi-criminal approach is outdated and unsatisfactory. This is borne out by the Commission's consultations and submissions received and also by disciplinary developments in other jurisdictions in Australia and overseas. In its place the Commission recommends a new managerial model that gives the AFP and NCA primary responsibility and decision making for imposing discipline on their personnel. This is in accord with modern managerial theory, and increasingly, managerial practice. However, there must be appropriate independent and external scrutiny of that decision making process.

- 2.33 Disciplinary decisions by the management of the AFP and the NCA would be subject to review on their merits by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) an external agency with expertise in this role and with an appropriate case management process.
- 2.34 The one exception to the process of full merits review would be that the AAT would not be able to review decisions by the AFP Commissioner or NCA Chairperson to terminate an officer's appointment for 'loss of confidence'. 35. In those cases the AAT would be limited to reviewing whether compensation should be made to such an officer for this termination and the level and nature of that compensation. The AAT would not be able to order the reinstatement of an officer where the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson in effect no longer had confidence in that officer.
- 2.35 This recognises the policy imperative that law enforcement agencies must only have officers who meet the standards expected and demanded of those agencies. The need for integrity and accountability and the capacity to perform the tasks is such that it must override any individual's expectation of uninterrupted continuity of employment. These decisions to terminate for 'loss of confidence' would be subject to judicial review as to their lawfulness under the *Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977* (Cth).
- 2.36 As a consequence of these recommendations the Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal (FPDT) which currently has jurisdiction in relation to AFP disciplinary matters would no longer be necessary and would be abolished. The Commission has come to this conclusion not on the basis of any suggested criticism of the performance or standards of the FPDT or of any of its members, but because merits review of managerial decision making would be more readily and effectively carried out by the AAT. The Commission gave serious consideration to the option of having a re-shaped FPDT review disciplinary decisions of the AFP and the NCA according to the principles of administrative review but finally determined that the AAT was better placed to provide that type of review. In coming to that decision the Commission took account of the view of the AAT itself which was that it was an appropriate body to provide this review.

Objectives of a complaints system

- 2.37 A fundamental task is to establish what should be the main objectives of the AFP and the NCA complaints and disciplinary systems. The Commission canvassed this issue thoroughly in the issues paper. It also proposed a list of objectives for complaints systems in the DRP.
- 2.38 The Access to Justice Report argued that there were Commonwealth standards that should apply to complaints systems. They listed
- independence and impartiality
- accessibility
- efficiency and effectiveness
- openness and accountability.³⁶
- 2.39 These standards should apply to the AFP and NCA just as much as they should apply to other federal agencies. In particular, openness should be a guiding principle and should only be curtailed where there is an overriding privacy consideration or the disclosure of information that would prejudice the security of an operation.

Major objectives

- 2.40 The Commission has identified the main objectives for the AFP and NCA complaints systems as being to
- ensure public confidence in these agencies and their complaints systems
- achieve proper accountability of the agencies and their officers

- be fair to complainants and to AFP and NCA officers and staff including taking into account the requirements of natural justice and privacy considerations
- be credible to the agencies and their officers and staff
- be accessible to the community
- promote appropriate standards of conduct, ethics and integrity from officers and staff and their agencies
- provide the appropriate response, particularly the appropriate level of investigation, to the full range of complaints, from minor to serious, including those involving corruption
- provide feedback to the agency about individual officers and staff, agency practices, procedures and operations
- take into account appropriately other agency priorities such as law enforcement operations
- be timely in process and outcome
- use resources efficiently.
- 2.41 The Commission does not propose to try to rate these objectives in importance as a fully effective and integrated system should endeavour to meet each of them. However, it is clear that ensuring credibility with the public and the agencies themselves are very significant objectives.
- 2.42 Ensuring public confidence in the AFP and NCA is a key objective. A paramount principle of Australian law is that justice must not only be done but be seen to be done. The system must be transparent. Decision-making must be open and discernible including the reasons for a particular finding. This means that the general public should be able to see how complaints are dealt with and whether the outcomes satisfy general community standards and expectations. A failure to ensure public confidence may lead to public mistrust of the AFP and the NCA. This mistrust can taint the whole administration of justice. It may deter people from reporting crimes, from seeking the assistance of law enforcement agencies or assisting them, from giving evidence or appearing as witnesses. Furthermore, this public mistrust can spill over and affect public perceptions of other aspects of administration and government, sometimes leading to widespread rumour and distortion and providing sustenance to all enveloping conspiracy theories.

Articulating these objectives

2.43 The DRP proposed that the major objectives of the complaints systems should be included in the new legislation. The objectives are likely to remain the same for the foreseeable future and should therefore be enshrined in legislation. This will assist in the understanding of the fundamental objectives of the legislation and will be useful to those who use it. It will also serve an educative function. The objectives should also be incorporated in AFP and NCA codes of conduct, management goals and practices.

Submissions

2.44 The AFP submitted that complaints systems must be rigorous, transparent, effective, accountable and structured to ensure public confidence in both the process and the outcomes.³⁷ The Victoria Police supported the objectives identified by the Commission.³⁸ It agreed with the Commission's rationale for including the objectives in legislation, police codes and corporate goals and objectives. The NCA agreed with the objectives as outlined by the Commission.³⁹ It argued, however, that including the objectives in the organisational code of conduct may be inappropriate because it could blur the distinction between the goals of the organisation and the goals of the complaints system. The NCA emphasised the development of a complaints process which was flexible and comprehensive.

Commission's views

2.45 There was wide support for the objectives identified by the Commission. The inclusion of these objectives in general codes of conduct and corporate goals would highlight the importance of an effective complaints system to all officers.

Recommendation 1 - Objectives of AFP and NCA complaints systems

The main objectives for the AFP and NCA complaints systems are to

- ensure public confidence in these agencies and their complaints systems
- achieve proper accountability of the agencies and their officers
- be fair to complainants and to AFP and NCA officers and staff including taking into account the requirements of natural justice and privacy considerations
- be credible to the agencies and their officers and staff
- be accessible to the community
- promote appropriate standards of conduct, ethics and integrity from officers and staff and their agencies
- provide the appropriate response, particularly the appropriate level of investigation, to the full range of complaints, from minor to serious, including those involving corruption
- provide feedback to the agency about individual officers and staff, agency practices, procedures and operations
- take into account appropriately other agency priorities such as law enforcement operations
- be timely in process and outcome
- use resources efficiently.

These objectives should be included in an objects clause in the new legislation. They should also be incorporated in AFP and NCA codes of conduct and corporate goals and practice where appropriate.

Ensuring effective management responses

2.46 Recently greater attention has been given to complaints as a source of information for law enforcement agencies, not only about the conduct of individual officers, but also about problems with agency practice and procedure. This approach is supported by the proposition that the causes of misconduct are often to be found in problems with the organisation and culture of law enforcement agencies. Omplaints rather than viewed entirely in a negative or defensive fashion as they tend to be by many organisations, and in particular by law enforcement agencies, can then be seen as indicators of systemic difficulties. Complaints from that perspective provide essential information about the health of the organisation and its problem areas. For example, complaints can identify shortfalls in the lines of supervisory responsibility for street level policing. Instead of a focus on punishment or deterrence of the individual law enforcement officer after the event, the primary objective is systemic *ex ante* review to improve practice and procedures before systematic problems emerge.

Commission's views

- 2.47 The Commission considers that this new focus on management responsibility should be specifically encouraged, given the difficulties that law enforcement agencies may have in changing their approaches to the role and uses of complaints. The following measures should assist in this process.
- 2.48 Complaint forms should contain a section on suggested remedial action and consequences for management in relation to the particular complaint including implications for policies, practices and procedures. There should also be a record of follow-up and implementation.
- 2.49 AFP and NCA managements in consultation with the NIIC should consider how best to incorporate into their management processes proper consideration of complaints and misconduct including

- action in relation to specific officers and staff members
- management issues arising from complaints and misconduct
- implications for policies and practices (eg personnel selection, training, supervision, rules and procedures)
- regular reviews of the complaints and corruption systems and the disciplinary process.
- 2.50 The NIIC in consultation with the AFP and NCA should consider what information about complaints, corruption and discipline should be contained in their Annual Reports. The NIIC may consider establishing guidelines and standards. The Commission would expect that Annual Reports would include useful information on the incidence and nature of complaints and any action taken including an analysis of trends and managerial responses.
- 2.51 The NIIC should develop as part of its protocols with the AFP and the NCA a process for monitoring the implementation of its recommendations by the agencies.

Recommendation 2 - Ensuring effective management responses

Complaint forms should contain a section on suggested remedial action and the consequences for management in relation to the particular complaint including implications for policies, practices and procedures. There should also be a record of follow-up and implementation.

Recommendation 3

AFP and NCA managements in consultation with the NIIC should consider how best to incorporate into their management processes proper consideration of complaints and misconduct including

- action in relation to specific officers and staff members
- management issues arising from complaints and misconduct
- implications for policies and practices (eg personnel selection, training, supervision, rules and procedures)
- regular reviews of the complaints and corruption systems and the disciplinary process.

Recommendation 4

The NIIC in consultation with the AFP and NCA should consider what information about complaints, corruption and discipline should be contained in their respective Annual Reports. The NIIC may consider establishing guidelines and standards. The Commission would expect that Annual Reports would include useful information on the incidence and nature of complaints and any action taken including an analysis of trends and managerial responses.

Recommendation 5

The NIIC should develop as part of its protocols with the AFP and the NCA a process for monitoring the implementation of its recommendations by the agencies.

Prevention of the causes of complaints and corruption

2.52 The prevention of behaviour or conduct that is likely to lead to complaints or corruption saves resources which are otherwise spent on acting after complaints have been made or corruption has occurred. Moreover, any reduction in complaints or corruption is likely to increase public confidence in the AFP and the NCA. Individual complaints can be used to identify underlying procedural or chronic problems. These can then be

addressed by implementing improved procedures, training, education, and supervision so that further complaints in those areas are reduced.

Preventing corruption and other serious offences

- 2.53 An effective and efficient complaints system may help to reduce the incidence of corruption and other serious offences or help to detect them. However, it is highly unlikely that such a system by itself could achieve a dramatic reduction. For example, the parties to corruption are unlikely to lodge complaints as they are involved in a 'transaction' whereby each gains some benefit. Moreover, fellow law enforcement officers may be reluctant to blow the whistle for fear of victimisation or because of the solidarity of a police culture which frowns upon 'dobbing in mates' or 'rolling over' and giving evidence about corruption and misconduct. Civilians may fail to lodge or pursue complaints because of fears of retaliation whether by use of force or the improper use of the legal process by law enforcement officers. Factors to take into account to help achieve this objective in the context of complaints systems include the protection of whistleblowers and complainants. These factors are discussed in chapter 14.
- 2.54 Less serious complaints may require a very different approach. For minor complaints involving incivility or misunderstandings, it may be preferable to regard the general public as consumers and the law enforcement agencies as providers of a service. Implicit in this is that the service must be of high quality, that there must be trust between consumers and service providers and that legitimate complaints will be dealt with quickly and fairly. Such a view accords with modern management theory about consumer complaints in respect of other public and private organisations. A possible consequence of this 'consumer' perspective is that there could be a charter of rights for consumers including the making of complaints.⁴²

Other strategies and measures

- 2.55 A number of preventive measures have been suggested to reduce the number and the severity of complaints and corruption. They include
- organisational change to the law enforcement agencies
- recruitment and promotion including greater 'civialianisation' of staff (that is, staff who have broader backgrounds and experience and who have not only been law enforcement officers)
- education and training
- promotion and lateral entry⁴³
- pay and conditions
- ethics training and practice.
- 2.56 The Commission would expect that the NIIC would consult with the AFP and the NCA on the measures and strategies to be used to reduce misconduct and potential misconduct and to improve integrity and accountability. This is dealt with further in chapter 6. However, there is one major option discussed immediately below that would involve considerable change to the substantive criminal law and to the role of law enforcement agencies.

Re-examining the role and nature of law enforcement

2.57 There have been increasing calls for redefining the goals and capacity of policing. It is suggested by some commentators that laws which are concerned more with moral repugnance or which prohibit conduct on which the community is divided, need re-examination. Some examples are prostitution, other voluntary sexual behaviour, SP bookmaking, illegal gambling and the illicit sale of alcohol and some drugs. For some minor offences alternatives to criminal sanctions may be preferable. Major issues are the extent to which law enforcement agencies should be involved in the enforcement of morality and the collection of public

revenue. Of particular interest is the relationship between the current drug laws and the incidence of law enforcement corruption.

The role of current drug laws

- 2.58 There appears to be a causal link between the current drug laws that are based on a policy of prohibition and significant police misconduct and corruption. A number of royal commissions, inquiries and reports have commented on this link.⁴⁴ Current drug laws may contribute to law enforcement misconduct including corruption in the following ways.
- High levels of demand for illicit drugs coupled with policies and laws prescribing drug prohibition have created lucrative blackmarkets. Law enforcement officers must work within this environment to implement the laws. This invariably exposes them to opportunities to profit from drug-related misconduct.
- The community's heavy use of both illicit and legal drugs places law enforcement officers in a difficult position where they must balance enforcing the current laws against their perceptions of how fair and practical those laws are.
- Misconduct and corruption which is drug-related is likely to be more difficult to detect than many other forms of misconduct.
- Under current drug laws law enforcement officers often have difficulty in proving drug offences on the evidence available to the necessary standard of proof. This may cause frustration and may lead to officers acting either contrary to policing practice or illegally in order to secure convictions.
- The increase in powers given to law enforcement agencies to enforce effectively the current drug laws has raised concerns about the erosion of traditional civil liberties.⁴⁵
- 2.59 The Fitzgerald report made the following observation.

Laws which are not or cannot be enforced, or which seek to establish disputed moral standards, generate disrespect for the law and authority. This disrespect is particularly pronounced amongst those who support and patronise illegal activities and those, especially young people, who reject what they consider to be hypocrisy.⁴⁶

2.60 The Fitzgerald report recommended an inquiry into the use of dangerous drugs and policies in response including the question of whether present criminal activities should be legalised or decriminalised. In doing so, the report commented

[A]ttempts to stamp out the illegal drug trade have failed all over the world, and have consumed more and more resources. Wider powers have been granted to police, customs officers, and other law enforcers. More jails have been built and more people jailed. As well, drugs have caused more incursions on the civil liberties of ordinary people, more corruption and more interference in normal life than almost anything else.

There is no benefit in blinkered thinking. The starting point must be an acceptance that illegal drugs are established in the community and that prohibition has not worked. Orthodox policing is quite unable to enforce the law. The limited budget available for criminal law enforcement falls far short of the minimum needed if the present anti-drug laws are seriously to be enforced.

Priorities must be established for the use of the available resources. The need for and social will to provide more resources must be identified. When available, the resources must be allocated so as to give effect to the priorities. One thing is certain: the conventional method of giving the job to the police, on top of all their other responsibilities, has failed all over the world, and a new approach is needed.⁴⁷

2.61 During proceedings before the NSW Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service, Justice Wood said that the most obvious consequence of the 'drug problem' was its enormous capacity to corrupt police.⁴⁸ He made the following comment.

It seems to me that the drug problem and its ramifications is such that there has to be a national organised and cooperative solution to the problems which may involve bold and innovative thought ... we are going to have to look

in an organised, cooperative and national way to some innovative and far-reaching methods of dealing with the problem, including education, rehabilitation and other facets of the equation in order to combat it.

... It is destroying the police on a State and Federal level, and there is absolutely no reason to think that it stops at New South Wales boundaries.⁴⁹

2.62 The NSW Police Service supported the comments made by Justice Wood and the need for reform in this area.⁵⁰ The New South Wales Police Board has argued that the real challenge is to promote an environment which not only discourages misconduct and corruption but is 'corruption resistant'. For this reason, the Board asserted that corruption cannot be addressed without reference to the drug trade and drug laws.⁵¹

Submissions and consultations

2.63 A submission from the University of Technology, Sydney (UTS) Community Law Centre argued that drug laws based on prohibition tend to corrupt law enforcement officers who have the duty to enforce them.⁵² It suggested that any attempt to eradicate or minimise police corruption will have little success unless current drug laws are re-examined.⁵³

Commission's view

2.64 Any major change to current drug control laws and policies would require an examination of the substantive laws and policies of the Commonwealth and the States and Territories. It would also raise significant health and criminal justice issues. The Commission is unable to deal with these major issues under its current terms of reference. However, the Commission notes the growing trend to reconsider the effectiveness of drug regulation strategies that place very heavy reliance on prohibition. The call by Justice Wood and the proposals of the Pennington Committee in Victoria⁵⁴ for a national effort to consider innovative options to relieve much of the strain being placed on law enforcement agencies should be further considered.

3. Assessing the AFP complaints system

Introduction

- 3.1 This chapter has three parts
- describing the role of the AFP
- outlining the current AFP complaints system
- assessing the record of that system in the light of the objectives identified in chapter 2.
- 3.2 The conclusion is that the record of the AFP complaints systems since its inception reveals significant inadequacies. The Commission's consultations and the submissions it received support this conclusion. A consistent theme in many of the responses to this inquiry is that the police, particularly in respect to serious complaints, should not be conducting these investigations. This theme is echoed in the interim report of the NSW Royal Commission into Police and the submissions made to it. It is a concern heightened by the focus on police corruption and misconduct not only in NSW but also in other Australian jurisdictions.
- 3.3 Chapter 5 assesses the current NCA approach to complaints. Chapter 10 assesses the current AFP and NCA disciplinary systems.

Background

- 3.4 The AFP is a federal law enforcement agency which
- investigates breaches or potential breaches of Commonwealth laws on a national basis
- liaises and co-operates with international and overseas law enforcement agencies
- provides community policing in the ACT and Jervis Bay Territory and the following external territories Norfolk Island, ⁵⁵ Cocos (Keeling) Island and Christmas Island.
- 3.5 The AFP's primary national role is the conduct of investigations. In that context it is similar to the United States Federal Bureau of Investigations (FBI). The AFP does not have general jurisdiction in relation to State and Northern Territory laws. Generally it does not have daily contact and interaction with the broad Australian community in a community policing role. The only places where it performs that role are in those territories mentioned above.

The current AFP complaints process

What is a complaint?

3.6 There is no definition of complaint in the Complaints Act but a complaint must relate to 'action taken by an AFP appointee'. ⁵⁶ That expression is defined as:

action that the appointee takes or purports to take:

- (a) because of his or her being an AFP appointee; or
- (b) in the exercise of powers, or the performance of functions, given to him or her as an AFP appointee by this Act or by another law.⁵⁷
- 3.7 The term 'AFP appointee' includes members of the AFP (that is, the Commissioner, Deputy Commissioners, senior executive commissioned police Officers and commissioned and non-commissioned police Officers), staff members and special members appointed by the Commissioner.⁵⁸ Each of these is subject to the Complaints Act.

Complaints and allegations

3.8 Complaints about AFP Officers are currently divided into two types - 'complaints' and 'allegations'. Complaints by members of the public against the AFP or its personnel are made under the Complaints Act. Allegations are provided for under subsidiary AFP legislation⁵⁹ and deal with internal complaints, that is, by one AFP appointee in respect of another and other complaints concerning non-operational police matters. This distinction between complaints and allegations is further discussed in chapter 14.

Numbers of complaints and allegations

- 3.9 The 1995-96 AFP Annual Report records that there were 1 157 complaints made by 740 complainants for that year. 60 6.3% were substantiated compared to 6.4% the previous year. The Ombudsman has commented that there has been a 24% increase in complaints received about the AFP over the past year. In 1995-96 the Ombudsman states that her Office finalised 737 complaints about the AFP comprising 1 134 complaint issues, compared with 685 complaints finalised in 1994-95. During the year 25% of all complaints were subject to workplace resolution. 63
- 3.10 For the year 1995-96, 565 of the total of 740 complainants were from the ACT.
- 3.11 There were also 79 allegations made as compared to 109 allegations from the previous year. Most of those, as categorised by the AFP, were for disgraceful or improper conduct (27), communicating or accessing information without authorisation (13), failing to comply with General Orders (5) and involvement in any criminal activity (5). Thirty nine of the allegations were concerned with the ACT.

Lodging complaints

3.12 Complaints may be lodged with the Ombudsman or the AFP each of whom is to record them and notify the other of each complaint received.

Conciliation of some complaints

- 3.13 The Act provides for a special procedure for the conciliation of minor complaints.⁶⁴ The Commissioner may also make a decision that conciliation should be attempted for those complaints which are not dealt with under the minor complaints procedure but which are received either by the Internal Investigation Division (IID) or by the Ombudsman.⁶⁵
- 3.14 On 3 April 1995, a more detailed arrangement for the conciliation of complaints was introduced in the ACT as a pilot workplace resolution scheme. It is based on an agreement between the AFP and the Commonwealth Ombudsman and allows sergeants and designated supervisors to resolve non-serious complaints and non-serious allegations internally through conciliation. These workplace resolutions are reviewed by IID and the Ombudsman. The results of workplace resolution may include counselling, apologies and explanations. The AFP and the Ombudsman have assessed this ACT scheme and have concluded that it is successful.⁶⁶

IID investigations

- 3.15 The IID is created by the Complaints Act. 67 Its functions are set out in the Act:
- to investigate complaints concerning action taken by AFP appointees that are referred to it by an AFP appointee who has received a complaint or by the Ombudsman;
- to investigate special matters referred to it by the Commissioner. ⁶⁸
- 3.16 The IID has power under the Complaints Act to
- investigate complaints
- further investigate complaints if this is requested by the Ombudsman

- compel answers and the provision of information. ⁶⁹
- 3.17 The investigative powers of the IID are limited to investigation of AFP members only.⁷⁰ The IID investigates almost all complaints against the police which are made under the Complaints Act other than minor complaints and complaints which the Ombudsman decides to investigate. At the conclusion of its investigation the IID must provide a report to the Ombudsman.⁷¹ In addition to investigating complaints the IID investigates most allegations (other than minor allegations) which are made pursuant to General Order 6.
- 3.18 Due to staffing constraints the IID refers approximately 80 complaints each year to 'authorised Officers'⁷² who conduct an investigation under the supervision of the Officer-in-charge of IID.
- 3.19 The IID is directly responsible to the Deputy Commissioner (Administration). Members are appointed to the IID by the Deputy Commissioner for a period of two years.⁷³ Presently there are 19 members and 3 staff members in the IID.⁷⁴ When transferring an Officer to the IID the Commissioner is required to have regard to the nature of the functions of the IID and the need to ensure that there is a member in the IID with experience in criminal investigations and a member with experience in general police duties.⁷⁵

The Ombudsman's role in investigations

- 3.20 The primary role undertaken by the Ombudsman under the Complaints Act has been to review complaints investigations by the IID. In 1995-96, 208 complaints were investigated by the IID and 18 by the Ombudsman.⁷⁶
- 3.21 According to the Ombudsman, when she receives a complaint or is notified by the AFP of a complaint, one of her staff writes to the complainant to explain the Ombudsman's role. The Ombudsman's Office then monitors the progress of the investigation, following up with the IID when there is undue delay. The Ombudsman's Office discusses with the Commander of IID any particular issues that require attention. On receipt of the investigation report the Ombudsman examines the evidence and identifies any further action that is necessary. The Ombudsman
- may request interim reports of the police investigation
- may provide progress reports about complaints to complainants
- may determine that a complaint should not be investigated
- may conduct his/her own investigations following an IID investigation.

In limited circumstances, when conducting her own investigation the Ombudsman

- has power to obtain information and documents and any person who is summonsed to provide information does not retain the right to silence
- has the power to enter premises of the AFP or a government department or prescribed authority.
- 3.22 The Ombudsman has the power to conduct four types of independent investigations.
- Complaints about 'practices and procedures' being to complaints that are about administrative matters, and are very similar to the administrative investigations conducted under the Ombudsman Act. ⁷⁷
- Special investigations, conducted after agreement between the Ombudsman and the Commissioner in cases where it is not appropriate for the IID to investigate. These are cases usually involving complaints about IID personnel.⁷⁸ There is also an agreement between the Ombudsman and the Commissioner that the Ombudsman will conduct a special investigation into any complaint relating to a death or serious injury of an Aboriginal person or Torres Strait Islander in AFP custody.

- Further investigations where the Ombudsman can conduct investigations following IID investigations. The Ombudsman has rarely exercised this power.⁷⁹
- 'Own motion' investigations where the Ombudsman has the power to investigate actions of AFP appointees on her own initiative. 80

ISA's role in investigations

- 3.23 Internal Security and Audit (ISA)⁸¹ was established by the AFP Commissioner in April 1990. It has no legislative basis and was an internal response by the AFP to the type of problems that the Fitzgerald inquiry⁸² exposed in Queensland. Its objectives are to:
- change the culture of the AFP so as to engender an ethos of personal and organisational integrity
- establish and maintain preventive policies, practices and procedures
- maintain a pro-active capacity to investigate corruption, including any link between corrupt conduct and organised crime. 83
- 3.24 ISA has 50 personnel, 28 members and 22 staff members.⁸⁴ It has three branches: investigations, audit and internal security.
- *Investigations*. ISA is intended to investigate serious criminal and corrupt conduct within the AFP and in particular any links between AFP personnel and organised crime. If ISA is to investigate a complaint under the Complaints Act then it must be authorised to do so. *SAudit*. ISA's Internal Audit Branch (IAB) functions are to reform policy and practices in the AFP. It conducts regular audits of different areas of the AFP, particularly high risk areas such as drug holding, cash holdings and financial accounts.
- Internal security. This focuses on security policy and training, vetting of staff and ethics education. It also includes the pro-active gathering of information and intelligence on the identity, capabilities, intentions and methods of organisations and individuals who pose, or may pose, a threat to the security of the AFP. It also implements protective security policies and procedures and provides security support.
- 3.25 In 1995-96, ISA investigated 85 references compared with 87 the year before. The 1995-96 investigations resulted in 16 criminal charges and one disciplinary charge.

Criticisms of the AFP complaints system

3.26 The Commission identified the following major inadequacies of the current system in its draft recommendations paper.

Lack of clear responsibility for integrity of the system

- 3.27 The major problem is that there is no one entity who accepts responsibility for the integrity of the system or who can be identified as satisfying that responsibility. The Ombudsman's Office has provided only a limited form of scrutiny that has rarely extended beyond a review of IID investigations after they have commenced or after they are concluded. The Ombudsman has therefore been unable in any unequivocal way to vouch for the integrity and independence of the process. There are many weaknesses in a reliance on the Ombudsman's current limited role as a guarantee of independence. They concern the credibility and effectiveness of the system.
- 3.28 There is increasing evidence that many complainants and the general public feel uneasy about the police investigating other police. The Ombudsman has said that feedback from complainants and community groups and evidence to the Senate Committee examining amendments to the Complaints Act in 1994 indicate that the public is not confident about the AFP's internal investigations. 86

- 3.29 It is clear that there have been many cases under the current AFP complaints system where primary investigation by an external agency and not by the IID would have been preferable, if not demanded, by the circumstances. These include cases of significant public interest or media attention, where there appear to be particularly vulnerable complainants or where there are suspicions of extensive police involvement in misconduct and allegations of cover-up. The Ombudsman has identified cases where much greater input from her Office would have been preferable.⁸⁷
- 3.30 The Ombudsman's Office only occasionally re-investigates IID investigations and does so in cases where it is particularly dissatisfied with the IID investigation. However, the Ombudsman acknowledges that re-investigation is often ineffectual because of the time that has usually elapsed before it occurs.⁸⁸ The trail of evidence is lost or tainted.

Artificial distinction between complaints and allegations

3.31 The distinction between complaints and allegations is artificial and creates difficulties. Allegations are currently not subject to review by the Ombudsman or by any other external agency but yet it is internal complaints that are most likely to allege or suggest corruption. This distinction therefore is crucial because it severely limits the level of scrutiny for the handling of corruption matters.

Doubts about the performance and skills of the IID

- 3.32 Under the current system the IID has a central role in the investigation of complaints. However, the Ombudsman expressed doubts about the current capacity of the IID to perform this role to a consistently high standard. The Ombudsman advised that in the past year her Office has reinvestigated three complaints following investigation by the IID. The Ombudsman claimed that in all three cases her Office was able to identify and gather significant evidence not identified by the IID. In each case the investigation by the IID was found to be inadequate. The Ombudsman claimed that the record of IID investigations is uneven, ranging from very poor to very good. The Ombudsman also expressed concern about inadequate training of IID investigators, commenting that there is no requirement that IID recruits have experience in investigations and that there is no formal training program for those who may need it.
- 3.33 The Commission expressed concern in DRP 2 that currently the Ombudsman's Office appears to have been unable to provide any comprehensive or effective quality control of the performance of the IID. The reinvestigation of three cases appears to be to be a fairly small sample to help to assess the overall record of the IID.
- 3.34 The Commission was also concerned about the apparent lack of established guidelines and standards agreed upon by the AFP and the Ombudsman about the staffing, training of the IID and the conduct of investigations.

Role of ISA

- 3.35 ISA was introduced not by legislation but by internal arrangement by the AFP in 1990. The Commission expressed concern in the DRP that ISA has not received any legislative recognition but operates as the AFP's major anti-corruption force with significant powers and responsibilities. It uses the full range of investigative tools including listening devices, telephone intercepts and surveillance. Not all of its investigative tools are available to the IID. However, there is no external monitoring of its activities in the same fashion as the IID is oversighted by the Ombudsman.
- 3.36 Another problem identified in the DRP was that there appears to be no clear delineation between the respective roles of the IID and ISA in investigating complaints. While in general terms ISA has as its stated role the investigation of serious criminal and corrupt activity, serious criminal conduct is not necessarily investigated by ISA. For example, a matter involving murder, grievous bodily harm or serious assault might well be dealt with by the IID unless there were additional elements involved such as an allegation of corruption, an abuse of Office, the involvement of non AFP personnel or the need for surveillance or other sophisticated means of investigation.

- 3.37 Currently the decision as to whether IID or ISA will investigate a particular matter is a 'judgment call' that is determined generally by conferences between ISA and the IID and the relevant Deputy Commissioner on an ad hoc basis. These decisions can have considerable ramifications. ISA's investigations are very thorough and often require considerable resources and time. There are 26 ISA investigators who between them investigate about 80 matters per year. Of this range of about 80 matters only about ten per cent will result in serious criminal charges.
- 3.38 The DRP expressed the view that this current ad hoc arrangement is inadequate and should be replaced by an appropriate system of risk assessment and the application of criteria to determine whether a matter is likely to concern serious or systemic corruption or might be best dealt with at least initially by some form of preliminary inquiry before launching a full scale investigation. While the Commission acknowledged that there are difficulties in determining how a particular matter will develop it is essential that a form of risk management is adopted that is based upon experience and precedents and an established database of information.
- 3.39 The Commission was also concerned that having two separate investigative units is an inefficient use of resources that leads to unnecessary arguments about demarcation and the likelihood of duplication. It can also lead to internal jealousies and empire building with the danger of both bodies seeking to justify their positions, funding and staffing rather than acting on the realities of the task. The general public may also have difficulties in understanding the difference between the bodies and the reasoning behind decisions about who should investigate a particular matter.

Delay

- 3.40 The DRP considered that the current system is clearly too slow. Survey evidence and the Commission's consultations and submissions showed that delay is one of the most consistent criticisms made of complaints systems by complainants and by those who are the subject of complaints.
- 3.41 The Ombudsman agreed that the current response to complaints was too slow. The Ombudsman said that the average time to finalise complaints against the AFP is almost six months. This includes cases handled quickly by conciliation and those not investigated. This is by far the longest average for all agencies investigated by the Commonwealth Ombudsman for most of them it takes less than two months to finalise complaints. Therefore, there are a large number of investigated cases which take more than six months to finalise. In respect of complaints closed in 1994-5 the Ombudsman reports that 16.8% took 6 to 12 months to finalise, 12.7% took one to two years and 3% took more than two years.
- 3.42 The AFP also acknowledged that delays occur from time to time but stated that the majority of complaints handled by the AFP are completed and reports forwarded to the Ombudsman within a reasonable time. The AFP claimed that lengthy delays sometimes occur when awaiting reviews by the Ombudsman. These delays can occur if the Ombudsman requires the AFP to take additional action. The AFP advised that for the reporting year 1994-95 the average time taken by the IID to complete investigations was 74.6 days. For the same period the average time taken by the Ombudsman to review and finalise work on complaints was 114.2 days. According to the AFP, another factor that contributes to delay is where there is a protracted court or tribunal hearing.

Lack of assessibility

- 3.43 The research available indicates that there is a lack of awareness and knowledge about complaints systems particularly for people from a non English speaking background, Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders and youth. 92
- 3.44 The limited research on public awareness of complaints systems indicates that it is least accessible to those who need it most: people from non-English speaking backgrounds, indigenous people and youth, who each have a disproportionately high incidence of contact with the police. A report by the Administrative Review Council found significant impediments to the use of administrative review amongst ethnic communities. There was an apparent ignorance of the administrative review system, significant language difficulties, cultural alienation and a lack of faith in the usefulness of the system. Similarly, the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody found that police complaints mechanisms were inaccessible

to Aboriginal people, partly because they were overly formal.⁹⁵ The report of the National Youth Affairs Research Scheme (NYARS) found that juveniles rarely lodged police complaints, despite believing that their rights had been abused by police.⁹⁶ Possible reasons for the lack of access to and use of the complaints system include:

- lack of knowledge of the nature and the availability of the system itself
- lack of trust in the police
- fear of retaliation if a complaint is made
- lack of faith in the complaints system either due to a belief that investigations are inadequate, or even if adequate, that no useful outcome will be reached
- language difficulties
- barriers created by the police to those wishing to make a complaint.
- 3.45 The Commission's consultations indicated that ACT residents may have a greater awareness of the AFP complaints mechanism compared to other communities. The Commission's consultations in Norfolk Island suggested that there is little awareness in that community about the role of the Commonwealth Ombudsman.
- 3.46 The Ombudsman had advised that limited resources have restricted her capacity to implement programs to promote awareness. The Ombudsman chose not to comment on the DRP proposals in relation to the external territories.⁹⁷

Lack of common database

3.47 The Commission commented in the DRP that there is no common complaints database used by both the AFP and the Ombudsman's Office. For example, the two agencies employ totally different methods of assessing the number of complaints from any one incident. This means that at the most basic level there is no agreement on the total number of complaints. Nor do the Ombudsman's Office and the AFP have any common information technology that would enable them to record and pass on information to each other virtually simultaneously.

Lack of common or comprehensive classification system

3.48 The Commission commented in the DRP that there is no effective system available to the AFP or the Ombudsman's Office for classifying complaints according to their seriousness or their nature. Thus, for example, the AFP data on the classification of complaints contained in its Annual Reports has the classifications 'assault' and 'use excessive force' with no explanation as to the difference between these two categories. The Ombudsman's Office has statistics on the number of matters conciliated but is unable to provide data on other types of complaints in terms of seriousness or other characteristics.

Criticisms of the performance of the Ombudsman's Office

- 3.49 The Commission criticised in the DRP the performance of the Ombudsman's Office in relation to AFP complaints. The Commission considered that the Ombudsman's Office could have tried to use its powers more robustly than the record of activity since the introduction of the Act indicates.
- 3.50 The Ombudsman had advised the Commission that the failure of her Office to carry out her own investigations or to effectively supervise the IID in these types of matters is due to a lack of resources and the restrictions imposed upon her role by the Complaints Act. The Ombudsman argued that the following interpretation of the Complaints Act has restricted her role:
- The Ombudsman is unable to make the initial assessment about who should investigate a complaint. 98

- The Ombudsman has no power to supervise IID investigations because apart from the power to obtain progress reports the Ombudsman has no statutory power to influence the IID investigation in any way. 99 The Act gives the Officer-in-Charge of the IID the power to conduct the investigation as she or he thinks fit. 100
- The power for the Ombudsman to conduct special investigations where it is not 'appropriate' for investigation by the IID is a power that must be interpreted in the context of the philosophy and mandate provided by ALRC Report 9 to the effect that it would a rare case where the IID would not be conducting the investigation. Moreover the Ombudsman's power to conduct special investigations in appropriate cases requires agreement by the AFP Commissioner or failing that a report to the Minister.
- 3.51 The Commission considered that these views are unnecessarily restrictive. It noted in the DRP that the Ombudsman's range of investigatory powers had not been subject to expert legal opinion, particularly from the Attorney-General's Department. The Ombudsman's Office had not taken the opportunity to test the extent of those powers when it has been clear for some considerable time that the system has not achieved its objectives.
- 3.52 The Commission argued in the DRP that the legislation should be considered in the clear context that the Ombudsman's Office is to provide effective external review of the AFP complaints system. For example, it is the Ombudsman who may determine that a complaint should not be investigated and it is the Ombudsman who can make reports and recommendations after investigations are carried out. It is also the Ombudsman who has the reporting role to the complainant. The key role of the Ombudsman's Office as the external agency is clear.
- 3.53 The Commission was not convinced that the Act prevents the Ombudsman's Office from taking a more active role. For example, the AFP is under a duty to notify the Ombudsman of every complaint received by it. 105 It should be possible for the Ombudsman to obtain a reasonably early view about which complaints require greater involvement or supervision. Under s 46 there is power for the Ombudsman to request that her Office or another person undertake an investigation where an IID investigation would be inappropriate. It would be open to the Ombudsman to use this power to investigate herself or to get others to investigate a far greater number and range of matters than has been investigated by that means. Under s 23(1)(a) the Ombudsman is to investigate a complaint that is in substance about the practices and procedures of the AFP. This power could be construed quite widely to allow much more involvement from the Ombudsman's Office.
- 3.54 Section 35 enables the Ombudsman to request progress reports from the IID, to discuss the complaint with the complainant, to request the Commissioner for access to any documents and to interview a person other than the complainant in relation to the complaint. In addition since 1993 the Ombudsman has had an 'own motion' power which has been used very rarely.

Submissions and consultations

Members of the public

- 3.55 The perspective of members of the public who made submissions or who attended consultations was that the current AFP complaints system was significantly defective. The main concerns expressed were about the quality and impartiality of IID investigations, the ineffectiveness of the Ombudsman's role and the inaccessibility of the system. The Commission did not receive any response from members of the public to the effect that the current system worked well or was satisfactory.
- 3.56 Two submissions from ex-AFP Officers criticised the performance of the Ombudsman in relation to a number of their complaints including failure to keep complainants adequately informed, delays in investigating complaints, failures in administrative procedures and failure to investigate matters because they were in the Ombudsman's opinion too old. One of these complaints was made on 16 October 1992 in relation to matters that were dealt with in a committal hearing completed on 25 January 1990. Some of the matters also related to alleged incidents as far back as 1984. The allegations concerned improper conduct by a number of AFP investigators and DPP Officers.

- 3.57 Another ex-AFP Officer made allegations that the IID had destroyed evidence, coerced witnesses and had a disregard for its own Orders. He had asked the Ombudsman to investigate but had been advised that there was a jurisdictional problem in that the Ombudsman had no formal power to investigate allegations. He told the Commission that he viewed the Ombudsman's Office as a 'paper tiger' that does not provide effective or unbiased review. He argued that the police should not investigate themselves because they were biased and would support their friends. A separate external review mechanism was necessary to overcome the 'club' mentality of the police.
- 3.58 There were concerns expressed about the impartiality of the IID investigations of the complaints arising from the AIDEX demonstration. One person consulted thought that the investigation of the AIDEX demonstrations was inadequate. He said that the IID asked a number of questions that were a fishing expedition to find out details about protesters and their supporting groups. He said that the making of anonymous complaints had been noted on some people's social security files presumably after information given by the AFP. Another person consulted said that the AIDEX investigations resulted in very little positive action in relation to most complaints. 108
- 3.59 Another submission criticised the independence and thoroughness of IID investigations. The Commission also heard a claim that an attempt had been made by the IID to dissuade her from pursuing a complaint about an investigation by the IID into her son's death.
- 3.60 Another view was that the Ombudsman's lack of resources meant that the Ombudsman often had to take the IID initial report at face value. Other submissions criticised the Ombudsman's failure to investigate particular allegations of corruption and conspiracy. Another person consulted said that he had hit a brick wall' in complaining to the Ombudsman's Office which had advised him that his complaint about the conduct of the AFP did not warrant investigation. One submission commented on the ineffectiveness of the Ombudsman's Office in investigating complaints across the broad spectrum of administration. There was a lack of independence, accountability and staff with appropriate skills and aptitudes.
- 3.61 A few people consulted suggested that the complaints system needed to be better publicised including the role of the Ombudsman. It was suggested that many people, particularly outside of Canberra, are unaware of the Ombudsman's role.

Views of some practitioners

- 3.62 An Official Visitor from the Belconnen Remand Centre who is also a member of the Prisoner's Aid Society was concerned about the low substantiation rate of complaints. He said that many of his clients felt powerless after they claimed that they had been assaulted by the police. He added that another major concern was the wrecking of homes by police squads in drug related matters. Many were reluctant to make complaints against the police as they feared retaliation. The Official Visitor believed that the IID tended to err on the side of the police because there is always some degree of doubt in a matter. The Ombudsman's Office virtually had to accept IID findings because it lacked the resources and the clear powers to do anything else.
- 3.63 Ms J Saunders, a lawyer with the ACT Legal Aid Office who practices in criminal law and acts on behalf of many complainants, agreed with the criticisms made of the current AFP complaints system in the DRP. She added that the current complaints system was also a very expensive one. The expense arises in the number of challenges to police decisions including those of the IID, challenging evidence in expensive appeals and what seems to be a large number of expensive compensation payments to victims of police misconduct. She also submitted that the arrangements between the Ombudsman's Office and the IID appears to outsiders to be collusive. She added that this may be illusory, as she is not ascribing any bad faith to any Officer of the Ombudsman's Office. However, according to her, there is no question that this is certainly the impression that complainants have of the Ombudsman's Office in these matters.
- 3.64 She also commented that delays were a significant problem and that both the IID and the Ombudsman's Office contributed to those delays. It was her experience that the Ombudsman's Office did not report back to the complainant during the course of an investigation as it is obliged to. She could not recall one occasion when she had received a progress report regardless of the length of time involved. She was also concerned that there have been a number of cases where a complaint has become 'lost' between the Ombudsman's

Office and the IID. She was also aware of cases where the complaints were made directly to the IID and the IID had subsequently denied to the Ombudsman's Office that the complaint was ever made. Those complaints have then been eventually found with no work done on them until quite some time later.

Views of AFP personnel

- 3.65 The Commission consulted widely among AFP personnel including at each AFP regional headquarters and also at Jervis Bay and Norfolk Island. This usually involved meetings with senior personnel and general musters where Officers of varying seniority attended. The overall view was that IID and ISA were effective and impartial. There was a mixed response to the performance of the Ombudsman's Office.
- 3.66 A number of AFP Officers ranging in seniority told the Commission that IID and ISA were effective and that a more external model would only be needed for the sake of appearances and to satisfy some elements of the community. IID and ISA conducted very thorough and impartial investigations. A number of Officers argued that the IID and ISA were very tough on police they investigated and might use minor infractions, for example, a failure to keep full details in a diary, when they were unable to find any serious allegations. The performance of those AFP Officers involved in the NSW Royal Commission into Police demonstrated the skills and professionalism of AFP investigators.
- 3.67 Some Officers thought that the Ombudsman's Office was not equipped and lacked expertise to conduct investigations into serious criminality. One view was that the Ombudsman's Office lacked the capacity and commitment to probe deeply enough. Some AFP Officers believed that the Ombudsman's Office could provide some value to the process by jointly participating in investigations. Other Officers were very opposed to this suggestion. Others thought that while the Ombudsman's Office should not conduct investigations itself into serious criminality or corruption it could oversight their investigation.
- 3.68 Another view was that although the Ombudsman's Office had exercised quite an active role in investigations by sitting in on interviews or in locating evidence the significant powers such as taking evidence on oath had been under-used. 129
- 3.69 Many AFP Officers consulted at general musters believed that the Ombudsman's Office and practices were biased against the police and politicised the complaints system. ¹³⁰ The role of the Ombudsman's Office in the AIDEX demonstrations was often cited as an example. The Ombudsman's Office was claimed to be a 'vindictive and vexatious prosecutor'. ¹³¹
- 3.70 A common concern was delay.¹³² This caused great stress, frustration and uncertainty for the Officers concerned. There was often a long delay between the IID investigation and when the Ombudsman's Office advised the Officer of the outcome.¹³³

Views of a former Commonwealth Ombudsman, Professor Dennis Pearce

3.71 Professor Dennis Pearce, a former Commonwealth Ombudsman, noted that the performance of the Ombudsman's Office in handling police complaints was the subject of significant concern and criticism. ¹³⁴ He said public concerns have been expressed about delay and there is a widespread view that the Ombudsman's intervention has little impact on the AFP. Professor Pearce said that the improvement in the performance of the Ombudsman's Office since the Senate Committee report in 1991 was 'marginal'.

Views of the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security

3.72 The Inspector-General commented that the inadequacies of the current AFP complaints system as identified in the DRP are very real and require urgent attention.¹³⁵ He strongly agreed with the view in the DRP that 'the current systems do not deliver sufficient independent scrutiny, accountability, credibility, effectiveness or timeliness.' He was not critical of the performance of the Ombudsman's Office, believing it has done 'some good work in this field' despite various resource and legislative limits.

Ombudsman's submission

- 3.73 The Ombudsman agreed with the Commission that the current system is significantly defective and that major objectives are not being met. However, the Ombudsman argued that those deficiencies are not the responsibility of her Office.
- 3.74 The Ombudsman in her response to the DRP has accepted that 'in the past' the Ombudsman has played a 'limited role' in the AFP complaints system but has argued that this has been dictated by Parliament and limited resources.
- 3.75 According to the Ombudsman the 'potential' for the Ombudsman to be more effective and proactive has already been demonstrated in cases her Office has investigated in the past year or so, including a number of own motion investigations. The Ombudsman advised that the implementation of workplace resolution and other streamlining of less serious complaints has also enabled more resources to be directed to serious complaints and re-investigations. With the agreement of the AFP the Ombudsman's Office has also supervised several internal investigations of serious complaints. She argued that there has been no lack of will for her Office to undertake independent investigations or to supervise IID's investigations the limits are caused by funding and the legislation.
- 3.76 *Legislative limits*. The Ombudsman submitted that when the government at the time conferred the AFP complaints function on the Ombudsman it made very clear that the Ombudsman's investigative role was to be limited. In the Second Reading Speech introducing the Complaints Act, the then Attorney-General said

[T]he first of these elements is use of the Ombudsman as 'neutral territory' for the receipt of complaints, as the investigator of last resort and as public guardian to ensure that adequate and proper steps are taken in relation to complaints.

- 3.77 According to the Ombudsman the resources provided at that time to the Office reflected the Government's expectations that the role was essentially to review police internal investigations.
- 3.78 The Ombudsman also contended that the Complaints Act makes it clear that the internal investigation is conducted as the IID thinks fit. The Ombudsman conceded that she has a 'degree of influence' as a result of her power to send a case back for further investigation but that this is dependent on IID's 'capacity and willingness'.
- 3.79 The Ombudsman's Office has also brought to the attention of the AFP problems of delay, lack of adequate case management, lack of adequate training for internal investigators and examples of inadequate investigations.
- 3.80 *Ombudsman's achievements*. The Ombudsman has also provided details to the Commission of what she considers to be significant examples of her Office's achievements in the AFP complaints area. These are listed as follows.
- The Ombudsman's report into the AIDEX demonstrations resulted in recommendations to the AFP about case management, training and recruitment of suitable Officers. Her Office subsequently pursued these issues through a joint working party with the AFP and in direct approaches to Deputy Commissioners. A number of the recommendations 'are being pursued'. 137
- Three re-investigations of inadequate internal investigations relating to obtaining and executing search warrants. These re-investigations resulted in new findings and recommendations about search warrant procedures.
- An own motion investigation into a number of complaints received about the accessing or disclosing of information that resulted in recommendations about training and education. The Ombudsman advised that the AFP Commissioner was generally supportive of her recommendations.

- An AFP investigation conducted by AFP Officers under the direct and active supervision of an Ombudsman staff member about improper inducements allegedly made by an AFP Officer to prisoners to give evidence.
- The Ombudsman conducted a re-investigation in relation to a Motor Traffic report.
- A current 'own motion' investigation into AFP treatment of youth.
- Interviewing and reviewing documents with the AFP in relation to an AFP Officer who 'rolled over' before the NSW Royal Commission into the Police. The Ombudsman recommended that a Ministerial inquiry be conducted because the allegations are so serious and wide ranging that the Ombudsman does not have the resources to conduct it.
- The Ombudsman has influenced a wide range of AFP practices and procedures, guidelines and training including use of force training, a reporting policy for whistleblowers, witness protection and video cameras in watchhouses.
- 3.81 *Comments in relation to specific criticisms*. The Ombudsman has accepted the validity of the specific criticisms made in the DRP subject to the following minor qualifications.
- 3.82 In relation to the problem of delay, the Ombudsman has queried some of the information provided to the Commission by the AFP. The Ombudsman submitted that the period of 114.2 days mentioned by the AFP for her Office to finalise complaints refers to the time taken to finalise complaints following the IID investigation. The Ombudsman maintains that this average is largely taken up by the time when complaints are back with the IID for further inquiries or information, with other parts of the AFP for disciplinary action or compensation or with the Australian Government Solicitor for advice. The Ombudsman submitted that in fact in 1995-96 the average time taken by her Office for the initial review of IID reports is 23.7 days.
- 3.83 The Commission's response to this qualification is that it does not controvert the existence or the seriousness of delays. It is simply a difference of view between the Ombudsman and the AFP as to who should bear the most responsibility for the delays that occur.
- 3.84 A second qualification by the Ombudsman is that her Office introduced a complaints classification system in May 1993 that does provide a detailed breakdown of the nature of complaints. The Ombudsman argued that the seriousness of complaints can be assessed by their nature (for example, rudeness compared to assault). The Commission's view is that while it is of some use, the classification system mentioned by the Ombudsman does not provide sufficient information about the seriousness or nature of complaints. For example, it has the categories of threat, intimidation, harassment, misuse of authority, assault and excessive force but there is no explanation of the differences between these categories where there would appear to be scope for considerable overlap. A useful addition would be data that categorised complaints more directly by their seriousness, for example, in the four categories that the Commission has recommended that the NIIC should employ.
- 3.85 The Ombudsman has also advised that the lack of a linked database with the AFP is essentially a resources issue. According to the Ombudsman, the additional significant funding which would be needed to develop a specific AFP complaints database, linked to the AFP but protecting the rest of the Ombudsman's database, has not been available. The Ombudsman did not provide any detail on the amount that would be required to develop a linked system nor what it would entail. In the Commission's view a linked database would make the system more efficient by reducing the amount of administrative work needed by both the AFP and the Ombudsman and also by preventing duplication of effort. It is therefore a cost effective measure that should also reduce delays and cases where files going missing or to the wrong place.

Commission's response to the Ombudsman's submission

3.86 The Commission has considered the Ombudsman's response but maintains its view that the performance of the Ombudsman's Office in the area of AFP complaints has been inadequate. As Professor Pearce has

commented, any improvement since 1991 has been marginal and in 1991 the Senate Committee assessed the performance as clearly unsatisfactory.

- 3.87 The Commission does not accept that this inadequate performance is explained by lack of resources and legislative limits.
- 3.88 The Commission considers that the suggested legislative limits should not have restricted the Ombudsman's Office in the manner and to the extent that the Ombudsman has suggested. The Second Reading Speech which refers to the role of the Ombudsman as a primary investigator of last resort was made some years ago before the system was operational. Moreover, that speech also refers to the Ombudsman as being 'public guardian to ensure that adequate and proper steps are taken in relation to complaints'. The Commission's view is that the Ombudsman's Office has not been able to meet that responsibility.
- 3.89 The Ombudsman seeks to rely on that Speech to demonstrate that the Ombudsman's Office was not initially expected to directly investigate many complaints. But even if this is accepted, the Ombudsman's Office has been unable to provide an effective oversight of IID investigations.
- 3.90 The Ombudsman in her response has not disputed the views in the DRP about ways in which the Ombudsman's Office could have taken a more expansive view of its role. Moreover, her own submission shows that there was considerable scope for her greater involvement. For example, the Ombudsman advised that her Office recently with the agreement of the AFP supervised several internal investigations of serious complaints. The legislative limits apparently did not prevent this arrangement. It is unclear how they prevented it in the past. There is no evidence available to suggest that the AFP has been intransigent or indeed even opposed any greater activity by the Ombudsman's Office. The Ombudsman has not suggested that the AFP has opposed any greater involvement by her Office in oversighting IID investigations. The Ombudsman herself notes in her 1995-96 Annual Report that the Commissioner has never withheld his agreement for the Ombudsman's Officers to investigate a complaint from the beginning. 140
- 3.91 The Ombudsman's Office states in its recent Annual Report that the legislation does not allow it to set time limits on internal investigations. In the Commission's view there is nothing in the legislation to prevent the Ombudsman's Office from making an arrangement with the AFP to set time limits.
- 3.92 The same reasoning applies to introducing case management practices. The Ombudsman's Office in its latest Annual Report comments that it is 'concerned' that IID case management practices are 'inadequate'. There is nothing in the Complaints Act to prevent the Ombudsman's Office and the AFP from implementing proper case management guidelines and practices.
- 3.93 The Ombudsman referred to the general provision that the internal investigation is conducted as the Officer-in-charge of the IID sees fit. This should be read in the context of the Ombudsman's clear role to scrutinise those investigations and where appropriate to send a case back for further investigation.
- 3.94 The Commission is concerned that measures such as time limits and case management guidelines have not been introduced in circumstances where difficulties with delays and the quality of investigations have been recognised for some time.
- 3.95 The Commission notes that the Ombudsman has also advised that her Office has assisted the AFP in training and in the development of procedures, for example, for witness protection and force training. These are matters that are not provided for under the Complaints Act. However, the Ombudsman's Office has managed to carry them out without impediment from 'legislative limits'.
- 3.96 *Funding*. The Ombudsman has argued that a lack of resources has also contributed to her Office's incapacity to effectively perform its functions. The Commission has requested information about how much the Ombudsman has spent on AFP complaints. This is further discussed in chapter 8. The figures provided by the Ombudsman suggest that her Office has actually progressively spent less on police complaints over the last three years. The Ombudsman has now advised the Commission that there may be some misunderstanding on this point. The Ombudsman has advised that in the past year or so her Office has increased the resources used on police complaints and in particular on independent investigations. According to the Ombudsman, this has partly been a result of increased streamlining within the Office which has

enabled her to redirect resources towards more serious complaints. The Ombudsman added that her Office has also 'at times used resources from other parts of the Office to enable short term increases in my focus on police complaints'.

- 3.97 The Ombudsman has provided no details on the frequency or the amounts of these extra payments, nor what they have been spent on. As for the other point of the increased streamlining this would seem to be a matter of semantics. On the Ombudsman's own estimates the total amount spent by her Office on police complaints has decreased the Ombudsman's Office may have redirected how this money is spent but the total spent has fallen.
- 3.98 The Commission is not in a position to conduct an audit on how the Ombudsman's Office has used its resources across its jurisdictions. However, the Commission would have expected that police complaints should have been a major priority and therefore received considerable resources and attention. The information on the Ombudsman's spending does not suggest that this has been the case. Nor does the fact that there has been no staff member dedicated to the AFP police complaints function.
- 3.99 Moreover, the Commission considers that many improvements to the effectiveness of the complaints system could have been carried out with little expenditure of resources. For example, implementing adequate procedures and case management guidelines would not have required much expenditure. The Ombudsman has advised the Commission that she has recently restructured her Office to enable all police complaints to be handled within the one section. This appears to be a relatively simple matter that could have been attended to some time ago.
- 3.100 *Ombudsman's achievements*. In the Commission's view the Ombudsman's 'list of achievements' does not demonstrate any pattern of consistent or significant progress. The Commission is unsure in relation to those matters about the extent to which the Ombudsman has conducted primary investigations herself and what amount of investigative effort was required.
- 3.101 For example, in relation to AIDEX, the Ombudsman's Office did not conduct one primary investigation. It reviewed IID investigations. The history of the Ombudsman's involvement in this matter also demonstrates the delays and inefficiencies of the current system. The demonstrations took place in November 1991 but it was not until September 1993 that the Ombudsman's Office released its report. A few of the Ombudsman's recommendations have been implemented but some are still subject to further discussion with the AFP in working parties. That is, it is almost five years after the events took place and the matter has not yet been fully resolved.
- 3.102 The Ombudsman's 'own motion investigation' into unauthorised access and disclosure of information appears to be constituted by the Ombudsman's Office looking at a number of complaints together to establish that there was a problem area. The Ombudsman's Office does not appear to have actually carried out any primary investigations.
- 3.103 These achievements in terms of actual investigations break down to a handful of own motion matters and few re-investigations. They ought to be assessed in this context. In 1994-95 the Ombudsman's Office stated that it investigated 8 complaints while the IID investigated 276. In the1995-96 Annual Report, the Ombudsman's Office records that the IID investigated 208 compared with 18 by the Ombudsman's Office. In 1994-5 the Ombudsman's Office re-investigated only one case compared with three in 1995-96. The Commission is unable to comment on the complexity or level of investigation that the Ombudsman's Office carried out in these 'primary investigations' or re-investigations.
- 3.104 The Commission is not suggesting that the work that the Ombudsman has mentioned as achievements was not necessary or useful. However, in the Commission's view, it does not constitute a record of sufficient or regular involvement in the AFP complaints system.

Submission by then Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (Western Australia)

3.105 The former Parliamentary Commissioner, Mr Robert Eadie, considered that the Commission's criticisms of the performance of the Ombudsman's Office were unfair. ¹⁴¹ In his view the Commonwealth Ombudsman has achieved a considerable amount given the restrictions on resources and effective powers.

Complaints about the effectiveness of independent bodies such as the Ombudsman are commonplace. Disgruntled complainants with jaundiced views of the process and unjustified expectations are not uncommon.

- 3.106 *Commission's views*. The Commission notes that Mr Eadie's submission did not contain any specific substantiation of his view that the Commission's criticism of the Ombudsman's performance were unfair. This may be because of time constraints on Mr Eadie's capacity to do so in the course of his submission. Nonetheless the Commission must proceed on the information available to it.
- 3.107 The Commission also notes that views similar to Mr Eadie's were not expressed by the vast majority of those who made submissions or those it consulted. Mr Eadie has also suggested that complaints about independent bodies like the Ombudsman are commonplace. The Commission would agree that there is a tendency for those who have complaints or grievances to contact inquiries such as this rather than those who believe that the system works well. However, the debate about the continued role and the performance of the Ombudsman in this area was the subject of quite extensive media coverage particularly in the ACT where the majority of complaints against the AFP arise. One might have expected that this direct and vigorous debate would have encouraged any person or organisation who in fact does support the Ombudsman's performance and continuation in this role to contact the Commission. But none did.

AFP submission

- 3.108 The AFP submission recognises that there are deficiencies in the current system but did not accept the view that it is 'seriously inadequate'. The submission commented that the AFP had long acknowledged that there are shortcomings with the existing system, especially the review of allegations, the timeliness and cost effectiveness of the system, the role of the Ombudsman, the conduct of complaints and the concentration on particular processes.
- 3.109 *Commission's response*. The AFP in its submission did not deny any of the specific criticisms that the Commission made in relation to the current system. The AFP makes the assessment that these do not amount to a seriously inadequate system. In the Commission's view those criticisms aggregated show that the current system is failing to meet the most important objectives of a police complaints system that is, providing accountability, ensuring AFP integrity and public confidence and being timely and cost efficient. It appears to the Commission that this must be construed as a serious systemic failure.
- 3.110 The only response to minimise this failure is to argue that there are other jurisdictions that are just as bad or worse. The Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner has suggested that the level of oversight of national law enforcement agencies overseas is no better than in Australia except perhaps for the Netherlands. The Commission does not consider that any solace should be derived from such judgements if in fact they are accurate. The task of this inquiry is to propose a system that constitutes the best possible response, including cost effectiveness, for the NCA and the AFP. The Commission would add that the President of IACOLE has contacted the US Justice Department with a view to it considering the Commission's work on oversight of federal law enforcement agencies.

4. A complaints model for the AFP

Introduction

- 4.1 Chapter 3 concluded that there are major inadequacies in the working of the AFP complaints system. This chapter considers possible responses including wholly external investigations and models that involve greater levels of investigation and management by external agencies. The chapter argues that the current AFP complaints model is a defective one because it relies on internal investigation with external oversight.
- 4.2 The crucial question then is what is the most appropriate investigative model to remedy those defects and to satisfy the major objectives of law enforcement complaints systems that were identified in chapter 2. The fundamental issue is to determine the appropriate combination of internal and external investigation.
- 4.3 The chapter concludes that none of the existing models is completely suitable for responding to complaints and corruption involving the AFP. It therefore proposes that a hybrid model that has some of the characteristics of these other models but is a specific response to the circumstances of the AFP is the most appropriate response. The Commission recommends the establishment of a new body, the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) to be responsible for investigating or controlling the investigation of AFP complaints and corruption investigations. The reasons for that preference are dealt with in detail in chapter 9. The nature of the NIIC and how it would work in practice are discussed in chapters 6 and 7.

Existing investigative models

- 4.4 The DRP suggested that there were four main options to consider and assessed each of them. The four options were
- a wholly internal investigation model (the current NCA complaints model)
- a wholly external investigation model
- internal investigation with external oversight (the current AFP complaints model)
- a combination of internal and external investigations (the Commission's preferred option).

Option 1. An internal investigation model

4.5 This model would mean that the particular law enforcement agency would have sole responsibility for investigating complaints against itself or its staff.

DRP's assessment

4.6 The DRP commented that this was an outdated concept in Australia and increasingly so world wide. As discussed in chapter 9 there is very little support for a return to this format in Australia. It fails to meet vital objectives for police complaints systems such as ensuring public confidence.

Option 2. An external investigation model

4.7 Under this option an external agency would carry out all the main functions of the complaints system. This would mean that the external agency would have its own investigation unit which would conduct all investigations or the vast majority of them. The AFP would have no role or be limited to passing on information to the external agency.

The DRP's assessment

4.8 The DRP commented that this model has considerable superficial attraction as it is the model most likely to engender the greatest initial public confidence. It gives as much power and responsibility as possible to an

external agency. It therefore deals with concerns about the lack of effectiveness or objectivity of internal investigations.

4.9 However, the Commission did not support this option because

- the agency must be given managerial responsibility to deal with complaints that are generated by its own officers
- the option would limit agencies in using complaints as a management tool for identifying where changes in policy and practices may be necessary
- faced with a completely external complaints and discipline authority it is likely that law enforcement agencies, particularly their middle managers, will simply absolve themselves of responsibility for making the system work
- a completely external body might reduce the chances of internal institutional reforms designed to reduce complaints in the first place¹⁴⁶
- a completely external unit would become in effect an alternative police force and may itself develop some undesirable aspects of culture such as defensiveness and insularity
- it would be difficult to ensure that there are sufficiently experienced and trained civilian staff to investigate all complaints that warrant investigation
- the national roles of the AFP and the NCA mean that it would be costly to have a completely external investigation unit with sufficient resources and expertise to service the whole of Australia
- a completely external process will create delays and duplication because it is likely that the police will still have to conduct at least some preliminary inquiries to establish the nature of the complaint and to process it.

As far as the Commission is aware there is no police complaints system anywhere in the world which has a wholly external investigation model.

Option 3. Internal investigation with external oversight

- 4.10 This model broadly describes the current AFP complaints system and those of the Australian States and the Northern Territory. The Queensland CJC has a different approach which is discussed at paragraphs 4.18-24. However, for the Commonwealth, Victoria, Western Australia, the Northern Territory and Tasmania review of complaints against the police is part of the responsibility of an Ombudsman's Office or similar body which has wider responsibilities to review government activity. South Australia has the Police Complaints Authority who can be described as a specialist Police Ombudsman.
- 4.11 In these jurisdictions other than Queensland the majority of investigations are carried out by the internal investigation units of the respective police services. In general terms the external agency has a power to conduct its own independent investigations where
- the complaint concerns a police officer senior to all members of the internal unit
- the complaint concerns a member of the unit
- the complaint relates to a matter the external agency is already investigating
- the external agency is of the view that it is in the public interest that the complaint be investigated by the agency. 147

- 4.12 These agencies may also monitor and review initial investigations by the police, directing them to conduct further investigations. However a common observation by external agencies in Australia is that they lack the resources to conduct investigations themselves into as many of the complaints as they would like. In particular, they are unable to initiate and conduct investigations in cases where the complaints involve serious allegations, where there are particularly vulnerable complainants eg the young, or people from a non-English speaking background or where matters of significant public interest are raised.
- 4.13 This basic model is used widely overseas in comparable countries to Australia including New Zealand, England, Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland, Scotland, Wales and a number of jurisdictions in Canada and the United States. The issues paper and the DRP described some of these overseas systems.

Commission's assessment

- 4.14 The Commission in the DRP considered that, while this model may have been innovative in the 1970's, it is now ill equipped to cope with the increasing demands for greater accountability of the police and for an effective response to police corruption.
- 4.15 The model relies on the internal investigation unit investigating the bulk of complaints and for the external overseer to investigate in exceptional cases. However, the number of cases that are actually investigated by the external agency appear on the whole to be inadequate for the effective and credible working of the system. Many of these external oversight agencies do not or cannot fund their operations so that they are able to conduct their own investigations in anything but a few cases and their monitoring of internal investigations tends to be patchy and often confined to a review of the papers. Moreover, because the agency has the task of reviewing or monitoring the whole range of complaints, scarce resources are often allocated to the minimal task of maintaining the system without any strategic targeting of serious or 'high risk' cases.
- 4.16 The DRP identified the following as major weaknesses in this model
- it does not create sufficient public confidence in the impartiality and thoroughness of the investigation process
- there are many examples of ineffective internal investigation units
- a negative police culture militates against impartial and effective complaints handling by the police
- the model does not provide any effective mechanisms to prevent or detect corruption.

Option 4. Combination of internal and external investigations

4.17 A few jurisdictions have developed models which combine internal and external investigations.

The CJC model

- 4.18 Review of complaints against the Queensland Police is conducted by the Criminal Justice Commission (CJC) which was established in 1990 following upon the recommendations of the Fitzgerald Inquiry. The CJC is not a body solely concerned with police complaints, but instead has various functions and responsibilities in criminal justice. The CJC's functions include
- investigating official conduct in units of public administration and alleged or suspected misconduct by members of the Queensland Police Service (QPS)
- monitoring, reviewing, co-ordinating and initiating reform of the administration of criminal justice
- overseeing criminal intelligence matters and managing criminal intelligence
- providing witness protection

- in certain situations, investigating organised or major crime
- overseeing and reporting of reform of the QPS
- providing policy directives and recommendations with respect to law enforcement priorities, education and training.
- 4.19 The Official Misconduct Division (OMD) is the investigative unit within the CJC and it investigates cases of alleged or suspected misconduct by members of the QPS. However, it also reviews minor complaints that are investigated and dealt with internally by the QPS. The QPS must report all complaints of misconduct to the CJC.
- 4.20 Complaints against members of the QPS are divided into three categories:
- A breach of discipline. These can commonly be described as a violation or dereliction of duty.
- *Misconduct matters* are more serious and are defined as disgraceful, improper or other conduct unbecoming an officer; or conduct that does not meet the standard of conduct reasonably expected by the community of a police officer.¹⁴⁸
- Official misconduct is the most serious category and involves conduct that constitutes, or could constitute, a criminal offence or disciplinary breach warranting dismissal.
- 4.21 The QPS is responsible for dealing with complaints involving breaches of discipline.
- 4.22 If the complaint is assessed as a misconduct matter, the CJC is responsible for its investigation. The OMD can refer cases of minor misconduct back to the QPS for investigation on behalf of the CJC.
- 4.23 If a complaint is assessed as alleging serious misconduct, official misconduct or is criminal in nature, the CJC retains carriage of the investigation. Such cases are matters usually referred to multi-disciplinary teams for investigation.

DRP's assessment

4.24 The Commission did not propose the introduction of the CJC model in its entirety at the federal level. The adoption of a model essentially similar to the CJC would require a major restructuring of the federal criminal justice system. It would involve combining many of the essential elements and agencies responsible for the administration of criminal justice. There appears to be little reason at present to justify such a radical restructuring. The CJC model was a response to findings of systemic failings in the Queensland justice system which were not limited to the police force. The same findings have not been made in respect of the federal system of criminal justice. There are also concerns about the breadth of the Queensland CJC's involvement in the investigation of organised crime and the fact that the Misconduct Tribunals are linked administratively to the investigative division of the CJC.

Expansion of the ICAC model

- 4.25 The NSW ICAC's charter is to expose and minimise corruption in the public sector including the NSW Police Service. Its three main functions are:
- exposing and deterring corrupt conduct by investigating and reporting on allegations of corruption
- corruption prevention
- education about the detrimental effects of corruption and ways to prevent it.
- 4.26 The NSW Royal Commission examined whether the ICAC should have a dedicated police corruption division within it. It rejected this option for a number of reasons including:

- there is a public perception that the ICAC has failed to tackle police corruption
- a real difficulty exists in structuring a division of the ICAC which could be kept separate and independent from the rest of the organisation
- the other functions of ICAC might mean that competing demands for resources could result in a lack of proper resourcing and attention for the police corruption division. 149

DRP's assessment

4.27 The NSW ICAC has a broad charter to deal with corruption in the public sector. In that sense it extends far beyond dealing with police corruption or complaints. The DRP commented that the question of whether an ICAC with such a broad ranging responsibility is necessary at the federal level is beyond the Commission's terms of reference for this inquiry. However, as noted above, in the context of the NSW ICAC's role in dealing with police corruption the NSW Royal Commission into the Police did not favour a dedicated Police Corruption division within the NSW ICAC.

The NSW Police Integrity Commission

4.28 The NSW Royal Commission's Interim Report found that a new complaints and corruption investigation system was necessary in NSW. It proposed a Police Integrity Commission (PIC) that would have as a principal objective the detection and investigation of police corruption. The PIC would be able to investigate itself or manage or supervise the investigation conducted by other agencies. A key function of the PIC would be to assemble admissible evidence when investigations reveal criminal conduct and to furnish such evidence to the Director of Public Prosecutions. It would have the resources to be able to conduct its own investigations with a full range of coercive powers similar to those of a Royal Commission or the ICAC.

DRP's assessment

- 4.29 The model proposed by the NSW Royal Commission places the PIC at the apex of the complaints system but still envisages the Ombudsman providing oversight and auditing of less serious complaints. It is a significantly different approach to the CJC which is a single external agency with sole responsibility for determining the investigation of complaints.
- 4.30 The DRP considered that the approach proposed by the NSW Royal Commission into the Police would have significant disadvantages if adopted for the AFP.
- 4.31 The DRP argued that one of the reasons for the serious problems in the NSW police complaints and disciplinary systems has been that there have been too many agencies with some role to play. The NSW police complaints system has input from the NSW police as follows: the Office of Professional Responsibility with its constituents of the Professional Integrity Branch and the Office of Internal Affairs; the Corruption Prevention Unit; the Comprehensive Audit Section and the Operational Readiness Audit Section. The NSW Ombudsman has an oversight role in relation to police complaints and the ICAC could investigate police corruption. Other bodies with a role to play include the Ministry for Police, the NSW Crime Commission and the Police Board of NSW.
- 4.32 In the Commission's view a multiplicity of agencies increases the potential for fragmented responsibility, for duplication of effort and resources and for individual cases not receiving appropriate levels of attention.
- 4.33 The NSW Royal Commission while acknowledging that a single agency would have the attraction of simplifying and integrating the process did not favour a single agency because of
- the different approaches needed for the complaints system as opposed to corruption investigation
- the need for a specific focus on corruption with an aggressive and sophisticated investigative capacity, and

• the resources needed for effective monitoring of the complaints system. ¹⁵⁰

The DRP dealt with each of these suggested disadvantages. 151

- 4.34 The Commission did not consider that these concerns outweighed the benefits of single external body in the context of the AFP and the NCA. Those suggested difficulties of a single external agency could be overcome with proper planning and commitment to the objectives.
- 4.35 The Commission acknowledged that complaints and corruption require different approaches but this could be accommodated within a single agency. The Commission proposed that the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) as discussed in chapter 6 should have two separate divisions, one dealing with complaints and one with corruption. The Chairperson of the NIIC would have responsibility for overseeing both divisions' work and any co-ordination between them including the movement of matters from one division to another if there was a change in the nature and requirements of the particular matter. However, in the majority of cases matters would be dealt with by the one division.
- 4.36 The NSW Royal Commission was concerned that the sheer number of police complaints in NSW would swamp a single agency and weaken the focus on serious misconduct and corruption. In its Annual Report 1994-95 the NSW Police Service stated that during that financial year it received 5 537 written complaints containing a total number of 10 172 complaints. The AFP in the same period reported 900 complaints made by 596 complainants. The potential problem of swamping does not appear to be so significant at the federal level. Moreover with the introduction of a national system of streamlined informal resolution for customer service and internal management complaints the input required from the external agency will be considerably less for those types of complaints. They should constitute about 70% of all complaints.
- 4.37 The DRP proposed that the AFP and the NCA would still play a major role in investigating complaints but that role would be at the formal request of the external agency. The external agency's power to determine the extent of the role of the AFP or NCA was seen to be extremely important when there was a doubt or conflict about the conduct of an investigation. The experience of the CJC did not suggest that discipline in the Queensland Police Service has been detrimentally affected by the CJC investigating complaints against the police. Complaints and discipline are related but nevertheless different processes. The Commission was advocating a reduced role for the AFP and the NCA in the control of the investigation of complaints but an increased role for these agencies in imposing discipline.
- 4.38 The Commission was of the view that the AFP and the NCA could discharge their disciplinary functions responsibly and effectively with a new disciplinary process as proposed in chapter 10. As discussed in that chapter it would appear that the current AFP disciplinary process has a number of major faults but there is no suggestion that AFP senior management has a record of leniency with officers when imposing penalties for breaches of discipline. On the contrary the Commission considered that the AFP senior management has demonstrated a commitment to impose appropriate penalties that will act as a deterrent to police misconduct. The major problems of the current disciplinary system relate to its characterisation as quasi-criminal with a review and appeal process that has full adversarial hearings with their attendant procedures and technicalities. In effect the current system has hamstrung the AFP in its efforts to achieve effective discipline.
- 4.39 The Commission did not consider that the introduction of the NIIC would weaken the responsibility or commitment of the NCA or the AFP to take a pro-active stand against misconduct and corruption. The AFP and the NCA would still have primary responsibility for their own internal audit and security, vetting and training of personnel and the conduct of integrity testing and assessment. They would work in co-operation with the NIIC in detecting and investigating corruption and misconduct but there would be no question that final control and decision making rests with the NIIC once it is involved in an investigation.
- 4.40 The NIIC would be able to make recommendations about AFP and NCA policies and procedures in relation to corruption and other misconduct. The NIIC would also have a research and policy division providing information and data about the effectiveness of the systems. These measures should assist the AFP and the NCA to be pro-active and take effective preventive measures.

4.41 The responses to the DRP have further raised the issue of the NSW Royal Commission's reasoning and recommendations in relation to the expected roles of the Police Integrity Commission and the NSW Ombudsman. This issue is considered in detail in chapter 8.

Enhanced role for the Commonwealth Ombudsman

4.42 The Commonwealth Ombudsman submitted that the most effective response in terms of outcome and costs would be to provide her office with enhanced powers and additional resources. The DRP rejected that option. The Ombudsman in her response to the DRP maintained her view. The matter is fully canvassed in chapter 8.

The Commission's favoured option: a single agency with a focus on handling complaints and anti-corruption policies and mechanisms

4.43 The DRP assessed all the current major alternatives and considered that each of them was inappropriate for the AFP. It then considered a new approach. It favoured the introduction of a new single external agency, the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) to deal with serious complaints and corruption but with the capacity and responsibility to manage or oversight the complete AFP and NCA complaints process. An integrated system with one body assuming primary responsibility was necessary. The reasons for this preference are discussed in detail in chapter 9.

Recommendation 6 - The National Integrity and Investigations Commission

A new single agency to be known as the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) should be established to investigate or manage/supervise the investigation of complaints against the AFP and the NCA.

5. A complaints system for the NCA

Introduction

- 5.1 This chapter discusses the most appropriate model for dealing with complaints and corruption in relation to the NCA. The main issue is which agency should provide external review. The chapter canvasses the three main options which are
- the Commission's proposed agency, the National Investigations and Integrity Commission (NIIC)
- the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security
- the Commonwealth Ombudsman.
- 5.2 The Commission recommends the NIIC and deals with the relevant arguments in detail.
- 5.3 This chapter also discusses some special issues that arise when considering complaints against the NCA which relate to its mixed and changing workforce and the nature of its operations.
- 5.4 The NCA's disciplinary process is discussed in chapter 10 where a separate disciplinary code for the NCA is recommended.

Background

The NCA's role

- 5.5 The NCA is a national law enforcement body whose main role is to counteract organised crime often by working in partnership with other agencies. The NCA's working definition of organised crime is 'a systematic conspiracy to commit serious offences'. Generally, the NCA investigates relevant criminal activities and collects, analyses and disseminates information and intelligence relating to those activities. Where appropriate it establishes and co-ordinates task forces with other law enforcement bodies for the investigation of those matters. It may also make recommendations for legal and administrative reforms.
- 5.6 The NCA uses multi-disciplinary teams of lawyers, police, financial investigators, intelligence analysts and support staff to investigate organised crime. The Act gives the NCA coercive powers to compel people to produce documents and to give sworn evidence. Those powers are not available to traditional police services. The NCA can only exercise its coercive powers in matters which have been formally referred to it for investigation. These characteristics are meant to enable the NCA to co-ordinate national investigations against major organised crime by complementing the efforts of other law enforcement agencies and by working co-operatively with them.

A mixed workforce

5.7 The NCA is constituted by the Chairperson and members who are statutory office holders. Members and the Chairperson hold office for a maximum of four years. There are also NCA members of staff. Under the NCA Act, staff of the Authority fall within one of the following categories.

(a) Those employed under the Public Service Act

5.8 A majority of NCA staff are appointed and employed under the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth)¹⁵⁴ and the NCA Chairperson has all the powers of a Departmental Secretary under that Act.

(b) Consultants

5.9 The Chairperson may employ consultants according to terms and conditions as determined from time to time. The argument for making consultants subject to an NCA complaints regime is that if they are not included there may be no alternative method of complaint and discipline in relation to them. In some cases

where the person is a member of a professional organisation there may be a system of complaint and discipline but this system may be removed from the control and responsibility of the NCA.

(c) Seconded personnel

- 5.10 Some personnel may be seconded to the Authority from Federal, State or Territory police services and other agencies. 156
- 5.11 All police seconded to the NCA have the status of 'members of staff of the Authority' under the Act. The NCA has entered into memoranda of understanding with the AFP, the Northern Territory and all States except South Australia. The Memoranda cover staffing and the continuation of the respective Commissioner's and members' legislative and operational responsibilities, including discipline. A common period of secondment is two years.
- 5.12 All State Police seconded to the NCA are subject to the discipline and internal investigation procedures of their home forces. The Queensland, WA, NSW, Victorian and the Tasmanian Police Commissioners have agreed that complaints against members seconded to the NCA will be forwarded to the Chairperson in the first instance. Where the matter warrants formal investigation, the Chairperson will forward the details of the complaint to the relevant police service. This means that the NCA Chairperson is responsible for making an initial decision about whether a complaint warrants further investigation.
- 5.13 Northern Territory (NT) seconded police are subject to the internal investigation procedures of the NCA or the State Police in the jurisdiction where the complaint was made. The results of the investigation are then forwarded to the NT Police for any disciplinary or other action. The NT Commissioner has agreed that complaints against members of NT police seconded to the NCA in relation to their duties with the NCA are forwarded to the Chairperson of the Authority in the first instance. A copy of the initial complaint is also forwarded to the Commander Internal Audit and Review Division in the NT Police. Complaints are investigated by either officers of the NCA or by police officers from the jurisdiction in which the complaint is made. When the investigation has been finalised, details of the outcome and a copy of the investigation file are forwarded to the Commander Internal Audit and Review Division.

(d) Legal counsel

5.14 Some legal practitioners assisting the NCA may be appointed as consultants. ¹⁵⁸ It is possible that during litigation counsel may be the subject of complaint. If the complaint concerns an aspect of professional practice then the relevant Bar Association and/or Law Society may become involved and investigation of the complaint and disciplinary action may ensue.

(e) Task forces

- 5.15 Officers of the AFP, State and Territory police services and other agencies may be members of an NCA task force under the NCA Act¹⁵⁹ and are consequently defined as members of staff of the NCA. The NCA seconds staff from agencies such as the Australian Securities Commission, the Australian Taxation Office, AUSTRAC, the Australian Customs Service and State revenue agencies for varying periods of time. Task forces are often established to investigate allegations of significant and wide-scale organised criminal activity that crosses State and Territory boundaries and involves a variety of criminal activity such as drugs, money laundering, extortion and violence. The NCA has advised that currently there are about 2000 task force members and that a form of register is kept by the NCA.
- 5.16 No formal arrangements have been made with these agencies about investigating complaints against their seconded officers. It has been the NCA's practice to request the home forces of police against whom complaints have been made to conduct joint investigations.
- 5.17 Task force members may remain under the control and direction of their home agency and may not be subject to the day to day control of the NCA. Some task forces may last for long periods of time, for example, for three years. Some members of a task force may have only intermittent roles (for example, passing on information) and no routine contact with the operation. For some individual operations there may

be federal, State or Territory police or other professionals who are involved but who are not officially members of the task force.

Profile of NCA staff

5.18 NCA staff are currently in categories a), b), c) and e) as described above. As at 31 July 1995 there were 404 staff members of whom 113 were police with 50 of those being AFP members. ¹⁶¹

The current complaints process

- 5.19 Since the establishment of the NCA in 1984 none of its mixed workforce has been subject to a formal NCA complaints system. There is no provision in the NCA Act for a process of making and investigating complaints against the NCA or members of its staff.
- 5.20 The current administrative procedure is that all complaints are forwarded to the Chairperson who then directs officers to undertake inquiries on his or her behalf. There is a separate Complaints Register maintained by the Policy Section. There are no specific case management guidelines for the investigation of complaints. The Chairperson determines who is the most appropriate officer to investigate each complaint.
- 5.21 The NCA does not presently keep statistics on the time taken to deal with complaints. Progress is monitored by the Policy Section through the Register and by the Chairperson who oversights all complaints. Most complaints are dealt with within a period of four weeks or less, but any average time to complete matters is distorted by the small number of very complex matters which take much longer to resolve.
- 5.22 Where allegations against the NCA or its staff have been deemed to be serious enough to warrant it, either the NCA or the Minister has appointed an independent inquirer to investigate them.
- 5.23 Current accountability for the general activities of the NCA resides in two bodies: the Inter-Governmental Committee (IGC) and the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the NCA (PJC).
- 5.24 The IGC is established under the NCA Act and consists of Commonwealth, State and Territory Ministers responsible for administering the NCA Act in their jurisdictions. It is chaired by the Commonwealth Minister.
- 5.25 The PJC is made up of five Members of the House of Representatives and five Senators. It monitors and reviews the performance by the NCA of its functions and reports to both Houses of Parliament.
- 5.26 The IGC and the PJC do not have any specific responsibility or ongoing role in the investigation or resolution of individual complaints against the NCA. As discussed in paragraph 5.157 it is generally agreed that neither body would be appropriate or has the structure and resources to perform that role.

Numbers of complaints

- 5.27 The NCA received 16 complaints for 1995-96, 162 17 complaints in 1994-95, 18 the year before and 15 in 1992-93. Some were not investigated because there were no objective facts or circumstances in support of them, a few related to recruitment matters, others related to the alleged unauthorised use or release of information or to allegations that investigations or investigative techniques were illegal or improper.
- 5.28 Each category of the NCA's mixed workforce is defined under the Act to mean a member of staff¹⁶³ primarily to ensure that the secrecy provisions for the unauthorised disclosure of information apply in every case. ¹⁶⁴

Major defects of the current NCA complaints process

5.29 In the DRP the Commission considered that the current ad hoc arrangement for dealing with complaints is deficient in that it lacks any formal process and any consistent external scrutiny. The system does little to create public confidence in the accountability or integrity of the NCA. The current system is particularly

inadequate for the majority of citizens who do not have the resources and time to mount expensive court challenges to the exercise of NCA powers.

5.30 In its 1991 report *Who is to Guard the Guards. An evaluation of the National Crime Authority* the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the NCA (PJC) considered that the complaints system needed to be improved and canvassed options such as the Commonwealth Ombudsman, the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security or a new agency. The then Chairperson of the NCA, Justice Phillips, told the PJC that he favoured a system of inquiry outside the NCA for handling serious complaints. The PJC in October 1994 again drew the Parliament's attention to the lack of a fully adequate avenue available for investigations of complaints brought against the NCA. The PJC itself had received complaints from individuals about the NCA but the PJC commented that it lacked the time and the resources to investigate the more complex complaints. It concluded that the lack of a formal system was unsatisfactory for both complainants and the NCA.

The NCA's submission: no evidence of current system's actual failure

- 5.31 The NCA stressed that currently there is no 'complaints system' and that is the problem. ¹⁶⁸ It did not regard its current complaints handling process as entirely satisfactory but it argued that it is much better than many other Commonwealth agencies where there is no requirement to bring complaints about the organisation to the agency head.
- 5.32 The NCA also submitted that the Commission has not provided any evidence that the current system has actually failed to address complaints properly or failed complainants. The submission argued that the current system has some inadequacies but mainly in the lack of perception of external review. Those inadequacies are the result of a legislative failure and not the responsibility of the NCA.

Commission's views

- 5.33 The Commission regards the lack of any formal external review as a deficiency. This lack of external review is contrary to accepted practice not only for law enforcement agencies in Australia but also for the public sector generally and increasingly for the private sector. In the Commission's view the lack of external review taints the current process.
- 5.34 The major weakness in the current system is that there is no effective external agency with the powers, resources, expertise and mandate to investigate complaints and the way in which the NCA actually conducts its operations. The PJC and the IGC essentially provide an element of policy scrutiny. Those committees are not resourced, nor were they established, to deal with individual complaints and allegations of criminality or alleged abuses of the NCA's powers. There is a lack of an external investigatory and auditing body.
- 5.35 The Commission also believes that the NCA complaints process would benefit from having case management guidelines and standards for investigating complaints including time limits.
- 5.36 However, the Commission considers that there are a number of case studies and submissions that demonstrate the 'actual' failure of the current system and highlight the great value that the NIIC would provide in dealing quickly, effectively and efficiently with complaints and corruption allegations made against the NCA.
- 5.37 The Commission offers no comment on the merit or substance of any of the complaints discussed in these case studies nor on the conduct or the outcomes of any of the legal proceedings mentioned. Nor should any inference about the merits of any case be drawn from the fact that the Commission has referred to it. The Commission is using the cases to demonstrate the potentially crucial role of the NIIC. The Commission has therefore necessarily hypothesised about what would have happened if the NIIC had been established. The Commission considers that these hypotheses are reasonable given the proposed role and functions of the NIIC and the issues raised by these cases. They illustrate the potential value of a NIIC to deal effectively and quickly with complaints a response that the PJC is unable to provide and which in the Commission's view requires a body of the structure, powers and role of the NIIC.

5.38 The case studies and the submissions also show the variety of matters that can arise in relation to the NCA, their potential high profile and media involvement and the costs and inadequacies of a system that does not have an external body with sufficient powers, mandate, expertise and resources to investigate them properly.

Mr M Skrijel

- 5.39 In 1978 Mr M Skrijel, a South Australian fisherman, reported to the South Australian police concerns about what he alleged to be illegal drug dealings. He then claimed that the South Australian police had failed to investigate properly his allegations and that he was being victimised within his local community. Mr Skrijel made his allegations to the Costigan Royal Commission which referred them to the NCA in 1984.
- 5.40 In 1985 Mr Skrijel asserted that the NCA had also failed to investigate these matters properly and shortly afterwards the NCA officers who had been investigating his claims charged him with trafficking in marijuana and illegally possessing explosives. The original source for their investigation into Mr Skrijel was information allegedly passed to them from a deckhand who had worked with Mr Skrijel. A marijuana plantation was found near Mr Skrijel's property and some evidence apparently consistent with his having involvement with that plantation was also found on his property together with some gelignite.
- 5.41 Mr Skrijel was convicted and sentenced to two years jail. His conviction was quashed on appeal after he had spent some 5 and half months in jail. Mr Skrijel continued to protest his innocence and claimed that the case against him had been fabricated. In 1993 a South Australian barrister Mr D Quick QC was asked by the then Minister for Justice to report on the case. Mr Quick concluded that there was substantial evidence to base a strong suspicion that the evidence against Mr Skrijel was fabricated. The opportunity to fabricate evidence was available to NCA officers and to members of the Victorian police who were acting with the NCA in the investigation.
- 5.42 Mr Quick advised that in the cause of both justice and the public interest a Royal Commission should be established to inquire into these matters because they required an inquiry with major detective resources and the power to compel witnesses to give evidence. The then Minister for Justice, the Hon Duncan Kerr MP, referred a number of the allegations to the Victorian Deputy Ombudsman for investigation on the basis that most of the police involved were seconded to the NCA from Victoria. The Victorian Deputy Ombudsman is now investigating these matters referred to him.
- 5.43 This case continues to attract media attention¹⁷⁰ and the media coverage suggests that it continues to cast some doubt within the community about the integrity of the NCA.
- 5.44 If the Commission's proposed NIIC had then been operating there would have been no need to engage Mr Quick to conduct an inquiry or then to arrange for the Victorian Deputy Ombudsman to investigate any matters. The NIIC would have investigated from the outset with the full range of powers available to it that Mr Quick did not have.

NCA and James Mccartney Anderson

- 5.45 In 1990 the Senate resolved that the PJC should consider the relationship between the NCA and Mr Anderson who from 1984-88 provided information to the NCA and was provided with witness protection. The NCA dealings with Mr Anderson primarily concerned the alleged criminal activities of Mr Abraham Gilbert Saffron.
- 5.46 The PJC appointed a legal adviser, Mr John Basten, to assist in its inquiry. The Committee held hearings on 8 days between August and December 1992. It finally reported in March 1994. The PJC noted in its report that the memories of the relevant events had faded.
- 5.47 The PJC found that the NCA had not acted in accord with the dictates of sound management and administration. In particular, the NCA had not conducted any formal assessment of whether it should use Anderson as an informer or witness before entering into a relationship with him.

5.48 Under the Commission's recommendations for the NIIC this matter could have been the subject of a formal complaint or the NIIC might have investigated it of its own motion and addressed it generally in its review of the NCA's anti-corruption plans and measures. The NIIC might have addressed the broader issue of the NCA's general policy in relation to informers. If the NIIC was conducting an audit of the NCA's anti-corruption policies the practice in relation to informers might well have been changed or clarified before Mr Anderson was used as an informer or continued to be used as an informer over a period of four years. If an investigation was necessary the NIIC would be able to provide quick and effective investigation by expert officers experienced and trained in law enforcement work and with a specific focus on integrity and probity issues.

5.49 Under the current system the PJC was not given a reference until 1990, some 6 years after Mr Anderson was first used as an informer, and the PJC did not conduct its hearing until 1992. The amount of public funds expended on a PJC hearing of this magnitude would have been considerable if one takes into account, for example, the salary components of the members and administrative costs. The PJC also required the assistance of a legal adviser with the attendant costs that would have involved. It was not able to release its final report until 1994 some 10 years after the beginning of the relevant events.

Mr Constantine Karageorge

- 5.50 One submission referred to the activities of the NCA in relation to Mr Constantine Karageorge. ¹⁷¹ It alleged that the NCA had conducted a vendetta against Mr Karageorge. Mr Karageorge complained to the PJC that he had been the subject of detailed investigations by the NCA. He alleged that the NCA was investigating matters pertaining to him that were beyond its terms of reference and its charter. Mr Karageorge is a solicitor who acted for Leonard Arthur McPherson, widely regarded as a major crime figure in Australia. Both were charged with offences relating to defrauding the Commonwealth. Mr Karageorge was also charged with giving false testimony to the NCA. According to the submission, the court hearing these matters held that Mr Karageorge had no case to answer. Subsequently Mr Karageorge has been charged with offences by way of ex officio indictments alleging offences against s 29D of the Commonwealth Crimes Act for attempting to defraud the Commonwealth or alternatively s 29B of that Act and for false testimony against the NCA under s 33(1) of the National Crime Authority Act. Mr Karageorge is to face trial in November 1996.
- 5.51 According to the submission, Mr Karageorge formally complained to the PJC about the conduct of the NCA and was advised by the PJC that the matters raised by Mr Karageorge were not ones that it could reasonably hope to resolve given the constraints on Committee members' time and Committee resources. In those circumstances the Committee considered it better not to commence an inquiry.
- 5.52 According to the submission, Mr Karageorge did not request the Chairperson of the NCA to conduct an internal review of matters of complaint as prior to Mr Karageorge's trial such a request was considered to be 'an exercise in futility'. The submission expressed the opinion that it 'was chilling to think that in this so called enlightened society Mr Karageorge has nowhere to turn except to fight his innocence through the courts, irrespective of the stress, cost and time involved'.
- 5.53 The submission argued that there should be some independent body established that has sufficient resources and expertise to fully examine and, where complaints against the NCA are found to be substantiated, act to protect and afford suitable redress to the complainant. The body should also have sufficient power to examine complaints against the NCA that cross over to other agencies such as the Australian Taxation Office.

Operation Ark

5.54 The NCA conducted an investigation in South Australia codenamed Operation Ark which arose out of a failure to notify the proper authorities, including the South Australian Commissioner of Police, of the fact that 13 allegations concerning police involvement in or protection of drug trafficking had been received during the 1989 Operation Noah in South Australia. Operation Noah is the annual phone-in operation seeking information about drug trafficking.

- 5.55 The NCA commenced an inquiry including hearings. A draft report was prepared in July 1990 and was transmitted by the then Chairperson Justice Stewart to the South Australian Government on 30 June 1990. The draft report found no evidence of corruption or dishonesty but recommended a review of the employment suitability of three South Australian police officers. The newly constituted NCA with Mr Farris replacing Justice Stewart advised the South Australian Government that the draft report should not be considered as a report of the Authority and that the draft reports recommendations about the three officers were now rejected. There was a conflict of opinion between Mr Farris and Justice Stewart on the status of the report. Reports and allegations about Operation Ark were canvassed on the ABC's 7.30 report and then on Channel Nine. The PJC examined the matter and the status of the NCA report and published its report on the matter in October 1990.
- 5.56 In a qualifying statement to that report four members of the Committee, Senator N Crichton-Browne, Mr P Filing MP, Mr P McGauran MP and Senator A Vanstone stated that they were not satisfied that the Committee was in a position to make final conclusions about the matter without interviewing further witnesses and examining the totality of the evidence obtained. These members concluded that there was an 'apparent failure of the Authority to manage the internal conflict and tension arising from the Operation Ark Report'. According to these members this internal conflict and tension within the NCA and its potential impact on the Authority's capacity to effectively fulfil its duties and functions was relevant to the statutory obligations of the Committee.
- 5.57 The Commission regards this as another case where the NIIC would have been able to carry out an expeditious and full investigation of the matters raised.

Mr J Pooley

- 5.58 Mr John Pooley, a director of Aymkone Pty Ltd, made a submission which asserted that the NCA had mistreated him and the other directors of his company and had set out to close its business. He stated that the NCA had conducted searches of the directors' homes and the business premises apparently in connection with a drug investigation involving a person who had used the services of Aymkome Pty Ltd to a limited extent. According to Mr Pooley the NCA officers gave no information as to why they were conducting the search. He then claimed that the NCA illegally seized all the bearer stock from the company's safe deposit box. According to Mr Pooley the NCA then instructed the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) to issue the company a Tax Assessment Notice for \$1.6 million which completely stopped the business by breaching the company's assets liabilities ratio stipulated in its licence by the Australian Securities Commission. Mr Pooley stated that the ATO has never justified this assessment and it was withdrawn 12 months later without explanation. According to Mr Pooley the directors of Aymkone were arrested in March 1993 and charged with obtaining a financial benefit by deception.
- 5.59 A magistrate heard the matters and ruled that the directors had no case to answer and ordered the NCA to pay costs. According to the copy of the transcript supplied by Mr Pooley the Magistrate held that there were two explanations for what he considered to be improper actions by the NCA in relation to Aymkone Pty Ltd. The first was that the NCA officers had been incompetent. He held that a proper investigation of the case should have revealed that there was an elementary defect in the prosecution case. The second possible explanation was that the NCA deliberately set out to destroy the directors' reputations and as a consequence their business. The magistrate chose to believe that it was the former but expressed grave reservations about the conduct of the NCA in the particular matter. The case and the decision of the magistrate received significant media attention.
- 5.60 According to Mr Pooley the NCA has appealed against the costs decision and the NSW DPP has ex officio indicted two of the directors and charged them with intent to defraud.
- 5.61 Mr Pooley has submitted that the current methods of making complaints against the NCA are inadequate and that his efforts to complain had been thwarted on each occasion by the response that no body had the resources or the authority to investigate the complaint. Mr Pooley had the view that any new complaints body must be as powerful as the NCA.

Mr Elliot and Elders IXL

- 5.62 In 1989 the then Chairperson of the NCA Mr Peter Farris QC aproached the then Chairman of the National Companies and Securities Commission, Mr Henry Bosch, with a view to expanding the NCA's investigation into corporate crime. Mr Bosch suggested an investigation into the way in which some directors of Elders IXL had gained effective control of one of Australia's major companies through the takeover of Elders by Harlin Holdings Ltd.
- 5.63 The NCA then sought and was granted by the Inter-Governmental Committee (IGC) a reference 'on the way in which directors of Elders IXL have gained effective control of one of Australia's largest companies'. No general reference was sought or granted to investigate the affairs of Elders IXL Ltd, its directors or associated companies or persons.
- 5.64 Mr Elliot, Mr Scanlon and Mr Biggins, directors of Elders IXL, were subsequently charged with conspiring to misappropriate \$66 million dollars from Elders IXL Ltd through two transactions which were represented as legitimate foreign exchange dealings. There were specific charges of theft, conspiracy to defraud and falsification of certain business records.
- 5.65 A substantial part of the prosecution case rested on statements made by each of the defendants in the course of hearings conducted by the NCA in the purported exercise of its powers conferred by the National Crime Authority Act s 25. Those hearings were conducted in late 1990. The defendants claimed that the NCA acted unlawfully in conducting hearings into the foreign exchange transactions. The defendants claimed at their subsequent trial that the NCA hearing's subject matter was not encompassed by any reference given to the NCA to conduct a 'special investigation' and that accordingly the NCA had no power to require any of the defendants to attend at a hearing, or to compel them to answer questions in relation to it.
- 5.66 The defendants also argued that they had no means available at the time of knowing that the NCA was acting outside of its powers in conducting that hearing, principally, because the Authority had, in an excess of zeal on the part of those who were actively engaged in the investigation, adopted a deliberate policy of concealing its objectives and the actual subject matter under investigation.
- 5.67 Justice Vincent held that the evidence obtained from the NCA hearing was inadmissible in the trials of the defendants. The NCA could only use its coercive powers normally unavailable to police services in clearly designated circumstances, in this case, for the performance of the NCA's special functions.
- 5.68 Justice Vincent did not draw an inference that the Authority and those who represented it had deliberately abused the powers at their disposal. However, his Honour stated that these powers had been employed in a 'regrettably casual fashion with little indication that any significant regard was had to important constraints set out' under the NCA Act.
- 5.69 Justice Vincent also commented that the real decision making power in the NCA on the basis of the evidence before the Court, as is commonly the case for the NCA, was exercised at lower levels within the NCA and subject to limited forms of accountability and monitoring.
- 5.70 His Honour also commented that the NCA apparently chose to use its coercive powers wherever possible, disregarding alternative methods of enquiry or for securing evidence, for example, search warrants. The documentary evidence from the NCA was 'notably and sadly deficient of any suggestion of awareness on the part of those involved in the investigation of the exceptional nature of those coercive powers'.
- 5.71 Justice Vincent held that for the hearing to have been conducted for the purpose of a special investigation those who proposed it should have addressed the question of its purpose in relation to the special investigation. It was at least necessary, before they used coercive powers to be satisfied on reasonable grounds that there was reason to suspect that the subject matter of the hearing bore upon the subject matter of the special investigation. Justice Vincent decided that there was no evidence that any serious attention had been given to the parameters of the References to the Authority nor to the perception of the existence between the foreign exchange transactions and the matter referred for investigation. His Honour's opinion was that this issue of a necessary connection did not intrude until the NCA received a letter dated 18 June 1992 from a firm of solicitors acting on behalf of one of the defendants.

- 5.72 *Role of the NIIC*. In the Commission's view the history and course of the Elders IX investigations and prosecutions confirms that the NCA would benefit from having effective and readily available external oversight. If the NIIC had been operating at the outset of the Elders IX investigations, the performance of the NCA and the lawfulness of this operation would have been within the NIIC's purview. The NIIC would have been able to inquire of its own volition into the lawfulness of the NCA's activities in the context of the NCA's terms of reference. There is nothing novel in a complaints body reviewing the lawfulness of an agency's activities. This is precisely what an effective independent complaints authority is supposed to do. By initiating its own investigations or inquiries, or responding to complaints, a law enforcement complaints body must often determine the legality of particular conduct or the policies of the relevant agency. For example, in relation to complaints against law enforcement agencies the external agency may have to decide whether the police used excessive force, whether they acted within the terms of a warrant or whether they allowed unauthorised disclosure of information.
- 5.73 In the Elders case, the first matter for the NIIC to consider would have been whether the particular investigation was authorised by the terms of reference. To do this the NIIC would have been able to require access to all the NCA documents and information. Under the Commission's recommendations the NIIC would have access to the same amount of information as the Chairperson of the NCA. Justice Vincent indicated that the failure of NCA accountability in relation to this matter occurred at a lower level. Direct and close oversight was necessary to discover and remedy any deficit in authority for the investigation.
- 5.74 If the NIIC had made a report on the Elders investigation to the effect that the NCA was acting illegally or even questionably, then it would have reported this to the relevant bodies, that is the NCA, the PJC and the Attorney-General. One would expect that the NCA would have then considered the report and altered its position. It might have then obtained independent legal advice. If the NCA had continued on the course of action then the NIIC, if it had exhausted its capacity to affect the action by advice, could have considered the bringing of legal action itself to restrain the NCA. The other alternatives in the face of a continuing deadlock might have been that the NCA challenged through legal action the investigation and report of the NIIC, or the parties, such as Mr Elliot, used the report of the NIIC as a basis for seeking restraining action themselves.
- 5.75 In the Commission's view the NIIC would have intervened well before the case got to the DPP. However, if the matter continued and the DPP was briefed to prosecute the DPP would, in exercising his discretion as to whether to prosecute, have had to consider the evidence available and the manner in which it was obtained. He would have assessed the legality of this evidence and whether it would be admissible. In the Commission's view the investigation and report of the NIIC would have brought this issue into focus at a much earlier time than actually occurred, with a consequent saving of considerable resources and in all likelihood reducing the level of the subsequent criticisms of the NCA's credibility, competence and integrity. The Commission notes that aspects of the decision of Justice Vincent are subject to appeal to the Victorian Court of Appeal. The verdict is not. The Commission would need to consider the Court of Appeal's decision in order to assess whether it affects the arguments presented in this report.

Value of the NIIC

- 5.76 It was suggested at the Commission's hearing before the PJC that the existence of the NIIC may not have had an appreciable impact on complaints and allegations because the outcome of complaints and investigations is ultimately a matter for the Executive or the courts.
- 5.77 Certainly the Executive, the Parliament and the courts play a crucial role in ultimately determining the outcomes of such matters. However, the NIIC would provide the clearest, earliest and most direct oversight of NCA operations. In its advice to the Commission the PJC noted that 'it has experienced considerable difficulty over the years in providing effective and meaningful oversight of the NCA'. In the Commission's view the NIIC would remedy those difficulties.
- 5.78 It would provide the PJC and the Executive with the opportunity for an in-depth and independent assessment of a complaint or allegation. In the Commission's view it would be an exceptional course for the Executive to ignore the NIIC's investigations and conclusions. The Government would have to justify its response to a NIIC report both publicly and in the Parliament. The NIIC's report would have the status of a report from an independent body specifically tasked and resourced to provide such reports. The Commission

suggests that the experience of the CJC and the NSW ICAC shows that such investigative bodies are able to act independently of the Executive and that their reports are generally accepted and acted upon. In the Commission's view there is no better method available to ensure that Executive Governments do respond adequately to complaints about law enforcement agencies. Both the Government and the Parliament would be able to review any NIIC report and require the NIIC Chairperson to explain the course of conduct and its recommendations.

- 5.79 The NIIC would provide the best guarantee to the Government, to the Parliament, to the individual complainant and to the public that a complaint has been investigated properly and impartially. This would place the PJC in a much stronger position to say with confidence to a complainant and to the public that a particular complaint had been properly dealt with and the appropriate outcome reached. Some complainants might still be dissatisfied but the integrity of the oversight system would be vindicated. The NIIC in its investigations of particular matters and in its annual reporting role on the NCA would also assist the PJC to make very informed comments and reports on the overall performance of the NCA. The PJC would have the right upon the tabling of a NIIC report to examine matters arising out of those reports including questioning the NIIC Chairperson. The NIIC would have a regular pattern of consultation and briefing with the PJC and its investigating standards, modus operandi and personnel would be available to the PJC for examination and scrutiny.
- 5.80 In the Commission's view it is incorrect to see the NIIC as providing review and remedies that are already provided by the courts. The courts currently provide review of some of the operations of the NCA. However judicial review is a very limited remedy for the majority of citizens. It is a costly and lengthy process. Few people have the resources to initiate and continue applications for judicial review. Mr Skrijel has commented that he does not have the resources of a Mr Elliot to take court action against the NCA.
- 5.81 There are other limitations to court review. It is by its nature usually reactive. It cannot provide the auditing and preventive capacities that the NIIC would provide. A judicial decision focuses on the remedy and a legal determination of the particular case. It does not overview the policy and practices involved.
- 5.82 The NIIC is likely to reduce the number of judicial challenges to NCA activities. Some parties who might have otherwise taken court action will go to the NIIC because it will offer a cheaper, quicker alternative. This will not only be of value to the complainant but also to the public because in the usual course of events an investigation by the NIIC should be less expensive in terms of public revenue than a court process.
- 5.83 The NIIC would not be the final court of appeal in the court hierarchy. The courts in consideration of a matter where the NIIC had conducted an investigation and made a report would use their normal rules of evidence as to admissibility and as to the weight to be given to such evidence. The Commission envisages that in many of those cases the NIIC investigation and report would be of considerable use to the Court in an action for judicial review.
- 5.84 If the NIIC were to determine that a complaint against the NCA was not substantiated, the complainant might leave the matter at that. Alternatively, the complainant might seek to make a complaint about the NIIC's handling of the matter or might seek judicial review of the NIIC's determination. If the complainants were charged with criminal offences, the report of the NIIC would be subject to the normal rules of evidence for the particular criminal proceeding. The NIIC would not be a party to the matter and it would not be conducting the prosecution or instructing in that case.

Limited role of the DPP

5.85 It might be suggested that the DPP could provide the necessary independent external scrutiny to ensure the legality and probity of the NCA's activities. The Commission considers that the DPP could not provide the full range of external investigation and review that is necessary. The DPP is a specialist prosecutor. He is not an investigator. He does not audit other agencies. The DPP may not have any input into a particular investigation at all or not until given a brief of evidence. He does not have royal commission powers. Moreover from the public perspective, the DPP is likely to be linked quite closely to the agencies upon whose behalf he acts. It would be difficult for the DPP to be regarded as at arms length from agencies such

as the NCA with whom the DPP has a continuing and necessary relationship in the prosecution of criminal matters.

Relationship with the IGC

5.86 The NIIC would not and could not usurp the role of the IGC. It would not play a role in the formulation of a particular reference for the NCA. It would not have any jurisdiction to review the actions or decisions of the IGC or the PJC. The only role that it could play in the activity of the IGC would be at the IGC's invitation. Its jurisdiction would be limited to the activities of the NCA.

Concerns of the Council for Civil Liberties

- 5.87 The Council for Civil Liberties has submitted that the Federal Court forum is a 'totally inadequate means' for addressing complaints issues because of the legalism and formalism of such proceedings and the costs involved. In practice, Federal Court review does not offer any protection to the average litigant against NCA excesses.
- 5.88 The Council for Civil Liberties submitted that the NCA excessively relied upon secrecy provisions, especially at committal proceedings in response to defence questions. It commented that the NCA appeared to take a different stance on this issue in different States. The submission argued that a federal oversight body was necessary, among other things, to monitor the NCA's operations for consistency. Another concern raised was that the NCA was now using its extraordinary compulsory powers, such as the investigative hearing, as the norm. It was originally envisaged that such powers would be used only in exceptional circumstances. The Council commented that an effective federal oversight body could monitor the use of these extraordinary powers.

A formal complaints system including external review necessary

5.89 The DRP proposed that there must be a formal complaints system for the NCA that includes effective external review. Such a system is necessary to ensure public confidence and accountability. This view has been endorsed during the Commission's consultations and in submissions received and is strongly supported by the case studies discussed above. The NCA in its submission argued that it has consistently advocated the investigation of complaints by an external body but is not convinced that a new body is necessary.¹⁷⁴

Recommendation 7 - A complaints system for the NCA

The NCA should have a formal complaints system established under legislation that provides effective external participation and scrutiny.

A unified NCA complaints process

- 5.90 The DRP proposed that there should be a unified NCA complaints process that applied to all categories of the NCA workforce, that is to the Chairperson, members and all staff members. The reasons put forward to support that proposal were as follows.
- 5.91 Under the current fragmented approach complainants may well be confused about to whom they should complain and may feel that the NCA is 'passing the buck' if the NCA refers matters to the home agency. There is also potential duplication of investigation by federal and State or Territory bodies. For example, one complaint may concern officers from a large number of agencies scattered across Australia. Under the current approach it is possible that for such a complaint each agency will conduct its own separate investigation including interviewing the same witnesses and gathering the same evidence with attendant extensive travel and accommodation costs.
- 5.92 This single system would provide the clearest line of procedure, accountability and consistency. Seconded police, consultants, legal practitioners and task force members would only be subject to the NCA complaints procedure in relation to their work for the NCA. Thus for example Task Force members from a State or Territory agency would only be subject to the NCA complaints procedure in their capacity as a

member of that Task Force. The legislation could specify the range of conduct covered by providing that the action that may be subject to the operation of the NCA complaints provisions is action in performance or purported performance of the person's powers or functions under the NCA Act or action arising directly or indirectly in the course of the person's employment or engagement under the NCA Act. 'Employment or engagement' would be defined to cover all possible categories of staff. 'Action' would include a refusal or failure to act. The relevant State and Territory home agencies could introduce complementary legislation to make it clear that their officers who are staff members of the NCA by virtue of the NCA Act are, while performing their NCA functions, covered by the NCA complaints legislation.¹⁷⁵

- 5.93 *Implementation process*. If a uniform system was implemented all personnel including seconded staff, consultants, legal counsel and task force members should be advised as soon as practicable that they are subject to the NCA complaints system. This should be done where possible before people become staff under the NCA Act. Their obligations should be made clear to them before they join. Where there is a contract of engagement, it should be a term of the contract that the person acknowledges that he or she is subject to the NCA complaints procedure. In other cases this could be readily achieved by a simple information sheet designed for each category of staff.
- 5.94 *Submissions and consultations*. The NCA and the Attorney-General's Department supported this proposal.¹⁷⁶ The NCA suggested that the indications were that the State and Territory police forces who second their members to the NCA would also accept the proposal.¹⁷⁷ The Attorney-General's Department noted that although the NCA should be accountable for dealing with complaints against it, the home jurisdictions of seconded officers and task force members should also have a role in complaints investigations and disciplinary action in respect of their officers. A unified system might be able to work on the basis of agreements or consistent State and Territory legislation. The options would need to be explored.
- 5.95 The Western Australian Police Service submitted that the home police service should maintain jurisdictional control in all cases of
- misconduct and offences committed off duty and
- misconduct and minor offences confined to summary jurisdiction committed while on duty and acting alone.¹⁷⁸
- 5.96 The WA Police stated that all instances of more serious infringements against the criminal law should be in the jurisdiction of the NCA complaints investigation system. This would be essential to maintain the integrity and the continuity of the investigation and ensure consistency in any sanctions applied. The WA Police did not comment directly on whether the NCA should also be able to discipline seconded officers but did comment that the State Police services must always retain the option of withdrawing the services of any seconded officer whose conduct or performance they considered inappropriate.
- 5.97 The South Australian Police and the Victoria Police supported the establishment of an NCA complaints system and an NCA disciplinary process. The Victoria Police agreed with the concerns expressed in the DRP that there is needless duplication of effort, waste of resources and apparent confusion under the present system. It argued that persons seconded to the NCA should be held accountable to the disciplinary code operating within the NCA during their period of secondment. However, where the nature of the complaint is such that if true, it may warrant dismissal, demotion or reduction in remuneration, the responsibility must lie with the home agency. Details regarding breaches of discipline dealt with by the NCA should be the subject of report to the members' home agency and form part of the members record of service.
- 5.98 The Queensland Police Service supported the establishment of an NCA complaints investigation system but was opposed to an NCA disciplinary code that applied to seconded State police officers. 180

Commission's views

5.99 There appears to be clear recognition of the desirability of the NCA having its own complaints investigation system. The State police forces on the whole appear to support this proposal. However, the issue of whether the NCA should have its own disciplinary code that would apply to seconded officers is

more problematic and requires further discussion. The Commission confirms these recommendations and considers that the response to them thus far indicates that they are feasible but should be the subject of further consultation.

Recommendation 8

There should be one uniform NCA complaints system applying to NCA members and all its staff that is, to (a) members and the Chairperson (b) staff employed under the Public Service Act, (b) seconded staff (c) consultants (d) legal practitioners and (e) members of task forces.

Which body should provide external scrutiny?

The DRP's proposal - the NIIC

- 5.100 The DRP identified three major choices the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC), the Commonwealth Ombudsman or the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security. It proposed that the NIIC should provide external scrutiny and participation in the system of complaints against the NCA and its staff.
- 5.101 The current role of the Ombudsman in complaints against the AFP is discussed in chapter 3. Under the *Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security Act 1986* (Cth) the Inspector-General investigates complaints against Australia's five intelligence and security agencies with broadly similar powers of investigation and recommendation as the Commonwealth Ombudsman.
- 5.102 The DRP stated that neither the Ombudsman nor the Inspector-General is the most appropriate agency to deal with complaints against the NCA. The Commission preferred that its proposed National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) should have the responsibility to deal with complaints against the AFP and the NCA. The general reasons for this preference are discussed in chapter 9. The broad issues raised and the objectives for the AFP complaints system and the NCA complaints system are essentially the same. The AFP and the NCA are different in composition, focus and powers but there are broad similarities. Both are national law enforcement agencies with a primary function being an investigation of organised crime. However there are also specific reasons why the NIIC should be the external agency to investigate and review complaints against the NCA.
- 5.103 The NCA is a body with significant coercive powers and a broad charter of responsibility. Any agency that provides for external review of complaints against it must have the status, investigative powers and capacity to be able to provide effective review. Community confidence is most likely to be increased by the introduction of a specialist and focussed external agency that can provide searching and thorough scrutiny. The Commission considers that of all the options canvassed it is the NIIC that is most likely to have those characteristics. Moreover, if it is accepted that the AFP requires the introduction of the NIIC there will be efficiencies and cost effectiveness factors that support the NIIC also providing external review of the NCA.
- 5.104 If the Ombudsman's Office was given the investigative role for the NCA, it may experience difficulties in devoting sufficient resources to complaints against the NCA. The Ombudsman's record in relation to the AFP suggests that this would be a significant concern. Moreover, as explained in chapter 8 the Commission considers that the Ombudsman's Office with its traditional role of reviewing defective administration is not the most appropriate agency to be investigating complaints against the NCA where some complaints may concern actions taken by police officers or the improper use of coercive powers.
- 5.105 In this context the Inspector-General's Office also has limitations. It is a small agency with few resources for the conduct of intensive investigations. It would require additional resources to undertake supervision of complaints against the NCA. Moreover, its current role has been limited to complaints against the intelligence organisations. While it is true that the NCA has an intelligence gathering role it also has similarities with the role of the AFP. The NCA is not a specialist intelligence agency in the nature of ASIO or ASIS. It is primarily concerned with organised crime and law enforcement and, for example, has personnel who are police or others who are experienced and trained in aspects of law enforcement, not

espionage or national security. It could be broadly said that the NCA is an organisation falling somewhere between an intelligence agency and a police service.

- 5.106 The Commission considers that the NIIC would be able to build quickly a high profile in the community for independent monitoring and review of federal law enforcement activity. In contrast the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security may be less widely known and is more likely to be regarded as specialising in security and espionage and not in investigating a wider range of complaints. The NIIC with its separate divisions relating to complaints and corruption would be able to offer greater accessibility to the general community for the full range of complaints than the Inspector-General.
- 5.107 The Commission also considers that the NIIC with its specific focus on complaints and corruption in relation to law enforcement and with its public status as a standing royal commission is less likely than either the Ombudsman or the Inspector-General to have difficulties in handling attempts at abuse of its process. It may also be better placed than the Ombudsman or the Inspector-General to respond to any attempt by organised crime to use threats, intimidation or inducements for corruption.

Submissions and consultations

- 5.108 The Australian Council for Civil Liberties submitted that the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security was inappropriate for handling NCA complaints because that Office was steeped in a tradition of dealing with the clandestine culture of ASIO, ASIS and other intelligence agencies. The Council concluded that the Inspector-General's office is unsuitable by its background, experience and resources base to review the NCA complaints system. It was the view of the Council for Civil Liberties that the NCA is often involved in a 'hands on way' in investigations and that it is not removed from policing 'on the ground floor'. It should not be regarded simply as 'an intelligence gathering body'. 183
- 5.109 The Law Council submitted that the Ombudsman would provide ineffective oversight, particularly in relation to the NCA, as the NCA is likely to regard itself as superior in status to the Ombudsman. On occasions the NCA Chairperson is a Judge which makes it more difficult for the NCA to be oversighted by an office where there is no head who exercises similar powers and functions.
- 5.110 *Comments by NCA officers*. A common response was that the NCA had limited resources and that care had to be taken to ensure that these limited resources were not too tied up in investigating complaints. Another concern was that sophisticated criminals make use of the complaints process to thwart investigations into them. Some officers supported an internal review with the current arrangement formalised in legislation. Others supported internal review with external oversight from a body such as the Ombudsman. A few argued that serious allegations should be investigated wholly externally.
- 5.111 Some staff saw little benefit in an external body such as the CJC or an ICAC with coercive powers. It would establish another bureaucracy and there would always be the question of who oversighted this external body. Another concern was the prospect of double jeopardy. For example, if there was a single NCA disciplinary code, provision would have to be made to ensure that secondees or lawyers and accountants did not run the risk of being penalised twice, that is, by the NCA and by their home agency or by their professional body. Another view doubted whether one body could review and investigate the work of police, accountants, intelligence analysts and lawyers and understand the different technical aspects and complexities. 191
- 5.112 *Views of the PJC*. Members of the Commission appeared before the PJC on the 16 September 1996 to discuss the Commission's DRP and in particular the proposals relating to the NCA. The PJC subsequently advised the Commission that it 'remains unconvinced of the need for the NIIC, particularly its proposed role in relation to the NCA'. The PJC did not elaborate on the reasons for that view. However, the Commission assumes that, in dealing with the arguments put forward at the hearing before the PJC and in the submission of the NCA, it will be addressing most of the concerns of the PJC.
- 5.113 Submission from the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security. The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security in his submission considered the options for external review of complaints against the NCA. He argued that the crucial question was what kind of external review mechanism should exist to provide independent and fearless investigation of public complaints against the AFP and the NCA. 193 His

preference was for a separate body created specially for this purpose. He did not advocate his own office or that of the Ombudsman for this role.

- 5.114 The Inspector-General compared the suitability of the Ombudsman with that of his office. He acknowledged that the Ombudsman is a more 'public office' than the Inspector-General and might therefore invite greater accessibility for a complaints agency. He thought that a community focussed external review body such as the Ombudsman could oversight the internal handling of customer service and less serious complaints relating to the NCA. However he argued that his office was better placed than the Ombudsman to investigate complaints against the NCA. The qualities sought in his office are in some respects similar to those needed to investigate complaints against the NCA independence, analytical capacity, ability to work closely with Ministers and agency heads and an understanding of the special needs associated with the handling of highly sensitive material. According to the Inspector-General these similarities are what probably encouraged the earlier idea of the Inspector-General holding a dual appointment as an external complaints body in relation to the NCA.
- 5.115 However, the Inspector-General argued that there are important differences between the law enforcement area and the security and intelligence field. The former requires a close knowledge of police culture and the police's unique practices, modus operandi and sound background in criminal investigation and law. The sources of information and their handling in this area create particular challenges and require a special expertise, involving a deep understanding of the nature of criminality in our society. His view was that his Office does not require this type of background, nor have any incumbents to date been legally qualified. The nature of the inquiries undertaken would have different features to those presently undertaken by his office and the skills required of the investigative staff would not necessarily be common to both areas. He added that there was little scope for significant resource savings to be made by combining this function with that of his office.
- 5.116 In the Commission's view the submission of the Inspector-General should carry considerable weight in the determination of these matters. The submission clearly points to the unsuitability of either the Inspector-General or the Ombudsman for the task of investigating complaints against the NCA.

The NCA's views

5.117 The Commission considers it important to canvass the NCA's submission in some detail so that the competing arguments are open to discussion.

Opposed to new agency

5.118 The NCA considered that it would be a more efficient use of resources to incorporate the investigation of complaints against the NCA within the work of another agency. Mr Broome, the Chairperson, commented that from the perspective of the NCA the establishment of the NIIC has 'all the appearance of a sledgehammer cracking a nut'. The NCA expressed no preference as to the identity of the complaints body but the body should have powers similar to the Ombudsman or the proposed Inspector-General of the NCA. In support of this preference for an existing agency it made the following points.

Small number of complaints

5.119 The NCA is a relatively small agency with few complaints against it annually (about 18 or less recently).

Commission confusing issues

5.120 The NCA suggested that the Commission considered issues that it should have avoided. One is the idea of a 'federal ICAC'. The NCA has suggested that the DRP has become a vehicle to argue for a national corruption body, a 'federal ICAC' which requires separate consideration and analysis but it is not a necessary or logical response to the need for an adequate external body to handle complaints against the NCA.

- 5.121 The NCA also suggested that the Commission had gone beyond its scope of inquiry by untidily mixing complaints handling and disciplinary action. The real issue is the NCA's complaints process.
- 5.122 The final misconception according to the NCA is that the Commission has tended to 'run together' the AFP and the NCA on the basis that the AFP and the NCA have similar roles, functions and objectives. According to the NCA this is erroneous. The AFP has a particular role in Commonwealth law enforcement and the major proportion of its resources is devoted to policing in the ACT. In contrast the NCA is not a police service. It is a small organisation with limited resources and special powers. To be effective it relies on co-operation with police services. The two organisations are dissimilar in significant ways.

Lack of independence of the NIIC

5.123 The NCA submission suggested that the proposals of the Commission would mean that the AFP and the NCA would actually provide a substantial part of the investigative capacity of the NIIC. This would be detrimental to an effective and independent external review.

Competing demands

5.124 The NCA advised that its finite resources are allocated to defined tasks and investigations as part of the annual planning process. Such resources could not be readily reallocated at the request of the NIIC and it raised the question of how conflicting priorities would be resolved.

Location and size

5.125 The NCA commented that a small Canberra based organisation such as the NIIC that is reliant on the goodwill and investigative resources of the NCA, the AFP and other police services would have difficulty in dealing with these organisations rigorously and at arms length.

The Commission's response

5.126 The Commission has the following responses to the NCA's points.

No new agency

5.127 The Commission considers that the use of the metaphor using 'a sledgehammer to crack a nut ' is inappropriate in considering whether the NIIC should be the external body for investigating complaints against the NCA. The metaphor suggests that the NIIC is too elaborate, too involved and too costly for the magnitude of the problem. In the Commission's view this does not take into proper account the significance of the objectives of a functioning complaints system and under-estimates the inadequacies of the current system. The system recommended by the Commission addresses these factors and in the Commission's view would be more effective in doing so than the only two alternatives that have been suggested.

Small number of complaints

- 5.128 The NCA has recorded over the last few years on average about 18 complaints. However, this apparent small number needs to be placed in context.
- 5.129 The first point is that the Commission is not recommending a new agency simply to deal with the NCA's complaints. The NIIC would also be dealing with the 900 complaints that currently arise in relation to the AFP. There are undoubted efficiencies in having the one body deal with both AFP and NCA complaints. The NCA submission does not address the question of whether it considers that the NIIC is inappropriate for the AFP as well.
- 5.130 The evidence suggests that complaints about law enforcement agencies which have no or no satisfactory alternative avenues for lodging or investigating complaints will tend to under-represent the true number of complaints. Many people are deterred from making complaints because they feel that it is pointless or they fear victimisation or hostility. The NCA has no external complaints avenue. Currently, it is a completely internal system. The NCA is a body with extraordinary powers, in some respects far greater

than those of police services. Moreover, it also has the reputation, whether it is fair or otherwise, of being a secretive and closed organisation. The Commission considers that it is reasonable to assume that some potential complainants would have been deterred by these matters.

- 5.131 There is no NCA officer who has any statutory obligation to accept or record complaints. This lack of obligation and process to accept and record complaints is compounded by the fact that the NCA's operations are as geographically diverse as its workforce. It works in close co-operation with many federal, State and Territory organisations. For a potential complainant it may be extremely difficult to determine to whom to complain.
- 5.132 It is also necessary to consider the significance of the complaints made against the NCA. This is not just a question of quantity but also quality. As discussed in detail above the NCA has been the subject of very serious complaints that go to the way it conducts operations and to the lawfulness of some major investigations.

Location and size

- 5.133 The NCA argued that the NIIC would be limited in its role because it would be a small agency located in Canberra. The Commission recommends that the NIIC be located in the ACT. That is the most appropriate location in terms of the AFP because the bulk of complaints against the AFP arise in the ACT. However, the Commission also considers that it is the most appropriate location for dealing with complaints against the NCA. A sizeable portion of the NCA's work involves NSW and Victoria and more specifically Sydney and Melbourne. Canberra is located approximately equidistant between them and within reasonable driving distance of both. There are also regular flight services. Canberra is where Parliament and the Attorney-General's Department are located, so it is convenient for the NIIC in terms of its own accountability requirements.
- 5.134 It should also be noted that the Commonwealth Ombudsman's AFP investigation role is located in Canberra and that its regional offices refer AFP complaints to it. The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security is located in Canberra. Neither of the other alternatives to the NIIC offer any advantage in terms of having a greater national coverage.
- 5.135 As to the NIIC's size as a small agency with about 30 staff, the Commission's view is that figure is appropriate to perform effectively its proposed role. It is necessary to compare the alternatives. The Ombudsman's office currently has seven staff who work on AFP complaints, none of whom is dedicated to the task. The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security has a very small staff with no dedicated investigative personnel.

Commission confusing issues

- 5.136 *Vehicle for a federal ICAC*. The NCA has suggested that the Commission should have avoided the issue of whether a federal ICAC was desirable. The Commission has not recommended a federal ICAC. The NIIC's jurisdiction would be limited. Even the possibility of a more extensive jurisdiction to cover other federal law enforcement activities would not constitute what is usually meant by an ICAC because it would not cover the entire public sector. The Commission has explicitly noted that the issue of an extended jurisdiction is outside its terms of reference.
- 5.137 The possibility of an extended jurisdiction has not influenced the Commission to recommend that the NIIC to investigate complaints against the AFP and the NCA. The Commission considers that the NIIC is the best possible response, including cost effectiveness, for both those agencies irrespective of any potential extension.
- 5.138 *Mixing complaints and discipline*. The NCA has suggested that the Commission should not have considered disciplinary matters. The Commission's terms of reference in relation to the NCA specifically require the Commission to inquire into and report on the NCA 'complaints and disciplinary system in its entirety' and on 'whether the complaints and disciplinary system meets the expectations of the public in terms of accountability, effectiveness and efficiency'. The Commission would have failed to comply with its own terms of reference if it had not dealt with the NCA disciplinary process in its entirety.

- 5.139 Moreover, the Commission takes the view that if this inquiry tried to restrict itself to the complaints process without considering discipline it would have been fundamentally flawed. An inquiry that does not deal with both and that does not examine their interaction can only present a partial analysis. Complaints are one major source of disciplinary action. Complainants, the public and the agencies themselves do not look at the complaints process in isolation. Disciplinary action or the lack of it is crucial. Complainants, for example, want to know what happened to the officers or staff involved. There is a general public interest in ensuring that the investigation of the complaint led to the appropriate result, that there was fair and effective outcome and that the agencies, where appropriate, made an effective response to any problem.
- 5.140 *Lack of independence of the NIIC*. The Commission recommends that the NIIC should have overall control and direction of any investigation into complaints or corruption. It should also have overall responsibility and accountability for the effectiveness and propriety of any investigation. While the Commission expects that the NIIC and the AFP and the NCA would have a co-operative relationship there is no doubt that the NIIC would in the event of any dispute have powers of direction.
- 5.141 For the 'customer service' category of complaints it is clear that the agency itself must take major responsibility for their handling. They are intrinsically managerial matters. As far as the Commission is aware this principle is widely accepted, not only in Australia, but internationally.
- 5.142 As to NCA involvement in actual investigations of their own complaints and corruption, this is an essential element of the system recommended by the Commission in principle and in practice. However, the parameters of that role would ultimately be determined by the NIIC and subject, where appropriate, to its directions, guidelines and standards.
- 5.143 It is widely recognised that the agency itself must continue to play a significant role as part of its managerial responsibility. The South Australian Police Complaints Authority commented that police should still investigate the majority of complaints themselves because it forces the police service to consider its policies and lifts its commitment to making changes and improving accountability. The agencies must be engaged and committed to the process so that improvements to policies and practices occur. With a wholly external agency there is a danger that the law enforcement agencies will take little active responsibility for improvements. For example, the submission from the Attorney-General's Department expressed the view that the AFP and the NCA must take management responsibility for investigating complaints other than those of serious criminality or corruption.
- 5.144 A further advantage of selective input from the agencies is that it is less likely than a wholly external investigation model to interfere with the agency's own operational requirements and lines of communication. It also makes use of the agency's own experience, expertise and in-house knowledge

Funding

DRP's proposals on NCA related funding for the NIIC

- 5.145 The DRP proposed that the NCA would contribute some funding to the NIIC, according to the expected proportion of the NIIC's work that is generated in relation to the NCA. The Commission's initial estimate was that this should be in the order of \$150 000 per year. That amount took into account a likely rise in the number of complaints concerning the NCA if the Commission's suggested system were established. It was an amount that represents the amount the Commission believed the NCA in broad terms ought to spend to operate a fully effective complaints system.
- 5.146 The Commission also considered that the States and the Territories could make some contribution to funding in relation to complaints concerning NCA activities. These contributions would be appropriate given that under the Commission's draft recommendations the NIIC would be conducting or managing investigations concerning State and Territory officers in their NCA related activities and the NCA would have its own disciplinary code that could apply to these officers in the context of their work for the NCA. In that sense the proposed new system would be providing a service for the State and Territory agencies.

- 5.147 The Commission considered that the amount the State and Territories would contribute would not be excessive. There are a number of possible methods for determining appropriate contributions. The DRP suggested that some major alternatives were as follows.
- Each jurisdiction should contribute the same amount on the basis that each benefits from NCA activities against organised crime in the sense that organised crime is a national problem and that in the longer term each jurisdiction will have cause to be involved in NCA operations.
- Each jurisdiction should contribute on a direct user pays basis. That is, if the NIIC was investigating a complaint in relation to a State or Territory officer, the relevant home agency would pay for that investigation or a proportion of it.
- A formula that differentiates according to the particular jurisdiction's amount of involvement in NCA operations should be introduced. One possibility is that the States and Territories contribute in proportion to their respective populations as at July 1 each year. This is the formula agreed upon in relation to the establishment of the Standing Committee on Organised Crime and Criminal Intelligence (SCOCCI). An alternative formula that might more accurately reflect use of resources would be to base the contribution upon relative police strengths. For example, as at July 1 of each previous year the combined strengths of all police forces excluding the AFP could be determined and each jurisdiction would contribute in proportion to its own police force strength as a fraction of the combined figure.
- 5.148 The Commission's initial estimate for the combined total of State and Territory contribution was about \$150,000 per annum.

NCA's submission on funding

- 5.149 The NCA commented that the Commission has not offered any evidence to suggest that complaints have not been dealt with properly under the current process that would support the argument that the NCA should be spending a much greater amount¹⁹⁷ It added that while \$150 000 might seem small in comparison with the NCA's overall budget, only a small part of that budget is not already committed to fixed costs. Moreover, the NCA's budget has been reduced by over 20% in real terms since 1994-95. Any further reductions in funds in the order suggested by the Commission would be 'critical' to the NCA's work. Any funding provided by the NCA would not be a redirection of existing expenditure but a new cost. The NCA's submission argued that the Commission had not identified any cost savings.
- 5.150 The NCA has advised that currently complaints are handled by the NCA at a real but not obvious cost. Demands on the time of the Chairperson and officers handling complaints are absorbed within general administrative costs. If the NIIC is established those costs will still be incurred as it is proposed that the NCA will assist the NIIC in the conduct of its inquiries and handle particular matters. Accordingly \$150 000 or a sum like it is not a reallocation of resources but a new head of expenditure for the NCA. Further a new body might involve a level of formality and bureaucracy which could well cost significantly more.
- 5.151 In relation to the funding from the States and Territories the NCA was of the opinion that the Commission had no proper basis for the level of funding from those jurisdictions. The arrangements for the secondment to the NCA of officers varies from time to time. For example, at present there are no officers seconded from Tasmania or the Northern Territory. The NCA submission added that this issue of contribution would require negotiation.

Commission's response

5.152 The Commission acknowledges that the NCA has incurred budget reductions as have many other federal agencies. Those reductions are political and administrative decisions which are not within the Commission's mandate to comment upon. Nevertheless, the NCA should regard its efforts to ensure integrity and accountability including public confidence in its standards, as a high priority and fundamental to its operations. It must, if necessary, reallocate some of its resources to achieve these goals.

- 5.153 The NCA has been unable to provide any estimate at all on what it has spent on complaints. All NCA officers involved in complaints undertake work relating to complaints as part of and in conjunction with their other duties. Implied in the NCA's comments is the view that the amount of \$150 000 per year is more than the NCA has actually spent on complaints. It is difficult to comment on what resources, for example, a complaint that say, takes four weeks to resolve might cost, or what the fewer more complex cases might involve. Certainly, however, time spent by the Chairperson on any complaint is resource intensive. The Skrijel case is clearly one that has taken a considerable amount of time and resources. The Quick inquiry into the case, although paid for by the Attorney-General's Department, can be characterised as money that was spent in response to an NCA complaint. The Commission also regards the Elliot case as a matter that might have benefitted by the intervention of the NIIC. The NCA has advised the Commission that it spent in the order of \$9.5 million on the investigation concerning Mr Elliot and others.
- 5.154 The figure of \$150 000 was included on the basis that it reflected the amount NCA should be spending for having an effective complaints system with appropriate external scrutiny such as the NIIC would provide and which would include auditing of anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans. The Commission continues to regards \$150 000 as a reasonable amount for the benefits that it would provide for the NCA's integrity, accountability and reputation.
- 5.155 In relation to appropriate contributions by the States and Territories, the Commission suggested a number of options. The NCA submission did not consider them. These are matters that require further consideration and consultation but the problem of ensuring an appropriate and fair contribution from each jurisdiction is not insurmountable. This has been worked out for contributions to NCA operations.

Summary of Commission's views

5.156 The Commission continues to support the NIIC providing external review of the NCA's integrity and accountability. The nature and composition of the NCA and its powers and functions demand effective and focused review from an external agency with suitable powers and capacities. The NIIC would meet those demands. The Ombudsman and the Inspector-General could not. The funding required for the NIIC to carry out this role would not be excessive and there would be clear efficiencies in having the one body review both the AFP and the NCA. Even leaving aside the question of suitability, there would be no significant savings if the Inspector-General or Ombudsman was involved. The Inspector-General has confirmed this in his case and the Commission has commented on why selecting the Ombudsman would provide no significant cost savings in chapter 8.

Recommendation 9

The National Integrity and Investigations Commission should provide external scrutiny of, and participation in, the system of complaints against the NCA and its staff.

Should the IGC and the PJC be part of the NCA complaints system?

5.157 The Commission recommends that these committees should not be part of the NCA complaints system. They could not be regarded as part of the NCA and any review of their actions is essentially a matter for the respective Governments and Parliaments. The NCA submission and the letter of advice from the PJC supported that approach.¹⁹⁸

Recommendation 10

The IGC and the PJC should not be part of the NCA complaints system.

The secrecy provisions

5.158 The secrecy provisions of the NCA Act makes it an offence to directly or indirectly disclose information relating to the performance of duties. These provisions might be construed to apply to cases

where an NCA officer wishes to make a complaint about the activities of the NCA or a member of its staff. This would seem to be an unwarranted extension of the policy behind the secrecy provision. To prevent complaints by the use of the secrecy provisions might allow wrong-doers to escape investigation and penalty. ¹⁹⁹

- 5.159 The DRP proposed that an exception should be made to the NCA Act secrecy provisions so that
- it does not apply to a person making a complaint to the NCA or to the NIIC or any person designated to be able to receive complaints about the NCA, and
- the appointed investigator of the complaint has full access to relevant information.
- 5.160 The NCA accepted this proposal with qualifications. The first qualification was that there should be a provision requiring the NIIC to observe the confidentiality of information received by it. The Commission agrees with this comment and the recommendation for a confidentiality provision for the NIIC is contained in chapter 6.
- 5.161 The NCA's second qualification was concerned with resolving the situation where the NCA is unable or unwilling to comply with a demand for information by the NIIC. The NCA submitted that there should be a clear legislative response to the requirement to inform the NIIC of information while recognising the restrictions on the dissemination of information concerning, for instance, taxation, telephone interceptions, listening devices, witness protection and secrecy provisions in other relevant legislation.

Commission's views

5.162 The NIIC Chairperson must be in the same position as the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson in respect of access to information. This is essential if the NIIC is to perform effectively its investigative and auditing roles. The NCA Act, the AFP Act and any other relevant legislation should be amended, if necessary, to ensure that this occurs. This issue of access to information is not an insurmountable problem and it would be raised no matter which agency was selected to provide external review.

Recommendation 11

There should be an exception to the NCA Act secrecy provisions so that

- it does not apply to a person making a complaint to the NCA or to the NIIC or to any person designated to be able to receive complaints about the NCA, and
- the appointed investigator of a complaint has full access to relevant information.

The Chairperson of the NIIC should have access to all information that the AFP and NCA has and may request information from each agency which is to provide it. The NIIC Chairperson should be in the same position as the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson in respect to access to information in respect to their agencies.

A dedicated internal investigations unit?

5.163 The DRP proposed that the NCA did not need to establish an internal investigations division given the relatively small number and the nature of the complaints that it received.

Submissions

5.164 The NCA agreed with this proposal and suggested that the most effective system would be for the NCA Chairperson to nominate a suitable investigation officer taking into account the nature of the complaint. However, the Victoria Police held the view that a failure to establish an internal investigation unit within the NCA will detract from the overall integrity of the complaints system and is likely to lead to the NCA management losing part of its effectiveness in improving its own culture. ²⁰¹

Commission's views

- 5.165 The Commission agrees with the submission from the Victoria Police and is now of the view that the NCA should establish a suitable permanent structure for dealing with complaints and corruption. The Commission anticipates that with the introduction of the NIIC it is likely that the number of complaints will increase. The Commission considers that the NCA should have a clear focal point for the receipt and evaluation of complaints and for contact with the NIIC.
- 5.166 There should also be some permanent arrangement for assuming responsibility for the implementation of the NCA's anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans. The NCA in consultation with the NIIC should determine the form of this permanent structure. It might be preferable that it be connected or amalgamated with the NCA's current Security Branch whose main function is to develop, implement and monitor protective security within the NCA so as to ensure the integrity of its staff and assets.
- 5.167 If it was considered that a special unit to deal with complaints and corruption was necessary to fulfil this permanent role it might consist of about two officers. If the volume of work in relation to complaints and corruption was such that it could not sustain the full time activities of staff, they should be given additional tasks.

Recommendation 12

The NCA should have permanent arrangements in place for the handling of complaints and anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans and measures. The NCA should determine in consultation with the NIIC the best way to implement a permanent structure, including whether there should be a special unit.

6. The NIIC's role, structure and powers

Introduction

- 6.1 Chapter 4 explained why in the Commission's view the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) is the preferred investigative model for the AFP complaints system. Chapter 5 came to the same conclusion in relation to the NCA complaints system. Chapter 8 examines responses to the proposal for the NIIC and chapter 9 expands on the reasons for establishing the NIIC.
- 6.2 This chapter discusses the NIIC's role, staffing, powers and accountability. It also briefly mentions funding. That issue is dealt with in more detail in chapter 8 because it was central to the some of the responses to the DRP.
- 6.3 The chapter also considers three possible extensions to the NIIC's work and jurisdiction
- the NIIC playing a role in a national approach to investigations for federal, State and Territory agencies, including accreditation for investigators and arrangements for the sharing of information and facilities
- the NIIC having jurisdiction about complaints and corruption in respect of other federal agencies which have law enforcement functions
- the NIIC auditing telecommunication interceptions by the AFP and NCA under the *Telecommunications (Interception) Act 1979* (Cth) a task which the Ombudsman currently is expected to perform.
- 6.4 Chapter 7 considers the NIIC's investigative procedures and relationship with the AFP and NCA. That chapter discusses the following four categories of complaints that would be developed:
- Category A serious criminality, corruption or significant public interest
- Category B misconduct
- Category C customer service matters
- Category D internal management matters.
- 6.5 For Category A matters the NIIC would take the predominant investigatory role. Any AFP or NCA input would be at the request of the NIIC and be subject to its close and direct control.
- 6.6 For Category B matters, while the NIIC would still have the capacity for overall control and direction, the input of the AFP and NCA is likely to be greater than for Category A matters and the NIIC is also likely to have less direct management of investigations.
- 6.7 The AFP and NCA would have primary and direct responsibility for handling Category C and D matters but subject to NIIC guidelines and auditing.

Summary of responses to the DRP proposals

6.8 Overall the response to the proposals in the DRP in relation to the role, structure and powers of the NIIC was supportive. The Attorney-General's Department supported the proposals subject to some modifications which the Commission has adopted. The NCA generally agreed but noted that its comments were made in the context that it was opposed to the establishment of the NIIC in the first place. The AFP also generally agreed with the proposals but suggested that the AFP should exercise control and management of any input that it had in relation to the investigation of complaints that were in the medium range of seriousness. The Ombudsman agreed with the proposed complaints handling functions of the NIIC but did not accept that a

separate body was necessary. She argued that all the complaint handling functions of the NIIC as proposed by the Commission could be undertaken by her office with additional funding and enhanced powers.

The NIIC — role, functions and structure

- 6.9 A key function of the NIIC would be to investigate serious complaints against the AFP and the NCA and to detect and investigate corruption within those two agencies. It would be able to conduct or order investigations in response to a complaint, report or other form of information or on its own initiative.
- 6.10 It would receive information about all complaints made against the AFP and the NCA and would then make decisions about the most appropriate means of investigation and the most appropriate persons or agencies to conduct those investigations. It would have wide investigative and review functions in respect of complaints and information about corruption. The NIIC would have the ultimate power in determining who should investigate and would in every case have available to it the power of control and direction of the investigation.
- 6.11 The NIIC would also produce and analyse data about complaints and corruption and provide reports about trends.

Two divisions: complaints and corruption

- 6.12 There would be two main divisions within the NIIC
- the Office of the Commissioner for Complaints and
- the Office for Anti-Corruption.
- 6.13 This organisational distinction between complaints and corruption is necessary because the two require different approaches.
- 6.14 The handling of complaints is likely to
- be reactive to individual complainants
- be concerned with day to day policing
- have a significant focus on accessibility and service provision to complainants.
- 6.15 Anti-corruption is likely to
- be pro-active to be effective
- rely on diverse intelligence information and not merely a formal complaint
- be secretive
- require surveillance and sophisticated methods of investigation, often conducted on a covert basis.
- 6.16 The two divisions would be physically separated within the NIIC but would share infrastructure and an information system and establish strong liaison. Both divisions would have access to the NIIC database subject to any special security requirements, particularly those relating to the Office for Anti-Corruption.

Legislation

6.17 The NIIC would be established by its own Act and that Act would provide that the NIIC has its own corporate personality. The Commission considers that the complaints provisions for both the AFP and the NCA should be included in this Act. This would mean that all the main elements of the complaints systems

would be included in the one piece of legislation making it easier for users to locate the relevant law and to understand how the systems work.

Membership

- 6.18 The NIIC would have a full-time Chairperson, a full-time Commissioner for Complaints and at least one part-time Commissioner. The legislation should allow the Chairperson to determine the exact number of part-time Commissioners and the duration of their appointments according to the demands of work and the available skills and interests of the Commissioners.
- 6.19 The Chairperson should be a retired or seconded superior court judge or a person qualified for appointment as a judge who has special relevant experience. The Commission considers that the position of Chairperson requires a person with judicial or extensive legal experience and qualifications because of the coercive powers available to the NIIC and the great responsibility placed on it to be effective and to act according to the law. The Chairperson should be able to delegate to the full-time Commissioner or a part-time Commissioner any of his or her functions or powers.
- 6.20 The Commissioner for Complaints should desirably be a person with extensive experience in human rights or broad based experience in community affairs such as community legal centres or consumer advocacy. The part-time Commissioner should desirably have extensive experience in police or other investigative work.
- 6.21 *Submissions*. One submission cautioned against having judicial officers performing administrative functions.²⁰² It could mislead the public about the level of independence of the body. This submission suggested that the Chairperson of the NIIC would not exercise judicial independence because of the reporting requirements to the Attorney-General. The submission argued that any current judicial officer should be required to resign his or her judicial appointment at least during the period of being the Chairperson of the NIIC.
- 6.22 *Commission's views*. The Commission considers that the position of Chairperson should be open to current judicial officers. While being the Chairperson of the NIIC would not be a judicial position, the NIIC would have extensive royal commission powers. Experience in a judicial position is clearly one relevant factor to consider in making such an appointment. The Commission considers that it should be a matter for the Government and the particular appointee to determine whether the appointee should resign from a current appointment.

Location

6.23 The NIIC would be based in Canberra since the bulk of its work would relate to local AFP community policing. However, the NIIC should have arrangements with the AFP and the NCA to use their regional facilities where appropriate and consideration should be given to establishing arrangements for the use of facilities and resources with other Commonwealth, State and Territory law enforcement and review agencies.

Recommendation 13

The new legislation to establish the NIIC should include complaints provisions for both the AFP and the NCA. The Act should be called the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (Australian Federal Police and National Crime Authority Complaints) Act.

The Act should be drafted so that it is easy for a reader to identify and follow the complaints process.

Recommendation 14

The NIIC should have two main divisions

• the Office of the Commissioner for Complaints and

the Office for Anti-Corruption.

Recommendation 15

The NIIC would have a full-time Chairperson, a full-time Commissioner for Complaints and at least one part-time Commissioner.

Staffing

- 6.24 The DRP envisaged a staff of about 30 people. That would include a modest Secretariat and a core of people with extensive investigative and legal experience in policing or other investigative work. The Commission estimated that about 15 investigators would be needed. They would have the capacity to conduct their own investigations or manage or supervise other agencies' investigations. All staff would be engaged on fixed term contracts with staggered exits to promote a clear focus on the organisation's key objectives, to avoid 'bureaucratisation' and to foster staff independence from the agencies that are investigated. The NIIC would be able to second personnel and to engage consultants for fixed term appointments. All staff would be subject to initial integrity tests and then subject to subsequent checks.
- 6.25 The addition of a telephone intercept auditing function as discussed in paragraphs 6.107-112 would mean that some additional staff would be necessary, perhaps in the order of two to three.
- 6.26 *The NIIC recruiting or seconding AFP, NCA or Ombudsman's staff.* The NSW Royal Commission into the Police recommended that, to ensure public confidence in the independence and integrity of the PIC, no members or former members of the NSW Police Service should be employed by it. If considered necessary or desirable in the future, this restriction might be open to review.²⁰³
- 6.27 A few submissions to the Commission argued that no former or serving members of the AFP or NCA should be able to work for the NIIC. One submission also suggested that no existing staff of the Ombudsman's office should be employed by the NIIC and that a 'clean slate approach' was the only way to give credibility to a new organisation.²⁰⁴
- 6.28 *Commission's view*. The Commission does not seek to prescribe to what extent AFP or NCA officers or staff from the Ombudsman's office can be recruited by the NIIC to work as NIIC staff. However, clearly the recruiting policy of the NIIC must have as a fundamental aim that the NIIC is independent from, and will be seen as being independent from, the AFP and the NCA and the Ombudsman's office. As a general principle the number of current or former AFP, NCA and Ombudsman staff should be limited, particularly if they are to work in the investigations area. Any new personnel, whatever their past employment, would need to be subject to thorough integrity and skills testing before being recruited.

Funding

6.29 The NIIC would be federally funded. The Commission's preliminary estimate expressed in the DRP was that core funding would be in the order of three and a half to four million dollars annually. Some supplementation of this core funding might be necessary in cases where a very extensive investigation or inquiry was necessary. The Commission's reasoning behind this estimate and responses to it are dealt with in detail in chapter 8.

Powers

Investigative and inquisitorial powers

- 6.30 The NIIC should have conferred on it the full range of investigative and inquisitorial powers of a royal commission. This should include powers to
- enter and search public premises and seize material

- summon witnesses to give evidence
- pursue contempt of its procedures
- obtain and execute listening device warrants
- intercept and record telephone conversations and electronic communications
- hold public and private hearings
- gain access to taxation records. 205
- 6.31 The NIIC would conduct, manage or supervise three major types of investigations
- a full investigation conducted by itself and where necessary using its range of coercive powers
- joint investigations with the AFP and NCA (and where appropriate and practical including members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies) these investigations would normally be under the direction and control of the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers
- AFP or NCA conducting internal investigations but those investigations being managed or supervised²⁰⁶ by the NIIC with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers.
- 6.32 The NIIC would have the power to make inquiries to determine whether to undertake an investigation. The NIIC would be able to change the type of investigation being carried out where it considered that it was necessary. Thus, for example, if the AFP or the NCA were conducting an investigation the NIIC could at any stage alter that to a joint investigation or a full NIIC investigation. For example, this might occur where the NIC considered that it was necessary to have its coercive powers available.
- 6.33 The NIIC Act should provide that the NIIC has the power of control and direction of any investigation. It would have a discretion in the particular case as to the appropriate level of its involvement. In some cases it might manage the investigation, that is provide detailed guidance in the planning and execution of detection or investigation, including selecting the personnel involved, the method of detection or investigation, the witnesses to be interviewed and the evidence to be gathered. In other cases it might provide a lower level of guidance, relying on a system of guidelines prepared by it and progress reports and final reports furnished to it. In most cases the Commission envisages that the level of management or oversight would be achieved by agreement with the AFP or the NCA and that no formal use of the NIIC's directive powers would be necessary. The Commission expects that to the fullest extent practical the NIIC, the AFP and the NCA will consult on matters before any directive powers of the NIIC would be used. Those directive powers and the taking over of an investigation would be sparingly used, particularly in Category B, C and D matters.²⁰⁷
- 6.34 *Submissions*. The Attorney-General's Department submitted that any entry and search powers should accord with current Commonwealth policy as reflected by Part 1AA of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth). The Commission agrees. It is desirable to have consistent policy across the Commonwealth jurisdiction on the exercise of these powers.
- 6.35 The NCA agreed with the NIIC having royal commission type powers should it be established.

Contempt powers

6.36 The DRP proposed that where the NIIC finds a person guilty of contempt it may apply to the Federal Court for that Court to inquire into the matter and the Court, if satisfied that the person is guilty of contempt, may punish the person in the same manner and to the same extent as if the person was found guilty of that contempt in relation to proceedings before the Federal Court.²⁰⁸

6.37 *Submissions*. The Attorney-General's Department suggested that any power to punish for contempt should be drafted in such a way as to proscribe specific conduct rather than by attributing a general contempt power to the NIIC. The Commission agrees with the Department's suggestion. This accords with the Commission's recommendations in its report on contempt in relation to tribunals and regulatory bodies.²⁰⁹

Audit powers

6.38 The NIIC would have the power to undertake inquiries and examine or audit any aspect of the AFP or the NCA for the purpose of discovering whether there is misconduct or circumstances that may lead to misconduct. This would include examining records and other data.

Power to recommend action after investigations

6.39 The NIIC would have the power to make recommendations, give opinions and make assessments to the AFP or the NCA on the basis of its investigations or those of agencies which it has managed or directed. This would include recommendations for the prosecution of a person for a criminal offence or the taking of disciplinary action. The NIIC would also have the power to go directly to the DPP with a brief for a criminal prosecution.

- 6.40 *Submissions*. One submission expressed the view that the NIIC should be able to take action of its own motion and be able to compel or order certain results such as the taking of disciplinary action. ²¹⁰
- 6.41 *Commission's view*. The Commission proposes that the NIIC would have a very wide own motion power of investigation and inquiry. To exercise that power it would be sufficient for the NIIC to be satisfied that a matter directly or indirectly raised issues concerning the integrity or accountability of the NCA or AFP.
- 6.42 However, the Commission is of the view that an extensive power to make recommendations is sufficient once the NIIC embarks upon an investigation or inquiry. If the AFP or the NCA fail to accept or act on an NIIC recommendation then the NIIC will be able to report this to the Attorney-General and the Parliament. The Commission expects that the AFP or the NCA would on most occasions accept a NIIC recommendation. The Ombudsman has submitted that in her experience recommendatory powers are sufficient. To give the NIIC powers of compulsion in the sense of being able to impose sanctions for failure to comply is unlikely in practice to make any appreciable difference to actual outcomes of investigations or reports. However, it would be likely to expose the relationships between the NIIC and the AFP and NCA to avoidable antagonism. It would also weaken the power and the role of the AFP and the NCA to take adequate responsibility for complaints and discipline. It would be tilting the fine balance between the input of internal responsibility and external scrutiny too far to the external side.

Reporting on miscarriages of justice

6.43 In performing its statutory functions the NIIC may uncover police misconduct where police have deliberately obstructed the criminal justice process. This is sometimes referred to as 'process corruption'. Process corruption is a serious form of corruption and includes

- fabrication of evidence
- suppression of evidence
- perjury.

6.44 The Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service has shown that process corruption may mean that some convictions which were obtained in those circumstances are questionable. The NSW Court of Criminal Appeal the Court has said

[I]n some cases, where evidence emerges that the police officers ... in a particular conviction have deliberately lied and lied in respect of important matters, it may be that the conviction will not be allowed to stand even though quite

apart from the their credibility there is independent evidence sufficient, if believed or accepted by the jury, to convict the accused.²¹¹

6.45 The NIIC should develop a procedure to consider all the ramifications of any case where it forms the view that an AFP or NCA officer may have been guilty of process corruption. The procedure should include efforts to determine the extent of the corruption and who may have been adversely affected by it. It should also include notifying relevant authorities, for example, the Attorney-General, the DPP and any person who may have been adversely affected by the suspected process corruption.

6.46 The *Crimes Act 1900* (NSW) enables a petition for a review of conviction to be made to the State Governor and an application for an inquiry into a conviction to the NSW Supreme Court.²¹² Under either process a direction can be made for an inquiry to be conducted by a prescribed person who for the purposes of the inquiry has royal commission powers. A report is then made on the inquiry. If the prescribed person considers that there is a reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the convicted person the matter may also be referred to the Court of Criminal Appeal for consideration of whether the conviction should be quashed.

6.47 The *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth) does not have an equivalent to these NSW provisions. The Commission believes that consideration should be given to whether the Commonwealth Crimes Act should have an equivalent provision. It may help to ensure fair and effective mechanisms for review of any unsound convictions for federal offences.

Recommendation 16 — Miscarriages of justice

The NIIC should develop a procedure for dealing with cases where it forms the view that an AFP or NCA officer may have been guilty of obstructing the course of justice. The procedure should include efforts to determine the extent of the suspected corruption and who may have been adversely affected by it. It should also include notifying relevant authorities, for example, the Attorney-General, the DPP and any person that may have been adversely affected by the suspected corruption.

Recommendation 17

Consideration should be given to whether the Commonwealth Crimes Act should have provision for reviewing convictions, for example, similar to the NSW Crimes Act provisions for reviewing unsound convictions.

Power in relation to complainants' remedies

6.48 The DRP proposed that the Chairperson of the NIIC should be empowered by the NIIC legislation to recommend to the Commissioner of the AFP, the Chairperson of the NCA or the Attorney-General that action should be taken in relation to a complaint to rectify, mitigate or alter the effects of any act or omission by the officers of the NCA or the AFP. This would be a similar power to that of the Ombudsman under the *Ombudsman Act 1976* (Cth) s 15(2) & (3). The Ombudman's recommendations may include:

- an apology or explanation
- financial compensation or restitution of property
- a change in decision or course of action

6.49 Where the NIIC makes such a recommendation and the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson, as the case may be, disagrees, the NIIC should be able to make a report to the Attorney-General on the matter. 6.50 As noted in the Ombudsman's submission, there should be no presumption that the complainant will, or should, take action to pursue a remedy independently of the complaints legislation such as a common law action for assault or false imprisonment. However, in exercising this power the NIIC should take into account any other remedy obtained by the complainant and the opportunity and capacity of the complainant to pursue other remedies.

The power to examine policies and procedures and make recommendations

6.51 Under the Complaints Act the Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal may inquire into a matter relating to the AFP that is referred to it by the Attorney-General.²¹³ This power has not been used. The Commission is of the view that the NIIC should have this power as the new peak body for investigating complaints against the AFP and the NCA. The NIIC legislation should also specify that the NIIC may make recommendations to the Commissioner of the AFP, the Chairperson of the NCA and the Attorney-General on principles and practice for these organisations, including recommendations about preventing, detecting, investigating and punishing AFP or NCA misconduct.

6.52 The NIIC would not be bound by the rules of evidence and could inform itself on any matter as it sees fit.

Recommendation 18 — NIIC's powers

The NIIC should have conferred on it the full range of investigative and inquisitorial powers of a royal commission.

Recommendation 19

The NIIC's entry and search powers should accord with current Commonwealth policy as reflected by Part 1AA of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth).

Recommendation 20

The NIIC's power to punish for contempt should be drafted in such a way as to proscribe specific conduct rather than by attributing a general contempt power to the NIIC.

Recommendation 21

The NIIC Act should provide that the NIIC has the power of control and direction of any investigation about the AFP or the NCA in relation to a complaint or corruption.

Recommendation 22

The NIIC should have the power to make recommendations, give opinions and make assessments to the AFP or the NCA on the basis of its investigations or those of agencies which it has managed or directed.

Recommendation 23

The NIIC should have a power to make recommendations to provide a specific remedy for a complainant where it reports that a complaint is substantiated including

- an apology or explanation
- financial compensation or restitution of property
- a change in decision or course of action.

Recommendation 24

The NIIC should be empowered to inquire into a matter relating to the AFP or the NCA that is referred to it by the Attorney-General.

Confidentiality provision

6.53 The Chairperson of the NIIC, its members and staff would be subject to a confidentiality provision. It would be an offence for persons to make unauthorised disclosures of information obtained in the course of

their functions or exercise of powers. In particular, the confidentiality of complainants and NIIC operations must be protected.

Recommendation 25 — Confidentiality provision

The Chairperson of the NIIC, its members and staff should be subject to a confidentiality provision. It would be an offence for them to make unauthorised disclosures of information obtained in the course of their functions or exercise of powers.

Accountability

Accountability to the Government and Parliament

- 6.54 The DRP argued that there is clearly a need for a body with the NIIC's coercive powers and with its anti-corruption and complaints functions to have a clear line of accountability to the federal Government and Parliament. Therefore, in respect of its overall activities, the NIIC should be accountable to the federal Attorney-General who would have portfolio responsibility for NIIC, thus complementing the Attorney's portfolio responsibility for the AFP and NCA. The DRP further suggested that the NIIC should be subject to oversight by the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the NCA regarding its activities in relation to the AFP and the NCA.
- 6.55 The NIIC would also be required to provide Annual Reports to Parliament on its operations and effectiveness. It would also have the power to make a special report to Parliament at any time.
- 6.56 Additional accountability is necessary in relation to complaints against the NCA as they touch upon members of State or Territory personnel who are members of staff of the NCA under the NCA Act. In such cases the NIIC should be required to report regularly to the Australasian Council of Police Ministers. In relation to NCA complaints as they touch generally upon the members of State or Territory public services and police forces the NIIC should also be required to report regularly to the IGC.
- 6.57 The NSW Royal Commission into the Police recommended that there should be an Inspector of the PIC to be a watchdog to audit functions of the PCC, to deal with complaints of abuse of power and other forms of misconduct on the part of its employees and to report to Parliament on matters affecting the PCC and its operational effectiveness or needs.²¹⁴
- 6.58 The DRP did not consider that an Inspector would be necessary in the context of the NIIC. Having an Inspector above the NIIC would be adding an additional layer of review with its attendant costs and delays and where the ultimate source of accountability should be and must be the Government and Parliament. The NIIC should be required to report to those institutions on its effectiveness and on the probity and legitimacy of its conduct. There would also be review available under the *Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977* (Cth) of appropriate NIIC decisions and judicial scrutiny of its coercive powers.
- 6.59 *Submissions*. The Attorney-General's Department held the view that the PJC should not have any oversight of the NIIC particularly as it has already stated that it lacks the time and resources to deal adequately with individual complaints.²¹⁵ The accountability of the NIIC to the Attorney-General who in turn is accountable to Parliament would be sufficient.
- 6.60 The NCA agreed that the PJC could not investigate complaints because it did not have the time or the resources and because it might have some conflict of interest between its statutory role in relation to the NCA and to the NIIC. ²¹⁶ However, the NCA considered that accountability to the Attorney-General would be inadequate and there should be a means by which the performance of the PJC can be examined, for example, by a Parliamentary Committee.
- 6.61 The PJC advised the Commission that it would be most reluctant to have its statutory duties enlarged to encompass a similar role in relation to the NIIC.²¹⁷ In addition, the PJC did not wish to assume any role in relation to the AFP.

6.62 *Commission's views*. The Commission considers that the political accountability to the Attorney-General would provide sufficient oversight of the NIIC. The Attorney-General's Department supported this view. The Commission also proposes that the Chairperson of the NIIC and the Attorney-General's Department establish a protocol for their communications and for contact with the Attorney-General. The Commission would expect that the protocol would include an arrangement for routine briefing and reporting procedures for significant matters. The NIIC legislation should also provide that the Attorney-General may require the Chairperson of the NIIC to provide a report on any activity carried out by the NIIC. This would be in addition to the NIIC's requirement to provide Annual Reports.

Obligation on AFP and NCA officers to report misconduct and evidence of misconduct

6.63 The DRP proposed that every AFP appointee other than the AFP Commissioner and every NCA staff member other than the NCA Chairperson would be obliged to report a 'reportable matter' as soon as practicable to the Commissioner of the AFP or the Chairperson of the NCA respectively and to the NIIC. A 'reportable matter' would mean any information derived from any source (including a complaint, report, audit, intelligence source, informant or record) concerning

- the commission of, or a reasonable suspicion of, the commission of a criminal offence by an AFP appointee or NCA member of staff
- a breach of, or the reasonable suspicion of, the breach of a conduct rule by an AFP appointee or NCA member of staff
- conduct, or the reasonable suspicion of conduct, by an AFP appointee or NCA member of staff that is otherwise contrary to law
- 6.64 A wilful or intentional failure to report such information would constitute a criminal offence. A negligent or careless failure would constitute a breach of discipline.
- 6.65 The Commissioner of the AFP and the Chairperson of the NCA would be under the same obligation but must report the matter only to the NIIC.
- 6.66 The only exceptions to these reporting obligations would be those cases where the person knew that the matter had already been reported or it was a matter to be dealt with under Category C (Customer Service) or D (Internal Management) where there would be other reporting obligations to the designated supervisor. ²¹⁸
- 6.67 *Submissions*. The AFP submitted that 'reportable matter' needs to be defined more clearly, particularly as it is to be the basis upon which criminal or disciplinary action is taken against an appointee. ²¹⁹ It suggested that a criminal offence for appointees who fail to report a non-serious breach of a disciplinary rule may be draconian. The submission suggested that professional reporting needs to become a core feature of the duties of all personnel of the AFP, the failure to do so attracting management rather than criminal sanctions. It argued that criminal sanctions need only be imposed where there has been wilful neglect to report an appointee who has committed, or is suspected to have committed a criminal offence or a serious disciplinary breach. Inattentive or careless disregard for reporting requirements can be adequately dealt with as a management issue. The AFP was of the view that overall the attitude and commitment of AFP appointees to professional reporting is more relevant to suitability for continued employment than simply discipline or criminal sanctions and often may be best dealt with by the Commissioner under the provisions of s26E and s26F of the AFP Act.
- 6.68 The AFP argued that generally there should be no obligation on appointees to report a matter that comes to their attention via court proceedings or the media. Examples include allegations put to a member under cross-examination, otherwise raised in a court of law, or in media reports.
- 6.69 The AFP further submitted that the obligation to report a reportable matter should extend to public servants, State and Territory police, court officials and others working with AFP appointees. The obligation should also apply to, for example, multi-jurisdictional and multi-agency task forces as well as joint investigations.

- 6.70 The Victoria Police supported this recommendation and advised that it has already implemented policy and instructions which require every employee of the Force to report an act or suspected act of criminality, corruption or serious misconduct by any other employee of the Force.²²⁰
- 6.71 *Commission's views*. The Commission has reconsidered this issue and believes that the following changes to its proposals are necessary.
- 6.72 An AFP appointee should face a criminal charge in relation to a wilful or intentional failure to report as soon as practicable, when that appointee is under a duty to do so, the commission of, or a reasonable suspicion of, the commission of a criminal offence by an AFP appointee. There should be a defence that the person had a reasonable belief that there was no obligation upon him or her to report the matter or that he or she had a reasonable belief that he or she had discharged the obligation. A negligent or careless failure should constitute a disciplinary offence with the same excuse of reasonable belief.
- 6.73 The failure to report a breach of a disciplinary rule or a breach of the law other than a criminal law when under a duty to do so should be the subject of a disciplinary proceeding. The defence of reasonable belief should also apply.
- 6.74 The Commission also considers that the obligation to report in relation to criminal offences should be both to the Commissioner and the NIIC. However, in relation to disciplinary matters or other breaches of law the matter should be reported only to the Commissioner unless guidelines developed by the NIIC prescribe that certain disciplinary matters and breaches of the law other than criminal matters should also be reported to it. The Commissioner should also be required by the legislation to keep a register of all reports made under this section and action taken.
- 6.75 Each of these provisions should apply in the case of the NCA.
- 6.76 These provisions take into account the concerns of the AFP about using the criminal law in relation to failing to report disciplinary matters. The Commission's proposal as it was in the DRP could potentially cause significant inconsistency in treatment. A person who deliberately failed to report a disciplinary offence would face criminal sanctions whereas the person who committed the disciplinary offence might not. This would have blurred the proper distinction between disciplinary matters and criminality.
- 6.77 The Commission considers that these changes should remove any difficulties with the application of these proposals to court proceedings and media reports. An appointee would only be under a duty where he or she knew or had reasonable suspicion about the matter and there would be a defence available of reasonable belief. The AFP could also prescribe procedures about how the obligation would apply to all its personnel. For example, the reporting duty for the Queensland Police Service requires the officer to take all action prescribed by the regulations as action to be taken in the circumstances of the case and to be within the authority of an officer of the rank or description to which that officer belongs.²²¹
- 6.78 The question as to whether these reporting obligations should extend to non-AFP appointees to the width suggested by the AFP is beyond the Commission's current terms of reference. A proper consideration of the matter would require considerable consultation with the relevant agencies. In principle the extension might be desirable. However, the Commission does recommend that a similar provision should apply to NIIC staff with a duty to report in relation to their own officers and also in relation to AFP and NCA officers.

Recommendation 26 — Duty to report misconduct

An AFP appointee should face a criminal charge in relation to a wilful or intentional failure to report as soon as practicable, when that appointee was under a duty to do so, the commission of, or a reasonable suspicion of, the commission of a criminal offence by an AFP appointee. There should be a defence that the person had a reasonable belief that there was no obligation upon him or her to report the matter or that he or she had a reasonable belief that he or she had discharged the obligation. A negligent or careless failure should constitute a disciplinary offence with the same excuse of reasonable belief.

The failure to report a breach of a disciplinary rule or a breach of the law other than a criminal law when under a duty to do so should be the subject of a disciplinary proceeding. The excuse of reasonable belief should also apply.

The same provisions should apply to the NCA.

Similar provisions should apply to NIIC officers so that they have a duty to report in relation to their staff and also in relation to AFP and NCA officers.

Complaints against the NIIC

6.79 The DRP suggested that there should be a clear procedure to deal with complaints made against the NIIC or its staff. It was suggested that the NIIC Act should provide that the Chairperson of the NIIC must report to the PJC any complaint of misconduct against the NIIC or its staff and that the Act should provide courses of action for the PJC such as requiring a report from the Chairperson of the NIIC on the matter.

6.80 *Submissions*. The PJC advised the Commission that it did not support its having any role in relation to the NIIC including any consideration of complaints made against it.²²² The Attorney-General's Department and the NCA also were opposed to the PJC having any role in the handling of complaints against the NIIC.²²³

6.81 *Commission's views*. In the light of the strong opposition to the proposal in the DRP the Commission now considers that an alternative is necessary. The NIIC should be required to report to the Attorney-General any complaint of misconduct against it or its officers. The Attorney-General's Department and the NIIC as part of their protocol should establish procedures for the reporting of complaints and action that should be taken in response including monitoring and review.

Recommendation 27 — Accountability

The NIIC should be accountable to the federal Attorney-General who would have portfolio responsibility for NIIC thus complementing the Attorney's portfolio responsibility for the AFP and NCA.

Recommendation 28 — Duty to report a 'reportable matter'

Every AFP appointee other than the AFP Commissioner and every NCA staff member other than the NCA Chairperson would be obliged to report a 'reportable matter' as soon as practicable to the Commissioner of the AFP or the Chairperson of the NCA respectively and to the NIIC.

Recommendation 29 — Complaints against the NIIC

The NIIC Act should provide that the Chairperson of the NIIC must report to the Attorney-General any complaint of misconduct against the NIIC or its staff. The Attorney-General's Department and the NIIC as part of their protocol should establish procedures for the reporting of complaints and action that should be taken in response including monitoring and review.

Intelligence data

DRP's proposals

- 6.82 The DRP proposed that the NIIC should have an intelligence database that would collect, analyse and disseminate information particularly about criminal activities including corruption. The DRP also proposed that
- there must be internal security guidelines to ensure that material is secure
- appropriate liaison and protocols with law enforcement agencies should be established about the exchange of information
- the Federal Privacy Commissioner should be able to conduct audits and review of the collection of data
- the intelligence data should be exempt from the provisions of the *Freedom of Information Act 1982* (Cth).
- 6.83 *Submissions*. The Attorney-General's Department suggested that the NIIC should be subject to the *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth). The Privacy Commissioner would then be able to audit the information handling process of the NIIC and could report to the Attorney-General.
- 6.84 The Department submitted that the NIIC's intelligence data base also raises privacy issues in relation to the disclosure of any personal information to State and Territory law enforcement bodies. The exception in IPP 11.1(e) permits the disclosure of personal information where it is reasonably necessary for the enforcement of the criminal law. Privacy concerns arise in relation to the secondary disclosure of the information by State and Territory law enforcement bodies who are by and large not subject to any privacy regime in relation to personal information. The Department submitted that the NIIC, may in the absence of any privacy legislation operating in relation to a particular State or territory law enforcement agency, rely on protocols with such agencies for the protection of personal information exchanged. Information should not be exchanged unless the obligations as to the protection of personal information are clear.
- 6.85 The AFP considered that the collection of intelligence is paramount to the successful identification of corruption and misconduct.²²⁵ It added that the AFP currently collects information resulting from the investigation of complaints, the auditing of units, the security vetting of personnel and by other means. The AFP argued that irrespective of the role of the external body it is critical that the AFP continue to collect and hold intelligence data of this kind. The AFP also proposed that an exemption from the *Freedom of Information Act 1982* (Cth) should apply to intelligence data held by the AFP on criminal and corruption activities and suspected activities of AFP appointees.
- 6.86 The Victoria Police supported this recommendation and advised that it currently operates complaint and investigation databases and is well on the way to establishing an improved database which is similar to the PRIDE system operated by the New York Police Department. 226
- 6.87 The NCA submitted that it was not clear why the NIIC should have this capacity and questioned whether it might not duplicate work undertaken elsewhere such as the Australian Bureau of Criminal Intelligence (ABCI).²²⁷
- 6.88 *Commission's views*. The majority of submissions that have addressed this issue have recognised that the NIIC must have an effective intelligence database if it is to deal with complaints and corruption. In the Commission's view this is a fundamental requirement. Intelligence gathering is particularly crucial in dealing with corruption. The Commission acknowledges that there are other bodies, including the AFP, the NCA, the ABCI and State and Territory law enforcement agencies that already have criminal intelligence databases. Accordingly the NIIC database should be designed and maintained after consultation with the AFP, the NCA and these other relevant agencies. Duplication of resources and effort should be avoided and appropriate protocols for the exchange of information should also be developed.

6.89 The Commission accepts the suggestion of the Attorney-General's Department that the NIIC should be subject to the Privacy Act as a desirable measure to ensure the proper consideration of privacy issues in the context of law enforcement activities. The Commission also considers that the *Freedom of Information Act* 1982 (Cth) should also apply to the NIIC.

Recommendation 30 — Intelligence database

The NIIC should have an intelligence database that would collect, analyse and disseminate information particularly about criminal activities including corruption.

Recommendation 31

The NIIC database should be designed and maintained after consultation with the AFP, the NCA and other relevant agencies. Duplication of resources and effort should be avoided and appropriate protocols for the exchange of information developed.

Recommendation 32 — Privacy Act and Freedom of Information Act to apply

The NIIC should be subject to the provisions of the *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth). The Privacy Commissioner should audit the information handling process of the NIIC and report to the Attorney-General. The *Freedom of Information Act 1982* (Cth) should also apply.

NIIC research and policy role and related reporting obligations

6.90 A key statutory function of the NIIC would be to keep under continuous review trends relating to relevant aspects of AFP and NCA conduct coming to its notice and in particular trends relating to

- the incidence of particular types of complaint
- timeliness in the handling of complaints by AFP and NCA processes
- disciplinary outcomes.

The legislation should also require the NIIC to consider formulating policy recommendations in regard to action that might be taken by governments, the AFP and the NCA in response to established and emerging trends. This would include identifying systemic issues and problems. The NIIC should also conduct research into probity and ethical issues relevant to the exercise of investigative powers by Commonwealth agencies including the AFP and the NCA.

6.91 The NIIC should also be obliged to report relevant trends, data and policy recommendations (including in confidence where appropriate) to the federal Government and State governments and relevant Commonwealth and State agencies including the AFP, the NCA, Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board and the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the NCA and the NIIC.

6.92 The outcomes of the research and policy work of the NIIC should be required to be published at large except where operational security or privacy laws dictate otherwise.

Recommendation 33 — Research and policy role

The NIIC should keep under continuous review trends relating to relevant aspects of AFP and NCA conduct coming to its notice and in particular trends relating to complaints and corruption. It should also monitor AFP and NCA cultures and undertake research relating to complaints and corruption and make recommendations on those matters.

Recommendation 34

The outcomes of the research and policy work of the NIIC should be published at large except where operational security or privacy laws dictate otherwise.

Possible extensions to the NIIC's work and jurisdiction

National approach to investigations

6.93 It is increasingly common in Australian jurisdictions for one police service to request the assistance of other police services in the conduct of a major investigations concerning serious police misconduct within that service. For example, the AFP has assisted the Western Australian Police in the investigation of WA police internal investigations into the Argylle diamond case. This external input into investigations can be very valuable because it gives greater credibility to the independence of the investigation. Every service in some circumstances might want to consider or use this option. At the moment these arrangements are entered into on an ad hoc, informal basis.

6.94 The DRP considered that this process of interchange should be given a more formal basis. It proposed that a body such as the Australian Police Ministers' Council could develop a national scheme for investigations including accreditation for investigators with appropriate skills and integrity checks and arrangements for the interchange or sharing of information, facilities, equipment and other resources. Leasing agreements as to equipment and facilities might be one option.

6.95 *Submissions*. The Victoria Police submitted that the exchange of a wide range of internal investigations personnel between Australasian jurisdictions should be considered as a means of sharing and developing skills and current practices in this area of policing. This proposal had been given support at the 5th Australasian Internal Investigations Seminar and at the Senior Officers' Group of the Australian Police Ministers' Council.

Recommendation 35 — Developing a national scheme

A body such as the Australian Police Ministers' Council should consider developing a national scheme for investigations including accreditation for investigators with appropriate skills and integrity checks and arrangements for the interchange or sharing of information, facilities, equipment and other resources.

Potential for further federal jurisdiction

6.96 A number of federal agencies other than the NCA and the AFP are involved in aspects of law enforcement and may have some similar investigative and enforcement functions. For example, the Australian Securities Commission has responsibility for investigating offences under the corporations legislation. It conducts investigations, including surveillance and public hearings. Other agencies with investigative powers and a role in dealing with criminal offences include the Australian Customs Service, the Australian Taxation Office, the Department of Social Security, the Health Insurance Commission and the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission. 228

6.97 The Commission's terms of reference extend only to a consideration of systems for the AFP and the NCA. The DRP suggested that consideration should be given to the NIIC having jurisdiction to handle complaints involving some or all of these other agencies when they exercise any law enforcement powers.

This would be on the basis that the same general issues are raised in terms of considering individual civil liberties and the need for practical and effective law enforcement. Each agency would contribute to the NIIC's funding in proportion to its likely involvement with the NIIC's functions. This extended federal role for the NIIC might assist to achieving an appropriate and consistent federal approach to complaints and corruption and do so in the most cost efficient way.

- 6.98 *Submissions*. A number of submissions supported the NIIC becoming a body that reviewed the broad spectrum of federal law enforcement. ²²⁹
- 6.99 The Attorney-General's Department has commented that if the NIIC is established it would be an available instrument for raising investigative standards and anti-corruption measures generally. The possibility of corrupt activity is present in any organisation that enforces the law. The NIIC would therefore constitute a positive move to establishing strong anti-corruption measures in all such agencies. The Department considered that there should be a consolidation period for the NIIC in its oversight of the AFP and the NCA before any extension of its jurisdiction to other federal agencies could be considered.
- 6.100 The AFP fully supported the interchange of investigators and the sharing of information, facilities, equipment and other resources between agencies, including the formation of multi-jurisdictional task forces to deal with corruption and serious complaints. It noted that the AFP has already assisted other jurisdictions to investigate corruption within their organisations.
- 6.101 The NCA rejected any extended jurisdiction for the NIIC but did not give its reasons for this view. The Commission assumes that the NCA gave this opinion on the basis that the issue required separate analysis and inquiry.
- 6.102 *Commission's views*. The suggestion that the role of the NIIC could be extended to other aspects of federal law enforcement has received strong support. The Commission suggests that active consideration should be given to this proposal if the NIIC is established.

Recommendation 36 — Potential for extended jurisdiction

If the NIIC is established, active consideration should be given to the proposal that its role should be extended to other aspects of federal law enforcement.

A uniform Australian law enforcement complaints and disciplinary system

- 6.103 Each Australian jurisdiction faces the same broad issues in dealing with complaints against its law enforcement agencies. It is argued in chapter 13 in the context of preventing the causes of complaints and corruption that a national standard and system for many aspects of law enforcement might be desirable.
- 6.104 The DRP commented that a system that provided one uniform complaints and disciplinary system might well have advantages in providing a cost effective and integrated response to problems that often transcend State and Territory borders. This system would be more feasible if there was in place a national standard for recruitment and training and for core professional competencies as discussed in chapter 13. The introduction of one uniform complaints and disciplinary system would require considerable consultation and agreement between the federal, State and Territory Governments and their law enforcement agencies together with the need for uniform legislation. The Commission in the context of this inquiry has merely highlighted it as an option for the future.
- 6.105 *Submissions*. The Attorney-General's Department has commented that consistent federal State and Territory legislation regarding complaints and disciplinary procedures would be ideal. However, according to the Department there are practical difficulties including the different structures and varying orders and instructions of the AFP and State and Territory police services. There may also be a reluctance from the States and Territories and from within the police services themselves to implement such a proposal. However, broad national standards for police complaints and disciplinary systems could be drafted but the implementation of these standards would probably be a matter for individual jurisdictions.

6.106 The Victoria Police submitted that there were wide divergences in approach in different jurisdictions and therefore the pursuit of consistent legislation rather than uniform legislation might be more practical. This would seek to achieve national standards while leaving room for local differences.

Recommendation 37 — Developing national standards

Consideration should be given to developing national standards for law enforcement complaints and disciplinary standards. This process could be begun through bodies such as the Australian Police Ministers' Council.

Intercept audit function

6.107 Subject to certain specified controls, the *Telecommunications (Interception) Act 1979* (Cth) empowers the AFP and the NCA to intercept telephone communications. The Ombudsman has an audit function under the Act. ²³⁰ The AFP and NCA must maintain records to verify their compliance with the Act. The Ombudsman's office must inspect AFP and NCA records at least twice a year to ascertain compliance with the record keeping requirements as well as the accuracy and completeness of the records. The Ombudsman must report her findings to the Attorney-General as well as any other breaches of the Act which become apparent.

6.108 The Ombudsman has reported that, as a result of budgetary restraints and funding cuts to her Office, she has inadequate resources to maintain a high level of scrutiny in her intercept audit function.²³¹ The Ombudsman suggests that with existing resources it is unlikely that she will detect contraventions of the Act and there will be no capacity for investigating suspected contraventions.²³² She argues that this will cause greater risk of misuse of intercepted material and have significant implications for the privacy objectives of the Act.

Commission's views

- 6.109 It might be argued that this issue is not within the terms of reference of this inquiry because the legislation concerned is not directly connected with complaints or disciplinary matters involving the AFP or NCA. However, as suggested in chapter 2 in relation to considering corruption generally within this inquiry, the issue of telephone interceptions is a matter directly concerned with AFP and NCA accountability and integrity.
- 6.110 The Ombudsman's current role in telephone intercept audits is the subject of some concern. It has been argued that the efforts of the Ombudsman's office have achieved very little by way of scrutiny and accountability.²³³ Given the enormous cost incurred by law enforcement agencies in connection with the execution of telephone interceptions,²³⁴ the clear civil liberties implications and issues of police accountability there is an obvious need for effective and vigilant scrutiny of police operations in this area.
- 6.111 The Commission is of the view that consideration should be given to extending the NIIC's role to include the telephone intercept audit function currently within the Ombudsman's jurisdiction. The NIIC's complaints and corruption investigative role and its auditing and intelligence capacities would place it in an effective position to carry out the intercept audit function. If the NIIC were to take over this role, the Ombudsman's expenditure in conducting this function should be off-set as a contribution to the NIIC providing the service.
- 6.112 A question which would arise if the NIIC assumed the role is how would any telephone interception conducted by the NIIC be audited? The Commission considers that this matter should be dealt with under the protocol established for communications and contact between the NIIC and the Attorney-General as discussed in paragraph 6.62. In addition to the provision of Annual Reports, the NIIC should also disclose information to the Attorney-General about telephone intercepts.

Recommendation 38 — Intercept audit function

Consideration should be given to the NIIC auditing telephone intercepts conducted by the AFP and the NCA.

7. The NIIC's investigative procedures and relationship with the AFP and NCA

Introduction

7.1 This chapter discusses the NIIC's investigative procedures including categories for complaints and guidelines for investigations. It also examines the investigative relationship between the NIIC and the AFP and NCA respectively including the role of the AFP's Internal Investigations Division (IID).

The general relationship

- 7.2 The relationship between the NIIC and the AFP and the NCA needs to be at arms length but there must also be a spirit of co-operation and an effective working relationship. The nature of the relationship generally cannot be entirely prescribed by legislation but it is clearly of the greatest importance.
- 7.3 The NIIC must be independent and be seen to be independent. That is a fundamental requirement. The right balance between independence and co-operation must be constantly sought generally and in relation to individual matters. The NIIC management must by its recruiting policies and its operating guidelines and principles recognise the risks of the NIIC becoming the captive of the law enforcement agencies or being 'too comfortable or too intimate' with those agencies.
- 7.4 It would not be a static relationship. Efforts must be made to avoid a paper war between the external body and the law enforcement agency.²³⁵ Minor details can often be best dealt with by telephone or direct contact
- 7.5 In practice the Commission would expect that the AFP Commissioner, the NCA Chairperson and the NIIC Chairperson would have strong lines of communication and regular meetings. There would be a free flow of information subject to the very rare occurrence where there was a concern about the integrity of one of the executives of an agency.

Categories of complaints

- 7.6 The DRP proposed a system for classifying complaints. Classifying complaints is an essential element in developing appropriate responses to the full range of complaints. The DRP stressed that classifications should not be used to try to provide rigid definitions; nor in practice could they be. Their main purpose is to provide effective streaming of matters so that resources, particularly investigative resources, are allocated efficiently and, for example, target serious matters for greater attention.
- 7.7 The detailed characteristics or criteria for determining which is the appropriate category for a particular complaint would not be included in the legislation. The legislation would, however, provide for the NIIC to issue guidelines concerning categories for complaints. The NIIC would have the power to determine the appropriate category for any particular complaint. The AFP and the NCA would each be under a statutory obligation to give full access to the NIIC to all records relevant to the complaint and the NIIC would have power to interview all personnel involved. The NIIC would also have power to reclassify the complaint to another category or redirect the manner of handling.
- 7.8 The NIIC would consult with the AFP and the NCA about the content of the guidelines. The DRP proposed that there should be four main categories:
- Category A serious criminality, corruption or significant public interest
- Category B serious misconduct
- Category C customer service matters
- Category D internal management matters.

7.9 The recommendations below concerning the investigation of complaints against the NCA's seconded staff or joint task force staff might require complementary State and Territory legislation to render State and Territory personnel subject to the proposed complaints regime. Such legislation might be necessary to enable the NIIC to fully investigate complaints as they concern State or Territory personnel. The issue of whether complementary legislation would be necessary should be further considered in consultation with relevant agencies including State and Territory police services.

Category A — Serious criminality, corruption or significant public interest

7.10 This would include matters

- involving serious criminality such as those matters that would constitute an indictable offence, for example, murder, the infliction of grievous bodily harm or serious injury (eg involving fractured or broken bones or otherwise requiring hospitalisation), serious fraud or theft, blackmail, bribery, dangerous conduct with a firearm, perjury and falsifying evidence
- where the public interest may require an investigation completely external to the subject agency or with only limited input from the subject agency.

Category B — Serious misconduct

7.11 These are matters where a less serious criminal action or significant disciplinary action might be warranted -- for example, assault, minor theft, significant dereliction of duty, misdirected search and seizure, or activities outside the terms of a warrant.

Category C — Customer Service complaints (minor)

7.12 This category constitutes the majority of complaints and includes minor breaches of police rules and procedures, rudeness, incivility, a perception of threat or menace, and misunderstandings as to facts and law.

Category D — Internal management matters (minor)

7.13 These are matters where there is no allegation or implication of misconduct but managerial action is called for.²³⁶ This would include minor incidents of loss or damage to police property and absence from duty. Under the Commission's recommendations for an increasing managerial role, these matters should be dealt with by management including performance appraisal, rather than the misconduct process. Few matters of this nature should come to the direct attention of the NIIC. However if they do the NIIC should be able to refer them back to management for appropriate action and be able to review any decision taken.

Dealing with the categories

- 7.14 For Category A matters the NIIC would be the investigator. Any AFP or NCA input would be at the request of the NIIC and subject to its close and direct control.
- 7.15 For Category B matters, while the NIIC would still have the capacity for overall control and direction, the input of the AFP and NCA would be likely to be greater than for Category A matters and the NIIC would also be likely to have less direct management of investigations.
- 7.16 The AFP and NCA would ordinarily have primary and direct responsibility for handling Category C and D matters but subject to NIIC guidelines and auditing.
- 7.17 The Commission would stress that the NIIC would have the overall power of direction and control for any complaint. It could choose to investigate a matter in any category or determine that a matter should be moved from one category to another.
- 7.18 The following sections explains how the Commission considers that the system of classifications should work in practice.

Dealing with Category A complaints (serious criminality, corruption or significant public interest)

7.19 Where a complaint is received directly by the AFP or NCA and it appears to be a Category A complaint, the AFP or NCA should take no action in relation to the complaint (subject to preserving evidence) until the complaint had been registered with the NIIC and the NIIC has given directions as to its handling. Where delay in handling a Category A complaint until registration and consideration by the NIIC might prejudice the outcome of the complaint, the AFP or NCA should be able to seek oral confirmation and directions from the NIIC regarding immediate interim action.

Category A Complaints concerning the AFP

- 7.20 Where a complaint appears to the NIIC to be a Category A complaint the NIIC will usually investigate the matter itself. The seriousness of complaints in this category or the significant public interest that they raise would usually mean that the NIIC would have direct control and conduct of any investigation. The NIIC would determine any input from the AFP. For example, it is likely that the NIIC would conduct the entire investigation itself with no personnel from the AFP involved if the complaint concerned the Commissioner of the AFP or a Deputy Commissioner.
- 7.21 The NIIC would be able to request specified assistance from the AFP including personnel and the use of facilities and equipment.
- 7.22 The Chairperson of the NIIC could exercise the inquisitorial powers of NIIC alone or with one or more Commissioners. Alternatively the NIIC might appoint a special investigator, who would be a suitably qualified legal practitioner or a current or former judge, to exercise these inquisitorial powers on its behalf with or without the assistance of one or more NIIC Commissioners.
- 7.23 Where the NIIC conducts an inquiry it should consult appropriately with the DPP to ensure that it is properly resourced and advised regarding the preparation of a brief of evidence for any prosecution that may follow.
- 7.24 The NIIC would publish general guidelines for the handling of Category A investigations by special investigators. The guidelines would deal particularly with the matter of regular reporting to the NIIC of progress on investigations. In addition to the guidelines, the NIIC should, in consultation with the special investigator, establish a timetable for the conduct of a particular investigation and require timely reasons in writing where adherence cannot be achieved.
- 7.25 The NIIC would also publish, in relation to AFP involvement in a NIIC investigation, guidelines that deal with the conduct of investigations, including the chain of command and supervision.
- 7.26 Upon the completion of an investigation the NIIC would
- direct that the report and any relevant brief of evidence be transmitted to the DPP with any recommendations that the NIIC may wish to make, or
- direct that the report or any part of it be referred to the AFP Commissioner for consideration of any recommendations for disciplinary or other action as the NIIC considers appropriate, or
- direct that no further action be taken.
- 7.27 Where the NIIC determined that a complaint that initially appeared to be a Category A matter should in fact be more appropriately classified differently it would be able to amend the classification accordingly.
- 7.28 Where a Category A matter appears to be connected to matters involving non-AFP appointees the NIIC would be empowered to enter into suitable arrangements with any federal, State or Territory agencies or any investigative body for co-operation or assistance. This might include the formation of task forces or joint investigations.

Category A complaints against the NCA

7.29 The NIIC would usually investigate a Category A matter directly itself with its full range of coercive powers available. The NIIC would determine any input from the NCA. The NIIC would have the same powers and options as described above in relation to Category A matters for the AFP. However, in the case of the NCA it is more likely that complaints will involve personnel from different federal, State and Territory agencies.

7.30 Where AFP appointees are concerned the NIIC would be able to deal directly with the matter itself without the need for further consultation. However, where it appeared to the NIIC that a complaint against the NCA or a staff member was a Category A complaint that went *beyond the conduct of AFP* seconded personnel, the NIIC would consult with any State or Territory agency whose staff were involved as to the appropriate course of action including the matter's investigation. Preferably the NIIC and all relevant State and Territory agencies should develop memoranda of understanding on the process of investigation of complaints involving the NCA and seconded staff, consultants or joint task force members. One option that should be available and specified in the legislation is the establishment by the NIIC of an Investigatory Board to assist it in investigating the complaint or aspects of the complaint.

7.31 The legislation should not prescribe narrowly the composition of any Board. It would be preferably a matter for the NIIC and the relevant agencies to determine in the particular circumstances. In practice, however, a Board would be likely to consist of

- the Chairperson or a member of the NIIC, or a Special Investigator appointed by the NIIC, as chair of the Board
- such expert investigators as the NIIC determines these could, in appropriate cases, be AFP investigators
- where the complaint relates to the conduct of a public servant or a police officer seconded from a State or Territory public service or police force, a person selected by the NIIC from a standing panel of experts proposed by the State or Territory Minister responsible for that public service or police force and agreed to by the NIIC, being a panel of persons qualified to advise on the preparation of any brief of evidence of the commission of any offence against the laws of that jurisdiction or the disciplinary regime applying to public servants or police officers of that jurisdiction
- where the complaint relates to a staff member of the Australian Public Service, a person selected by the NIIC from a panel of experts proposed by the Public Service and Merit Protection Commission and agreed by the NIIC, being a panel of experts in the APS disciplinary regime
- where the complaint relates to a staff member who is a trade or professional consultant (not being a member of a Commonwealth, State or Territory public service or police force), a person selected by the NIIC from a panel of experts proposed by the professional or trade body having professional disciplinary responsibility for that person's conduct and agreed by the NIIC, being a panel of persons expert in the relevant disciplinary regime relating to that trade or profession
- such other experts as the Commission considers necessary to ensure that the panel has expertise in relation to the preparation of any brief of evidence that might arise as a result of its investigations.
- 7.32 An Investigatory Board should, through the Chairperson, exercise all the investigating powers of the NIIC necessary to facilitate its investigation.
- 7.33 An Investigatory Board should report the outcome of its investigation to the NIIC together with any brief of evidence it has completed relating to possible breaches of Commonwealth or State law or disciplinary regimes applicable to affected members of the staff of the NCA.
- 7.34 The NIIC would, after considering the report of the Board

- refer any brief of evidence to the appropriate DPP, recommend that the AFP or the NCA take disciplinary action under their own disciplinary systems as proposed in chapter 10 or send the matter to the Commonwealth, State or Territory home agency or disciplinary authority, or
- direct that further investigations be carried out, or
- determine that no action should be taken.

Dealing with Category B complaints (serious misconduct)

7.35 As with Category A complaints, where a complaint received directly by the AFP or NCA appears under the guidelines to be a Category B complaint, the AFP or NCA would take no action in relation to the complaint until the complaint had been registered with the NIIC and the NIIC had given directions as to its handling. This would be subject to any requirements on the AFP and the NCA to preserve evidence. Where a delay in handling a Category B complaint until registration and consideration by NIIC might prejudice the outcome of the complaint, the AFP or NCA would be required to seek oral confirmation and directions from the NIIC regarding immediate interim action.

Category B complaints involving the AFP

7.36 The NIIC would have the following main options for these complaints

- require the AFP Commissioner to conduct an internal investigation with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC
- conduct the investigation but with involvement from the AFP and, where appropriate, members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considers that the nature of the complaint is such that it ought to conduct the entire investigation by itself this would be the only option available if the complaint concerned the Commissioner of the AFP or a Deputy Commissioner
- refer a complaint that concerns the AFP generally to the Commissioner of the AFP for consideration and response.
- 7.37 The majority of Category B complaints are likely to be dealt with by the AFP conducting an internal investigation, but under the management or supervision of the NIIC. The IID would still have its current statutory role and powers. The Commission proposes that the investigation function of the AFP's Internal Security and Audit (ISA) should be consolidated into the IID.²³⁷
- 7.38 If at any stage during the course of a NIIC investigation the NIIC believed that a criminal offence may have been committed it would immediately begin to prepare a brief of evidence seeking, where appropriate, the advice of the Commonwealth DPP, particularly in relation to evidentiary requirements.
- 7.39 The report of the IID, or of the NIIC's own staff, into a complaint would be considered by the full Commission of the NIIC which could direct that
- the report and any accompanying brief be sent to the DPP for consideration and appropriate action
- the report be sent to the AFP Commissioner for consideration and appropriate action
- the matter not be proceeded with.

7.40 The NIIC would regularly review progress in an investigation of a Category B matter up to submission of the report to it and would be able to, where it considers it appropriate, reclassify the complaint as a Category A or Category C complaint and give an appropriate direction as to its future handling.

7.41 The NIIC guidelines would specify time limits for the completion of various phases of the investigation by IID and its own staff. Both the AFP investigators and the investigative staff of the NIIC would be required to provide timely written reports explaining why time limits have not been adhered to.

Category B complaints against the NCA

7.42 The NIIC would have the following main options

- refer a complaint about the actions of a staff member to the Chairperson of the NCA for investigation and report with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC
- conduct the investigation but with involvement from the NCA and, where appropriate, members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considers that the nature of the complaint is such that it ought not be investigated internally by the NCA in the first instance this would the only option available if the complaint concerned the Chairperson of the NCA or a member
- refer a complaint that concerns the NCA generally to the Chairperson of the NCA for consideration and response.

7.43 If at any stage the Chairperson of the NCA formed the view, in relation to a matter referred to the Chairperson for investigation and report, that a criminal offence may have been committed the matter should be remitted to NIIC. If the NIIC agreed with that view it would take over the investigation of the matter itself where it considered that the nature of the complaint was such that it ought not be considered or investigated internally by the NCA in the first instance. If at any stage the NIIC believed that a criminal offence might have been committed it should then follow the same course as for Category A complaints against the NCA as described above.

7.44 Where a complaint concerns a seconded officer, particularly a State or Territory police officer, or a member of a task force, it would be open to the NIIC to invite the officer's home agency to play some role in the investigation of the complaint. The NCA and the relevant home agencies could enter into memoranda of understanding about this procedure. If the complaint concerned a legal practitioner or a consultant who was a member of a professional body with responsibility for discipline and ethics then the NIIC could invite involvement from that body in the investigation of the complaint.

Dealing with Category C complaints (minor)

7.45 These matters should be suitable for informal resolution by conciliation or mediation. Table A lists the guidelines of the AFP pilot workplace resolution scheme in the ACT and is a starting point for considering the content of the guidelines. The ACT pilot workplace resolution guidelines provide that workplace resolution should be used for:

- complaints relating to acts of incivility such as demeanour, discourtesy, rudeness or abruptness
- complaints relating to misunderstandings of facts or of law that may be resolved by explanation
- complaints based on a misunderstanding of police practices or procedures that may be resolved by explanation

- a complaint made by a person who has an apparent mental dysfunction or is otherwise disturbed or obsessive and, the complaint has either been made before or appears, by its nature, to be without substance and consistent with the complainant's apparent state of mind
- a complaint alleging a less than serious neglect of duty, including loss or misuse of property or equipment, failure to respond promptly or to provide adequate service, and other like matters
- less than serious traffic complaints
- with the approval of the IID, complaints concerning the use of minor force associated with an arrest or other lawful police conduct that may include mere jostling, pushing and shoving in the execution of duty without any intended features such as intimidation or attempts to obtain a confession but excludes intentional assaults.²³⁸
- 7.46 A major goal of these Category C guidelines would be to ensure that minor complaints are immediately acted upon by supervisors and put on a fast track to a conciliated outcome.
- 7.47 Minor complaints would not await registration with the NIIC or confirmation by NIIC of a classification as a Category C complaint before informal resolution is commenced.
- 7.48 The NIIC would promptly receive a record of all Category C complaints including a description of the nature of the complaint and the results of the informal resolution. It would also have power to review the process and outcome but would not as a matter of course conduct any of its own enquiries or investigations into individual complaints in this Category except for routinely contacting complainants to see if they were satisfied with the outcomes. The NIIC would conduct random audits to test the effectiveness and probity of the system.

Submissions

- 7.49 *The role of the AFP and NCA in Category B matters*. The Attorney-General's Department submitted that in the current climate of managerial responsibility it is appropriate that all but the most serious complaints should be dealt with by the AFP and the NCA, overseen of course by an independent external body.²³⁹
- 7.50 The AFP expressed a similar view to the Attorney-General's Department about the nature of its involvement in Category B matters. It did not question the introduction of categories. ²⁴⁰
- 7.51 The AFP was concerned, however, that its appointees investigating complaints referred to it by the NIIC would be directly responsible to an external agency effectively taking them out of the control of the AFP Commissioner. It argued that, in the case of investigations referred to the AFP, the Commissioner must have the management and supervision of AFP personnel and responsibility for the conduct of the investigation.
- 7.52 In a subsequent consultation with the Commission, the AFP Commissioner indicated that the AFP would agree with the external body having control and direction of those investigations concerning serious misconduct or corruption but, for the less serious range of matters, the AFP maintained its preference to retain responsibility and control of its officers in the conduct of any investigation. The AFP argued that this is vital to its managerial responsibility. It submitted that any concerns relating to the thoroughness or integrity of the work could be best addressed by the independent body having contemporaneous oversight and periodic review of investigations. If there were serious concerns that could not be resolved between the Commissioner of Police and the head of the external body the matter should be referred to the Minister.

Commission's views

7.53 The Commission acknowledges the concerns expressed by the AFP. While there is a need to achieve the appropriate balance between internal and external input, the key to the Commission's approach is that it would be for the NIIC, in consultation wherever appropriate with the AFP or the NCA, to determine the nature of the investigation. It would make that judgement using guidelines that it develops about the necessary level of internal and external input and after considering the circumstances of the particular case.

The Commission believes that it is fundamental to ensuring public confidence in the impartiality of the system that the external agency be given that power of selection. That fundamental need is expanded upon in chapter 9 as is the continuing and ongoing history of difficulties with relying on internal investigations where the external agency has a subordinate role.

7.54 For the most serious complaints and those matters involving serious corruption there appears to be agreement that the external agency should have control and management and full powers of direction. The NIIC would undertake these investigations and any AFP or NCA personnel involved in these matters would be subject to the control and direction of the NIIC for the purposes of that investigation. They would be seconded to the NIIC for the period of their involvement and they would be subject to the NIIC's secrecy provisions. That is, they could not advise the AFP or the NCA about that investigation unless authorised to do so.

7.55 The Commission proposes that, in relation to Category B matters, (as indeed for all matters), the NIIC would have the power and the role to determine the appropriate course of action and the level of external and internal input. For some Category B matters the NIIC might wish to exercise very close management, including, for example, actively managing the investigation including directing AFP and NCA personnel. The NIIC might wish to exercise this control and direction because of the special vulnerability of the complainant or because there is some public concern about the behaviour of the agency in question. In some cases the NIIC might determine that a case raising these issues was so significant that it should be dealt with as a Category A matter on the basis that it raised matters of significant public interest.

7.56 In still other cases the NIIC might refer the matter to the AFP or the NCA for investigation with the only qualification that the AFP or NCA should follow general guidelines and standards. The Commission expects that the majority of Category B matters would be dealt with in that manner. In those cases, while the NIIC could, if necessary, intervene to change the course of the investigation or to issue directives, usually the matter would be under the immediate supervision and control of the AFP or the NCA. The NIIC's role in these cases would essentially be one of quality control and checking at the end of the AFP or NCA investigation. Under the Commission's scheme the NIIC would have the flexibility to determine precisely what was the most appropriate investigation for each particular matter.

7.57 The scheme that the Commission is recommending is the best approach to achieve the objectives of a law enforcement complaints system. It takes into account national and international trends. The Commission believes that it will also work in practice.

7.58 In relation to the proposal that the NIIC have the capacity to control or direct all Category B matters, the Commission notes that the CJC has similar powers of control and direction over the Queensland Police complaints system. The Commission has sought comment from the CJC on its relationship with the Queensland Police Service. The CJC conceded that there has been some reduction in total police managerial responsibility by reason of the CJC having a power of control and direction in relation to complaints and corruption. That is necessary, in the CJC's view, for the effective and impartial working of the system and to ensure public confidence. However, the relationship between the CJC and the police in relation to complaints and corruption investigations had worked well. The CJC has rarely had to give formal directions to the police because the police usually see the benefit of what the CJC is suggesting and because the police know that the CJC does have the ultimate power of direction.

7.59 The CJC provided examples demonstrating that the police did not have control over the prosecution of criminal matters. The DPP usually had carriage of those matters and exercised significant control over the conduct of the prosecution including requesting the police to conduct further investigations or to obtain evidence. The police had accepted that in this area they could not exercise total control and that there had to be an effective relationship with the DPP.

7.60 The CJC also suggested that its policy of seconding police officers worked well. The CJC found that officers felt freed from the cultural pressures of the police service and quickly adapted to a new culture of being dedicated to identifying misconduct and corruption and assisting to remove it from the police service. Secondment with the CJC also provided appropriate rewards for officers who worked well by assisting them in their careers.

7.61 The CJC suggested that in many ways the police were relieved that the CJC was conducting many of the serious investigations into corruption and potential misconduct, for example, a shooting by police. Many of these cases would be extremely stressful for police officers to do themselves because they would be dealing with their own and in some cases with officers whom they knew personally.

7.62 This view of an effective working relationship between the CJC and the Queensland Police has been endorsed by the Bingham inquiry, the Queensland Police Service and the Queensland Police Union of Employees. The Union has advised the Commission that Queensland has the leading complaint and discipline process in Australia which is reasonably well accepted by the Police Service, its members and the public. The President of the Queensland Police Union in 1993 is on record as saying that

[W]hile the Criminal Justice Commission exists it enables us [the union] to say to people who want to make allegations against police, to score points — if you have the evidence, the facility is there to have it investigated, that facility is the CJC.

The union has quite deliberately supported the CJC, quite actively supported it. I have said on a number of occasions that any attempt to dismantle the CJC will be actively and energetically resisted by this union. 241 7

Other submissions on the categories of complaints and investigation procedures

7.63 The NCA had no objections in principle to the Commission's proposed classifications, although it submitted that Categories A and B should be confined to serious criminal matters in relation to which a minimum term of imprisonment for a period of at least three years could be imposed.²⁴² It submitted that the inquisitorial powers of the NIIC should be confined to those categories and not available for the investigation of less serious matters.

7.64 The Victoria Police agreed with the classifications and advised that they generally approximate the current situation and future direction in Victoria. ²⁴³

7.65 The Ombudsman believed that there was a gap between Categories B and C.²⁴⁴ According to the Ombudsman neither Category includes misconduct which is less than serious misconduct but more than a customer complaint. Examples suggested by the Ombudsman are accessing of information for personal reasons (not involving corruption or the disclosure of the information) and irregularities in preparing or adjudicating upon a search warrant. This type of conduct may result in an official caution or other disciplinary action but it is not at the serious end of the scale. Nor is it generally a customer service matter or necessarily suitable for a managerial response. The Ombudsman suggested that the gap could be filled by deleting 'serious' from the description of category B.

7.66 The Tasmania Police were concerned with the use of categories.²⁴⁵ If a matter is 'pigeonholed' into a category and treated as such, the serious criminality or corruption may not be detected or the perpetrators may be forewarned by the investigative style. The Tasmania Police also argued that categorisation leads to subjective interpretation of the meaning of words such as serious and minor. The Tasmania Police gave the example of a technical assault which would normally be regarded as a minor complaint but in a particular case caused a serious injury. Which Category should be used?

7.67 The Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner for Investigations queried the Commission's proposal for the handling of Category C minor complaints on the basis that he considered that it would allow no opportunity for further investigation by the independent agency if the complainant was unhappy with the outcome of the police informal resolution.²⁴⁶

Commission's views

7.68 The Commission does not support the suggestion by the NCA of confining Categories A and B to serious criminal matters of a minimum term of three years. This would misconstrue the purpose of the guidelines. They are not intended to be rigid demarcations, for example, that a matter must exhibit some particular defined characteristics before it can be allocated to a particular category. The guidelines would operate initially as a primary streaming process so that matters received appropriate attention from the outset but there would need to be a capacity for movement after some inquiry into the matter. In any event the Commission would not agree with the NCA's view that Categories A and B should be confined as suggested.

For example, serious disciplinary matters would usually fall within Category B. The Commission would suggest, as a very broad indication, that offences under the *Commonwealth Crimes Act 1914* (Cth) would almost always be regarded as Category A matters.

7.69 The Commission does not consider it appropriate to limit legislatively the NIIC's coercive powers to particular categories because it may be possible that some exercise of these powers is necessary to establish the truth of a matter. It is possible that the use of a coercive power in relation to less serious complaints may also bring forward information of systemic corruption or serious misconduct from what is an apparently minor complaint or a series of minor complaints. In such cases the capacity to use coercive powers may be very useful. Nevertheless the Commission agrees with the NCA that the NIIC should develop guidelines about the use of its coercive powers including how they are ordinarily used for different categories of complaints and should monitor and report on the nature of their use and the frequency. One would expect that it would only be in very exceptional circumstances that the full range of coercive powers would be used for anything but serious complaints.

7.70 The Commission used the term serious misconduct for Category B to emphasise that many matters should be able to be dealt with under informal resolution or by managerial action. The Commission accepts that this middle range of complaints might be better described as 'misconduct' rather than 'serious misconduct'.

7.71 The Tasmania Police's concerns are based on a misconception about the nature and purpose of the classifications. As noted above, they are not intended to be rigid to the extent that no movement is possible. Minor complaints would not be ignored or 'pigeonholed'. The information from those complaints that are dealt with informally would be sent to the NIIC and analysed and correlated. This would in fact be one of the great strengths of having one agency handling complaints and corruption. It would readily allow information from all complaints to be centralised and used to look for information about corruption or risks of corruption.

7.72 The Tasmania Police mention as an example of problems that categorisation can cause technical assault causing serious harm. While the Commission regards this as a highly unlikely occurrence the Commission believes that the result would be fairly clear. The matter, would under the Commission's proposals, be regarded as one not to be resolved informally because of the serious consequences that flowed to the complainant. The first question that would be asked is how could a technical assault cause such serious injury? That would seem to require some degree of investigation. If the law enforcement officers involved, including probably by necessity the supervising officer making decisions about the streaming of the complaint, tried to manipulate the categorisation to avoid any external investigation into the matter, which in itself would be an unlikely event, the nature and circumstances of the complaint would be sent to the NIIC for audit and the response of the complainant to the process would be ascertained. An attempt to manipulate the system in this way, for example, by not describing the true nature of the complainant's injuries would be a difficult and potentially a very serious matter for those involved.

7.73 In the DRP the Commission commented that the NIIC would rarely conduct any of its own inquiries or investigations into Category C complaints. This was not intended to mean that a complainant could not request that an investigation be undertaken. The NIIC would contact each complainant as a matter of routine to determine whether the complainant was satisfied with the informal resolution. In addition if a complainant did not want the complainant to be dealt with informally he or she would not be compelled to participate and this decision by the complainant would be required to be conveyed to the NIIC.

7.74 However, the Commission considers that with an effective informal resolution system, many complainants will be satisfied and will not seek a full investigation. In those cases where they do, it will be a matter for assessment by the NIIC as to the level of any inquiry, if any, that should be carried out. This approach is in accord with the current approach to informal resolution.

Recommendation 39 — Categories and guidelines

The NIIC should issue guidelines about investigative procedures for different categories of complaints. The Commission considers that the main categories should be

- Category A serious criminality, corruption and significant public interest
- Category B misconduct
- Category C customer service matters
- Category D internal management matters.

Recommendation 40 — **Investigative procedures**

The NIIC should have different investigative procedures depending on the category of the matter.

(i) Category A for the AFP

For Category A complaints involving the AFP the NIIC should investigate the matter itself with the power to request that the AFP provide personnel and/or facilities and equipment.

(ii) Category A for the NCA

For Category A complaints involving the NCA the NIIC should investigate the matter itself with the power to request that the NCA provide personnel and/or facilities and equipment. Where it appears to the NIIC that a complaint against the NCA or a staff member is a Category A complaint that goes *beyond the conduct of AFP* seconded personnel, the NIIC would consult with any State or Territory agency whose staff were involved as to the appropriate course of action including the matter's investigation.

Preferably the NIIC and all relevant State and Territory agencies should develop memoranda of understanding on the process of investigation of complaints involving the NCA and seconded staff, consultants or joint task force members.

One option that should be available and specified in the legislation would be the establishment by the NIIC of an Investigatory Board to assist it in investigating the complaint or aspects of the complaint. The legislation should not prescribe the composition of any Board. This would be a matter for the NIIC and the relevant agencies to determine in the particular circumstances.

(iii) Category B for the AFP

For Category B complaints involving the AFP the NIIC would

- require the AFP Commissioner to conduct an internal investigation with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC, or
- establish a joint investigation with the AFP and, where appropriate, including members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its coercive powers, or
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considered that the nature of the complaint was such that it ought to conduct the entire investigation by itself this would be the only option available if the complaint concerned the Commissioner of the AFP or a Deputy Commissioner, or
- refer a complaint that concerns the AFP generally to the Commissioner of the AFP for consideration and response.

(iv) Category B for the NCA

For Category B complaints involving the NCA the NIIC would

- refer a complaint about the actions of a staff member to the Chairperson of the NCA for investigation and report with no use of the NIIC's coercive powers but subject to the management or supervision of the NIIC, or
- conduct the investigation but with involvement from the NCA and, where appropriate, members of other Commonwealth or State agencies, particularly law enforcement agencies these investigations would be subject to the appropriate level of either management or oversight by the NIIC and where necessary the NIIC could use its

- coercive powers, or
- investigate the matter directly itself (with its full range of coercive powers available) where it considers that the nature of the complaint is such that it ought not be investigated internally by the NCA in the first instance this would the only option available if the complaint concerned the Chairperson of the NCA or a member, or
- refer a complaint that concerns the NCA generally to the Chairperson of the NCA for consideration and response

(v) Categories C and D

Category C complaints (customer service) would be dealt with by informal resolution provided by the AFP or the NCA. The NIIC would be advised of all such complaints and their resolution and have powers of review and audit.

Category D complaints (internal management matters) would, if they came to the attention of the NIIC, be referred back to management for appropriate action. The NIIC would be able to review any decision taken by management.

Resolving any major conflicts

- 7.75 The AFP also expressed concern about possible conflicts between the AFP and the external body about competing demands and priorities. For example, there might be a dispute about the relative importance between an internal investigation and a wider serious criminal investigation. The AFP wanted provision to be made for dealing with potential conflicts.
- 7.76 The AFP has argued that there needs to be provision in developing the role of the external body to reduce the risk of major AFP operations being compromised or interfered with inadvertently by the external body. This could arise where, for example, the agencies were unaware of each other's involvement or where an AFP appointee was suspected of corrupt activities with operational targets. The AFP asserted that it would be essential to have clear lines of authority and accountability between the Commissioner and the external agency.
- 7.77 The Commission acknowledges these concerns of the AFP. It has consulted with the CJC on its experience in relation to this issue of potential conflict between the police and the external agency.
- 7.78 The advice of the CJC suggests that in practice conflicts between the CJC and the police are rare in relation to complaints and corruption investigations. There had been no conflicts arising about CJC investigations into corruption or misconduct interfering with police operations. This was because the CJC took into account the police's normal operations. For example, if the CJC had a suspicion that an officer involved in a particular police operation was corrupt it would not blow the whistle and stop the operation. It would let it run, if necessary, with covert surveillance of the officer, and see what happened because that was one way of establishing whether the officer was corrupt.
- 7.79 While the Commission is of the view that the scope for significant conflict of this kind between the AFP, the NCA and the NIIC would be very limited, the Commission considers that it would be prudent to establish a procedure for ensuring that any conflicts can be monitored and to enable the Attorney-General to review such conflict and take any action that might be warranted. The Commission considers that this procedure would only be invoked in very exceptional cases.
- 7.80 The NIIC legislation should provide that the Commissioner of the AFP or the Chairperson of the NCA may serve on the Chairperson of the NIIC a certificate to the effect that the Commissioner or Chairperson (as the case may be) is satisfied that a course of action contemplated or being undertaken by the NIIC would seriously prejudice, or is prejudicing, an operation of the AFP or NCA and that appropriate consultation with the NIIC has not resolved this concern.
- 7.81 The legislation should provide that where the Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson issues such a certificate, the Chairperson of the NIIC shall not undertake or continue the relevant action unless satisfied that the need for action outweighs the concerns of the AFP Commissioner or NCA Chairperson.

7.82 The Chairperson of the NIIC would be required to report the service of such a certificate immediately to the Attorney-General and to report on the issue of any certificates, and the responses of the NIIC to those certificates generally, in each NIIC Annual Report subject to privacy considerations and operational security requirements.

Recommendation 41 — Resolving major conflicts

The NIIC legislation should provide that the Commissioner of the AFP and the Chairperson of the NCA may serve a certificate on the Chairperson of the NIIC to the effect that the Commissioner or the Chairperson (as appropriate) is satisfied that a course of action contemplated or undertaken by the NIIC would seriously prejudice, or is seriously prejudicing, an operation of the AFP or NCA and that appropriate consultation with the NIIC has not resolved this concern.

The legislation should also provide that, where the Commissioner or the Chairperson issues such a certificate, the Chairperson of the NIIC shall not undertake the relevant action or continue it unless satisfied that the need for action outweighs the concerns of the AFP Commissioner or NCA Chairperson.

The Chairperson of the NIIC would be required to report the service of a certificate immediately to the Attorney-General and report on the issue of any certificates, and the response of the NIIC to those certificates, in each NIIC Annual Report, subject to privacy considerations and operational security requirements.

Time limits

7.83 The NIIC promulgated guidelines would prescribe strict time limits to be complied with and reporting processes to the NIIC to be followed. The DRP proposed that a complaint should be recorded immediately it is received and the complainant should be contacted within 24 hours of the receipt of the complaint. If informal resolution was appropriate it should be completed within 14 days. ²⁴⁷ If mediation was used it should be completed and reported on within 30 days. Preliminary enquiries and a report should be available within 30 days and full investigations must be completed and reported on within 90 days. ²⁴⁸

7.84 A failure to comply with a time limit should be reported to the NIIC within 24 hours of that failure unless the NIIC had granted an extension of time. The NIIC would provide comment in its reports to Parliament on failures to meet time limits.

7.85 *Submissions*. The Victoria Police and the Ombudsman supported the introduction of time limits.²⁴⁹ The Victoria Police stressed that they should not be prescribed in legislation. The Commission does not intend that the time limits themselves should be prescribed in legislation which would only provide that the NIIC may issue guidelines about the time to be taken to deal with complaints and any other processes provided for under the legislation.

Recommendation 42 — Time limits

There should be time limits for action in relation to complaints. These would be set out in guidelines issued by the NIIC.

Role of the IID

Amalgamation of IID and ISA

7.86 The DRP proposed that IID and ISA should be amalgamated to form a new IID. In chapter 2 of this report the deficiencies of the current demarcation between them in relation to the AFP's complaints system were discussed.

7.87 *Submissions*. The AFP submitted that the Commissioner must have the flexibility to structure the organisation to meet the emerging and changing needs and priorities of the organisation. ²⁵⁰ The Commission assumes that the AFP is suggesting that the Commissioner should make such decisions about amalgamations.

7.88 The Victoria Police were of the view that, given the concerns expressed in the DRP, it would seem appropriate to amalgamate the two AFP units.²⁵¹ The submission added that this was consistent with the new approach in Victoria where it is intended to move the corresponding Internal Investigation Unit and Internal Security Unit into joint accommodation where skills and resources may be pooled and more efficiently used. However, the essential expertise necessary to conduct investigations into what may require different approaches, that is complaint investigation and corruption investigation, would still be retained.

7.89 *Commission's views*. The Commission considers that there are valuable efficiencies to be gained by amalgamating the investigative aspects of the IID and ISA. It may be that within that merged entity it will be useful to have teams that focus on complaints and others that focus on corruption. The NIIC would also play a role in assisting the AFP in determining its IID staffing levels and in the selection, training and deployment of internal investigators.

The role of the IID

7.90 The Commission considers that the objectives of the IID should be set out in the complaints legislation. This would encourage efficient and effective investigations and better co-operation and interaction with the NIIC. The IID should also have an educative function to ensure the good discipline and proper functioning of the AFP. The Commission considers the following as appropriate objectives:

- to ensure that the AFP is honest and maintains public confidence by diligent investigation of complaints and matters relating to corruption
- to promote AFP professionalism (including an educative function)²⁵² and help to ensure AFP accountability²⁵³
- to provide effective, efficient and impartial investigation of complaints and matters of corruption
- to assist in reforming AFP practices and procedures.

7.91 Specific functions and procedures should be set out in guidelines and procedures after appropriate consultation with the NIIC. This could include general procedures concerning the conduct and method of the investigation: for example, to ensure that police collusion is minimised by having broadly contemporaneous interviews (and keeping members separate until all interviews are completed)²⁵⁴ and to provide for other investigative requirements such as the taping of all interviews.²⁵⁵ The NIIC would also be able to issue guidelines and standards for the conduct of investigations both generally and in a specific case.

7.92 It should be open to the AFP in consultation with, or at the direction of, the NIIC, to use in relation to complaints or corruption matters AFP personnel who are not members of the IID. That is, there would be no statutory requirement that only the IID could be involved in these investigations. This recognises that there may be occasions where it would be more appropriate to use all or some non-IID personnel. This might be because of resource demands or because personnel outside of the IID have particular experience or skills that may be useful for a particular investigation.

Promoting the role and quality of the IID

7.93 The AFP has submitted that currently the IID is considered by AFP appointees to be a prestigious area and that it is staffed by personnel of wide experience and integrity. The Commission considers that it is imperative for the AFP to continue to improve the calibre, training and status of the IID. This could involve greater training in investigation techniques and ethics, and policies that further encourage AFP appointees to see the IID as a prestigious and valuable arm of the AFP. A period of service in the IID should be regarded as a valuable step for promotion to senior positions in the AFP.

Recommendation 43 — Role of the IID

The IID and ISA should be amalgamated to form a new IID.

Recommendation 44

The objectives of the IID should be provided for in the complaints legislation.

Recommendation 45

There should be no statutory requirement that only the IID can be involved in, or conduct, complaints or corruption investigations concerning the AFP. This recognises that there may be occasions where it would be more appropriate to use all or some non-IID personnel.

Recommendation 46

The AFP should continue to improve the calibre, training and status of the IID.

8. Responses to the NIIC

Introduction

- 8.1 This chapter discusses the responses to the proposal in the DRP that a National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) be established as a single agency to deal with complaints and corruption involving the AFP and the NCA. Some responses strongly supported an NIIC while others were opposed. As there was a considerable difference of view the Commission has dealt with the arguments in detail.
- 8.2 There was general agreement across this divergence of views that as a matter of principle both the AFP and the NCA needed effective external scrutiny in relation to complaints and corruption investigations. This principle was only questioned by the Australian Federal Police Association (AFPA) and one of the Commission's consultants. Both these views are dealt with in this chapter.

Main issues

- 8.3 The responses to the NIIC highlighted the following major issues
- is there a need for an external corruption body for the AFP and the NCA?
- should there be a single complaints and corruption agency or should the Ombudsman still have a role, and if so, what role?
- are the benefits of the NIIC outweighed by its potential threat to the civil liberties of those who may be investigated or subjected to its royal commission powers?
- which is the most cost effective option?

Summary of responses

- 8.4 The Australian Council for Civil Liberties,²⁵⁷ the Law Council of Australia²⁵⁸ and the Queensland Law Society²⁵⁹ all supported a NIIC approach. Individuals who made submissions also supported the NIIC approach. One expressed the view that the CJC model is the most successful investigative authority in Australia. This submission emphasised the difficulties of investigating and detecting corrupt police who close ranks.²⁶⁰
- 8.5 The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security fully supported the establishment of the NIIC as proposed in the DRP as the most appropriate way of dealing with complaints, corruption and integrity issues for both the AFP and the NCA.²⁶¹
- 8.6 The Victoria Police supported the establishment of the NIIC but subject to some qualifications.²⁶² It argued that the establishment of the Victorian Office of Deputy Ombudsman (Police Complaints) in 1986 had met the criteria for an effective complaints system. It agreed with the Commission's approach that it was vital to the integrity of any complaints system for an independent, external agency to have a focused and exclusive responsibility for the review of all police investigations into such complaints. The body must also possess the capacity, competence and resources to undertake its own investigations when the need arises.
- 8.7 The AFP supported the presence of an effective external investigator of complaints and corruption but did not express any preference on the establishment of the NIIC.²⁶³
- 8.8 The NCA was opposed to the NIIC dealing with NCA complaints and corruption matters. Its arguments are dealt with in chapter 5 on the NCA. The Ombudsman, the Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner and the Tasmania Police asserted that an enhanced role for the Ombudsman would be a more cost effective response. The Australian Federal Police Association (AFPA) opposed the NIIC because it believed that a specialist external corruption body would reduce the managerial responsibility of the AFP and the NCA to promote integrity.

The need for an external corruption body

The DRP proposal

8.9 The Commission proposed that the NIIC should have a dedicated anti-corruption division which is devoted to detecting and investigating corruption within the AFP and the NCA. That is, it must have a substantial pro-active stance. It should have the power to audit or review any AFP or NCA office and to gain full access to information. The anti-corruption division should be established by the NIIC Act and its charter should be to detect and investigate corruption. It should act to discover corruption, potential corruption or likely avenues for the development of corruption. This work would be done in conjunction with the AFP particularly with the IID and its Audit and Security branch and also with the NCA. Risk management strategies would be developed to identify, change or monitor high risk corruption areas, personnel and processes.

The AFP submission

8.10 The AFP did not comment on whether the NIIC should be established or not as that question went to the structure for handling complaints which it believed is a secondary consideration to having a proper and accountable process. The AFP submitted that there is a need to ensure that there is external oversight of complaints and anti-corruption investigations by a suitably empowered external body. The AFP argued that with the probable exception of corruption and serious malpractice the existing system was fundamentally sound. It asserted that if the powers under the Complaints Act were expanded and fully utilised the major deficiencies identified in the Commission's DRP would be overcome.

- 8.11 The AFP's view was that if the investigation of serious malpractice in all its forms is to be effective the external action must be able to be independent, expeditious, covert and proactive, as well as being on occasions public and coercive. According to the AFP the role of the external body will need to embrace:
- the investigation of corruption and serious malpractice issues
- joint oversight/investigation and advice on other serious complaints
- review of internal investigations and
- monitoring and oversighting (including the power to review and audit) managerial and conciliation matters.
- 8.12 *Commission's response.* The AFP has acknowledged that a major weakness of the current system is the lack of an external body that can effectively conduct investigations into corruption and serious malpractice. In the Commission's view the AFP's submission inevitably leads to the conclusion that the Ombudsman's office could not carry out all of the necessary functions of the external body. The Ombudsman's office is not an appropriate body to undertake the investigation of corruption and serious malpractice. They are areas that may involve surveillance and other covert action. The Commission's submissions and consultations support that view as does the work and recommendations of the NSW Royal Commission. This argument is further discussed at paragraph 8.44 and in detail in chapter 9.

The AFPA submission

- 8.13 The AFPA opposed a specialist external corruption body because it would reduce the managerial responsibility of the AFP and the NCA to promote integrity.²⁷⁰ The AFPA argued that to shift the responsibility to an outside body would 'promote the adversary culture' that exists in New South Wales and Queensland following the establishment of the NSW ICAC and the Queensland CJC. It added that the respective police services in those States formed a defensive barrier to those bodies and that they have been decidedly unsuccessful in combatting corruption as the NSW Royal Commission has demonstrated.
- 8.14 *Commission's response.* The AFPA view is at odds with the AFP submission because the latter acknowledges that for serious misconduct and corruption there must be an effective external body with the

power and capacity to conduct investigations. The NSW Royal Commission made no reference to any 'adversary culture' affecting the performance or the capacity of the ICAC or the CJC. The Royal Commission's views on the performance of the ICAC are discussed below. The NSW Royal Commission recommended that a new external anti-corruption body, the Police Integrity Commission, be established to conduct external investigations of corruption in the NSW Police Service. The Commission is unable to see how the NSW Royal Commission's work lends any support to the assertions of the AFPA. In fact its work supports the opposite conclusion, that is, that an effective external anti-corruption body is essential.

- 8.15 There is no evidence available that the CJC has been 'decidedly unsuccessful in combatting corruption'. To the contrary, the Bingham inquiry, the Queensland Police Service and the Queensland Police Union have each endorsed the work of the CJC in the area of complaints and corruption.
- 8.16 Under the Commission's recommendations for the NIIC, the AFP and the NCA would still play a major role in investigating complaints but that role would be at the formal request of the NIIC. The NIIC would assist the management of the AFP and the NCA by improving the public credibility of the agencies and allowing them to spend more time on their operations to prevent and detect crime. The NIIC would be independent from the AFP and the NCA but there would be useful engagement and co-operation between them. These views are supported by the Bingham report in relation to the interaction between the Queensland Police Service and the CJC. The relationship between the NIIC and the AFP and NCA is further discussed in chapter 7.
- 8.17 It should also be borne in mind that the Commission is recommending an increased managerial role for the AFP and the NCA in disciplinary matters.

Ombudsman's submission

- 8.18 The Ombudsman stated that it is a matter for the Government to consider whether a permanent anticorruption body is necessary.²⁷¹ According to the Ombudsman where a complaint involving alleged corruption or criminality comes to her office's attention her 'usual practice' is to arrange with the AFP for it to be investigated by ISA under the Ombudsman's supervision and reporting to the Ombudsman.
- 8.19 The Ombudsman's proposal for an enhanced role for her office includes the capacity for joint operations with the AFP or other law enforcement bodies on matters involving corruption or criminal activities. She suggested that her office could monitor the AFP's anti-corruption efforts in addition to conducting joint investigations in appropriate cases and with a capacity for independent investigation of some corruption allegations. In some circumstances it might be necessary to establish a completely independent inquiry where the investigation goes beyond the capacity of the Ombudsman and ISA. The Ombudsman argued that such an approach would cost far less than establishing a permanent anti-corruption body. She also argued that the existence of a permanent anti-corruption body is no guarantee that a one-off inquiry would not be necessary from time to time as with NSW where the current Royal Commission was necessary despite the existence of the Independent Commission Against Corruption since 1989.

Commission's views

8.20 The primary argument of the Commission is that the Ombudsman should have no role at all in AFP and NCA complaints and corruption matters other than as constituting one point for lodging complaints.

Ombudsman unsuitable for law enforcement complaints and corruption role

- 8.21 The Commission considers that an Ombudsman's office is fundamentally unsuitable for the role of handling law enforcement complaints and corruption. The accepted and traditional role of an Ombudsman is to review defective public administration. The current Ombudsman has herself identified what this role is in her most recent Annual Report which notes that many of the complaints the Ombudsman deals with are about
- complex, ambiguous or incomplete information that is not appropriate to the individual circumstance

- wrong and inaccurate information
- problems in navigating the complexity of government systems
- failure to respond to requests or to provide reasons for decisions
- undue delay in decisions
- unfairness of policy
- conflict of interest and/or wrongful use of statutory powers
- 8.22 The Report added that most of these complaints are about 'quality of service' and they often involve the reasonableness or lawfulness of agencies' actions. Typical complaints concern the payment or non-payment of entitlements from the Department of Social Security, the Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs, the Child Support Agency and the Australian Taxation Office. Other complaints, for example, concern compensation for lost or damaged mail from Australia Post.
- 8.23 The Commission has the view that the investigation of law enforcement complaints is a significantly different task that requires special skills and a special approach. This is not a new idea. It was suggested by the Senate Standing Committee's 1991 report on the role of the Commonwealth Ombudsman and it has been endorsed by a former Commonwealth Ombudsman who is an acknowledged expert on public law and the role of an Ombudsman.

Senate Standing Committee's 1991 report

8.24 The report made the following comments

The police complaints area is the most difficult of the Ombudsman's responsibilities. The nature of the complaints differs substantially from most others received by the Ombudsman. Many police complaints involve allegations of criminal behaviour by the persons complained against. Most involve claims of betrayal of trust by officers in a special position of power. In many of them there are no independent witnesses ... the type of investigation required is qualitatively different from that required in the bulk of the Ombudsman's work.²⁷²

- 8.25 The Committee found considerable public disquiet about the effectiveness of the AFP complaints system.²⁷³ Most of the evidence put to it was critical of the delays, the almost total absence of direct investigation by the Ombudsman and the large number of complaints found to be incapable of determination. The Committee also believed that most cases requiring direct investigation and involving the possibility of criminal charges or other serious sanctions would be better investigated by an agency other than the Ombudsman.²⁷⁴ However, the Committee argued that practical considerations meant that this was not feasible.
- 8.26 The Committee recommended that unless adequate resources were made available for active investigation by the Ombudsman of a sufficient sample of AFP complaints during 1992 and subsequent years and for a substantial reduction in delays currently experienced in review of IID files, the role of investigating complaints against the police should be removed from the Ombudsman's jurisdiction.
- 8.27 It is the Commission's view that those criteria have not been met since the Senate Standing Committee's report. The Commission's consultations, submissions received and research suggest that the situation has not greatly changed since 1991. What has significantly changed is the increasing demand for greater accountability and integrity by law enforcement agencies. The public pressure for a fundamental improvement in the accountability of its law enforcement agencies is now undeniable. In addition there is now much greater information available about alternatives to the current Ombudsman model than was available in 1991.

Views of a former Commonwealth Ombudsman

- 8.28 Professor Dennis Pearce, a former Commonwealth Ombudsman, has supported the removal of the Commonwealth Ombudsman from the AFP complaints system and the establishment of a separate office that has its own investigators. Pearce expressed the view that the fundamental question was whether dealing with police complaints was a suitable role for an Ombudsman's office. In his view it was not. Issues about resources and dealing with routine complaints as opposed to corruption matters were subsidiary to that fundamental issue.
- 8.29 Professor Pearce noted that the Ombudsman's performance in handling police complaints was the subject of significant concern and criticism. He said public concerns have been expressed about delay and there is a widespread view that the Ombudsman's intervention has little impact on the AFP. Professor Pearce said that the improvement in the performance of the Ombudsman since the Senate Committee report in 1991 was 'marginal'.
- 8.30 According to Professor Pearce the Ombudsman was an inappropriate agency in this area. He said that the Commonwealth Ombudsman's office does not have a separate team of investigators skilled in the type of investigation that police complaints usually entail. Nor can it engage in surveillance or telephone tapping which are essential if more serious allegations are made. He argued that the outcomes of the various inquiries into police corruption in the various jurisdictions of Australia have demonstrated all too clearly what an underpowered office such as that of an Ombudsman is up against when dealing with major allegations of misbehaviour.
- 8.31 *Views of the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security*. The Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security (IGIS) argued that improved complaint handling procedures go hand-in-hand with efforts to encourage and promote high ethical standards and the fight against corruption.²⁷⁶ The IGIS submitted that in order for the AFP and the NCA to enjoy continuing public confidence, it is imperative that these tasks are pursued with both clarity of purpose and appropriate vigour. The IGIS thought that both his office and the Ombudsman would be inappropriate.
- 8.32 The raison d'etre of the IGIS would be compromised if the complaints handling and anti-corruption functions for the AFP and the NCA were grafted on to his office. There are some very important differences between complaint handling and oversight relating to the law enforcement agencies and the intelligence and security agencies. Law enforcement complaints require a close knowledge of the unique cultures, practices and modus operandi of policing in Australia. The sources of information and their handling in this area create particular challenges and a special expertise which is largely unrelated to the knowledge and background required to ensure that the intelligence agencies conduct their activities legally and with propriety. The IGIS concluded that it would be inappropriate to vest a small office like his with two quite distinct functions. In fact the IGIS saw advantages in his position not having judicial or policing experience. In other words, not only would the IGIS be inappropriate to handle the AFP and NCA, it would also have deleterious effects on the IGIS's current jurisdiction
- 8.33 In relation to the Ombudsman, the IGIS thought it would be a mistake to divorce the handling of day to day police complaints which the Ombudsman would be able to handle from the important task of fighting internal corruption and promoting high standards of integrity and ethical conduct. He argued that given the sensitive police intelligence that needs to be collected and considered in the fight against corruption, the head of this function would need to have close links and ready access to the Executive. This would be imperative in fulfilling the role of assisting Ministers in exercising their control of the AFP and NCA. The Ombudsman has made it clear that she does not want this function and in any event it would not sit well with the Ombudsman's traditional role because the Ombudsman is generally viewed as being outside the administrative apparatus of the Executive.
- 8.34 In instances which could be viewed as central to the public accountability of Ministers, that is, where there is prima facie evidence of serious corruption or criminality within the AFP or NCA, the Ombudsman, because of her primary orientation as a defender of citizen's rights, would be torn between two principles, one of providing support to the Attorney-General and, in her more traditional responsibilities, the other of seeking to redress the detriment incurred by the complainant.

Commission's consultations

- 8.35 The Commission's consultations supported the view that the Ombudsman was unsuitable for the task of investigating criminal conduct and corruption. Senior AFP officers in Melbourne generally did not consider that the Ombudsman would have the expertise or the resources to investigate matters raising serious criminality. Staff of the Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner's Office consulted by the Commission expressed the view that the investigation of matters raising serious police corruption was not compatible with the role of an Ombudsman and that few Ombudsmen would have the resources or the expertise to deal with these matters. A specialist external body was necessary for these matters. AFP officers in Tasmania also generally supported the introduction of a specialist national body to investigate serious police complaints and corruption. It was acknowledged that having external investigators improved public credibility and the independence of the investigation.
- 8.36 Senior Tasmanian police consulted by the Commission said that there was a need for an agency with sufficient powers, that is, royal commission powers to review or investigate serious police misconduct. It would need intelligence and surveillance powers and the capacity to use them together with a power of contempt.

Ombudsman's stretched resources

- 8.37 The Queensland Law Society expressed reservations about the Commonwealth Ombudsman continuing to have a role in law enforcement complaints.²⁷⁹ The Law Society was concerned about the very wide spread of the Ombudsman's jurisdiction over a significant range of government departments. It was doubtful that the Ombudsman could any longer be capable of monitoring and dealing with complaints against the AFP. Moreover, according to the Law Society, the Ombudsman's office has not been sufficiently resourced, either monetarily or as to its powers, to continue to deal effectively with complaints against the AFP.
- 8.38 The Law Society noted that the Commonwealth Ombudsman in her 1995 Annual Report commented that she was dealing with complaints in relation to the Australian Taxation Office, ATSIC and the treatment of illegal immigrants. The Ombudsman has also been given jurisdiction to deal with the very serious complaints that are expected to come from the *National Witness Protection Act 1995* (Cth). In fact that will be the only avenue of redress because that Act specifically excludes any form of judicial review. The Law Society understood that the Ombudsman was to receive no additional funding for this task. This was a recent example of how thinly the Ombudsman's resources were being spread. Moreover, the Law Society added, in the current climate where there have been serious allegations made against AFP officers in the NSW Royal Commission and within the media, the Ombudsman was no longer the most appropriate body.
- 8.39 The Ombudsman's submission in response to the argument that her resources are being spread too thinly advised that there is already a precedent for quarantining resources to particular parts of the Ombudsman's jurisdiction, for example, the taxation jurisdiction. She argued that this approach, if used for an enhanced police role, would ensure that resources provided for the purpose were not used for other functions.
- 8.40 *Commission's views.* The Ombudsman has acknowledged the importance of her AFP complaints role. She has also acknowledged that the current AFP complaints system is significantly defective. Moreover, the Ombudsman does not deny in her submission the assertion that her resources have been spread too thinly. Given those acknowledgments the Commission finds it surprising that it has taken until now, when the Ombudsman's continuing role in the system is raised again as an issue as it was five years ago, for the Ombudsman's office to consider a more effective method of ensuring appropriate funding for a key aspect of her jurisdiction.
- 8.41 The Ombudsman's most recent Annual Report indicates that this inadequate, thinly stretched resourcing is likely to worsen. The Report notes that in 1995-96 the Ombudsman handled 21749 complaints and another 21118 inquiries. This represents a 28% increase in complaints over the previous year. Moreover, the Ombudsman is seeking a broadening of her jurisdiction to allow the investigation of complaints about core government services being provided indirectly by contractors. This broadening of role is sought in the face of reductions to her existing budget. All of these factors lead to the conclusion that the Ombudsman's response to law enforcement complaints is likely to continue to be inadequate with the real potential for it to worsen.

8.42 The Commission would also add that it does not believe that a quarantining of resources would be in any way an adequate response to the record of unsatisfactory performance. Nor could it affect the primary argument that the Ombudsman is unsuitable for the law enforcement complaints role.

Issues arising from the NSW Royal Commission

- 8.43 The Ombudsman has attempted to use the example of the findings of the NSW Royal Commission into Police to support her argument for an enhanced role for her office in relation to AFP and NCA corruption matters. In the Commission's view this misrepresents what the Royal Commission argued and recommended.
- 8.44 The NSW Royal Commission did recommend a permanent anti-corruption body for the NSW Police Service, the PIC. It did not recommend an enhanced role for the NSW Ombudsman such as the Commonwealth Ombudsman is suggesting as an option in relation to the AFP and the NCA.
- 8.45 The Royal Commission in fact made the following observations about the role of the NSW Ombudsman. It stated that the majority of submissions to it had supported the past performance of the Ombudsman, as an independent office which enjoys the confidence of the general public, and provides a forum not elsewhere available for dealing with complaints of misconduct and customer service. The Royal Commission then went on to say that the Ombudsman's performance of its police complaint functions was heavily dependent upon the information received from the Police Service. It added

[T]he Ombudsman lacks the power to deploy coercive powers or to undertake proactive investigations of the kind required for fighting corruption. Findings made are recommendatory in nature, and for it to adopt a role involving direct participation in criminal investigations and prosecutions would subvert its overall function as a supervisory body.²⁸¹

- 8.46 This view directly refutes the type of role that the Commonwealth Ombudsman is suggesting for her office in relation to the AFP and the NCA.
- 8.47 As noted above, the NSW Royal Commission also found majority support for the role of the NSW Ombudsman. The Commission from its consultations and submissions in this inquiry cannot draw the same conclusion in relation to the Commonwealth Ombudsman's performance in this area. In fact the overwhelming response has been negative and critical of the Ombudsman's role. While some have said that the Ombudsman has been hampered by lack of resources and powers, there has been little endorsement of the Ombudsman's performance.
- 8.48 It is certainly true that the NSW Royal Commission was critical of the performance of the ICAC. However, there are two crucial points to bear in mind for the purposes of this inquiry.
- 8.49 First, the Commission in this report is not proposing a body with the broad range of activities of the ICAC which has responsibility for corruption investigation, prevention and education throughout the whole of the NSW public sector. The NIIC would be limited to the law enforcement activities of the AFP and the NCA with a potential to examine other federal law enforcement activities.
- 8.50 The second point is that the NSW Royal Commission has identified specific tactical decisions by the ICAC to explain its apparent ineffectiveness in dealing with police corruption. The Royal Commission stated that the ICAC had missed opportunities to investigate police corruption such as with operation Milloo. In other words, the failure was due to decisions about priorities by the ICAC and not because of some systemic difficulty in having a permanent anti-corruption body.
- 8.51 The Ombudsman has suggested that a permanent anti-corruption body is no guarantee that specific wide ranging Royal Commission inquiries such as the NSW Royal Commission will not be necessary. The Commission would agree that it is no guarantee. However, in the Commission's view the existence of a permanent body with a specific focus and appropriate powers, staff and resources is one crucial element in significantly lowering the need for wide ranging expensive Royal Commissions and inquiries that must try to build up a profile of the agency and ensure that it has staff who are experienced in the area.

8.52 A permanent body can also take a pro-active stance and help to prevent misconduct and corruption or to stop them before they become entrenched or endemic. One-off Royal Commissions or inquiries are necessarily reactive and are often called when a major crisis or problem is suspected or seen to exist. It can be likened to putting out the fire when it is blazing instead of preventing it in the first place. There are also likely to be significant delays before a special inquiry can get under way. This can forewarn corrupt officers and also deaden and taint the evidentiary trail. Moreover, the cost of running wide ranging Royal Commissions is usually extremely high. For example, the NSW Royal Commission has cost \$27 million in direct costs, excluding legal aid.

8.53 There are other significant defects in the Ombudsman's arguments. In her submission she has suggested that her office could be more actively engaged in corruption investigations. The Commission finds some difficulty with the internal consistency of this suggestion with the Ombudsman's other major argument that corruption and complaints are fundamentally different and should not be dealt with by the same body. It would also seem to follow from the Ombudsman's argument that the AFP and the NCA themselves should not have any role in investigating both complaints and corruption in relation to their respective agencies or in the general community. It is difficult to avoid the conclusion that what the Ombudsman actually believes is that it is preferable to have the one external body involved provided that her office is that body.

Need for an external anti-corruption body for the AFP and the NCA

8.54 In summary an external anti-corruption body for the AFP and the NCA is needed for the following reasons. The overwhelming weight of evidence is that the crucial objectives of a complaints and corruption investigations system, and particularly public confidence, will not be achieved by a reliance on the agencies' own internal measures and investigations. Survey evidence, academic studies and commentaries, and a succession of royal commissions and inquiries show that relying on law enforcement internal investigations will neither actually achieve high levels of accountability and integrity nor satisfy the public that these objectives are being met. A focused and active external investigator is necessary.

8.55 This viewpoint is being increasingly accepted around the world. The President of the International Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement (IACOLE) advised the Commission that

a true external oversight body, with independent investigative abilities, is a cornerstone of professional policing. Such models give citizens the most confidence in their public officials to ensure that their most basic rights, the preservation of human rights, dignity and freedom are protected. I also believe that such models are effective deterrents against police misconduct. While statistically measuring such theories are impossible, the very existence of such oversight must be viewed by corrupt police as the most effective tool available in a democratic society.²⁸²

8.56 Mr David Landa, a former NSW Ombudsman acknowledged that an agency with a focus on police corruption was necessary:

[B]odies such as the Ombudsman, ICAC and the NSW Crime Authority are simply 'the flea on the rump on the elephant'. They are only a minor irritation to wayward police. The scattered resources and skills of these oversight bodies are no match for the seriously corrupt. They are at best capable only of surface issues. NSW needs to consider a different approach. ²⁸³

8.57 The NSW Royal Commission into the Police has advised the Commission that 15 former or serving AFP officers have been adversely named in evidence before the Royal Commission. One currently serving NCA officer has been the subject of adverse evidence. The Commission asked the Royal Commission to comment on the argument that it has taken the NSW Royal Commission to identify the 15 AFP officers and the NCA officer and to establish their misconduct. The Royal Commission advised that it had available to it whatever record it requested from the AFP and the NCA and full and enthusiastic co-operation. However, it was correct to say that in relation to the Joint Task Force the only available records were operational ones and there was no hint of corruption in these. The Royal Commission expressed the view that 'institutional complacency', amongst other factors, does militate against the detection of such activity and that accordingly a properly resourced investigation from outside the organisation does have the potential to go further than an internally based inquiry.

Should complaints and corruption be dealt with by one external agency?

8.58 The DRP argued that a single external agency should deal with both complaints and corruption. The Commission considers that this is by far the best option. This is a different model to that proposed by the NSW Royal Commission into the Police which provides for a continuing role for the NSW Ombudsman.

Advantages of a single agency

8.59 Corruption and other serious misconduct have to be met by a co-ordinated and systematic response that monitors and improves law enforcement cultures, practices and procedures but which also has in place an effective, credible and responsive system for investigating complaints and corruption. A single focused agency such as the NIIC has clear advantages in achieving those goals because it

- encourages a co-ordinated and systematic approach to criminal justice issues that by their nature involve many issues and systemic problems
- ensures that cases do not fall through the cracks existing where there is more than one agency involved
- avoids duplication of resources and effort
- centralises records and databases
- heightens public awareness on the problems of corruption and official misconduct because it is clearly the peak body
- makes it clear who has ultimate responsibility for ensuring accountability and transparency.

8.60 No submission in response to the DRP suggested that these were not advantages of a single agency although the Ombudsman argued that they were only 'superficially attractive' without explaining why this was so. The CJC is a single agency that does have a similar role in relation to complaints and corruption involving the Queensland Police Service as the NIIC would have in relation to the AFP and NCA. The CJC advised the Commission that it agreed with the above list of advantages and elaborated on some of the benefits.

8.61 The CJC advised that a single agency allows for a complete profile of officers and the organisation.²⁸⁵ There is often a connection between apparently minor complaints and serious misconduct. For example, absence from duty or a failure to perform routine tasks could be a lead for detecting corruption. Those derelictions of duty raise the question of what the relevant officers were in fact doing. The CJC gave the example of apparently wide-scale police corruption in Victoria in the window shutter cases where a large number of Victorian police were apparently obtaining 'kickbacks' from certain window repair businesses to assist them to obtain business. Officers were absent from their normal duties or failed to perform them because they were involved in this corruption.

8.62 Ms J Saunders a lawyer with the ACT Legal Aid Office who deals frequently with clients who make complaints about their treatment by AFP officers also commented on the advantages of a full profile of officers' behaviour gained through having a single agency. It facilitates the early identification of frequently arising problems, including AFP officers who are repeatedly the subject of complaints.

8.63 The CJC advised the Commission not to draw rigid distinctions between complaints and corruption.²⁸⁷ The CJC had some investigative teams that focused on complaints and others that focused on corruption. The fact that the teams worked within the same organisation did not cause problems. In many cases complaints could provide relevant information for the purposes of corruption prevention and detection. Complaints as such rarely directly concern corruption but they will often provide useful information about the corrupt or potentially corrupt activities of officers.

8.64 The CJC also argued that having more than one agency dissipated funds and multiplied administrative costs and made it difficult to adopt a co-ordinated approach. There was also a problem with more than one agency in ensuring that staff were suitable and had appropriate supervision.

8.65 The Commission also believes that from a potential complainant's viewpoint a single agency is much more preferable. The evidence is that many potential complainants feel intimidated or reluctant to complain. Any possibility of their being shunted from one agency to another will only exacerbate these difficulties.

Suggested disadvantages of a single agency

8.66 There are three possible disadvantages of a single agency that are concerned with the distinction between complaints and corruption and the volume and nature of complaints that may be received.

- **Blurs distinction between corruption and complaints.** One suggested disadvantage of a single agency is that it would be unable to provide the necessary delineation between on the one hand its proactive, generally secretive response to corruption and on the other hand its largely reactive, consumer focused response to complaints.
- Day to day complaints would receive insufficient attention. The Ombudsman and the Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner have suggested that with the establishment of the NIIC there would be a real danger that resources would be concentrated on the minority of very serious cases at the expense of the far greater number of complaints about day to day policing.
- A single agency would be swamped by complaints. The alternative argument to the above is that the NIIC would be swamped by the large number of complaints that were not serious. This would be to the detriment of the response to serious complaints.

8.67 The Ombudsman in her submission also argued that the recommendation of the NSW Commission that the NSW Ombudsman would continue to deal with the majority of police complaints against the NSW Police Service while the Police Integrity Commission focuses on corruption supports her claim that corruption and complaints function should not be dealt with by the one body. According to the Ombudsman's submission this acknowledges that the nature of the responses needed to complaints and corruption are fundamentally different. The PIC would deal with some complaints but only as sources of information.

Commission's response to these suggested disadvantages

8.68 The Commission readily acknowledges that complaints and corruption require some differences in approach. The Commission has therefore recommended that the NIIC should have two separate divisions, that is, one dealing with complaints and the other corruption. The Office for Complaints would have its own specific budget that took into account its workload.

8.69 Complaints about day to day policing would receive appropriate and measured responses. There would be an effective and national system of informal resolution and investigation available for those 'day to day' complaints that require it. The Commission agrees that 'day to day' complaints should receive appropriate resources and attention. The NIIC would establish categories of complaints and guidelines to ensure that resources were expended efficiently and that this expenditure took into account the circumstances of each case. In contrast, a major defect under the current system with the Ombudsman providing limited external review is that the serious end of the spectrum of complaints and corruption has not received adequate external input. There is inadequate independent input to ensure that serious misconduct is identified and an appropriate response made. This has extremely deleterious effects on public perceptions of the integrity and accountability of the AFP because these are the cases that will often receive media attention and raise public interest.

8.70 The Commission has sought comment on the claims of the Ombudsman in relation to the NSW Royal Commission's findings and approach. The Royal Commission has advised the Commission that it is 'incorrect' to describe the NSW Ombudsman under the Royal Commission's proposals as a major investigator

in the complaints field. Rather, the Ombudsman would be a supervisor of the activities of the Police Service with a 'last resort' power of investigations.

- 8.71 According to the Royal Commission the PIC will investigate such serious matters of corruption which come to its attention, whether through complaints made initially to the Police Service or directly to the PIC, or through the PIC's own investigations. The PIC would prioritise its resources and thus refer many matters to the Police Service for investigation. In some cases this would involve varying degrees of monitoring by the PIC; in some cases the possibility exists for joint operations or the formation of a Police Taskforce to deal with a particular matter if it is outside the capabilities of the Office of Professional Responsibility, where most matters will be referred. It is expected that the Ombudsman and the PIC would enter into an arrangement where complaints of a particular class or kind would be referred by the Ombudsman to the PIC for appraisal and a decision made by the PIC in accordance with the above options. A decision by the PIC to take over a complaint removes it from the statutory system of complaints.
- 8.72 In the Commission's view the Ombudsman's submission misrepresents what the Royal Commission is intending to occur in NSW. The NSW Ombudsman will be a supervisor of police investigations, not an investigator. Further, the Commission considers that the Ombudsman has exaggerated the rigidity of the so-called dichotomy between complaints and corruption. The PIC will determine to what extent it investigates complaints and will also appraise certain categories of complaints that are referred to it by the Ombudsman.
- 8.73 The NSW Royal Commission in its interim report did not oppose in principle having a single agency. It maintained that there were advantages and disadvantages. It readily acknowledged the advantages of a single agency as outlined above. It did not characterise those advantages of a single agency as being illusory or as being 'superficially attractive'. It decided against a single agency in NSW for the reasons discussed in chapter 4. The Commission in that chapter explains how those suggested disadvantages would not be significant in the context of the AFP and the NCA.
- 8.74 In particular, the NSW Royal Commission was concerned that the large number of police complaints in NSW (for 1994-95, 5537 complaints) might swamp a single agency. However, for the same period the AFP reported 900 and the NCA 18 complaints. The difference then between the NSW volume and the likely volume of the AFP and NCA is over fivefold on those figures. The difference in volume may in fact be greater and increasing. The NSW Ombudsman in her 1995-96 Annual Report states that the number of written complaints against the NSW Police Service was 5336 an increase of 5.5% while the number of oral complaints increased by 16% to 2777. That is a total of 8113 complaints in relation to the NSW Police Service in 1995-96. In the same period the number of complaints against the AFP was 1157 and there were 79 allegations a total of 1236. These latest figures suggest a difference in volume of about seven times.
- 8.75 The Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioner submitted that this argument that the smaller volume of complaints at the federal level when compared to NSW is a reason to support a single agency is misdirected because it is the nature of the complaints rather than their number which is significant.²⁹¹ The Commission's response is that the NSW Royal Commission was in fact considering the number of complaints as the significant factor. However, when the nature of the complaints is considered this does support the capacity of a single agency to deal with AFP and NCA complaints. The NIIC would introduce guidelines about classifications of complaints and a national system of effective informal resolution of minor complaints. A majority of complaints would be dealt with initially by the AFP or the NCA by means of informal resolution. These measures would ensure that the number of complaints dealt with by the NIIC in terms of investigation would be relatively small.
- 8.76 This view is supported by the experience of the CJC which advised the Commission that it has been able to deal with receiving the full range of complaints by adopting effective filtering processes so that the appropriate amount of time and resources were devoted to the particular matter.²⁹² The CJC had an effective system to determine quickly what matters should be returned to the Queensland Police Service for a response.
- 8.77 It should also be noted that the Police Board of New South Wales in its submission to the NSW Royal Commission recommended a single agency for complaints and corruption. It recommended that the one body should have separate complaints and corruption divisions, in the same way that the Commission is proposing

for the NIIC. The Board in its submission referred to the number of statutory bodies and persons in NSW who may perform investigatory functions concerning complaints against the police and allegations of corruption - the Ombudsman, the ICAC, the New South Wales Crime Commission and the Police Service itself. The Board stated that the lack of precise definition of function between those agencies may lead to a duplication of activities or matters 'falling between two stools'. It continued as follows.

The present system has produced an imbalance. Too little time and resources have been devoted to the investigation of police corruption by pro-active and other means. In comparative terms, too much time and resources have been devoted to a somewhat complex and inflexible system of investigating complaints against the police.²⁹³

8.78 The Commission believes that these observations are also applicable to the current AFP complaints system.

Civil liberties issues

Senator Cooney's views

8.79 A submission from Senator B C Cooney questioned the impact of the NIIC on civil liberties.²⁹⁴ It argued that the establishment of another new body with permanent royal commission powers would present a real risk to the sort of liberal and democratic society Australia ought to be. Senator Cooney, while agreeing that it is in the public interest to keep the AFP and the NCA free of corruption and wrongdoing, also argued that it is in the public interest for the community to be free, confident, co-operative and forthright and within which its citizens might flourish. He was concerned that the civil liberties of AFP and NCA officers would be jeopardised by thne establishment of the NIIC. He concluded by stating that any problem which presently exists with the AFP or the NCA has not reached the point where it threatens the community to the extent that radical changes are needed to remedy it.

Commission's response

- 8.80 Senator Cooney has referred to what he considers to be an increasing proliferation of bodies with royal commission powers. It is not within the Commission's terms of reference to comment on whether particular bodies such as the NCA, the CJC or the ICAC that have such powers should continue to exist or how they should exercise those powers. The Commission is limited in this inquiry to considering what ought to be in place to deal with complaints and misconduct in relation to the AFP and the NCA.
- 8.81 The Commission has recommended the establishment of the NIIC with royal commission powers because research and experience clearly show that a body with those far reaching powers is necessary to deal with misconduct and corruption within law enforcement agencies. This is borne out by the work of the Fitzgerald inquiry in Queensland and the NSW Royal Commission into the Police. In both cases it required an independent and external commission with far reaching powers to identify those officers guilty of corruption and serious misconduct, to obtain evidence against them and to be able to provide a comprehensive analysis of the state of health of those particular police services at the time.
- 8.82 Senator Cooney has identified the public interest in keeping the AFP and the NCA free of corruption and misconduct. Chapter 9 discusses in detail the crucial importance of the objectives of complaints and anti-corruption systems for the AFP and the NCA and the significant and constant impediments to achieving those objectives. That chapter demonstrates why a body with royal commission powers is needed as an effective watchdog. In short, the value of the objectives and the undoubted problems in attaining them justifies the granting of royal commission powers that certainly should not be granted without a clear case being made out for their necessity. However, the Commission would emphasise the following points here in response to Senator Cooney's concerns.
- 8.83 In the Commission's view there is a very crucial public interest in ensuring that the AFP and the NCA are accountable and 'clean'.
- 8.84 A wide range of rights and liberties may be affected by the actions of law enforcement agencies. These include the right to equality, liberty and privacy, to a fair trial and the right not to be subjected to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment. Individuals have basic rights not to have their private affairs interfered with

without just cause; to be able freely to travel and to associate and communicate with whomever they wish without arbitrary interference, and to expect that the State and its organs such as the police treat individuals equally and without discrimination on illegitimate grounds.

8.85 In Australia, these rights are protected to varying degrees by existing legislation or common law. In addition, they are all protected by the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights to which Australia is a party. Breach of any one of these rights by a law enforcement agency will almost certainly provide grounds for complaints being brought against them although whether a person will make a complaint is much more problematic as is the capacity of current complaints systems to determine the substance of complaints. Law enforcement agencies must understand and respect the rights and liberties of citizens. The agencies and their officers must act within the law. These objectives demand effective complaints and anti-corruption systems. The AFP and the NCA are the two leading national law enforcement bodies with a focus on organised crime including the drug trade and large scale fraud. These are matters of vital concern to the Australian community. In relation to the NCA and the AFP, the NIIC would provide the necessary investigative capacity and oversight to help to ensure that these agencies do understand and respect the civil liberties of citizens and that they do act within the law.

8.86 The Commission considers that the NIIC as it is proposed is a positive benefit to the protection of the civil liberties of the Australian community and reflects a world wide concern with minimising the misconduct and corruption of law enforcement agencies. Further, the Commission considers that the NIIC is consistent with the terms and spirit of

- the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
- the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
- the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment
- the Convention on the Rights of the Child.

8.87 The NIIC would help to ensure that the AFP and the NCA in their law enforcement activities and within their organisations are free of sexual or racial discrimination or harassment. It would assist in ensuring that citizens are protected from false or arbitrary arrest or detention or from the use of excessive force or other illegal treatment. The NIIC would pay special attention to the needs of groups within the community and within the AFP and the NCA who may have vulnerabilities in relation to the AFP and the NCA. This includes young people, women, Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders, people from non-English speaking backgrounds, gays and lesbians and people with disabilities. As discussed in chapter 17 the Commission has put together a package of recommendations to ensure that these special concerns are met with effective responses by the NIIC and the AFP and NCA. In chapter 15 the Commission has also recommended measures to improve the accessibility and outreach of the NIIC into the community.

8.88 The Commission has balanced those concerns about the effects of law enforcement agencies on the civil liberties of the community with a proper concern for the civil liberties of individual officers. Law enforcement officers must have the same rights as any other citizen in relation to criminal investigation and trial. They must also be treated fairly and impartially when they are the subject of a complaint. There must be no presumption in the investigation or handling of a complaint that an officer has done something wrong. Deliberately false complaints should be subject to appropriate consideration to determine whether criminal charges should be laid against the perpetrator. There must be a practice that anonymous complaints are the subject of proper initial inquiry before a full investigation is launched. Any officer the subject of disciplinary action must receive fair treatment and be accorded natural justice. Disciplinary decisions should be made according to law and subject to appropriate merits review and determined without undue delay. There must be consistency of treatment. The sanction of deducting superannuation for a disciplinary offence against AFP officers should be abolished because it is a criminal sanction which currently unfairly singles out AFP officers. The traditional quasi-military disciplinary approach should be totally abandoned. The use of

disciplinary action for any minor infringement, particularly for those which have no impact on the interaction with the community, should be a thing of the past.

8.89 Officers must receive adequate information about the progress of the investigation of complaints made against them and any disciplinary action taken. There should be a wider range of complaint outcomes to recognise that officers may have acted properly and reasonably and indeed with the greatest integrity and probity.

8.90 The Commission's recommendations reflect each of these principles described above.

8.91 Just as these principles are supported there must also be a recognition that law enforcement officers are given powers and discretions under significant public trust. A breach of that trust by those who are meant to uphold the law damages the efficacy of the 'Rule of Law' which is an integral part of the protection of civil liberties in this community. It is difficult to ask the public to uphold and respect the law and the civil liberties of others when the community's law enforcement officers fail to do so or are seen as failing to do so. Moreover, the failure to prevent or punish misconduct and corruption within law enforcement agencies encourages those who breach the law to carry on and to expand their activities. It increases the confidence of 'crooked officers' and those who run large scale criminal organisations. The AFP and the NCA should be providing the benchmark to the rest of the law enforcement community and to the community as a whole on integrity and accountability. The Commission is sure that the management of the AFP and the NCA support those principles as would their staff.

8.92 It should also be noted that the Ombudsman, who is currently expected to provide external scrutiny of the Complaints Act, already has powers that to a significant extent are equivalent to royal commission powers.

8.93 The Commission also notes that the Council for Civil Liberties, the Law Council and the Queensland Law Society each supported a body with royal commission powers. These are organisations with a traditional role in advocating the protection of civil liberties from excesses by the State. However, they did not share Senator Cooney's views.

8.94 In considering the structure, powers and role of the NIIC the Commission has attempted to balance that compelling necessity for sufficient powers with protection of individual rights and liberties. The latter would be protected by the following measures.

8.95 The NIIC would be subject to

- review under the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth)
- the Privacy Act 1984 (Cth) and
- the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Cth).

8.96 It would be accountable to the Attorney-General, that is, the First Law Officer of the Commonwealth, and could be required to report on particular matters in addition to providing Annual Reports. There would be a protocol with the Attorney-General's Department for monitoring and responding to any complaints made about the activities of the NIIC or its personnel. The NIIC would be required to monitor and report, subject to operational security and privacy considerations, on the use of its compulsory powers.

8.97 The Chairperson would be a judge or retired judge or a person with appropriate legal experience in the responsibilities of exercising significant powers. The Commissioner for Complaints would most likely be experienced in consumer rights and social justice issues. All NIIC staff would be on fixed term appointments and subject to performance appraisal.

Cost effectiveness

8.98 One argument used by those who opposed or questioned the need for the NIIC was that it was not the most cost effective response. The DRP made the following comments on the staff and funding of the NIIC.

Staffing

8.99 The DRP envisaged a staff of about 30 people. That would include a modest Secretariat and a core of people with extensive investigative and legal experience in policing or other investigative work. The Commission estimated that about 15investigators would be needed. Other aspects of staffing are considered in chapter 6.

Funding

- 8.100 The NIIC would be federally funded. The Commission's preliminary estimate was that funding would be in the order of three and a half to four million dollars annually.
- 8.101 The Commission considered that a very substantial part of the NIIC's funding could be obtained from off-sets from the current system, by greater efficiencies and appropriate contributions by the NCA and the States and Territories in relation to the operations of the NCA. Off-sets would be available by removing the Ombudsman's supervisory role in this area, some reduction in the AFP's role and the abolition of the Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal (FPDT). Efficiencies would result from the consolidation of the complaints and investigative functions of the AFP's IID and ISA, the more effective use of informal resolution and a more streamlined system of review of disciplinary decisions. The NCA and the States and Territories should make contributions to funding according to the expected role of the NIIC in relation to the NCA.
- 8.102 The Commission in attempting to estimate funding and off-sets sought information from the Ombudsman and the AFP about their current levels of staffing and resources for dealing with complaints against the AFP. The Commission considered that the information provided and as described immediately below was not sufficient to provide a completely accurate account of current spending.

Off-sets from the Ombudsman's current role

8.103 The Ombudsman advised the Commission that she is unable to break down the expenditure against parts of her jurisdiction. The best estimate that the Ombudsman could provide in relation to the AFP was as follows:

1992/93	approx \$618 700
1993/94	approx \$769 000
1994/95	approx \$475 500

8.104 The Commission considered that, as a preliminary estimate which is based on the information currently provided, 95% of the Ombudsman's average expenditure on the AFP complaints system over the last three years, that is, approximately \$590 000 could be made available to the NIIC.²⁹⁵

Off-sets and efficiencies from the AFP

8.105 According to the information provided by the AFP the combined funding for IID and ISA for the financial year 1995-96 was \$4 871 899. This was made up as follows.

Table 1

IID funding	
Salary	\$1 032 976
Allowances	\$250 000
Penalties	\$14 070

Overtime	\$41 659
Administrative expenses	\$160 369
Total	\$1 499 074
ISA funding	
Salary	\$2 175 357
Allowances	\$100 000
Penalties	\$5 679
Overtime	\$116 845
Administrative expenses	\$909 872
Total	\$3 372 825

- 8.106 The Commission considered that this may under-estimate the total cost because it does not include employer contributions to superannuation which the AFP advised was 16.1% of salary expenditure.
- 8.107 The Commission estimated that perhaps 40% of that current combined funding could be available for the NIIC as the NIIC would be assuming that approximate percentage of the AFP's current role. It would be investigating itself very serious complaints and corruption and would be providing management or supervision of the remainder of matters that require investigation. The adoption of an effective workplace resolution scheme across Australia would significantly reduce IID expenditure because for those matters the IID should have no role. The NIIC would provide any auditing or review of that process. There are also the following areas of the AFP system that could contribute to the figure of 40% of the current funding.
- 8.108 The Commission also considered that the proposed amalgamation of ISA and the IID would result in a saving of funds by reducing administrative costs. The Commission noted that there are now currently about 50 personnel in ISA and 22 in the IID. The Commission was of the view that *prima facie* this appears to be a larger number of staff than should be necessary to perform the allotted tasks. The Commission anticipated that savings on administration could be found.
- 8.109 The Commission was of the view that there were other factors which should reduce IID costs and use of resources. The introduction of a comprehensive anti-fraud and anti-corruption plan recommended in chapter 13 of this report would also reduce expenditure by the AFP on investigations. An effective pro-active plan with integrity testing, risk assessment and regular review should reduce the scope for fraud and corruption. An effective and comprehensive risk management system for IID investigations should result in a more cost efficient use of investigative resources with strategic targetting of high risk cases.
- 8.110 The Commission also suggested that its proposals for reforming the disciplinary process should result in savings to the AFP. Fewer matters should proceed to fully contested hearings and those that do should be determined more quickly.
- 8.111 The total from these estimates about the availability of funds from the AFP which the Commission considered to be conservative if the operation of the current system were to be audited was approximately \$1.2 million.

Off-sets from the FPDT

8.112 The 1994-5 Annual Report of the FPDT indicated that its budget was about \$30000. The Commission considered that the whole of this amount should be available as an off-set to the NIIC. The Commission considered that this amount under-estimated the total costs of the Tribunal as it does not include the full costs of judges and personnel (eg salaries including superannuation, allowances and administrative costs).

NCA related funding

8.113 The Commission estimated that the NCA should contribute \$150000 per year and the States and Territories would provide a combined total of \$150000 per year. These contributions are discussed in detail in chapter 5.

NIIC's likely workload

- 8.114 The Commission argued that it is important to try to assess the likely workload of the NIIC in estimating its staffing and resources. There are a number of reasons to suggest that the workload of the NIIC will not be as heavy as one might first imagine.
- 8.115 The latest AFP statistics for 1995-96 indicate that there was a total of 740 complaints made by 469 complainants and 79 allegations. There were only 469 complainants but 740 complaints because many complaints and allegations arise out of the one incident. The task of investigating and resolving these related complaints and allegations is thus reduced. Many in practical terms will involve the one investigation and the consideration of the same evidence.
- 8.116 The level of complaints about the NCA is about 17 per year, although the Commission would expect that this would increase with the introduction of a formal system. Nevertheless the workload of the NIIC in connection with the NCA is unlikely to be significant in terms of raw numbers of complaints.
- 8.117 Only about half the number of complaints lodged will be investigated at all. Some will be formally withdrawn and in relation to others there will be a decision not to investigate because the complaint lacks substance or credibility, is trivial or is too old. Moreover a significant number of complaints will be dealt with by informal resolution without the need for investigation. The Commission expected that with the introduction of a national system for the informal resolution of customer service or internal management types of complaints the number of investigated complaints should be reduced with resulting benefits to the efficiency of the complaints system. The Commission anticipated that about 70% of all complaints and allegations should be capable of being resolved informally. In relation to these informally resolved matters the NIIC would essentially take a monitoring and auditing role. It would be sent a record of the matter and would check to see whether the complainant was satisfied with the process. Its only other general function in relation to these matters will be to conduct random audits to ensure quality control.
- 8.118 At the more serious end of the spectrum the NIIC would be conducting about 40 to 50 complaint investigations itself each year. The Ombudsman's estimate for an effective complaints system is that 40 to 50 complaints each year should be investigated externally and not by the AFP. In the large majority of cases the NIIC would not be providing the primary input into the investigation. It would either be managing or oversighting. In many cases this would be oversighting which would mean that the bulk of the 'legwork' and interviewing would be carried out by the AFP or the NCA possibly in co-operation with other agencies. These investigations would be carried out according to detailed guidelines determined by the NIIC and the AFP or the NCA. The NIIC would not be duplicating the investigative facilities and resources of the AFP or the NCA. It would not require its own surveillance equipment. It would direct the use of AFP and NCA resources and equipment.

Commission's assessment of NIIC's funding

- 8.119 The Commission considered that there is significant scope within the current resources allocated to the AFP complaints and disciplinary system to off-set a significant part of the funding necessary for the establishment and operation of the NIIC, resulting in the introduction of the NIIC being cost neutral. However, it stressed that a more detailed analysis of the expenditure of the current system and the proposed NIIC would be necessary to assess more accurately relative costs.
- 8.120 A summary of the off-sets and efficiencies that the Commission considered from this initial examination are reasonable is as follows

Ombudsman \$590 000

AFP	\$1 200 000
FPDT	\$30 000
NCA	\$150 000
States and Territories (excluding the ACT)	\$ <u>150 000</u>
Total	\$ <u>2 120 000</u>

- 8.121 The Commission also argued that there are also other cost factors that are more difficult to quantify but nonetheless necessary to consider. They relate to effectiveness and credibility.
- 8.122 An effective complaints and anti-corruption system may be much more cost efficient in the mid to long term than current approaches because it should reduce the incidence of corruption and misconduct. Dealing with these problems after they occur, particularly when Royal Commissions or special inquiries become necessary, rather than having systems that can prevent, deter or identify them early is a false economy at best.
- 8.123 A credible complaints, corruption and disciplinary process may also be cost efficient at the macro level. Effective law enforcement and crime prevention rely heavily on the co-operation and assistance of the public. Having a credible complaints and disciplinary system is an essential part of ensuring that confidence. An absence of this co-operation and assistance means that more resources must be pumped into investigating crimes committed and dealing with the consequences of crime.
- 8.124 The Commission believes that the system that it proposed could even be cost neutral if a thorough analysis of the operation of the expenditure of the current system were undertaken and appropriate off-sets and savings made. However, if it were to be found that some additional funding was necessary either on a regular basis or in response to special circumstances such as a very extensive investigation involving a high level of investigative resources, the Commission was still of the view that its draft recommendations for a new system were clearly justified. The defects of the current systems²⁹⁶ and the undoubted importance of the integrity and accountability of the AFP²⁹⁷ and the NCA²⁹⁸ demonstrated the need for these suggested changes.

Additional comments on current expenditure

- 8.125 In chapter 5 the Commission has suggested that the NCA has already spent a considerable amount of resources and time on dealing with complaints and challenges to its activities that an NIIC would be able to do more effectively, expeditiously and efficiently. In fact the NIIC would in many cases remove the need for the inquiry in the first place because it would have a proactive and preventive function. The same reasoning also applies to the AFP.
- 8.126 The funding of the Harrison inquiry into certain allegations of AFP corruption is not being met by the AFP but by the Attorney-General's Department. However the exact source is not as significant as the fact that it is all from the public purse. These are matters that the NIIC would have examined in the course of its work and with the advantage of being fully established and with appropriate expertise to perform the task.
- 8.127 The Commission also sought further details from the AFP on the cost of surveillance which is commonly regarded as one of the most expensive items for complaints and corruption investigations. The AFP advised that there are no funds allocated to either ISA or IID for the purchase and maintenance of surveillance equipment.²⁹⁹ They both use the services of other AFP areas, that is, ACT Surveillance or the Police Technical Units. The AFP advised that the cost of surveillance for ISA in 1995-96 was \$16612. The AFP also advised that \$112585 was expended on a major investigation that ran over the period from 1994 to 1995. IID had no expenditure on surveillance for 1995-96.
- 8.128 While there are no precise figures available it does not appear that the expenditure on surveillance is a very large component of expenditure for the IID and ISA. In the Commission's view this lends support to the capacity of the NIIC to conduct or manage serious investigations using AFP facilities where necessary. It also suggests that an effective audit of the IID's and ISA's roles and functions might find significant savings

because one of the expected very resource intensive items does not appear to be costing a significant amount. Clearly very few investigations require extensive surveillance.

Submissions

The Attorney-General's Department

8.129 The Attorney-General's Department expressed the view that there was general concern that the figures quoted for the funding of the NIIC are inaccurate and understate the actual cost of setting it up. 300 In particular, considerable off-sets from the AFP's budget are proposed by the Commission. According to the Department this does not appear to acknowledge that about 70% of complaints about the AFP would be referred back to it for direct investigation with oversight from the NIIC. Therefore the AFP would require sufficient staffing and resource levels to deal effectively and efficiently with those complaints.

The AFP

- 8.130 The AFP submission argued that based on its experience to date the direct investigative workload of an external body would not justify the existence of a standing group of investigators which would maintain viability as to the members and the mix of skills they require.³⁰¹ The submission indicated that the most appropriate budgetary arrangement would be one that recognises the need to deploy teams of various sizes and skills, depending upon the nature and focus of the investigation.
- 8.131 The submission suggested that as the AFP would still conduct the vast majority of investigations in relation to the AFP there would be little scope for reducing AFP expenditure. It suggested that if AFP audit processes are further enhanced, as should occur, there may need to be increased resources in the complaints system.
- 8.132 *Commission's response.* The Commission reaffirms its view that the NIIC should have a small group of skilled and appropriately experienced investigators. The figure suggested in the DRP was 15. Those investigators would have a core of permanent work in conducting or oversighting complaints and corruption investigations. Their direct investigative work would focus on serious criminality and corruption and complaints which raised significant public interest that demanded solely external input or essentially external input. For less serious matters they would mainly oversight investigations by others, principally investigations carried out by AFP and NCA personnel. The Commission understands that ISA currently has a standing group of about 28 investigators and the IID has 19. It therefore finds the AFP's comment about the NIIC having no need for a standing group of investigators curious. Certainly, however, there would be a need for a flexible budget to ensure that staffing matched changing requirements and for the quick secondment of appropriate staff on a needs basis.

The Ombudsman

- 8.133 The Ombudsman submitted that her office would provide a much more cost effective mechanism for undertaking the complaint handling mechanism function suggested for the NIIC.³⁰² Her view was that the Ombudsman with a relatively slight increase in resources and some increase in powers would address the problems identified in the current system. The Ombudsman's office already has
- established infrastructure, including modern information technology, which examines the pattern of complaints
- officers in all mainland capital cities for independent receipt of complaints
- existing experienced staff who would form the nucleus of an enhanced police complaints capacity
- internal training and other corporate and policy support that is desirable for complaint investigations
- standing within both the general community and the AFP as to its independence

8.134 In contrast the Ombudsman argues that establishing a new organisation would involve establishment costs.

Commission's response

- 8.135 *General comments.* The DRP acknowledged that the Commission was presenting preliminary estimates only which were based on available information. No submission to the DRP has provided any specific analysis or assessment of the Commission's estimates. No alternative figures have been suggested either as to the appropriate amounts that could be off-set or to the amount that would be needed to fund the NIIC.
- 8.136 Clearly some amount of offsetting would be available. The Commission cannot see how that fact can be disputed. The AFP and the NCA would not be performing all the functions that they currently do. The NIIC would be replacing the Ombudsman in the AFP complaints system. By the Ombudsman's own estimate she currently spends at least \$475000 on AFP complaints.
- 8.137 The NIIC would in some cases be providing a significant amount of the primary investigation itself. This might amount to 40 to 50 of the most complex and serious cases. This would be work that the AFP currently must perform itself. The NIIC would also be providing direct supervision of other cases. That supervision should now be provided for by the AFP. The NIIC would also be auditing and reviewing the AFP's handling of minor complaints, a task that is currently performed by the AFP.
- 8.138 The criticisms of the Commission's estimates also fail to take into account or assess the efficiencies that the Commission expects can be made in relation to the complaints systems.
- 8.139 The Commission estimated that about 70% of all complaints could be resolved informally with an effective, national system of informal resolution. No submission challenged this estimate.
- 8.140 The Commission also argued that an effective risk assessment program with co-ordinated anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans and subject to the NIIC's auditing and review would reduce the incidence of misconduct and better target investigative resources. That argument has not been controverted.
- 8.141 The Ombudsman has commented on the fact that the NSW PIC will have about 70 staff and a budget of about 10 to 15 million dollars. In any attempt to compare these figures with those estimated by the Commission for the NIIC it should be borne in mind that the NSW Police Service has a total staff of over 16000^{303} as compared to the AFP's 2500 and the NCA's 400. The NSW Police Service is also subject to about five times the number of complaints as the AFP and NCA combined. Moreover, the PIC will be taking over the work of the NSW Royal Commission which has made findings of serious and systemic corruption within the NSW Police Service. The workload of the PIC is bound to be very considerable for some time. The NIIC would not have such a workload and under the Commission's recommendations it would be using to a great extent the surveillance and forensic facilities of the AFP.

Comparison with the Ombudsman's enhanced role

- 8.142 The Commission has canvassed the inadequacies of the current AFP complaints system where the Ombudsman overviews the process. That system is not meeting its objectives. Furthermore, it is the view of the Commission that the Ombudsman is fundamentally unsuited for the tasks that must be carried out to achieve those objectives. Comparative claims about cost efficiency can only be relevant where both bodies can achieve the core objectives. 'Cost effectiveness' does not mean cheapest. It means an approach that achieves core objectives in the most efficient and inexpensive way. In that sense then it is misleading to compare costs when the Ombudsman is unable to meet the necessary prerequisite of standards. However, in any event the Commission does not consider that enhancing the Ombudsman's role would result in a significantly cheaper option.
- 8.143 It is simply wrong to assume that the Ombudsman already has in place a satisfactory and working system even for dealing with day to day complaints, that is, without considering serious complaints and corruption. The Ombudsman has conceded that she would require additional resources to perform her AFP complaints role to what she considers to be a satisfactory level. In other words whether there is an NIIC or

the Ombudsman remains there would still need to be additional resources. In her submission to the DRP the Ombudsman gave no indication of how much additional funding she might require to perform the tasks that the NIIC would perform. However, in previous correspondence to the Commission she indicated that for her office to perform the complaints functions adequately would require \$1 million.³⁰⁴ She also suggested that for her office to conduct 40 to 50 additional independent investigations plus supervision of the more serious complaints investigated by the IID would require about 13 full time staff including 6 to 8 investigators. For her office to take on handling of complaints against the NCA would require an additional 4 staff.

- 8.144 In relation to the Ombudsman's arguments about the greater cost effectiveness of her enhanced role the Commission makes the following comments.
- 8.145 *The Ombudsman's existing infrastructure*. The Ombudsman's existing infrastructure for AFP complaints is not extensive or something that could not be readily replicated and surpassed by a new agency such as the NIIC. The Ombudsman has about seven staff who work regularly in the area although no person works exclusively on these matters. The Ombudsman's claimed modern information technology does not yet run to a shared database with the AFP or a common system of complaints classification.
- 8.146 In any event there would be a transition period and consultation between the NIIC and the Ombudsman so that the NIIC would have access to the Ombudsman's existing files and data, including computer data. It would not appear to be a difficult matter to ensure that the NIIC was given all relevant information. The NIIC would not be starting its information base from scratch but instead building on what already existed.
- 8.147 *Offices in all mainland capital cities.* The Commission proposes that the Ombudsman's offices should remain as formal lodgment points for AFP complaints and become so for NCA complaints. Therefore the removal of the Ombudsman from investigating complaints would not reduce the current coverage of the AFP complaints system. Under the Ombudsman's current arrangements her regional offices refer complaints about the AFP to her head office for consideration and investigation. The regional offices are essentially receipt points and do little more.
- 8.148 Moreover, the extent of the Ombudsman's efforts to provide services to places other than Canberra and the large capital cities is the subject of some controversy particularly in the Northern Territory (NT) and Tasmania.
- 8.149 The Commonwealth Ombudsman has terminated the arrangement with the NT Ombudsman whereby the latter acted as Delegate for the Commonwealth Ombudsman in respect of complaints within the Territory against Commonwealth Government Departments and authorities (including the AFP).³⁰⁵ In April 1995 the Commonwealth Ombudsman advised the NT Ombudsman that she in effect considered that the expense of the arrangement was no longer justifiable and that recent initiatives would ensure no reduction in the quality of service. She apparently had no dissatisfaction with the level of the service provided by the NT Ombudsman. In its place a part time officer (20 hours per week), employed by the Commonwealth Ombudsman is based in the NT Ombudsman's office and access is provided to a toll free number when that officer is unavailable.
- 8.150 The NT Ombudsman's view was that the new arrangement will represent a significant reduction in the quality of service provided to the NT community, particularly outside the Darwin area and most notably in Alice Springs.³⁰⁶
- 8.151 The Commonwealth Ombudsman has no office in Tasmania. The Tasmanian Ombudsman, Mr Green, has an arrangement with the Commonwealth Ombudsman so that complaints received by him about the AFP are simply referred on to the Commonwealth Ombudsman. Mr Green has commented that unlike all other State Ombudsmen, he also continues to act as delegate for the Commonwealth Ombudsman and Commonwealth complaints comprise a significant part of his annual workload. However, he has commented that the funding by the Commonwealth Ombudsman is inadequate given the service provided.
- 8.152 In her 1995-96 Annual Report the Commonwealth Ombudsman suggested her office might have to take cost cutting measures in response to required budget savings. These measures might include

- an increase in discretion rates, that is, where the Ombudsman declines to investigate
- possible closure of regional offices in Darwin, Adelaide, Perth and Brisbane.
- 8.153 A consideration of all of these matters leads the Commission to the view that the removal of the Ombudsman from the AFP complaints jurisdiction would not impair the treatment of complaints against the AFP throughout Australia.
- 8.154 *Experienced staff.* In the Commission's view the current number and relevant experience of the Ombudsman's staff does little to bolster the Ombudsman's claim for maintaining her role in law enforcement complaints. As noted above there are few Ombudsman staff involved in the AFP complaints area. Further, as Professor Pearce has said, the Ombudsman's office lacks staff who have the investigative skills and experience necessary to conduct major investigations into law enforcement complaints and corruption. Nonetheless, staff of the Ombudsman's office would be able to apply for positions with the NIIC which would choose staff subject on merit and subject to the overriding criterion that the NIIC is seen as a new, independent body.
- 8.155 *Training and corporate support*. The Ombudsman did not supply details about what this training and corporate support involved. However, there is little point in having training or corporate support if the core skills of effective investigation are not available. The NIIC would have its own training and corporate support with the advantage that this would be focussed on the specific needs of the NIIC. In contrast the Ombudsman's training and corporate support has a very wide coverage because the Ombudsman has a very broad and diverse jurisdiction. In addition one of the great advantages of the NIIC would be that it would have a special unit dedicated to analysing complaint and corruption statistics and trends and policy issues.
- 8.156 *Standing with complainants and the general community.* The Commission's consultations and submissions received do not demonstrate that the Ombudsman has good standing or reputation in this area. In fact they indicate that the Ombudsman has a poor reputation.
- 8.157 *Use of informal resolution.* The Ombudsman questioned whether an effective workplace resolution scheme across Australia would 'significantly reduce the expenditure of IID'. She advised that currently few complaints lodged outside the ACT would be suitable for informal resolution as they tend to relate to serious matters such as the execution of search warrants. Therefore only nominal savings would result from the adoption of effective informal resolution.
- 8.158 The Commission did not suggest in its DRP that savings from the introduction of an national informal resolution system would be 'significant'. It said that it would result in benefits to efficiency. Most complaints and allegations do arise in the ACT 565 out of the total of 740 complainants and 39 out of the total of 61 allegations. However, the costs of using informal resolution should be considerably less than for full investigations and so a national system would still result in worthwhile savings. It should be borne in mind that it was only in April 1995 that the Ombudsman introduced a more effective informal resolution scheme in the ACT on a trial basis. That is, some 15 years after the AFP complaints legislation was introduced.
- 8.159 The Ombudsman in her 1994-95 Annual Report commented that the AFP in that year resolved 143 complaints (21%) by conciliation. The 1995-96 Annual Report records that the AFP resolved 169 complaints out of a total of 737 by conciliation. The AFP commented that about 25% of all complaints were subject to workplace resolution. By contrast the Victorian Ombudsman has advised that it resolved by informal resolution some 49% of complaints it received.
- 8.160 In the Commission's view there is clearly considerable scope for greater use of informal resolution. It is also clear that this will result in very significant efficiencies because conducting full investigations is usually a very resource intensive process. On the basis of comparison with the Victorian results a reduction of about 25% of the number of full investigations should result in very significant savings. The Ombudsman's 1995-96 Annual Report states that for that period 264 complaints were investigated to an outcome. If this was reduced by 25% only 198 complaints would be investigated.

Comparative funding

- 8.161 *The South Australian Police Complaints Authority*. The Ombudsman in her submission used the example of the South Australian Police Complaints Authority (PCA) to support her argument that the Commission has seriously under-estimated the likely cost of a stand alone body such as the NIIC.³⁰⁹ The Ombudsman noted that, following a review in 1994, the South Australian Attorney-General's Department found that to be effective, the South Australian PCA, a stand alone body, required 18 full time staff. At that time the average number of complaints received per year in South Australia was 900. The Ombudman's submission added that 'significantly the Authoriy conducts no investigations into police conduct but rather reviews the police internal investigations.' The Ombudsman explained in a footnote that the PCA does carry out its own investigations into practice and procedure matters.
- 8.162 The conclusion that the Ombudsman drew in her submission was that the South Australian Attorney-General's Department's estimate of 18 staff for a stand alone body, mainly reviewing internal investigations, and dealing with some 900 complaints shows that it is unrealistic to expect a new federal body to deal proactively with 800-900 complaints and identify/investigate corruption with only 30 staff given the resource intensive nature of corruption investigations.
- 8.163 *Commissions' views.* The Commission has consulted with the South Australian PCA. It advised that it currently has 13 staff handling about 1200 complaints.³¹⁰ Its budget is about \$808 000 per annum. Futhermore, it carries out a considerable number of its own primary investigations which are not limited to 'practice and procedure' as suggested by the Ombudsman. It advised that many of these investigations involve significant investigation, including interviewing witnesses and collecting and assessing evidence. In the last year it has conducted 24 primary investigations and the year before that 19. All of these primary investigations were carried out by one investigator who has this as his major task.
- 8.164 The Commission also consulted with the Victorian Ombudsman who advised that in the year 1995-96 it had 12 staff involved in police complaints and opened 2345 complaint files. Its budget for police complaints was estimated at \$1020000. The Victorian Ombudsman's office in that period carried out 14 primary investigations and as well, the Deputy Ombudsman, on his own initiative, completed further investigations into 38 cases containing 149 allegations. In response to requests from complainants, another 104 cases were re-opened and examined by the Deputy Ombudsman during the year. In that same period, the examination of 84 cases was completed while 40 cases remained under consideration. During the period the Ombudsman handled 1119 allegations directly by means short of formal investigation. Of complaints against police received at the Ombudsman's Office and completed in 1995-6, 49.6% were handled informally. The Victorian Ombudsman's office also indicated that it has restructured its work and expects to make significant productivity gains.
- 8.165 In the Commission's view the examples of the South Australian PCA and the Victotrian Ombudsman's office demonstrate that the Commission's anticipated budget of 3 to 4 million dollars for the NIIC is feasible as an initial estimate. The NIIC would be dealing with considerably fewer complaints than the South Australian PCA and dramatically so in comparison with the Victorian Ombudsman. However, the Commission would estimate that the NIIC 's complaints budget would be greater than that of the South Australian PCA and the Victorian Ombudsman.
- 8.166 These comparisons with the South Australian and Victorian systems also suggest that the Commonwealth Ombudsman's office in dealing with complaints against the AFP has performed less satisfactorily than those two agencies when measured against their workload, staffing and budget.
- 8.167 While the Commission agrees that investigating corruption can be extremely resource intensive the number of such matters that will require extensive surveillance is likely to be very few in number and in respect of those matters the NIIC's actual expenditure will not be meeting that total cost. The NIIC will not be acquiring its own surveillance equipment because it will be making use of AFP equipment and resources and where necessary or appropriate having access to other investigative resources from other Australian law enforcement agencies. The NIIC will not need a large permanent number of investigators sufficient to carry out every function and aspect of each corruption investigation that might possibly arise. It will have a core of experienced and capable investigators who will be able where necessary to lead and supervise investigations.

The NIIC would make judgments about the level and nature of NIIC, AFP and NCA input required for a particular investigation.

Some other suggested alternatives to the NIIC

A legislative code on AFP and NCA for providing information and reporting

8.168 One suggestion discussed in a meeting with the Commission's consultants is that there could be a legislative code that required the AFP Commissioner and the NCA Chairperson to provide to the Ombudsman or the Attorney-General

- a report on any evidence of corruption or serious criminality
- information about the agencies' internal audits of their complaints and corruption and anti-fraud policies and implementation, for example, in Annual Reports.
- 8.169 *Commission's response.* The Commission is recommending that there should be clear reporting oblgations to the NIIC in relation to corruption and criminality. This is an essential requirement. However, reporting by itself would not provide any proactive element or continuous external review which the establishment of the NIIC would achieve. A report based on internal auditing would rely on the quality and depth of the agencies' information and could not ask the fundamental questions necessary about implementation of appropriate measures. The history and experience of law enforcement agencies' shows that external review is necessary to ensure public confidence and effective responses to complaints and corruption. This is further discussed in chapter 9.

Relying on the criminal law process to deal with corruption and criminality

- 8.170 One of the Commission's consultants believed that in the case of the NCA a completely internal complaints model would be sufficient on the basis that the ordinary process of the criminal law would be an effective response to serious complaints and allegations of corruption. The AFP would investigate such matters, the DPP would prosecute them and the courts would determine liability.
- 8.171 *Commission's response*. This is clearly defective as the only investigative input would be by the AFP itself. There would be no external oversight. It would not satisfy public confidence. The DPP is not an investigative agency. It can only comment on the investigations carried out by others. A reliance on this legalistic approach would provide no rigorous external input at the crucial investigative stage, nor would it provide any proactive input. The limitations of this view are supported by the Western Australian Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) who advised the Western Australian Premier that his Office was not the appropriate body to supervise the police force.³¹¹ The DPP argued that there are sound reasons to preserve the difference between the prosecuting and the investigating functions of the Government. A structure that would enhance accountability by providing for both general and random audits of police operations was necessary.
- 8.172 The NIIC would provide those suggested elements. It would carry out itself or supervise corruption or serious criminality investigations. It would also audit and review AFP and NCA anti-corruption and antifraud plans and their implementation.

NCA and AFP to investigate each other

- 8.173 Another suggestion is that the NCA could investigate or oversight complaints against the AFP while the AFP could do the same in relation to the NCA.
- 8.174 *Commission's response.* In the Commission's view this approach is fundamentally flawed. The AFP and the NCA have significant links with each other in operations and goals. The NCA has a large number of AFP seconded officers. It would be difficult to ensure that any investigation was suitably independent. Consequently the arrangement would lack credibility with the public. The task of investigating each others complaints and corruption would also be likely to interfere with each's normal operations. Moreover the

NCA is not an investigative body in the same way that the AFP is. The NCA has a greater element in its role of gathering and assessing criminal intelligence. It would have difficulties in providing sufficient investigative experience and resources.

9. Reasons for establishing the NIIC

Introduction

- 9.1 This chapter expands on the arguments put forward in the DRP for the establishment of the NIIC as the single external agency for investigating complaints and corruption against the AFP and the NCA.
- 9.2 The Commission considers that the NIIC as proposed in this report is the best and most cost effective response to AFP and NCA complaints and corruption. It constitutes a 'best practice' response. The Commission is in fact recommending a body that will effectively perform the functions that the Ombudsman's office in the case of AFP complaints was intended to perform. The NIIC would ensure that the objectives of the complaints systems are achieved.
- 9.3 In developing its proposals for the NIIC the Commission has considered a wide range of Australian and overseas developments and experiences. It has also carefully considered the submissions it has received and the views expressed to it in consultations it conducted. The Commission has considered not only the current position but also likely future developments and demands. The Commission believes that one of the clearest but often unheeded messages from a review of this information and research is the danger and the ultimate waste of resources and opportunities that follows from only making significant changes to police complaints and corruption policies and approaches after public revelations of significant systemic misconduct.
- 9.4 In maintaining its support for the establishment of the NIIC the Commission has carefully considered every other option that has been put to it. In the case of the AFP the major alternative suggested has been to enhance the role of the Commonwealth Ombudsman. In the case of the NCA the two alternatives are the Commonwealth Ombudsman or the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security. Those options are analysed in detail in chapters 4 and 5. The conclusion reached in those discussions is that they are fundamentally inappropriate for the tasks.

How should the NIIC be characterised?

9.5 The Chairperson of the NCA probably summarised the views of those who doubt the need for the NIIC when he commented that from where he sits the 'proposed solution has all the appearance of a sledgehammer cracking a nut.'312 This is intended to mean that the NIIC is too elaborate and too costly when compared to the size of the problem, that is, AFP and NCA misconduct and corruption.

9.6 The Commission considers that this is an inappropriate metaphor because it

- undervalues the importance of the AFP's and NCA's integrity and accountability, particularly in terms of these agencies' public credibility
- underestimates the inherent difficulties in achieving and maintaining AFP and NCA integrity and accountability and
- misconstrues the nature of the NIIC, particularly its measured response to complaints and corruption investigations and the appropriate balance that it would achieve between internal and external input.
- 9.7 This chapter is concerned with highlighting each of those three points. The NIIC is not a sledgehammer; nor is AFP or NCA misconduct a 'nut'. The latter in fact is not static and could not be so in the future even with appropriate measures in place to secure integrity and accountability. Misconduct and corruption are dynamic and may change as law enforcement environments, government policy, the law and community values change. The AFP and the NCA are not immobile or hermetically sealed organisations. There is an enormous difference between describing law enforcement agencies as being essentially conservative and describing them as static. In many cases law enforcement agencies must deal with significant legal, political and social change both from within and externally and may try to respond by attempting to adapt those changes to fit their existing views and objectives.

9.8 The Commission believes that a more apt metaphor to characterise the role of the NIIC is a health model, particularly one relating to a person with a special vulnerability to an illness. The NIIC would provide the AFP and the NCA with an inoculation against systemic or widespread misconduct and corruption. It would also provide constant monitoring of the health of the organisation and full regular checks. It would also assist the agency in implementing effective preventive measures.

The potential variety and sensitivity of matters relating to the AFP and NCA

- 9.9 Chapter 5 discussed a number of case studies to demonstrate the range and depth of complaints and questions about the NCA and how the NIIC would be able to provide the best response. This chapter discusses this matter more generally and discusses some specific cases in relation to the AFP.
- 9.10 Both the AFP and the NCA are involved in complex and sensitive operations. These operations may involve significant economic, social and political issues and the civil liberties of individuals and groups. Challenges and complaints about AFP and NCA activities are inevitable. Complaints or challenges may concern
- murder, grievous bodily harm, assault and other aspects of excessive force
- the unauthorised use of powers and discretions, including the NCA's coercive powers or AFP search warrants and telephonic interceptions
- unauthorised access or disclosure of information
- corruption including taking bribes or doing favours, selling drugs or weapons or money laundering
- obstructing the course of justice, by fabricating evidence or committing perjury
- rape, sexual assault or sexual harassment
- acting with political bias or nepotism.
- 9.11 Some complaints will have substance while others will not. A few will be deliberately false and others will be misconceived or made without the benefit of access to all the facts. No matter what category, if there is not an effective external scrutiny and review of these claims, then complainants may be left in doubt and in the case of high profile matters there will be public doubt. These doubts can accumulate and feed off each other. If there is a succession of these types of matters then the very existence and viability of the agency itself can be the subject of speculation or even put in jeopardy. The NIIC would not only be providing a valuable service when it identifies and deals with misconduct but also when it can report that a complaint or allegation is unfounded or lacking in substance.
- 9.12 The test of integrity and accountability is not merely dependent on the actual level of misconduct or corruption at any time. It is primarily linked to public perception. It will rarely be a satisfactory answer to these public controversies to blame the media for sensationalism or for inaccurate reporting, whether that may be true or not. The Commission is not suggesting that the NIIC would automatically launch a full scale investigation or inquiry into a matter simply because it receives public or media attention. It would be a matter for the NIIC to determine what response, if any, is necessary. However, there is no doubt that for serious matters that appear to have some substance the best answer will be to have an effective and independent body examine the matter and determine the appropriate investigation or response. The following case studies relating to the AFP demonstrate how these factors may mix.

The Harrison inquiry

9.13 The Harrison inquiry has been asked to examine a number of allegations and complaints about the AFP. On the television program '60 Minutes' on 24 March 1996 former Detective Sergeant Alan Taciak made admissions about his own corrupt activities and claimed to be aware of 78 other AFP officers who were

corrupt. The Producers of '60 Minutes' provided the Attorney-General's Department with 9 boxes of material and tapes relating to the interview.

- 9.14 An interviewing team consisting of representatives of the AFP and the Ombudsman interviewed Mr Taciak. The interview was taped and a transcript produced. The allegations involve former Federal Narcotics Bureau (FNB)³¹³ members and former and serving AFP members in such matters as
- corrupt activities including fabrication of evidence and acceptance of bribes
- other criminal acts including theft, illicit drug use and assault
- improper conduct and
- exploitation of deficiencies in FNB/AFP administrative practices and procedures to remove drugs or property for personal use or sale.
- 9.15 The terms of reference also require Mr Harrison to review and report on associated practices and procedures used by the AFP which may be deficient or may have contributed to or facilitated the existence of corrupt practices.
- 9.16 Mr Harrison has another Sydney barrister, Mr James Bennett, assisting him and two Tasmanian Police officers. It is instructive that the Ombudsman is not conducting this inquiry. The reasons for this seem apparent. In the Commission's view the Ombudsman has neither the resources nor expertise to do so. The Commission considers that the Harrison inquiry would not have been necessary if the NIIC had been operational. It would have examined Mr Taciak's claims with the potential if warranted to conduct investigations and hearings with royal commission powers.

Operation Wallah

- 9.17 In 1994 the CJC took over an investigation from the Queensland Police Service into organised prostitution on the Gold Coast. It codenamed the investigation 'Operation Wallah'. At one of its investigative hearings a number of prostitutes said on oath that a federal politician identified as the then Senator Graham Richardson was a client and that two businesspersons, possibly with criminal connections, were procuring prostitutes for Senator Richardson. The CJC considered that there was sufficient material about the possibility of these persons having criminal connections to pass the information on to the AFP which commenced an investigation into whether there had been any breaches of Commonwealth law. Details of the activities of the CJC and the AFP in the investigation were printed in the media. The disclosure of this information was unauthorised. Mr RV Hanson QC was asked by the CJC to conduct an investigation into whether any CJC personnel, any member or staff of the CJC Parliamentary Committee, or any Queensland Police Service officer had leaked the information.
- 9.18 The AFP investigation and report found no evidence of any breach of Commonwealth law. Senator Richardson refused to discuss one of the business people allegedly involved and denied that the other had supplied him with prostitutes.
- 9.19 The case was complicated by concerns expressed by officers of the CJC that the AFP was proceeding far too slowly in the investigation. The CJC made specific complaints to the AFP to that effect. Media reports suggested that there were concerns that the AFP investigation and report was inadequate and biased. An article in the Courier Mail suggested that the AFP investigation and report was a 'whitewash'.
- 9.20 Mr Hanson found that there could not be any criticism of the AFP investigation for failing to explore all avenues. Nor did he consider that the AFP investigation was unduly slow. However, he believed that the AFP took a slightly narrow approach by apparently regarding the CJC report as a complaint rather than as a source of information for an investigation into whether a federal Minister had been supplied with prostitutes by men with possible criminal connections. Mr Hanson also suggested that the AFP's final report did not seem to deal with the fact that there was sworn evidence from the prostitutes that supported the proposition that one of the businesspersons had supplied Senator Richardson with prostitutes.

9.21 If the NIIC had been in place it would be reasonable to expect that it would have monitored this investigation as it was clearly a high profile matter with potential political sensitivities. The CJC could have expressed its concerns to the NIIC. If Senator Richardson or any other person involved in the investigation had a complaint the matter could have been raised with the NIIC. Any media allegations of a 'whitewash' could have been met by the response of the NIIC undertaking an inquiry into the investigation and conduct of the AFP.

Other current allegations about AFP officers

9.22 There has also been comment in the media about a group of AFP officers known as the 'Three Little Pigs', who according to an allegation from a former ACT sex worker, used to frequent ACT brothels. They were allegedly paid in cash and sexual favours not to close the brothels. It is also alleged that these officers are now of senior rank in the AFP. Ms J Saunders, an ACT Legal Aid lawyer has also claimed that a number of legal aid clients have been assaulted by AFP police, that there has been fabrication of evidence such as 'verballing', and that drugs have been 'lost' by the AFP. 315

9.23 Some or all of these allegations may be pursued by the Harrison inquiry. They also illustrate the variety of allegations that are made and the value of having an agency such as the NIIC ready to consider them and take appropriate action.

Major advantages of the NIIC

Achieving objectives

9.24 The Commission is strongly of the view that the NIIC would best achieve the major objectives of law enforcement complaints systems identified in chapter 2. In summary the NIIC would best achieve those objectives because it would provide an integrated, balanced and comprehensive response to AFP and NCA complaints and corruption matters. It would streamline administrative arrangements. It would clearly be at the apex of the complaints systems for the AFP and the NCA. The system would be holistic and avoid the fragmentation and divided responsibility under the current system. The great strength of the NIIC is that it would be an external auditor of the integrity and accountability of the AFP and NCA.

An auditor of the law enforcement agency's performance

- 9.25 The NIIC would provide an audit of the AFP and NCA's performance in relation to complaints and anticorruption measures. It would ensure best practice and a pro-active stance to prevent, identify or deter potential misconduct before it occurs.
- 9.26 The Council for Civil Liberties submitted that one of the most serious problems of Australian policing prior to the establishment of bodies like the CJC was that it fell principally to the police services around the country to analyse their own track record. For example, after the Lusher report on the NSW Police Service both NSW Police Commissioners Avery and Lauer argued that corruption in NSW had been dealt an effective blow. Clearly the NSW Royal Commission shows those assertions to be utterly without foundation.
- 9.27 Relying on law enforcement agencies to gauge their own effectiveness has been recognised as a common problem. Skolnick and Bayley identified six main factors that inhibit innovation and change within policing
- the pull of tradition
- substantial segments of the public who do not want the police to change
- scepticism by unions
- costs
- a lack of apparent vision on the part of police executives

- and the incapacity of police departments to evaluate their own effectiveness. 317
- 9.28 The NSW Royal Commission commented that, if anything has been learned from the histories of inquiries into the NSW Police including the Moffitt and Lusher inquiries of the 1970's and 1980s to the more recent ICAC inquiries, it is that simple public disclosure of serious misconduct and corruption accompanied by policy recommendations specific to the matters unearthed, will not guarantee any long term remedy.
- 9.29 In the Commission's view what is needed to guarantee a long term remedy is not only a system of internal reforms and policies that continue to improve the agencies' cultures but the assistance of external oversight to provide independent and effective monitoring of progress. There must be continuing vigilance to achieve the goals of integrity and accountability.
- 9.30 The Commission considers that the Ombudsman, even with enhanced powers and additional resources, would be unable to perform this broad auditing function. To achieve a proper and continuous audit requires all the following elements that the NIIC would be established to provide
- the capacity to conduct by itself the full range of investigations including into serious criminality and corruption with the use of coercive powers and extensive surveillance
- a capacity to brief the DPP where appropriate
- a criminal intelligence database
- a policy and research unit that has expertise in law enforcement strategies and trends and statistical analysis
- the capacity and expertise to audit and review law enforcement anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans
- 9.31 The Ombudsman does not have any of these elements and for her office to try to develop them into a co-ordinated unit would be to move far beyond what an Ombudsman does. For the Commonwealth Ombudsman to even try to achieve it would inevitably create tension with the remainder of her very broad jurisdiction which would be completely different in focus. It would, in the words of the NSW Royal Commission into Police, 'subvert' her 'supervisory function'. Law enforcement agencies are special cases that need 'specialised review mechanisms'. 318
- 9.32 Even if the Commission was satisfied that the Commonwealth Ombudsman's performance in the AFP police complaints area had been first rate the Commission would still recommend a separate and focused external body with the powers and role of the NIIC. However, as has been noted, the Commission believes that the Ombudsman's performance in that area has overall been unsatisfactory. To give the Ombudsman additional resources in those circumstances, and where the pressure on the other parts of her increasing jurisdiction is becoming greater, would be a course fraught with risk. In contrast to the Ombudsman's current role, and in contrast to the inherent limitations of the role that her office could perform, the NIIC first and foremost would be an active investigator.

The NIIC to be an active investigator

- 9.33 One of the greatest weaknesses of many current complaints systems is the relative passivity of the external complaints investigator. This point has been made in relation to Australia and overseas.
- 9.34 The external agency must not rely on paper reviews of internal investigations. A former NSW Ombudsman described the then NSW police complaints system that relied on paper review as a 'dangerous charade likely to deceive members of the public that there is a watchdog or guardian with effective powers when there is not'.³¹⁹
- 9.35 The lack of independence in British complaints systems has come under much scrutiny. In particular many have expressed concern over the very low number of complaints which are selected for oversight by

the PCA.³²⁰ The recent study of the Toronto police complaints system also highlights the problems that a passive external investigator has in ensuring public confidence.

9.36 The external agency must be an active body by

- conducting its own motion inquiries and investigations
- selecting complaint or corruption matters that it must investigate itself
- providing appropriate levels of management and supervision of internal investigations.

9.37 The power to initiate an inquiry or action or carry out the first investigation should not be limited to rare occurrences or very unusual circumstances. The Commission considers that in the context of the AFP and NCA, the NIIC must have the capacity and resources to investigate completely by itself some 40 to 50 matters per year. In those cases where the law enforcement agency is given a role in the investigation the external input must still be effective. For example, Maguire and Corbett have argued that external supervision can work to reduce the frequency of police attempting to persuade complainants to withdraw and improve the quality, speed and thoroughness of investigations. The following comment was made in relation to the Toronto police complaints system.

Perhaps the most salient feature in the minds of complainants remains the fact that the police investigate the police. While this is itself a great source of concern, complainants are additionally dissatisfied with particular aspects of the investigations which could, at least to some extent, over-ride any lack of confidence in the investigation. Concerns over not listening to their side of the story, narrowly focusing on documentary evidence and physical evidence, giving too much weight to the subject officers' version of events and not enough to that of the complainant or the complainants' witnesses, could be more satisfactorily addressed within the current legislative framework.

9.38 The NIIC will have the powers and resources to manage and supervise internal investigations. It will be able to sample, quality test and probe. This must be a continuous process with regular feedback and where necessary corrective advice and instruction to the AFP and the NCA.

Meeting specific objectives

- 9.39 In particular the NIIC would best achieve the following primary objectives
- increasing public confidence in the integrity and accountability of the AFP and the NCA
- efficiently using and co-ordinating existing resources including providing the appropriate level of investigation of complaints and corruption
- assisting those organisations to respond effectively at a management level to complaints and corruption.
- 9.40 *Increasing public confidence*. The NIIC would best ensure public confidence because it would have the focus, powers and capacity to re-assure the public that there was effective scrutiny of the AFP and NCA. The NIIC would provide an appropriate balance between internal and external input into the investigation of complaints and corruption. As noted in chapter 2 attaining the right balance between those two is the fundamental issue in this inquiry both for the investigation of complaints and corruption and the imposition of discipline.
- 9.41 The Commission has explained why the AFP and the NCA must continue to play a significant role in the handling and investigation of complaints made against each respectively. The major reason is that they must exercise managerial responsibility for the range of complaints that concern them. However, their input must be subject to appropriate levels of direct management, case management guidelines and standards. The NIIC should conduct random surveys and audits of investigations where the AFP or the NCA has primary carriage. In some cases this could involve the NIIC carrying out a full re-investigation as a quality control.
- 9.42 The NIIC should take measures to explain to the public and individual complaints why the AFP and the NCA should continue to play a significant role in their complaints and corruption investigations. A

complainant should be advised about the level of NIIC, AFP and/or NCA participation in the investigation and resolution of his or her complaint.

- 9.43 *Measured response to complaints and corruption.* The NIIC would provide a measured response to complaints and corruption including the appropriate level of internal and external input into investigations. For the more serious end of corruption and criminality or cases of special public interest the NIIC could conduct the investigation totally externally from the subject agency. For other cases it might directly supervise the investigation or rely on agreed upon standards and guidelines. It always would have the power to take over an investigation itself or to change the process. The NIIC's operations would be calculated and surgical and not a sledgehammer to crack a nut.
- 9.44 Assisting AFP and NCA managements. The NIIC would have access to the complete flow of information about complaints and corruption to enable it to provide comprehensive responses to individual complaints but also to clearly identify trends and issues of policy and procedure. The NIIC would have a specialist policy and research function to provide that service.

Costs

- 9.45 In chapter 8 the Commission examined issues raised about costs. It was argued in that chapter that the Ombudsman was not the more cost effective response because the Ombudsman would be unable to perform all the necessary functions of the external agency. In any event the existing infrastructure of the Ombudsman would not form the basis for any significant savings.
- 9.46 The NIIC as envisaged and proposed by the Commission is a lean body specially developed to achieve the core objectives. There would be no excess bureaucracy. The budget would take into account changing needs (such as the number and complexity of corruption investigations) to ensure that only the appropriate resources are used to achieve the objectives. The NIIC would be a 'hands on' investigator as the Commission would expect that the NIIC Chairperson would be conducting hearings and the Commissioner for Complaints would have direct involvement in some complaints investigations.
- 9.47 In the Commission's view the cost of establishing the NIIC would not be prohibitive or excessive and the Commission has yet to receive any direct evidence that it would cost more than the initial estimate of about 3 to 4 million dollars or that a significant contribution to that amount would not derive from efficiencies from an audit of the current system. However, the Commission is concerned that the merits of the NIIC should not be obfuscated by arguments at this stage about exactly what it would cost. The Commission considers that the fundamental point is that the NIIC constitutes the best possible response including cost effectiveness and that any additional spending would not be excessive and would be a modest amount to pay for a system that will achieve very crucial public policy goals. The importance of those goals is shown in this chapter. The Inspector-General of Security and Intelligence made the following apt comment.

I appreciate that the resource implications of the establishment of a new body will be a consideration. That is a proper role for Government. Bearing in mind the high community costs already incurred in the law enforcement function, the costs of establishing a new body to independently examine corruption-related allegations, is a small price to pay. Indeed it is an investment, rather than a cost, if in the longer run it improves community confidence and helps to maintain higher standards of integrity and ethical conduct in the policing bodies.³²¹

9.48 Another major point to consider is that estimates of what the current systems cost should take into account the very significant expenditure on special inquiries and reviews that have occurred in relation to both the AFP and the NCA. In the Commission's view these inquiries and reviews would have either been unnecessary with the NIIC operating or would have been carried out by it.

The paramount need for law enforcement integrity and accountability

9.49 The rest of this chapter discusses the importance of the AFP and NCA's integrity and accountability and the inherent and constant difficulties in achieving and maintaining them. In summary, law enforcement officers are in a special position of trust and responsibility with the community because of their capacity to use force, the wide scope for the exercise of individual discretion from officers even low in rank, the

significant potential for misconduct or corruption and the difficulties in proving misconduct. They are in this special position of trust when compared to the majority of other occupations within the community. There is a vital public interest in ensuring that only people of high repute and performance remain in law enforcement agencies.

The growing demand

- 9.50 There is a growing international concern for ensuring the integrity and accountability of police agencies.³²² One commentator has suggested that the following factors have led to this increasing public scrutiny
- greater awareness of ethical and cultural diversity
- increasing media scrutiny of police activity
- 'incidents' or major scandals
- racial and ethnic sensitivity
- declining trust of the police by some segments of the community
- greater occupational professionalism by the police
- technological changes
- shifts in the focus of academic enquiry. 323
- 9.51 The Commission would add to this list the growing demand that all public institutions be accountable and efficient. The context in which civil liberties are discussed today has changed significantly over the last 20 years. Concerns about human rights routinely feature prominently in almost every aspect of international activity, particularly in relation to treaties and covenants. This can be characterised as a concern to protect and promote the rights of citizens claimable against their respective States. The institutions of the State are now more clearly seen as being there to serve the needs and meet the demands of citizens, not the other way around. In line with these changes significant developments in Australian domestic law have occurred over the past two decades.
- 9.52 At the Commonwealth level, a structured, statutory mechanism for judicial review of administrative action has been in operation for almost 20 years. Tribunals have been established to assist in the review of administrative decisions. Ombudsmen now exist at both State and Commonwealth levels and in respect of a range of functions. Equality and anti-discrimination legislation has been introduced in the States, Territories and the Commonwealth and these are backed by anti-discrimination boards and equal opportunity commissions including at a national level the Commonwealth's Human Rights and Equal Opportunities Commission.
- 9.53 Such initiatives have altered the nature of the relationship between State and citizen; the citizen's expectations of the State are now broader and more exacting. The mechanisms by which the organs of the State are made accountable, both collectively and individually, have come under increasing scrutiny and in consequence, they have had to become more transparent and responsive.

Public confidence crucial

- 9.54 The crucial importance of the public having confidence in its law enforcement agencies is widely acknowledged. These agencies need the public to be supportive and to be willing to act as
- sources of information, for example in investigating or preventing crime
- witnesses

- informed and impartial jurors
- citizens who generally understand the role of law enforcement agencies and who provide support for their activities.³²⁴
- 9.55 Without public confidence and credibility the notion of 'community policing' is mere rhetoric. The importance of public confidence has long been recognised but has become increasingly difficult to win. Sir Robert Peel said

The power of the police to fulfil their functions and duties is dependent on public approval of their existence, actions and behaviour; and on their ability to secure and maintain public respect.³²⁵

9.56 The current AFP Commissioner has publicly acknowledged the fundamental importance of public confidence in the AFP. The PJC on the NCA has emphasised the significance of public confidence for the NCA.

The committee believes that it is vital that the integrity of the NCA is upheld if it is to maintain the confidence of the Australian people. This means that there should be a satisfactory and transparent system for investigating or handling complaints against it. 326

Public confidence lacking

- 9.57 While it is acknowledged that public confidence is crucial the evidence strongly suggests that public confidence in most current law enforcement complaints systems, particularly where the agency itself is responsible for the investigation and control of the system, is lacking at every facet of the process: that is, lodging, recording, investigating and determining the complaint.³²⁷
- 9.58 Research on AFP complaints system. The Commonwealth Ombudsman engaged AGB McNair to conduct an annual client satisfaction survey of complainants against police. Of the survey group 27% perceived the outcome to be substantially or partly in favour of the complainant, 22% were satisfied with the final decision, 59% thought the final decision was not reasonable, 66% perceived the time taken for the resolution of the complaint was too long, 32% considered that useful information or advice was provided to them, and 56% considered that the reasons for the final decision were not clear. The response rate to the survey was 16% (compared with a response rate of 30% for all complainants to the Ombudsman in her different jurisdictions). This study indicates that complainants have little confidence in the current AFP complaints system.
- 9.59 *England*. The English survey evidence paints a similar picture. Maguire and Corbett's survey of 1000 complainants found 74% were dissatisfied with the outcome of the complaint and most of these were very dissatisfied.³²⁸ In cases serious enough to have been referred to the English PCA for possible supervision, Maguire and Corbett made the following comments:

Among the whole group, expectations of a fair and thorough investigation had been generally low at the outset. Moreover, among the minority who had started out in a reasonably optimistic frame of mind, nearly two-thirds finished up dissatisfied with the way the investigation had been conducted. Altogether, over half of the sample declared themselves 'very dissatisfied' and a further quarter 'fairly dissatisfied' in this respect. 329

- 9.60 After discussing the rather scant evidence on this question Maguire and Corbett concluded that their best guess was that at least one in three people who make a definite attempt to complain were dissuaded for good or bad reason from so doing by the police but that the proportion varies widely between forces and between individual police stations. Bona fide reasons for dissuasion may be that middle ranking police may explain the police action or offer an apology or say that they will speak to the relevant officer.
- 9.61 Lord Scarman in his report on the Brixton Disorders in 1981 stated that

I have indeed received considerable evidence of a lack of confidence in the impartiality and fairness of the [complaints] procedure, not only among members of the ethnic minority communities but generally. It has been suggested to me that because of this lack of confidence, there is a widespread reluctance to lodge complaints. People, it is said, do not believe that their complaint will be investigated or judged fairly, and they are worried that if they do

complain they will subsequently be subjected to harassment and intimidation by the police. The chief criticisms centre on the fact that under the present system the police investigate themselves.³³¹

The National Council for Civil Liberties (UK) also raised many concerns with the police complaints procedure in England at the time. ³³² They quoted the view of the English Police Federation in 1982:

There appears to be no way in which the public will be convinced of the fairness of the system so long as the police appear to be judges in their own cause.³³³

9.62 *Canada*. A recent study of the Toronto complaints system suggested that public confidence in the investigative process was so low that many victims of police misconduct considered it 'a waste of time' to complain.³³⁴

Submissions and consultations

- 9.63 The Commission's consultations and submissions received highlighted public scepticism of any complaints and corruption systems that essentially rely on the agencies investigating themselves. People generally expect a high degree of accountability from their law enforcement agencies. The public is now better informed and demanding more from its police forces.³³⁵
- 9.64 Many people consulted emphasised the need for investigations independent of the police.³³⁶ A frequent comment was that police should not investigate themselves.³³⁷ The NSW Royal Commission into Police was frequently mentioned as supporting that view. A number of those consulted suggested that the NSW Royal Commission demonstrated the need for a vigorous complaints system that did not rely on police investigating themselves.
- 9.65 The system had to provide real accountability.³³⁸ There was a lack of faith in internal investigations. For example, the Department of Environment Sport and Territories commented that in its discussion with members of the Jervis Bay community in relation to this inquiry a number of people expressed little faith in a system that relied on internal investigations.³³⁹ What was needed was a permanent body to oversight with the same status and powers of a royal commission.³⁴⁰
- 9.66 Members of the Western Australian Parliamentary Commissioners Office consulted by the Commission expressed the view that there was a strong undercurrent of feeling in Western Australia that police should not investigate complaints against themselves.³⁴¹ This feeling had particularly surfaced in response to the Royal Commission into Deaths in Custody.
- 9.67 Youth Workers from the Hobart City Council told the Commission that young people would certainly regard the police complaints system as more credible if the police did not investigate themselves.³⁴²

Trend to greater external review

- 9.68 In response to the clear lack of public confidence in law enforcement complaints systems there has been a growing trend to greater levels of external review. This is a discernible trend in countries with comparable legal systems to Australia such as New Zealand, England, Northern Ireland, Wales, Canada and the United States.³⁴³
- 9.69 It is also a trend within Australian jurisdictions. Queensland has had the CJC since 1990. The NSW Royal Commission into Police has recommended a system that increases external input into the investigation of complaints and corruption. The Commission was told in its consultations with the Tasmanian Ombudsman and the South Australian PCA that each wanted to increase their investigative role and input. There was an increasing discussion about giving the Tasmanian Ombudsman a greater role in monitoring police complaints including:
- being notified of every complaint
- being able to receive complaints

- overviewing investigations including commenting on appropriate investigators and
- being able to re-investigate. 344
- 9.70 The office of the South Australian Police Complaints Authority has highlighted the issue of underresourcing in the South Australian jurisdiction as an impediment to providing effective scrutiny and would like to increase the number and range of matters that the PCA investigates from the beginning or in the nature of re-investigation.³⁴⁵ This would require a build-up of the investigative capacity of the PCA.

Denmark

- 9.71 Denmark provides an example of a country that has moved to increase the level of external review of police complaints without any evidence at all of significant police misconduct or corruption.³⁴⁶ It increased the level of external scrutiny in response to the public's lack of confidence in the largely internal investigation system. Until very recently, the police complaints system in Denmark was an internal investigation and adjudicatory system with an external Review Board to ensure that complaints are investigated properly. This system was recently reviewed following a number of criticisms concerning the public's apparent lack of confidence in the effectiveness and fairness of the police investigating themselves.³⁴⁷
- 9.72 In accordance with that review a new system came into force on 1 January 1996. The DPP is now the authority which investigates complaints and the external supervising body is a Police Complaints Board (PCB). The DPP will as far as possible carry out the whole investigation by using teams of lawyers. The new system is designed to be more accessible and comprehensible to the public and to provide greater external review.

Special difficulties in achieving and maintaining integrity and accountability

9.73 There are a number of special and significant difficulties in achieving and maintaining the integrity and accountability of law enforcement agencies. A fundamental problem is the impediments provided by the negative aspects of police cultures. This is recognised as a major problem internationally and within Australia.

Negative aspects of law enforcement cultures

- 9.74 Every organisation has its own culture and sometimes there are competing cultures. Police culture describes the operation of informal rules that prescribe or modify police behaviour and will affect police attitudes to defining and dealing with misconduct.
- 9.75 Police culture has been said to be an understandable consequence of the nature of police work and the conflicting public expectations which are associated with policing. Police culture tends to be very inclusive and closed to the outside world.

In the closed society of police departments ... the pressure to remain loyal is enormous ... having subsumed their individual identities into the whole, cops know that betraying the group betrays themselves and destroys their identities. [Police] live in a world of desperately conflicting imperatives, where norms of loyalty wash up against standards of law and order. So mostly ... they see, hear, and speak no evil ... [but] special efforts can and must be made to overcome these powerful prescriptions of silence and loyalty in the culture of policing. ³⁴⁸

- 9.76 While these powerful, cohesive ties may be very valuable in some situations, such as in the conduct of operations, they often have negative consequences for law enforcement accountability and for responses to complaints.
- 9.77 Police cultures are often regarded as defensive and antagonistic towards complainants and their complaints. Police will protect each other and reinforce the informal rules in the face of perceived external and internal challenges. The overwhelming evidence and research from within Australia and outside is that police cultures have significant negative aspects such as

- hostility or indifference to complainants
- codes of silence including a reluctance to 'dob in' colleagues
- victimisation of whistleblowers and stereotyping of minority groups.
- 9.78 One London study on the basis of observing operational police work concluded that police officers will normally tell lies to prevent another officer from being disciplined or prosecuted.³⁴⁹ A commentary on the American experience made similar points.³⁵⁰ According to this commentary American police officers will rarely complain or give evidence about another's brutality or corruption.³⁵¹ If an officer does come forward with a complaint of brutality or corruption by a fellow officer, he or she is shunned and the entire police force closes ranks in silence and denial.³⁵²
- 9.79 The pervasive influence of a defensive or antagonistic police culture has greatly contributed to doubts about the effectiveness of complaints systems that rely on police control of complaints investigations. Codes of silence are recognised as difficulties in law enforcement cultures around the world.
- 9.80 These 'negative' police cultures can permeate the entire organisation or can prevent relevant information from being received by senior management. There are clear examples of the gross failures in accountability that can develop. The NSW Royal Commission into the Police commented that the NSW Police senior management appeared to be unaware of the extent of the problem of serious misconduct in NSW or if aware, have failed to adequately respond to it.³⁵³
- 9.81 *Submissions and consultations.* The Commission's consultations and submissions received re-enforced the significance of the difficulties of negative police cultures. A number of submissions commented on the strength of a negative police culture and the propensity for corruption and its cover-up.³⁵⁴ Police tended not to regard complaints, particularly at the minor level, as public relations matters. Police forces were still essentially conservative organisations and there was a great concern for avoiding loss of face.³⁵⁵
- 9.82 *The AFPA's views.* The AFPA in consultations suggested that the prevailing culture of the AFP is very different to that of other Australian police services. It did not believe that corruption in the AFP is systemic or widespread. The AFP culture does not regard corruption as being acceptable or clever. If a member is suspected of corruption or wrongdoing then other members will avoid that person for fear of being tainted by association. The AFP is a different organisation with a different history. The State police forces have historical links to corruption. On the other hand, the AFP is a very young organisation with a specific mandate. It has personnel coming to it from all over Australia. The tribal, insular mentality of some State police services is therefore absent. Finally, in its community policing role in the ACT the opportunities for corruption are more limited.
- 9.83 *Commission's response.* It is difficult to compare police cultures and the Commission is not in a position to assess the AFPA claim that the AFP culture is significantly better than some State police forces. The only study on the AFP culture that the Commission is aware of suggested that the AFP did have some significant problems with its culture. The Niland report dealt with the AFP culture in terms of its EEO policies. It did not deal with all aspects of the culture including AFP community relationships and perceptions. It did not discuss external complaints against the AFP. However, it touched on responses to internal complaints and found:
- supervisors often do not have the skills to handle grievances
- the formal grievance system has no support and is widely regarded as cumbersome, lacking privacy safeguards and open to bias
- complainants are stigmatised.
- 9.84 The issue of the actual level of AFP misconduct and corruption is dealt with below. However, it is the Commission's view based on the evidence from Australia and overseas that the difficulties of police culture are intrinsic to the nature of law enforcement work. While it is necessary and worthwhile to take active

measures to 'open up' police cultures as discussed in chapter 13 these measures will not eradicate these difficulties.

9.85 The AFPA argument that the AFP is a young organisation is of course of ever diminishing weight as time goes by. The argument that Canberra is a small country town, and therefore the possibilities for corruption there are limited, is also not entirely persuasive. The ACT has a significant drug problem that is the subject of media attention and Parliamentary debate in the ACT Assembly. The ACT has prostitution and gambling. When compared to Sydney and Melbourne these potential areas for corruption may be of lesser magnitude but they do exist. Moreover, as discussed below the AFP in its national investigative role is faced with considerable potential for corruption and misconduct.

Managerial difficulties

9.86 Law enforcement agencies have tended to regard themselves and be regarded as paramilitary, hierarchical organisations with a reliance on a disciplinary rule book. This has hindered the growth of effective and modern managerial responsibility. Etter has summarised traditional police management as follows

[P] aramilitary organisations with authoritarian, top down, rule bound management styles and tall, hierarchical, closed organisational structures with an emphasis on internal and vertical communication. 356

9.87 Policing agencies have tended to be anti-change and to have narrow, compartmentalised perspectives on corporate problems. Skolnick and Bayley commented

All organisations resist change, but one is hard pressed to think of any more resistant than the police.³⁵⁷

9.88 Another commentator argued that implementing change in policing was like 'bending granite'. ³⁵⁸ Police take pride in their ability to create and sustain a traditional image of themselves. Robinson has called police innovation a 'rare commodity'. There is a significant time lag between police adopting new ideas and other agencies doing so. ³⁵⁹ For example, management by objectives was 'old hat' before the police considered it and similarly the trend towards greater community involvement had been well established for years in many other agencies. ³⁶⁰ Innovations that do occur can often be attributed more to the vision and enthusiasm of key individuals rather than to any organisational encouragement. Often the stated policies and principles will be changed by the impetus of senior management but it is much more difficult to change the attitudes and work practices of the rest of the organisation.

9.89 A review of the South Australian Police conducted in 1994 reiterated the same message on the record of police incapacity to innovate successfully from within.

A number of important observations were made to the Review team. Perhaps the most significant, was the observation that change had only come about as a result of major problems in each of these States' Police Departments. It was not self generated. Change had invariably been imposed from outside and in the process, Police Departments had lost some of their autonomy... it seems that well structured, fundamental change which is self-motivated and self-directed is an elusive element for police organisations.³⁶¹

9.90 Etter argues that these attitudes and organisational strutures are beginning to change. However, she notes that Bayley in a 1990 study of Australian policing found that neither organisational structures nor personnel assignments had changed except in marginal ways in the past 20 years. She also notes that the AFP had implemented a policy of significant reform from 1990 which faced considerable impediments including suspicion of management initiated change, the complexity of industrial issues and a police culture that was not supportive of 'outsiders' and which perceived loss of security of tenure and reduced ranks as a serious threat.

9.91 Bayley argues that

Since the discipline system is supposed to prevent mistakes, police organisations repress knowledge of mistakes rather than learning from them. Mistakes prompt a single response: tighten discipline, punish individuals. If things go wrong it is never the organisation's fault - it is the fault of the working officer who failed to follow the rules. 362

- 9.92 These views have contributed to the 'rotten apple theory'. This theory is most applicable to situations where the police act as investigator, judge, jury and sentencer in matters relating to the conduct of other officers as there is often pressure within the police service to maintain the apparent integrity of the service at all costs. This conflict of interest may culminate in the portrayal of a corrupt officer as a solitary instance of corruption rather than a symptom of a wider problem. In fact the opposite is true. The NSW ICAC has submitted that corruption is frequently a product of the culture of an organisation. The NSW ICAC has submitted that corruption is frequently a product of the culture of an organisation.
- 9.93 Examples of ineffective police management allowing misconduct to breed are documented in many Australian and overseas inquiries (for example, Costigan, Fitzgerald, Wood and Mollen). In some cases, such as Queensland and NSW, senior management itself may be involved in corruption. It can never be discounted as a possibility. High level corruption has catastrophic effects on the credibility and integrity of the agency. An effective external agency with broad powers is vital to help prevent that occurring or to detect it as quickly as possible.
- 9.94 The AFP has acknowledged the managerial defects of a paramilitary, closed organisation and is trying to remedy them within its own organisation. However, the nature of policing and the resilience of an antagonistic police culture mean that it is necessary to have an external agency with considerable powers and focus to monitor and assist law enforcement management in the area of accountability and integrity. This will not only improve the actual level of integrity and accountability but will also help to ensure public confidence in the law enforcement agencies. Effective civilian review will deflect unfounded criticism, isolate the persistently erring officer, strengthen the hand of middle-managers and attest to the good faith of the police.³⁶⁷
- 9.95 There may be some concern that an external civilian agency is unable to make judgments about the propriety of police actions or understand the nature of police work. The NIIC would have staff who have the appropriate backgrounds and skills to make these assessments. However, the issues involved should not be regarded as totally unique to the police. Civilians should be just as capable of making judgments about the propriety of police actions as they are in determining the guilt of defendants in criminal trials.³⁶⁸ Lewis argues that civilian oversighting does not focus as much on the specialised technical aspects of police work as it does on its ethical dimensions.³⁶⁹ She examined allegations received by the CJC over a three year period and found that ethical and not technical issues were the predominant concerns of the CJC.

Problems with internal investigations

- 9.96 The Ombudsman's limited review of the AFP's internal investigations has led her to cast doubt on the quality of IID investigations. Many other inquiries, both Australian and overseas, have cast doubt on the effectiveness and impartiality of internal investigations. There is a tendency for them to go 'soft' on officers and 'hard' on complainants and to attempt to dissuade complainants from following through on their legitimate complaints.
- 9.97 The performance of internal investigations has received considerable criticism in Australia. 370
- 9.98 A succession of ad hoc royal commissions, commissions of inquiry and reports in Australia and overseas have exposed numerous examples of the failure of the police internal investigations process, particularly when there was no external, independent body to oversight the police.³⁷¹
- 9.99 Criticisms usually concern inadequacy, bias or excessive delays. The prevailing police culture means that there are strong risks that they will not be able to conduct thorough and fair investigations.³⁷²
- 9.100 Police investigators, whether unconsciously or otherwise, will tend to be sceptical of complainants and will be 'softer' on the police concerned. This lack of investigative thoroughness and active bias on occasions may take a number of forms. The police may question the complainant and his or her witnesses very vigorously, looking for inconsistencies but 'hold back' with police the subject of complaint. They may provide false or misleading information to complainants, pressure complainants to withdraw, or show police under suspicion copies of other members' records of interview and give them the option of adopting them. They may also favour the accused police officer's case by selectively interviewing witnesses or by not taking all reasonable measures to identify or find witnesses favourable to the complainant.

- 9.101 A number of inquiries in Australia have discussed corrupt or inefficient police internal investigation units.
- 9.102 *Queensland*. The Fitzgerald report made these comments regarding the Queensland Internal Investigations Unit in 1989.³⁷³

The Internal Investigations sections have been woefully inefficient, hampered by a lack of staff and resources and crude techniques. It has lacked commitment and will, and demonstrated no initiative to detect serious crime. Corrupt police have effectively neutralised whatever prospect there might have been that allegations against police would have been properly investigated. The section's effects have been token, mere lip service to the need for the proper investigation of allegations of misconduct. The Internal Investigations Section has provided warm comfort to corrupt police. It has been a friendly, sympathetic protective and inept overseer. It must be abolished.³⁷⁴

- 9.103 While the CJC and a revitalised QPS have had a very significant impact on the quality of police internal investigations, problems still remain. Police investigations require effective supervision and quality testing. In its submission to the Bingham inquiry the CJC advised that it had reviewed a sample of 180 investigations conducted by the Queensland Police Service. It found that 30 were 'inadequately investigated'. The CJC also stated that police investigators may sometimes not subject police officers to appropriate questioning, may not follow all productive leads and not secure all physical exhibits in a timely fashion.
- 9.104 *NSW*. The NSW Royal Commission into Police also found deficiencies in a number of significant NSW Police internal investigations.³⁷⁶ It found a police culture where reporting misconduct was discouraged and where those who did so were ostracised and persecuted.³⁷⁷ The Royal Commission made the following comments on the NSW complaints system:

Evidence to the Commission indicates that lack of confidence in internal investigations is still a significant problem. Although internal complaints are made, police are more willing to provide information on serious matters to an external body, as has been indicated by the flow of intelligence from serving police officers to the Ombudsman and to this Commission.³⁷⁸

- 9.105 The Commission noted the limitations of the NSW Police complaints model which relied on police internal investigations and oversight by the NSW Ombudsman.
- 9.106 Despite the presence of the Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR), the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC), the New South Wales Crimes Commission (NSWCC), and the Office of the Ombudsman, a serious corruption problem and an unhealthy police culture have developed, neither of which is of recent duration.³⁷⁹
- 9.107 *Western Australia*. In June 1996 a Parliamentary Select Committee inquired into the operation and administration of the Western Australian Police Service including the role and performance of the police Internal Affairs Unit (IAU) that was developed to deal with police corruption and the Internal Investigations Branch which investigates complaints.³⁸⁰
- 9.108 The Committee examined a number of internal investigations and found several significant inadequacies. In relation to the IAU it commented that the extent of police corruption accumulated over several years, during the whole time in which the IAU was operating, brought into question the effectiveness of the police service's anti-corruption strategies. The IAU was under-resourced and understaffed. The Committee also argued that the IAU was hampered by: deliberate obstruction of its investigations; the deliberate leaking of information; by suspects being tipped off and undercover operatives being identified to their targets; and by an unwillingness, even of honest officers, to stand witness against their fellows.³⁸¹ According to the Committee, evidence presented by whistleblowers suggested 'a disturbing propensity of some senior officers to protect at any cost the reputation of the Service'.³⁸²
- 9.109 *Overseas*. These criticisms of internal investigations are not limited to Australia. The Fitzgerald inquiry reviewed overseas experiences and made the following comment on the problem of relying on police internal investigations:

To a large extent, attempts all over the world to combat police misconduct locally [ie internally] have revealed similar and recurrent problems: police culture, lack of effective control of internal investigative procedures, lack of

investigative resources, organisations and procedures which inhibit honest police and lack of public confidence in the Police Force's ability to investigate complaints against its members. 383

9.110 *New York*. The Mollen Commission was established to investigate allegations of police corruption and the anti-corruption procedures of the New York Police Department. Its report made the following comment on the New York Police's Internal Affairs Division:

From the beginning of our enquiries, IAD investigators cooperating with the Commission told us that the work ethic in IAD was to close cases with as little effort as possible. Most IAD investigators, we were told, did nothing all day. One officer told us that they sit around and 'eat donuts and do crossword puzzles' - and the supervisors and commanders did little more. Indeed, the Commission conducted an anonymous survey of the work conditions and attitudes of IAD investigators which revealed that almost half of the IAD investigators' time was spent on non-investigatory matters - and most of their investigative work was done without ever leaving their office. The perception that most of officers outside IAD had of it was similar. IAD suffered a deserved reputation for attracting poor investigators, of focusing on petty misconduct rather than serious misconduct rather than serious corruption, and on conducting 'armchair investigations' - in the comfort of their offices rather than in the field. 384

- 9.111 *England*. The English Police Complaints Board in a triennial report³⁸⁵ commented on the unfortunately high incidence of investigating police officers who were too ready to accept the word of the alleged offending police officer against that of the complainant without proper consideration of the evidence. The English Home Office reported that in a significant number of the cases it scrutinised investigators had apparently whitewashed evidence for no apparent reason.³⁸⁶
- 9.112 The Maguire and Corbett survey suggested that the greatest degree of dissatisfaction was from those complainants who had actually had their complaints formally investigated and that the main reasons for this dissatisfaction were length of time taken to deal with the complaint, the absence of any apology, and the inadequacy of, or lack of explanation for, the decision made.³⁸⁷ Satisfaction did not appear to be related to the outcome of the case.
- 9.113 *Canada*. The study of the Toronto complaints system suggests that police investigators are successful at getting complaints out of the process through a variety of tactics: discouraging complainants from going ahead with their complaints, discrediting witnesses, and encouraging and coercing withdrawals.³⁸⁸

The constant risk of significant corruption and misconduct

9.114 The Commission considers that there is a constant risk of significant corruption or misconduct within law enforcement agencies including the AFP and the NCA. The Mollen Report commented on the universality of this risk in modern societies:

Any occupation comprising large numbers will have some corruption. More than any other profession, however, the police face seductive opportunities to turn corrupt. Today, many neighbourhoods of New York City are awash with drugs, money and guns, and our police are on the front lines. Potential for misuse of power and strong temptations challenge many of our police officers to abandon their oaths every day.

- 9.115 The Commission is not suggesting that Australia has the same magnitude of crime problems as New York but few would disagree that illegal drugs, money and guns constitute some of the most serious concerns in the Australian community. Just as for the New York police, Australia's law enforcement agencies are at the front line and a large number of their members face the same strong temptations on a regular basis. These temptations and opportunities are not a new phenomena and nor is there any reason to believe that they will disappear. In fact the evidence points to the constancy of the risk. These risks are magnified if defective or second rate complaints and anti-corruption systems are allowed to continue.
- 9.116 A large and ever increasing number of inquiries in Australia have examined or commented on the issue of police corruption. They include
- Beach (Victoria 1976)
- Lucas (Queensland 1977)
- Lusher (NSW 1981)

- Stewart (Commonwealth, NSW and Victoria 1986)
- Neesham (Victoria 1985)
- Fitgerald (Queensland 1989)
- Lee (NSW 1990)
- Wood (NSW 1995).³⁸⁹
- 9.117 Henry has reviewed the tradition and evolution of police corruption. Police deviance has been so common that corruption has often been characterised as an abiding and endemic feature of police work. It is intrinsic to the nature of law enforcement in that police are given a special coercive force which is often exercised with considerable discretion and where internal or external oversight is necessarily limited.
- 9.118 There is a cycle of corruption, reform and public apathy which adequately describes the history of progress in many law enforcement agencies around the world. Henry argues that apathy has enormously deleterious effects upon corruption control efforts. The opportunities for corruption and misconduct are not static. The law enforcement environment changes as do law enforcement priorities and public opinion. A law enforcement agency that appears relatively 'clean' may not stay that way without continuing vigilance and effective pro-active responses. One of the greatest dangers is 'organisational inertia and a bureaucratic complacency born of excessive confidence in the effectiveness of existing systems'. While environmental change may lead to the near extinction of a particular species of corruption, some forms will inevitably adapt to and flourish in the new environment.
- 9.119 Henry uses the example of New York to demonstrate how anti-corruption procedures that were initially successful can become unsuccessful and actually mask the onset of other serious malpractices. The reforms of the Knapp Commission in 1972 were extremely effective in reducing the traditional types of corruption such as graft from nightclub owners, gamblers and prostitutes. However, during the 1980's corruption took a new route to that of wide scale drug corruption. There was a proliferation of narcotics abuse in society and a rapid increase in narcotics related crime. Some New York police officers were not merely obtaining payments from drug dealers or robbing dealers and users, they were actively involved in the drug trade.
- 9.120 The NSW Police Service is an Australian example which bears out the resilience and adaptability of police corruption and serious misconduct.

NSW

9.121 In the 1980's NSW Police Commissioner John Avery began a policy of major reform of the NSW Police Service. In the face of considerable opposition much of it generated by a hostile police culture Commissioner Avery succeeded in substantially implementing most of his reforms. He regionalised significant powers and broke down the many centralised specialist squads, particularly within the CBD, which were regarded as 'nests of corruption'. The core policing strategy was changed to community policing and the NSW Police Force became the NSW Police Service. The goal of reform in the NSW Police Service from 1984 to 1988 was stated as

To make the NSW Police Department the best in the world; to rid the organisation of the dark shadow of corruption; to encourage a high degree of professionalism; and to introduce community based policing as the principal operational strategy.³⁹¹

Commissioner Avery was rightly praised as a police manager of great vision and commitment.

9.122 However, the reforms that were implemented did not rid the NSW police of corruption. Far from it, as the NSW Police Royal Commission that began in 1994 has only too painfully demonstrated. A series of commendable internally generated reforms and a management style at the top that was open and innovative did not remove the 'dark shadow'.

The current level of misconduct and corruption within the AFP and the NCA

- 9.123 The actual level of misconduct and corruption within the AFP and to a lesser extent within the NCA is the subject of some public debate and conjecture. In the Commission's view it will inevitably continue to be the subject of considerable conjecture while a body such as the NIIC is absent. The Commission accepts that there is no reliable evidence to suggest that currently corruption is systemic or endemic within the AFP or the NCA. In relation to the AFP, the Commonwealth Ombudsman has submitted that there is no evidence of the type of wide ranging problems that led to the establishment of the CJC in Queensland. The AFP has submitted that corruption within it is not systemic or widespread. It does concede that recent allegations of corruption are of concern. The NCA has advised that it considers that the opportunity for corruption or serious misconduct within its activities is 'limited'.
- 9.124 However, the Harrison inquiry is examining certain allegations of corruption in relation to the AFP.
- 9.125 One submission to the Commission suggested that misconduct and corruption within the AFP was common and that while the 'brotherhood' continued to exist misconduct would continue at unacceptable levels.³⁹²
- 9.126 *Evidence from the NSW Royal Commission*. The NSW Royal Commission has advised the Commission that 15 former or serving AFP officers have been adversely named in evidence before the Royal Commission.³⁹³ One currently serving NCA officer has been the subject of adverse evidence. It must be stressed that the NSW Royal Commission is inquiring into corruption in the NSW Police Service. It has no responsibility to investigate corruption within the AFP or the NCA. The naming of those AFP officers and the NCA officer is a collateral result of its investigations into the NSW Police service and cannot therefore be used as a 'barometer' for estimating any corruption by the AFP or the NCA in the rest of Australia.

Special risks for the AFP and the NCA

- 9.127 The AFP and the NCA are at the forefront of Australia's national law enforcement strategy against organised crime. Organised crime has been defined as a 'systematic and continuing conspiracy to commit serious offences'. ³⁹⁴ It may involve, for example, fraud, extortion, drug trafficking and money laundering. These are areas where there is significant potential for serious corruption and misconduct and where the consequences are serious.
- 9.128 The trade in illegal narcotics is arguably the biggest and most profitable enterprise in the world. The amounts of money involved are astronomical. A United Nations (UN) report stated that the identifiable costs of drug abuse in consumer countries seemed to range from 0.5 to 1.3% of gross domestic product, the largest part of which involves drug related crime and law enforcement costs. The health costs of a drug addict appear to be some 80% higher than those of an average citizen in the same age group. There is also a nexus between drug abuse and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS). The UN reported that conservative estimates of the annual turnover of the global illicit drug industry from 400 billion to 500 billion US dollars. That would be equivalent to about one tenth of total international trade. It would nearly be double the turnover of global pharmaceutical companies. Langer pointed out in 1986 that

Maintaining the integrity of police and other criminal justice officials in the face of the financial inducements of the one hundred billion dollar drug traffic [as estimated in 1986] is the major challenge facing law enforcement agencies throughout the world. 396

- 9.129 However, the impact on individuals and the community cannot be calculated simply in financial terms as enormous as they are. There are also devastating and tragic consequences for individuals, families and local communities. Social cohesion and integration are almost always compromised by the escalating drug problem.
- 9.130 The investigation of organised crime may involve the AFP and the NCA in dealing with a wide range of criminal activities. The AFP has had an increasing role in investigating white collar crime. It investigates major social security fraud and major fraud by personnel of Commonwealth agencies. As with drugs each of these costs the community dearly. At the moment there is no reliable estimate of the total cost of fraud on the Commonwealth. The Australian Federal Police Association (AFPA) estimated costs of public sector fraud at

around \$9 billion, including tax frauds estimated at \$3 billion, social welfare fraud at \$2 billion, customs duties evasion at \$2.5 billion, health/Medicare fraud at \$700 million and defence fraud at \$800 million.³⁹⁷ Information from the respective government departments concluded that the total was actually less than \$2.3 billion.³⁹⁸ The Australian Institute of Criminology (AIC) suggests that the difference between the two estimates may be largely due to different guesses at the extent of undiscovered crime. The AIC argues that the temptation for government departments would be to underestimate the extent of fraud in their area of interest in order to avoid unwelcome publicity and audit intervention. The AIC concluded that the range of estimates currently available from the AFPA and the departments should be seen as from optimistic to pessimistic.

- 9.131 CLEB has advised the Commission that it is gathering and analysing information provided to it with a view to making an accurate estimate of the cost of fraud against the Commonwealth.³⁹⁹ CLEB is currently preparing a report to Government on progress in this task.
- 9.132 The AFP is also concerned with any international pedophile links with Australia and with threats of international or national terrorism. For example, the AFP investigated the Australian activities of the Japanese religious sect, Aum Shinrikkyo, alleged perpetrators of the Sarin gas attacks in Japan. The AFP and the NCA may well have crucial roles to play in assessing and responding to terrorist risks at the Olympic Games in Sydney in 2000.
- 9.133 However, as the Commission has emphasised, law enforcement is not static. Problems and issues change. The AFP Commissioner has identified the following as growing areas of crime that are likely to confront society beyond the year 2000
- computer crime
- environmental crime
- intellectual property
- syndicated crime, whereby criminal organisations have international links and cut across most groups in society, be it political, business, entertainment, law enforcement or public service.
- 9.134 The AFP and the NCA clearly have very crucial roles to play in response to these classes of emerging crimes.
- 9.135 The risks that organised crime and these new crimes pose to the integrity of the AFP and NCA will only increase. It may only take one leaked piece of information, one telephone call or conversation, to compromise a large and complex law enforcement operation. According to the AFP Commissioner there has been a steady rise and infiltration into Australia of organised crime. The Commissioner has commented that this has occurred with the support and involvement of dishonest and avaricious lawyers, bankers, accountants and politicians. Police investigations into organised crime will become increasingly difficult particularly as organised crime 'globalises'.

The globalisation of crime

9.136 Nearly all major crime issues impacting on Australia originate elsewhere, particularly in relation to drugs and fraud. 402

Australia can no longer consider its crime problem to be largely domestic in nature and localised in its manifestation. No longer are we an isolated continent which enjoys natural protection; the pace of change has drawn us inextricably into the 'global village'. 403

9.137 The AFP view is that organised crime has moved into new and lucrative crime endeavours. Many of these criminal networks operate under the guise of successful and legitimate businesses. There is a larger movement of people, cash and goods around the world. There have been significant changes in the nature and extent of global organised crime including the growth of international financial fraud, large scale organised drug trafficking and the emergence of new criminal groupings after the end of the Cold War. With

the breakdown of the former USSR there has been a significant increase in crime from Eastern Europe. International crime is becoming increasingly sophisticated and more difficult to combat as the following occurs

- the revolution in modern technology, particularly in communications and transport
- the development of global markets associated with deregulation of financial systems
- the progressive removal of border controls
- the emergence of new market economies.

9.138 There is increasing evidence that some criminal organisations, particularly those involved in drug trafficking, have reorganised their activities to resemble multi-national corporations. Strategic alliances have been established, profits shared and territory split as is demonstrated by the existence of arrangements between Colombian cartels, the Sicilian Mafia and the recently emerged but increasingly relevant Russian Mafia. Similarly, within South East Asia closer relationships now exist between Thai and Vietnamese drug traffickers and between the Japanese Baryokudan (or Yakuza) and Chinese Triads.

9.139 The AFP argues that what is required is international and national collaboration between law enforcement agencies. For example, it is forging a strengthened alliance with the NCA and State and Territory police to detect and investigate major drug importations. While these alliances are no doubt necessary they bring their own risks to the integrity of the AFP and the NCA.

Interaction with other agencies

9.140 Increasingly law enforcement agencies are working closely with each other. The NCA's normal modus operandi is to work closely with other agencies. It also has seconded officers from a range of other federal State and Territory agencies including the AFP and State police services. The AFP has pointed to the growth and desirability of close working contact and joint operations. It is therefore becomingly increasingly difficult to 'quarantine' a particular agency from the culture or activities of others. In some circumstances there are no doubt advantages in this co-operation in ensuring that proper procedures are maintained. However, in other cases this close interaction may lead to corruption or misconduct spreading across agencies. This apparently occurred with the Joint Drug Task Force when the AFP and the NSW Police Service worked together. What it may suggest that there is a concerted effort made to ensure the integrity of all agencies involved in any collaborative work.

Difficulties of detecting and dealing with misconduct and corruption

9.141 There are other significant difficulties in achieving law enforcement accountability and integrity. These also relate to the nature of law enforcement. There are clear and constant difficulties in investigating law enforcement misconduct and corruption. The NSW Royal Commission into Police commented that corruption is 'insidiously difficult to detect and amounts to serious criminal conduct which requires the application of sophisticated and determined investigative techniques'. The Royal Commission identified special difficulties in investigating police misconduct:

- police know the system and are likely to have early warning of any interest in their activities
- they are skilled in investigation techniques and counter surveillance
- they are likely to have corrupt associates willing to cover for them
- they are experienced in being interviewed, in being cross examined and in giving evidence
- their good credibility and character are readily assumed by jurors, courts and tribunals

•	they can particularl	exert cons y if they ho	iderable pold senior	ersonal rank.	influence	over	internal	informants	and	internal	investigators

10. Disciplinary systems for the AFP and NCA

Introduction

10.1 Chapter 4 discussed the AFP complaints system and Chapter 5 dealt with a complaints system for the NCA. This chapter examines the current disciplinary processes of the AFP and the NCA and other options available to management to deal with poor or inadequate performance or misconduct. The Commission recommends a very different approach to the current AFP and NCA disciplinary processes. For the AFP this involves a change from the current quasi-criminal, para-military model to a new approach based on managerial responsibility and administrative review. For the NCA it would mean that it would have for the first time its own disciplinary code that would also be based upon managerial responsibility.

Current AFP non-disciplinary responses to misconduct or poor performance

10.2 The AFP Commissioner has three major non-disciplinary options available to respond to employee unsuitability, poor or inadequate performance or misconduct:

- fixed term appointments
- performance appraisal
- the s 26E power to end appointments.

10.3 The failure to reappoint and the early ending of appointments can be relevant to cases where an AFP appointee is subject to complaints whether substantiated or unsubstantiated.

Fixed term appointments

10.4 Since 1990 the AFP has had a legislative system of fixed term appointments of generally five years. The AFP can assess an employee's suitability as the date for consideration of re-appointment approaches. The AFP Regulations prescribes the minimum standards for appointment or re-appointment. For re-appointment to occur the Commissioner must be positively satisfied that the person is suitable for re-appointment. The person must meet the requirements of competence and qualifications to hold a position including that the person is of 'good character and reputation' and meets other relevant criteria for suitability for the position. In its 1995-996 Annual Report the AFP advised that during the reporting period eight appointees were not reappointed after expiration of their fixed-term appointments although internal review of these decisions led to reappointment of four appointees. Six appointees were reappointed only for short terms. Herein the AFP advised that during the reporting period eight appointees were not reappointed after expiration of their fixed-term appointments although internal review of these decisions led to reappointment of four appointees. Six appointees were reappointed only for short terms.

Performance appraisal

10.5 The AFP also has a performance appraisal system for all staff. The Commission's consultations with AFP senior management indicated that the current performance appraisal system could be used more effectively to better provides a genuine and objective appraisal of performance. It was suggested that some supervisors have tended not to formally rate a person's performance as inadequate in a particular area when objectively that was the appropriate conclusion.

AFP's Employment Standards unit

10.6 The AFP's latest Annual Report refers to the establishment within the AFP of a new unit called Employment Standards. It is intended to deal more effectively with those appointees who appear not to meet the AFP's professional standards whether this arises from poor performance or lack of integrity. It manages disciplinary processes, conducts employment suitability assessments in cases of likely non-reappointment and initiates action under s 26E.

The DRP's views on fixed term appointments and performance appraisal

10.7 The DRP concluded that fixed term appointments and performance appraisal are each valuable tools for AFP management. They can be used to ensure that only suitable persons are employed, that performance is effectively monitored and that appropriate management responses are made. They can provide effective incentives and disincentives to ensure high standards of performance and employee suitability. For example, re-appointments in cases where there are specific problems may be made for a lesser period, say two years, and subject to review and improvement in performance in the particular problem area.

Sections 26E and 26F

10.8 The Commissioner has the power under s 26E of the AFP Act to end an appointment before its due expiry. A person retired under s 26E may be entitled to the full superannuation benefits accrued. However, taking action under s 26E does not preclude the option of withholding superannuation in cases of corruption offences under the AFP Act. The AFP can also consider amendments to the relevant determination by the Commissioner on the AFP Adjustment Scheme Payment so that a person retired under s 26E for serious misconduct would not receive the compensation element for the period of his or her fixed term appointment not served. Currently where an appointee is retired under the provisions of s 26E on the basis of poor performance or employment suitability the decision is subject to full merits review under the unlawful termination provisions of the Industrial Relations Commission and Industrial Relations Court (IRC).

10.9 Section 26E has been used as an alternative to disciplinary proceedings. During the last financial year 11 appointees were retired early under the provisions of s 26E. Some of the advantages of using s 26E when compared to the current disciplinary process are that it is quicker, more reliable and less expensive. The Commission's recommendations about the disciplinary processes in this chapter and chapters 11 and 12 are designed to improve the speed and effectiveness of that process and reduce its costs. However, the Commission considers that the AFP Commissioner should have a wide range of responses available to deal with poor or inadequate performance and misconduct. Management must decide the appropriate response to a particular case but any action taken must be according to the relevant provisions of the legislation and subject to any administrative review available.

Amendments to s 26E

10.10 The Australian Federal Police Amendment Act 1996 (Cth) has amended s 26E and added s 26F to the AFP Act. The purpose of these amendments is to allow the Commissioner to respond quickly and effectively to corruption and serious misconduct cases. It enables the Commissioner to declare that a person is retired under s 26E because of serious misconduct that is having, or is likely to have, a damaging effect on the morale or self-respect of AFP personnel or the reputation of the AFP. The Commissioner must have reasonable grounds to make such a declaration. The declaration excludes such a person from the operation of the procedures for termination of employment provided by the *Industrial Relations Act 1988* (Cth). Where a s 26F declaration is made the appointee may only seek judicial review of the decision under the ADJR Act.

10.11 The Commission supports the amendments to s 26E and the addition of s 26F so that the Commissioner can provide a quick response to corruption and other gross misconduct without having to wait for the outcome of disciplinary or criminal proceedings. The provision as amended is part of the 'necessary armour to combat corruption within the AFP'. 410

DRP's proposed amendment to s 26E

10.12 The DRP proposed that further amendments to s 26E be made so that merits review for decisions under that provision would be provided by the AAT. Under the present provision the Industrial Relations Commission and the IRC provide merits review of all retirements under s 26E except for those involving serious misconduct under s 26F where there is no merits review available. The Commission considered that administrative review by the AAT would be more appropriate for s 26E. It made that proposal for the following reasons.

10.13 The Commission considered that administrative review by the AAT is the most appropriate mechanism for review of disciplinary decisions by the Commissioner. Decisions by the Commissioner under

s 26E are similar in process and result to the Commissioner's disciplinary decisions. They are both integral aspects of the AFP's managerial responsibilities. They both concern the Commissioner assessing facts and circumstances and considering an officer's suitability for employment.

10.14 The AFP is significantly different to many public sector organisations. It is constituted by a workforce which is engaged according to fixed term statutory appointments. In the case of the AFP, disciplinary breaches and a failure to perform satisfactorily should be regarded fundamentally as breaches of these terms of appointment. The industrial relations legal process with its emphasis on arbitration and decision-making across the broad spectrum of employees does not sit well with the specific fixed term appointments for AFP staff. The adoption of an industrial relations approach might tend to obscure the basic objectives of the disciplinary and managerial process and perhaps maintain a quasi-criminal approach with, for the serious cases, the application of something akin to the criminal standard of proof. The Commission was of the view that the attitude that disciplinary and employment suitability decisions are quasi-criminal is more likely to affect an industrial relations approach than the application of administrative review.

10.15 In the DRP the Commission expressed a concern about duplication of decision-making that might occur with the IRC having jurisdiction. Under its jurisdiction unlawful terminations are heard by judicial registrars. A party to the decision may ask the Industrial Relations Court to review the decision by the judicial registrar. The Commission was also concerned that an industrial relations process could increase delays and costs and expressed uncertainty about the stability of the IRC's caseload. The large number of unrepresented claimants and the IRC's preference for oral evidence might increase the duration of hearings.

Submissions

10.16 The AFP supported the introduction of a managerial model and the existence of full merits review to the AAT on s 26E decisions. However, the AFP stated that there will be situations where a determination is made under s 26E based on a 'loss of confidence' in the appointee. In these situations which the AFP described as situations where the conduct, behaviour, reputation or character of an appointee is such that the Commissioner believes on reasonable grounds that he or she is no longer suitable for AFP service, the AFP was of the view that the option of reinstatement should not be available on review to the AAT. The AFP argued that in those cases the reinstatement of the person is likely to be harmful to the reputation, status and integrity of the AFP. The AFP drew a distinction between these situations of 'loss of confidence' and situations where a declaration is made under s 26F. It advised that there will be situations where the decision under s 26E is based on a 'loss of confidence' but the conduct will be insufficient to justify the making of a s 26F declaration.

10.17 The Victoria Police supported the Commission's recommendation. It stated that the proposal for the AAT rather than the IRC to review s 26E decisions was similar to the Victorian system where the decision to dismiss a member from the Force is administratively reviewed by an independent Police Review Commission (PRC) although the PRC can only recommend to the Commissioner that the decision to dismiss be accepted or varied. The Victoria Police expressed a concern with the terminology of s 26E suggesting that to declare a person 'retired' lends a veneer of dignity to what ought properly to be regarded as a disgraceful exit. They suggested that harsher terminology such as 'termination' or 'dismissal' would indicate that there was no dignity or respect in leaving the organization under these circumstances.

10.18 A registrar of the IRC provided the Commission with updated figures in relation to review rates, length of hearings and the level of the IRC's workload. In 1995-96 the review rate for determinations about unfair dismissals had fallen to 21% of orders. The submission stated that although the legislation provided for a hearing de novo, in practice, most parties consented to a judge conducting the review on the material that had been tendered in the lower court. Additionally a large number of review applications were settled or withdrawn prior to hearing so that only around 11% of orders made actually proceeded to a hearing before a judge. It also indicated that in 1995-96 the IRC experienced a stable caseload with cases being disposed of in a median time of 77 days from filing to finalisation. For matters proceeding to a hearing the median time was around 170 days. 83% of all cases were settled before a hearing. The submission also argued that the preference for oral evidence has not added to delays but reduced them, notwithstanding the large numbers of unrepresented litigants. Settlement rates were high and the duration of hearings was short. In 1995-96 40%

of claims were heard in half a day, 68% were heard in a day and 89% lasted up to two days. The IRC made no submission on the policy question of whether the IRC or the AAT should provide merits review. 416

10.19 The AAT submission⁴¹⁷ also did not address the issue of whether there should be AAT or IRC review of s 26E decisions.

Commission's view

10.20 The Commission has noted the comments made by the Registrar of the IRC. The comments made in the DRP were based upon infromation provided in the IRC Annual Report of 1994-95 which contained the most up-to-date information available at the time of the DRP.

10.21 Notwithstanding the updated material provided by the IRC, the Commission still prefers that the AAT provide merits review of s 26E matters. The major reason for this preference is that it would achieve consistency in approach between s 26E matters and disciplinary decisions. It would mean that the one body could build up expertise and experience in dealing with AFP matters. It would also avoid duplication of infrastructure and administrative costs.

10.22 The AAT has submitted that it has experience in dealing with matters that concern employer/employee relationships. Therefore it would be well placed to review employment suitability decisions under s 26E.

10.23 The Commission has considered the AFP's proposal that reinstatement should not be available in relation to s 26E matters where the determination is based on a 'loss of confidence' in the appointee. The Commission agrees with the reasoning behind this proposal. The AFP Commissioner must have the final say about an officer's continuing employment in cases where the Commissioner no longer has sufficient confidence in the integrity or honesty of that officer. Law enforcement is a highly sensitive and demanding area that requires the highest level of integrity and trust from officers. As discussed in chapter 9 law enforcement officers exercise considerable powers and discretions in circumstances where it is difficult to maintain close and direct supervision of their use of those powers and discretions. There are also significant opportunities for misconduct and corruption. AFP personnel will often have access to highly confidential and vital information about citizens and law enforcement operations. AFP personnel must also be able to trust in the integrity of those officers with whom they work. That is an essential aspect of effective law enforcement.

10.24 The Commission also considers that these situations of 'loss of confidence' must be clearly identified in the legislation. Not every retirement under s 26E will fit into this category. Some officers may be retired under s 26E on the basis of poor work performance rather than on questions of lack of integrity. Therefore s 26E should be amended to identify those cases of 'loss of confidence'. The legislation should specify that it relates only to situations where it is the integrity, character or ethics of the appointee which is being questioned and not merely poor performance. In cases based upon loss of confidence the Commissioner should be required to consider whether any compensation should be paid for the early retirement. If the Commissioner determines that some compensation is appropriate then the Commissioner should determine the amount. These decisions by the Commissioner about whether to provide compensation and, if so, its amount should be reviewable on the merits by the AAT.

Recommendation 47 - Options for AFP management

The AFP management should continue to have a wide range of options available to it to deal with inadequate or poor performance or misconduct. This should include fixed term appointments, an effective performance appraisal system and the capacity to retire a person as provided for under s 26E.

Recommendation 48

Section 26E should be amended so that merits review for decisions under that section relating to failure to meet employment standards would be provided by the AAT.

Section 26E should also be amended to refer to decisions by the Commissioner to retire a person that is based on 'loss of confidence' by the Commissioner in an appointee. 'Loss of confidence' should be defined as situations where the Commissioner is of the view based on reasonable grounds that the ethics, character, integrity or honesty of the appointee is such that he or she is no longer suitable for service in the AFP. In situations where the s 26E decision is based on a judgement of 'loss of confidence' the AAT should be restricted to reviewing decisions by the AFP Commissioner as to whether any compensation should be provided and, if so, its amount. The AAT would not be able to order the reinstatement of the person the subject of a decision of loss of confidence.

There would be no merits review of decisions made under s 26F.

Application of these options to the NCA

10.25 The DRP argued that fixed term appointments, a similar power to s 26E (expanded to include 'loss of confidence') and effective performance appraisal would be valuable options for the NCA. In particular, fixed term appointments are very important in the law enforcement area to ensure commitment to the objectives of the organization, to minimise bureaucratization, to reduce the opportunity for long term relationships that can foster corruption and to give management sufficient flexibility to allocate staff and resources to meet changing needs. The record of the AFP with fixed term appointments demonstrates its value for law enforcement agencies. The introduction of fixed term appointments would mean that the NCA would have an employment regime totally separate from the Australian Public Service.

10.26 The DRP proposed that consideration should be given to the NCA having its own employment regime including fixed term appointments, a power similar to s 26E and effective performance appraisal.

Submissions and consultations

10.27 The NCA in its submission pointed out that the recent review of the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth) recommended that the notion of permanency should no longer be a feature of the Australian Public Service (APS). The NCA also stated that a considerable proportion of NCA staff were already subject to fixed term appointments. It advised that it was currently reviewing the operation of its performance appraisal system for APS staff in co-operation with the Community and Public Sector Union. The revised procedures are to be introduced before 30 June 1997. Seconded police officers are subject to the appraisal systems of their parent forces. The subject is the subject to the appraisal systems of their parent forces.

10.28 The NCA also asked whether the Commission had intended that any equivalent to s 26E of the AFP Act for the NCA would be subject to review by the AAT.

Commission's view

10.29 The Commission supports the position it took in the DRP. Those views are consistent with current trends. The NCA already has a significant number of staff on fixed term appointments and it is reviewing its performance appraisal system for APS staff. However, a major weakness with the current situation is that the

NCA does not have a formal performance appraisal system for seconded police officers. Under the Commission's suggestion there would be a performance appraisal system that included seconded police.

10.30 The Commission supports the introduction of these measures in relation to the NCA but recognises that their introduction would require considerable negotiation with relevant staff, unions and home police services that provide seconded officers. That is why the Commission is not recommending that these measures should be introduced forthwith. Further consideration should be given to these matters. If the NCA were to have an equivalent of s 26E then it should be subject to the same system of review as recommended by the Commission in relation to s 26E for the AFP.

Recommendation 49 - Options for NCA management

Consideration should be given to the NCA having its own employment regime including fixed term appointments, powers similar to s 26E (expanded to include 'loss of confidence') and s 26F and effective performance appraisal. Any equivalent to a s 26E provision should be subject to merits review by the AAT as recommended for s 26E itself (see rec 48).

The AFP disciplinary process

10.31 The following section describes the AFP's current disciplinary process.

Decisions after investigation

10.32 The AFP makes a decision about what action to take after considering investigation reports concerning complaints and allegations. If there is evidence to support a criminal action it is common practice to refer the matter to the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) or if the evidence supports a disciplinary charge to refer it to the Australian Government Solicitor (AGS) for a formal legal advising. There may be an exception where the potential criminal matter is bound up with disciplinary matters and it would be preferable for them to be heard as a package of disciplinary charges. This is a matter for consultation between the Ombudsman, AFP, DPP and AGS. The DPP prosecutes criminal charges and the AGS handles a disciplinary matter before the Disciplinary Tribunal. Where the DPP considers there is insufficient evidence for a criminal charge, then a disciplinary charge should be considered. Action may also be taken as noted above by the AFP to terminate or not renew a member's fixed term appointment or to retire a person under s 26E.

Role of the Ombudsman after investigation

10.33 The Ombudsman has certain powers to make recommendations and reports to the Commissioner after an investigation. These include recommendations that an appointee be charged with an offence or a breach of discipline or be cautioned or admonished.⁴²¹

Role of the AFP

10.34 Following an investigation by IID or the Ombudsman, the Commissioner may propose that the AFP member be charged, cautioned or admonished under the Complaints Act.⁴²² Where the Ombudsman disagrees with the Commissioner's proposed action, the Commissioner must refer the matter to the Attorney-General to determine what action is appropriate in the circumstances.⁴²³

Disciplinary offences

10.35 The AFP disciplinary offences are provided for in the AFP (Discipline) Regulations. AFP appointees are guilty of a disciplinary offence if they contravene duties and responsibilities as provided for in the AFP (Discipline) Regulations. Specific offences are:

- failing to behave with courtesy to the public and failure to comply with the law and relevant General Orders and Instructions
- disobeying or failing to carry out orders

- making deliberately false entries or statements
- failing to report loss or damage to property or to account for property
- unauthorized use of firearms
- drinking or taking drugs while performing duties
- intentionally prejudicing police services by failing to give prompt attention to one's duties or being absent from duty without authority
- improperly disclosing information about complaints or allegations
- unauthorised communication of information including computer programs or information stored in computer programs
- seeking influence to obtain a benefit
- soliciting or accepting gifts or gratuities
- performing work outside the AFP
- failing to give notice of bankruptcy.

10.36 Many of the charges that are proceeded with are of a general nature, alleging improper conduct. There are the following general disciplinary offences

- being guilty of disgraceful or improper conduct, either in an official capacity or otherwise
- acting in a disorderly manner or in a manner unbecoming an AFP appointee
- acting in a manner prejudicial to the good order and discipline of the AFP
- acting in a manner that brings, or is likely to bring, discredit to the reputation of the AFP
- being charged with a criminal offence and the court is satisfied that the charge is proved.

10.37 AFP appointees who aid or abet the commission of any disciplinary offence are also deemed guilty of that offence.

The role of the Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal

10.38 The Tribunal was established under the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981* on 1 May 1982. It consists of a President and a number of deputy presidents and other members as appointed by the Governor-General. The Presidents and Deputy Presidents must be holders of a judicial office while other members must either be magistrates or legal practitioners of at least five years standing. The positions may be part-time. The Disciplinary Tribunal when sitting is constituted by one member.

10.39 The Tribunal's role is to determine promptly and effectively proceedings instituted in respect of breaches of discipline by members of the AFP and appeals arising out of findings made or penalties imposed by the Commissioner of Police.

10.40 The Tribunal may also enquire into a matter relating to the AFP that is referred to it by the Attorney-General. In these circumstances, the Tribunal may be assisted by counsel, a member of IID or the AFP. The Tribunal then reports to the Attorney-General on its findings. This broad power of review could be very useful in reviewing controversial aspects of the AFP's operations or matters that raise significant public interest. However, the Commission understands that no such reference has ever been made.

10.41 The Tribunal may determine its own procedure subject to the Act and Regulations. ⁴²⁵ The Tribunal is to conduct its proceedings with as little formality and technicality as a proper consideration of the matter permits.

Comments on the current AFP disciplinary process

Some criticisms made of the FPDT's decision-making processes

10.42 The DRP reported specific criticisms that suggested that the Tribunal's decision making process results in some inappropriate findings and lenient penalties. According to the AFP and the Ombudsman the process is too formal, legalistic and too slow. The AFP submitted that the average period from notice to the Tribunal to a hearing by the Tribunal has been six months. According to the AFP the Tribunal has taken a quasi-criminal approach, in that its procedures and formality approach those of a criminal trial.

Perception of leniency of courts and tribunals

10.43 The Commission's consultations and submissions indicated that the perception of lenient treatment of officers who are guilty of significant misconduct is widespread under the current AFP disciplinary process. The most obvious and serious examples are where officers are dismissed from the agency for significant misconduct such as serious assault but are then re-instated by the appeals mechanism. This perception is not unique to the AFP. Other Australian police services are concerned with the same issue.

10.44 Members of the Victorian IID advised the Commission that in their opinion the Victorian Commissioner of Police had often taken a more serious attitude to police malpractice than the courts. Often the Commissioner imposed heavier penalties. The now defunct Victorian Police Discipline Board had also not provided effective or appropriate sanctions. Those Victorian police consulted believed that matters were not found proven even in cases where there appeared to be convincing evidence. Lenient penalties sent the wrong message to complainants and to other police officers. 428

10.45 Similar comments about the record of courts and tribunals were made by senior police from the Tasmanian police service. Under the Tasmanian police disciplinary system the subject officer can elect to appeal to a Magistrate from a finding by the Commissioner and from the Magistrates Court to the Supreme Court. According to the police consulted there is a real problem in upholding the Commissioners' disciplinary decisions because police officers are skilled in giving evidence and appearing in court. 429

10.46 Senior officers of the South Australian Police consulted by the Commission suggested that the South Australian police were attempting to move away from an adversarial model to one that gave greater emphasis to rehabilitation and improvement. A managerial approach could deal with disciplinary and performance issues more quickly and effectively than the current approaches. A number of senior AFP police in South Australia told the Commission that the current tribunal process was far too adversarial and minor matters could be the subject of protracted litigation.

10.47 The lenient treatment or the perception of lenient treatment of an officer who is guilty of significant misconduct may lead to a demoralising cynicism and a loss of faith within an organization. Good, professional officers concerned with the health and standing of their agency may become frustrated and apathetic about improving police culture. Officers who are seen to be 'let off the hook' may become a liability within the agency and there is often an understandable reluctance to trust them in the performance of ordinary law enforcement tasks or for them to have access to any confidential information. Individual complainants and members of the general public who become aware of lenient penalties may also become sceptical about the commitment of the police to maintain appropriate standards of conduct.

Responses by the President of the FPDT and by a former member

10.48 The DRP also reported the response of Justice Foster, President of the FPDT and a consultant to this inquiry, to these criticisms. His Honour advised that since the 'inappropriate' criminal standard of proof was removed in 1993 different results are observable by the Tribunal. According to his Honour, while the

criminal standard in the past may have led to decisions that were regarded as 'lenient', when assessed by the ordinary civil standard of proof, the situation is now different.

10.49 Justice Foster advised the Commission that the Complaints Act 'envisages' that hearings should at least approximate to curial hearings in the ordinary sense. Matters before the Tribunal are hotly contested and it has necessarily adopted procedures that are appropriate to essentially adversarial litigation. In response to the suggestion that the Tribunal has been too 'legalistic' Justice Foster advised that the Tribunal's proceedings have the formality necessary to attach public credibility to the proceedings, such as is accorded to a hearing of a charge before a Magistrate. He also rejected criticisms of delay. He advised that once the Tribunal is notified that the parties are ready to proceed the Tribunal is able to arrange suitable hearing dates at the first reasonable time. The Tribunal has never received any complaints of delay in the conduct of its proceedings. It has succeeded in assigning early hearing dates, notwithstanding an 18 month delay in filling a vacancy after the retirement of a member.

10.50 Justice Foster also emphasised the following matters. The Tribunal is independent. It is not part of the internal investigation machinery of the AFP. It does not exist to enforce any particular disciplinary policy. It has no inquisitorial role. It has no conciliatory role. Its only role is to adjudicate upon the charges brought before it, ie to hear and determine them on the evidence placed before it, giving a reasoned decision in accordance with law. Its hearings are conducted in public (except where considerations of security demand otherwise). Its determinations, both on the question of guilt and appropriate penalty, depend upon evidence placed before it. It is, of course, necessary that such evidence be tested by cross-examination. Common justice requires that it only hear evidence in the presence of both parties. If the Commissioner is of the opinion that the re-instatement of a dismissed officer produces problems in relation to employability and general morale, then the Tribunal needs to hear evidence of these matters in the presence of the officer charged. Evidence of good character and conduct is frequently given on behalf of officers charged with disciplinary offences, frequently from responsible senior officers. In accordance with accepted legal principle, such evidence is received and considered both in relation to guilt and penalty. If no countervailing evidence is given, the Tribunal may well give a decision perceived by some to be 'lenient'.

10.51 Mr John Dainer, a Special Magistrate for the ACT and a former member of the FPDT, also responded to the criticisms of the FPDT expressed in the DRP. He stated that the Commission had offered no evidence to support the contentions made by the AFP and the Ombudsman that the FPDT's procedures are inflexible and formal. He also took issue with the criticisms regarding delay and leniency in sentencing. He pointed out that only Presidential members have sentencing powers and that a non-Presidential members role is only to adjudicate on the question of whether a charge has been made out to the required proof and that if so satisfied the matter is remitted to the Commissioner for imposition of a penalty.

Commission's views

10.52 The DRP did not express a formal view on whether the criticisms of the FPDT made by the AFP and the Ombudsman could be substantiated. It noted the lack of confidence expressed by the two agencies and suggested that it provided additional support for the need for a significant change in approach that in the Commission's view was supported by other fundamental policy considerations that are discussed immediately below.

A new approach: managerial responsibility and administrative review

10.53 The DRP expressed the view that the current philosophy underpinning the disciplinary process is inappropriate and outdated for law enforcement agencies such as the NCA and the AFP. Complaints and resulting disciplinary proceedings have been dealt with by the application of a largely inflexible, formal process that tends to be adversarial in character. While modern police management has changed substantially the disciplinary process has not kept pace.

10.54 Historically the police have tended to regard themselves as a para-military force with an emphasis on hierarchy and the imposition of discipline through formal channels such as laying disciplinary charges for infractions, whether minor or serious. To a large extent this approach removes responsibility for discipline from line managers of the AFP. 433 Its main defect is that it does not focus on the fundamental issue which is

that of employment suitability. Disciplinary proceedings are not criminal matters and do not require the criminal process and trial. 434 The Federal Court has stated that

[t]he object of disciplinary proceedings under the Discipline Regulations is to protect the public, to maintain proper standards of conduct by members of the Australian Federal Police and to protect the reputation of that body. The object of disciplinary proceedings is not to punish. 435

10.55 The current inflexible disciplinary process encourages some supervisors to use it in cases where other management responses would be more appropriate and useful. This is especially so for minor infractions of rules and procedures where there is no suggestion of wilful misconduct and no serious consequences flow from the breach.

DRP proposal for increased managerial respoponsibility

10.56 The DRP proposed that the current AFP disciplinary system be replaced with a managerial decision-making model taking the following format.

10.57 After a matter has been appropriately investigated the AFP Commissioner would be required to consider any relevant information about the officer's conduct which in most cases would include the investigator's report containing responses from the officer and a transcript of interview with the investigator. If the Commissioner or delegate is satisfied that an allegation of misconduct has been substantiated the Commissioner or delegate may commence misconduct proceedings against the appointee.

10.58 The action for misconduct must be in writing, contain particulars of the alleged misconduct and contain the Commissioner's proposed course of action in response to the misconduct. The action for misconduct must also advise the officer that she or he may respond in writing to the misconduct action and the Commissioner's proposed course of action. The legislation should specify the date by which the appointee must respond. Twenty eight days might be an appropriate period. The Commissioner or delegate must consider any response by the appointee in making a decision about the appropriate outcome. This final decision by the Commissioner would be reviewable by the AAT. The whole misconduct process would be open to judicial review under the *Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977* (Cth) on the basis of an error of law.

10.59 This process would be similar to the Victorian position where senior commissioned officers are appointed to inquire into disciplinary charges in a non-adversarial, administratively based process where they are required to apply the principles of natural justice. The structure of the Victorian proceedings is as follows.

- Where the Chief Commissioner reasonably believes that a member may have committed a breach of discipline he or she may begin a peliminary investigation. 436
- If after the preliminary investigation the Chief Commissioner or an authorised officer reasonably believes there has been a breach of discipline the member may be charged with a breach, provided the member has been given an opportunity to provide a written explanation of the matter. The form and details to be provided by the charge are prescibed in the legislation.
- The Chief Commissioner or an authorised officer must inquire into the charge⁴³⁹ and must make a determination. The exact procedure to be adopted for a particular inquiry is at the discretion of the person conducting it but it is to be conducted with as little formality and technicality as possible. Those conducting the inquiries are not bound by the rules of evidence but they are bound by the rules of natural justice. The member charged with a breach of discipline may be represented by anyone apart from a person admitted to practice as a barrister or solicitor. The standard of proof required is that of reasonable satisfaction in accordance with the principles established in *Briginshaw v Briginshaw*. He are the charge of the charg
- Disciplinary decisions made under this process are reviewable by the independent Police Review Commission which is limited to making recommendations that the decision be accepted or varied. 442 It cannot impose or substitute its own decision.

Administrative review

10.60 The DRP argued that administrative review is clearly the most appropriate decision-making process when the fundamental objectives and circumstances of the disciplinary process for law enforcement agencies are considered. The key objectives are employee suitability and the achievement of appropriate standards of conduct. The law enforcement agency must have primary responsibility for the imposition of a penalty. This principle is generally agreed upon. However, there must be external review of this internal decision-making process to ensure effective accountability and transparency and to protect the rights of officers to natural justice and a fair hearing. Administrative review meets each of these requirements.

10.61 Law enforcement is one of the most crucial areas of the interface of the citizen and the State. The actions of the police have great potential to affect the rights and liberties of citizens. Horeover, it is the police and law enforcement agencies generally who have the ability to use force in certain circumstances to carry out their duties. They are almost unique in this regard. Law enforcement officers may also have greater potential for significant corruption and other forms of misconduct than most other members of groups in the community. The nature of their work and the people they deal with, for example, criminal suspects who may have access to large amounts of money or drugs, increases the risk of significant corruption and often in circumstances where it is difficult to detect and where police cultures have tended to condone or at least failed to bring to notice misconduct.

10.62 The NSW Royal Commission into Police's Interim Report identified special difficulties in investigating police misconduct:

- police know the system and are likely to have early warning of any interest in their activities
- they are skilled in investigation techniques and counter surveillance
- they are likely to have corrupt associates willing to cover for them
- they are experienced in being interviewed, in being cross examined and in giving evidence
- their good credibility and character are readily assumed by jurors, courts and tribunals
- they can exert considerable personal influence over internal informants and internal investigators particularly if they hold senior rank.

10.63 In summary, law enforcement officers are in a special position of trust and responsibility with the community because of their capacity to use force, the wide scope for the exercise of individual discretion from officers even low in rank, the significant potential for misconduct or corruption and the difficulties in proving misconduct. They are in this special position of trust when compared to the vast majority of other occupations within the community. There is a vital public interest in ensuring that only people of high repute and performance remain in law enforcement agencies. In all these circumstances it is imperative that the basic objectives of the disciplinary process are effectively met. Administrative review offers the greatest opportunity for that to occur.

What is administrative review on the merits?

10.64 The Administrative Review Council (ARC) has stated that

Merits review is the process whereby an administrative decision is reviewed on the merits: that is, the facts, law and policy aspects of the original decision are all reconsidered afresh and a new decision affirming, varying or setting aside the original decision is made. 444

10.65 Merits review can take place either internally within the organization that made the original decision or externally. The objective of a merits review system is to ensure that an agency's administrative decisions are correct and preferable. The ARC has also indicated that other objectives of the merits review process are:

- to improve the quality and consistency of agency decision making by ensuring that review decisions are reflected by agencies in other similar decisions and in the development of agency policy and legislation
- ensuring merits review is accessible (cheap, informal and flexible) and responsive to the needs of applicants for review
- enhancing the openness and accountability of the agency. 446

Who should provide administrative review?

10.66 The DRP proposed that the AAT should provide administrative review. The AAT is the principal federal agency for the provision of administrative review on the merits. It is an independent body which reviews on the merits a wide range of administrative decisions made by Commonwealth departments, Ministers and other tribunals. It can only review decisions where it is given specific power to do so under the relevant legislation. It currently reviews decisions relating to, for example, taxation, social security, veterans affairs, civil aviation, customs and freedom of informaton (FOI).

10.67 It already has jurisdiction in reviewing matters that involve similar considerations as would arise under the AFP disciplinary process. Much of the AAT's work concerns review of the giving, suspension or revocation of licences or authorizations to carry out activities in the commercial area and in community activities. For example, the AAT has review of the grant of export licences and civil aviation licences. In other words the AAT frequently reviews decisions relating to the fitness of individuals and organisations to carry out complex or significant tasks that involve broad community interests. These matters can involve safety and revenue issues and the right of the community to have access to information about public sector activity. The AAT also has some current jurisdiction concerning criminal or disciplinary matters. This includes hearing appeals under the *Migration Act 1958* (Cth) relating to deportations on the basis of criminal record and the review of decisions involving the Health Insurance Commission.⁴⁴⁷

Responses to DRP 2

10.68 Some submissions considered that the AAT structure may not be appropriate for the review of disciplinary decisions particularly where the outcome could be loss of employment by a police officer. It was argued that in those cases police officers were entitled to a substantial level of procedural protection. The Queensland Law Society, for example, suggested that disciplinary offences for police should be heard within a separate division of the Federal Court where the person presiding was a Federal Court judge.

10.69 The Administrative Review Council, although supporting administrative review, did not consider the AAT as a suitable alternative for the following reasons:

- reviewing decisions according to the principles of administrative law does not always result in informality of the review process
- disciplinary matters are always likely to be vigorously defended and the need to ensure procedural fairness in these types of situations will in most cases mean the body hearing the matter adopts a relatively formal procedure
- matters dealt with under the AFP discipline regulations could be seen as employment related and government policy to date had been that the AAT not have a role in reviewing such matters. 450

10.70 Justice Foster⁴⁵¹ and Mr John Dainer⁴⁵² did not support the AAT having jurisdiction. Justice Foster argued that the volume of cases would not be sufficient to justify a specialist division of the AAT being formed. Accordingly these cases would be placed in the general list of the AAT and dealt with in turn. This process was likely to result in delays in hearing the cases that were greater than any delay under the current system. Justice Foster also argued that abolishing the FPDT would be a waste of the talent and experience of the members of the Tribunal in dealing with matters of police discipline. In his view experience in evaluating the testimony of police witnesses is invaluable for the discharge of these functions. Mr Dainer, said in

relation to the argument that the AAT possessed flexible procedures such as a discretion to admit evidence, to take an inquisitorial position in investigating matters, to mediate and conciliated matters pre-trial, to employ alternative dispute resolution and to control pre-trial preparation of cases, that the FPDT possessed all those powers apart from those of mediation, conciliation and ADR which were unlikely to be relevant in these types of cases in any case. Both Justice Foster and Mr Dainer indicated that they saw little difference in the formality of proceedings before the AAT and the FPDT. They took a similar view to the ARC in relation to the vigorousness with which disciplinary matters would be litigated and the impact this was likely to have on the level of formality.

10.71 After further consultations with the Commission Justice Foster indicated that he had a much clearer idea of why it was considered necessary for the AFP to take responsibility for the primary decision making in disciplinary matters and could appreciate the benefits of the managerial model. He suggested that if administrative review was preferable then the FPDT could provide a form of administrative review of the Commissioner's original decision and that this would have advantages over giving the AAT jurisdiction.

10.72 Justice Foster stated that the amount of work would be unlikely to warrant a specialist division of the AAT being set up and that accordingly the cases would be required to go into the normal list of the AAT. He believed that the delay in these lists would be in excess of any delay in obtaining a hearing before the FPDT. He also stated that merits review of a decision by the Commissioner or his delegate as to liability and penalty would be unlikely to be limited to reviewing the written material the Commissioner or his delegate had before him or her. Rather it was likely that the AAT would wish to see and hear witnesses in what would be a hotly contested case.

10.73 Justice Foster argued that flexible procedures were much easier to put in place when a primary decision was being reviewed rather than being made by the relevant tribunal and suggested that the present tribunal might be able to fulfil this function by utilising more flexible procedures. He expressed a concern that transferring the functions of the FPDT to the AAT would result in a waste of talent and experience that was not in the interests of the public or the AFP.

Submissions and consultations in support of the AAT having jurisdiction

10.74 The AFP supported review of misconduct decisions by the AAT. During the Commission's consultations a number of senior officers also supported administrative review of disciplinary decisions.⁴⁵³ The Victoria Police argued that administrative review was the most suitable process but that the outcome of that review should be restricted to a recommendation to the AFP Commissioner rather than a direction.⁴⁵⁴

10.75 The Attorney-General's Department stated that it saw considerable merit in the proposal to move away from the quasi-criminal paramilitary model to an approach based on managerial responsibility and administrative review. The AAT was an appropriate body although giving the AAT this jurisdiction would require significant amendments to the AAT Act and might also require the AAT to adopt changed procedures because of the special needs of this jurisdiction. The Department indicated that it saw real benefits in the AAT's effective case management system which ensured fewer delays and less likelihood of either party being ambushed at hearings. It indicated that consideration needed to be given to the constitution of the AAT for review of AFP and NCA misconduct decisions. It suggested that for serious cases such as dismissal the review should be conducted by three members.

10.76 The South Australian Police Complaints Authority told the Commission that there was a need for administrative review as there was a need to move towards a more managerial model for police discipline because there were extensive problems with the quasi-criminal format. 457

AAT's submission

10.77 The AAT found the arguments put forward by the Commission for administrative review convincing. It said that disciplinary decisions were fundamentally civil in nature with an onus of proof that was less than beyond reasonable doubt. Although acknowledging that matters which involved outcomes which might seriously affect an individual's livelihood employment or reputation were often vigorously disputed it stated that the substance and procedure of administrative law had provided effective review of

such matters. The AAT stated that, although the appointment of new members might be required, the Tribunal currently has a number of members with experience and knowledge in relevant areas.

10.78 Moreover the AAT currently reviews decisions which relate to employer-employee relationships and with cases that involve consideration of disciplinary action. Additionally the Tribunal has in place practices and procedures which are sufficiently flexible and could accommodate the new jurisdiction. 459

Commission's view

10.79 The Commission believes that many of the objections to the proposal for administrative review fail to acknowledge the major objective of disciplinary systems as stated in *Hardcastle v Commissioner of Police*⁴⁶⁰ as being the protection of the public and the maintenance of proper standards of conduct by members of the AFP. The process is not criminal and it is not intended to punish individuals. Within the proposed structure officers will still be assured procedural fairness but within a system that aims at ensuring the correct and preferable decision in an informal, affordable and timely fashion.

10.80 The Commission notes the recent report of the Administrative Review Council (ARC) *Better Decisions: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals.* ⁴⁶¹ In that report the ARC recommended that the existing specialist review tribunals and the AAT should be merged in a single tribunal to be known as the Administrative Review Tribunal (ART). The ART would have various divisions and there would be a further level of review by a Review Panel (although this would be only with the approval of the ART President). The suggested divisions were:

- Welfare Rights Division
- Veteran's Payments Division
- Migration Division
- Commercial and Major Taxation Division
- Small Taxation Claims Division
- Security Division and
- General Division.

10.81 The ARC proposed a number of principles that should determine the location of any new review jurisdictions:

- there should be a preference for any new review jurisdiction to be accommodated within the existing review framework so as to avoid the unnecessary profileration of tribunals
- high volume jurisdictions should be contained within a specialist division of the ART
- certain types of decisions requiring particular expertise were unlikely to justify the establishment of a new tribunal on the basis that the ART would have a broad base of members who should cover all necessary areas of expertise.

10.82 The Commission supports the proposals of the ARC and would favour the administrative review of AFP and NCA misconduct decisions being dealt with under this new structure. Although the review applications are likely to be small in number, they are likely to require a considerable amount of specialist experience in relation to law enforcement. The Commission would favour these decisions being located within the Securities Division of the proposed ART. The Commission recognises, however, that the Government has yet to respond to the ARC's report.

10.83 For the purposes of this report the location of the review process must be dealt with in the existing system. The Commission reaffirms its support the proposal put forward in the DRP that the matters should be dealt with by the AAT. The Commission gave serious consideration to the option of having a reshaped FPDT providing administrative review of AFP and NCA disciplinary decisions but finally determined that the AAT was better placed to provide that form of review. The Commission acknowledges the expertise and experience of the current and past members of the FPDT. However, on balance, the Commission considers that the AAT's submission that it was an appropriate forum for the jurisdiction is pursuasive. The Commission's preference for the AAT having the jurisdiction is also consistent with the recommendations of the ARC's report *Better Decisions: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals*. The Commission envisages that administrative review of AFP disciplinary decisions would be located within the Security Appeals Division of the AAT.

Recommendation 50 - Merits review by AAT

The AAT should provide review on the merits of misconduct decisions by the AFP.

The lack of a formal NCA disciplinary process

10.84 The NCA does not have its own formal disciplinary code. Staff who are employed under the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth) are subject to Australian Public Service disciplinary proceedings and rights of review. The majority of NCA staff are employed under the *Public Service Act 1922* (Cth). They exercise their rights by lodging an application for review with the Merit Protection Review Agency. However, no other categories of staff of the NCA come within the Public Service Act disciplinary code and review process. The current options for disciplining other NCA staff members are essentially informal. Thus, for example, the major sanction open to the Chairperson in relation to seconded officers is to terminate the secondment and return the officer to the home agency. There is no particular sanction available in respect of consultants except for terminating their contracts.

DRP proposal

10.85 The DRP considered that it was fundamental to the effective management of the NCA that it should have a formal misconduct code that applies to staff members in their work for the NCA. The NCA should have its own code of misconduct with procedures for making findings as to liability and determining penalties.

10.86 Where an NCA staff member is a State or Territory seconded officer or a member of a joint task then agreements could be entered into with the relevant home agency for the NCA to determine appropriate disciplinary action where the Chairperson is satisfied that a breach has occurred. The NCA would report the result of the action to the home agency and that result would be part of the officer's continuous service record. The home agency could decide that further action was necessary as a consequence of the NCA's determination but would have to take into account any penalty already imposed by the NCA. These suggestions might require some amendment to home agency legislation about discipline.

NCA's response

10.87 The NCA stated that introduction of a misconduct code would require extensive consultation. 464 In the case of NCA members (that is the Chairperson and members) a misconduct code would be inconsistent with their statutory appointments and with the means provided under the NCA Act for review of a member's decision. The NCA stated that although there was no objection to the Chairperson and members being subject to a misconduct code, the system should be consistent with obligations imposed on all holders of Commonwealth statutory offices.

10.88 The NCA also submitted that to apply a misconduct code to NCA public service staff would place these staff in a position far different from that of any other public service employee. Would only the NCA code apply or would the APS staff be subject to both the NCA code and the general APS code? The NCA also argued that the application of the code to members of task forces who were not seconded to the NCA would be unrealistic as the NCA has no day to day supervision or control over such officers. Further, any

attempt to impose a code on members of task forces who were not seconded to the NCA might threaten national co-operation between law enforcement agencies as it presently exists. Finally, there was likely to be a number of situations where the officer had returned to their parent organization by the time the complaint was made and that in such cases any disciplinary action would be likely to be taken by the home agency.⁴⁶⁵

Other submissions and consultations

10.89 The Queensland Police Service (QPS) held the view that matters relating to the administration of discipline amongst members of the QPS including those on secondment to the NCA should remain the responsibility of the QPS and that all reports or recommendations made against seconded members should be referred back to the home State for action. The Queensland Police Union of Employees also believed the system that presently operated with seconded Queensland police officers was appropriate. The second description of the QPS and that all reports or recommendations made against seconded members should be referred back to the home State for action. The Queensland Police Union of Employees also believed the system that presently operated with seconded Queensland police officers was appropriate.

10.90 The South Australian Police acknowledged the need for the NCA to have its own misconduct code and disciplinary procedures but stated that such a system would have an impact upon the formal and working relationship between the NCA and the SA police and also on the SA management based disciplinary model. He suggested that detailed discussions would be required between all parties to develop this model. The Victoria Police in their submission took a similar view supporting the establishment of an NCA misconduct code and its application to seconded personnel in principle but acknowledging that this was contrary to the existing memoranda of understanding and would need thorough examination in the light of legislative requirements in each jurisdiction. He

10.91 During its consultations the Commission was advised by a staff member of the NCA that a discipline code was necessary in order to ensure that there was uniformity of approach in the conduct of seconded officers.⁴⁷⁰

Commission's view

10.92 The Commission believes that a code of conduct is an essential part of the accountability regime of the NCA. The introduction of a discipline code for the NCA will require extensive consultation between the NCA, the AFP and State police forces. The Commission would answer the questions and concerns put forward by the NCA in its submission by saying that there would only be a single code covering all staff and secondees of the NCA. Former APS staff therefore would cease to be covered by the APS code and would be covered solely by the NCA code. As for taskforce members they would only be covered by the NCA misconduct code in so far as their actions related to NCA work. Where their actions were not related to NCA work they would not be subject to the NCA code.

Recommendation 51 - NCA misconduct code

The NCA should have its own misconduct code that applies to all NCA members and staff. The preferable method for achieving this is for the NCA to enter into agreements with the relevant home agencies of seconded officers or joint task force members to enable those officers to be subject to the misconduct system of the NCA in relation to their actions or purported actions under the NCA Act or the exercise of their powers and functions under the NCA Act.

Administrative review by the AAT of NCA decisions

10.93 The DRP proposed that any disciplinary decisions made by the NCA should be subject to administrative review by the AAT in similar fashion to the AFP process on the basis that both the AFP and the NCA are federal law enforcement bodies with similar agendas and objectives.

Submissions

10.94 The NCA presumed that disciplinary action would follow where the Chairperson was satisfied that a breach has occurred based on a finding of fact and recommendation by the NIIC. The NCA asked whether the proposed administrative review of the Chairpersons's decision should instead be of the NIIC investigation and report.

10.95 The Victorian Police suggested that the power of the review body should be limited to making a recommendation to the Chairperson. The AAT supported the proposal as did the Attorney General's Department although the Department acknowledged that similar issues as were raised by the review of AFP decisions were raised by the review of NCA decision.

Commission's view

10.96 It is the decision of the NCA Chairperson to impose a sanction that would be reviewed by the AAT. Although this may involve reviewing the evidence put before the Chairperson it would not be a review of a NIIC report or investigation.

Recommendation 52 - AAT review of NCA misconduct decisions

The AAT should provide merits review of NCA misconduct decisions.

11. Consequences of administrative review by the AAT

Introduction

11.1 Chapter 10 dealt with the disciplinary processes of the AFP and the NCA. It recommended a system of managerial decision-making subject to administrative review. It also recommended that the most appropriate body to provide that review was the AAT. This chapter deals with a number of substantive and procedural consequences that follow from having the AAT review these decisions. It also recommends a number of further reforms to disciplinary proceedings.

The standard of proof

11.2 The current standard of proof for AFP disciplinary proceedings is the balance of probabilities. The Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal adopts the approach in *Briginshaw v Briginshaw* of proof upon reasonable satisfaction. In that case Dixon J said

reasonable satisfaction is not a state of mind that is attained or established independently of the nature and consequence of the fact or facts to be proved. The seriousness of an allegation made, the inherent unlikelihood of an occurrence of a given description, or the gravity of the consequences flowing from a particular finding are considerations which must affect the answer to the question whether the answer has been proved to the reasonable satisfaction of the Tribunal. 476

DRP's proposal

11.3 The DRP proposed that where AFP and NCA matters were being reviewed by the AAT, the standard of proof should be the usual standard applied by the AAT. This is reasonable satisfaction on the balance of probabilities.⁴⁷⁷

Submissions

- 11.4 A number of submissions agreed that the standard of proof should remain on the balance of probabilities.⁴⁷⁸ This standard was thought to be consistent with disciplinary proceedings in other professions and a reasonable approach which avoids an appearance of unfairness to appointees charged with more serious disciplinary offences.
- 11.5 On the other hand the Police Association of South Australia⁴⁷⁹ and the Law Society of Western Australia⁴⁸⁰ took the view that the standard should be beyond reasonable doubt. A few AFP officers in consultations also argued that the standard of proof should be beyond reasonable doubt. They argued that the disciplinary offences mirrored criminal offences and they should be subject to the same protections of the criminal law.⁴⁸¹

Commission's view

- 11.6 The Commission considers that the appropriate standard is the 'balance of probabilities'. As emphasised throughout this report the Commission considers that disciplinary matters should not be regarded as criminal or quasi-criminal. Disciplinary decisions should not be not punitive but instead protect the community and the reputation of the AFP. Proper protection of the rights of officers can be achieved by a system of administrative review that will ensure that officers are accorded natural justice.
- 11.7 The Commission also notes that every jurisdiction other than South Australia has the standard of the balance of probabilities for its police disciplinary tribunals.

Recommendation 53 - Standard of proof

The appropriate standard of proof should be in disciplinary review proceedings the 'balance of probabilities.'

Modified right to silence

11.8 There are two different situations to consider: the right to silence during investigation and the right during a hearing.

During an investigation

11.9 The IID currently has power to compel answers from a member of the AFP. 483 There is no general right to refuse to answer on the ground of self-incrimination, but there is a proviso that the information so obtained will not be admissible in evidence against the person in any criminal or civil proceedings apart from a disciplinary proceeding or a proceeding relating to providing a false statement. The Ombudsman has the same power to compel answers when investigating an AFP matter, although this provision applies generally to any relevant witness. However AFP appointees are cautioned and have the right to silence when questioned about a criminal offence. In the course of investigations, any evidence so obtained is only admissible in disciplinary proceedings and not in any subsequent proceedings other than a prosecution for failing to provide information or in an application by the Ombudsman to the Federal Court for an order compelling production. 487

Submissions and consultations

- 11.10 A number of submissions stated that police should have a right to silence in respect of disciplinary matters. Some AFP officers consulted said that it was unfair that they were singled out to have no right to silence during investigations into complaints. They compared their situation to the situation of complainants who were charged with making a false complaint and who did have a right to silence. 489
- 11.11 The Commission also received submissions stating that the current position should be retained and that there should be no right to silence during the investigation although there should be a clear prohibition against the use of answers or of information derived from those answers. The Ombudsman argued that the absence of a right to silence in misconduct investigations helps to promote an environment where AFP appointees believe they have a duty to report misconduct and to tell the truth when colleagues are investigated. There was no support in the submissions for the UK model whereby a right to silence is available although adverse inferences can be drawn from the exercise of that right. The Victoria Police also supported the power to compel answers and production of documents in disciplinary hearings provided that the resulting information is clearly for use only in the disciplinary hearing and are not admissible against the officer in civil or criminal proceedings.

Commission's view

11.12 The Commission does not support there being an unmodified right to silence during investigations concerning possible misconduct matters. The right to silence in the course of investigations is a traditional aspect of criminal investigation and proceedings. However, as argued in chapter 10, misconduct proceedings in relation to law enforcement officers are different in purpose and result when compared to criminal proceedings.

During a hearing

11.13 A person appearing as a witness before the Police Disciplinary Tribunal currently must answer questions that are required to be answered by the Tribunal and produce any document required to be produced. The penalty for non compliance is six months imprisonment. However there is a defence of reasonable excuse for non-compliance which includes the case where the answer or the production of the document may tend to prove that the person has committed an offence against a law or in the case of an AFP appointee, that the appointee has been guilty of a breach of discipline.⁴⁹³

Submissions

11.14 The Victoria Police stated that because disciplinary matters deal generally with the abuse of the powers entrusted to police or the failure to meet established standards, police officers should be subject to

compulsion in disciplinary hearings provided of course that the information was only admissible in the disciplinary field. The NCA agreed that there should be no right to silence in hearings before the NIIC but that there should be restrictions on the use of this material.

Commission's view

11.15 The Commission considers that the NIIC when conducting a hearing should have the power to compel answers and the production of documents. Such information should not be admissible in evidence against the person in criminal or civil proceedings but should be admissible in misconduct proceedings. The Commission believes that the power to compel answers is integral to the NIIC being able to fully investigate complaints or allegations of corruption. The Commission sees the current Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service as providing support for the proposition that coercive powers are required if corruption within law enforcement agencies is to be combatted.

The AAT

11.16 The current position of the AAT is that a refusal or failure to answer questions that a person is required to answer is an offence.⁴⁹⁶ However the privilege to refuse to incriminate oneself in respect of a criminal matter is accepted by the AAT to be applicable in its jurisdiction.⁴⁹⁷

Submissions

11.17 The AFP stated that serious consideration needed to be given to empowering the AAT to compel witnesses where they would otherwise claim a right to silence on the basis of possible self incrimination.⁴⁹⁸ It stated that the power to compel an answer was essential if the AAT was to be able to properly determine integrity and employment suitability issues. Where the AAT compelled a witness to answer questions the usual protections and sanctions for false evidence should apply.

Commission's view

- 11.18 The Commission's view is that the AAT must have access to the same information as the original decision-maker. If it does not then it cannot provide merits review of the decision. Therefore the AAT when reviewing AFP and NCA misconduct proceedings on review should be able to compel an officer to answer questions (provided those answers are given proper immunity from use in criminal or civil proceedings).
- 11.19 There is precedent for this type of immunity being adopted in the course of administrative review. Prior to the Security Appeals Tribunal (SAT) being abolished and the creation of a Security Appeals Division within the AAT the legislation governing the SAT provided that those appearing as witnesses before the Tribunal were not excused from answering a question or producing a document on the ground that the answer or document might tend to incriminate them. This was subject to the proviso that evidence of the answers given before the Tribunal would not be admissible in any civil or criminal proceedings other than proceedings relating to the giving of false evidence or contempt before the Tribunal. The Attorney-General's Department recognised in its submission that there might need to be some changes made to the AAT's procedures in order to adequately deal with AFP and NCA matters.

Recommendation 54 - Modified right to silence

There should be no right to silence during investigations by the NIIC. However, as is currently the case for investigations by the IID, no information obtained under a direction should be admissible against the member in any civil or criminal proceeding other than misconduct proceedings. The IID's power to compel answers from a member of the AFP during an investigation should continue.

Recommendation 55

The NIIC when conducting a hearing should have the power to compel answers and the production of documents. Such information should not be admissible in evidence against the person in criminal or civil proceedings but should be admissible in misconduct proceedings.

Recommendation 56

The AAT should likewise have the same powers as those investigating complaints, that is, to compel answers and the production of documents when reviewing cases involving the AFP and NCA. However, evidence so given should not be admissible in criminal or civil proceedings apart from proceedings relating to contempt or giving false evidence before the Tribunal.

Derivative use

- 11.20 A derivative use indemnity means that where an answer, document or thing is obtained from a witness under compulsion (apart from under a search warrant) any information, document or thing obtained as a direct or indirect consequence of the furnishing of the information, production of the document or giving of the evidence is not admissible against the witness.
- 11.21 The Senate Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills has taken the view that the privilege against self incrimination is extremely important and has previously only accepted legislation which abrogates the privilege in situations where the information sought is particularly within the knowledge of the person concerned and there is immunity against the direct or indirect use of any information obtained other than in the matter in relation to which the information was sought.⁵⁰¹

Submissions

11.22 The Attorney-General's Department in its submission stated that any departure from the inclusion of a use/derivative use immunity should occur only in exceptional circumstances. The NCA stated that in order to encourage communication of information during misconduct proceedings evidence given should not be permitted to be used for other proceedings. 503

Commission's view

11.23 The Commission considers that a derivative use immunity should be included in the immunities given in relation to the abrogation of the privilege against self incrimination for IID and NIIC investigations and hearings and during AAT review.

Recommendation 57 - Derivative use

A immunity against derivative use should be included in the immunities given in relation to the abrogation of the privilege against self incrimination for the IID and NIIC investigations and hearings and during AAT review.

A broader prohibition?

- 11.24 The AFP in its submission argued for a broader prohibition on the use of evidence compelled in disciplinary proceedings. It wanted a prohibition against use in relation to AFP officers not only where officers are a party in civil or criminal proceedings but also where they are witnesses. 504
- 11.25 The Attorney-General's Department submitted that if the material compelled is relevant to the credit of the AFP member or indeed to any issue in the proceeding in which the member is a witness, there is no reason for it to be treated any differently from other evidence in the proceedings. It argued that the immunity relates to protection of that person from prosecution or civil proceedings in which his or her legal rights are at stake, and should not extend to protecting police officers from assessment of the weight or credibility that should be attached to the evidence they give as witnesses in other proceedings. ⁵⁰⁵
- 11.26 The Commission agrees with the Attorney-General's Department that there should be no prohibition against the use of compelled evidence in proceedings to which the party from whom the evidence was compelled is merely a witness. Police officers should not be given any special protection as to their credit but should be subject to the normal evidentiary rules. It should be for the relevant court or tribunal to determine the admissibility of any evidence in relation to witnesses.

Recommendation 58

There should be no prohibition against the use of compelled evidence in proceedings to which the party from whom the evidence was compelled is a witness.

Proceedings normally to be public

- 11.27 Currently hearings are held in public except in special circumstances.⁵⁰⁶ The Disciplinary Tribunal may direct that the hearing be private or restrict the publication or disclosure of evidence or its decision or findings if it is desirable in the public interest or because of the confidential nature of the evidence or matter. The Tribunal may also restrict or prohibit the publication or disclosure of any matters relating to the hearing including evidence decisions or findings.⁵⁰⁷
- 11.28 The AAT Act has a very similar provision.⁵⁰⁸ Hearings before the AAT are to be in public although the Tribunal is able to direct that a hearing or part of a hearing take place in private where for example, the evidence is of a confidential nature.

Submissions

11.29 The Victoria Police,⁵⁰⁹ the AFP⁵¹⁰ and the NCA⁵¹¹ supported this recommendation. The NCA commented that its support was subject to confidential or sensitive operational material being protected from public disclosure.

The Commission's view

11.30 The Commission considers that the current AAT provision constitutes an appropriate balance between ensuring that the AFP, the NCA and the public have information about the working of the complaints systems and protecting the privacy and confidentiality of parties.

Recommendation 59 - proceedings normally to be public

Review of misconduct decisions by the AAT should be in public unless the AAT determines otherwise as currently provided for under the AAT Act s 35.

Parties to a decision

- 11.31 Currently, there is no automatic right of appearance by complainants before the Tribunal. The Tribunal may grant leave to the complainant to appear or be represented if it is satisfied that there are special circumstances to justify this. 512
- 11.32 The AAT Act provides that an application may be made by, or on behalf of, any person or persons (including the Commonwealth or an authority of the Commonwealth) whose interests are affected by the decision. The AAT has defined 'are affected by the decision' broadly to mean that it is not necessary to show that pecuniary interests, or even specific legal rights are affected. In many cases it is conceivable that a complainant about the AFP or the NCA might well be able to satisfy this test. The Commission is concerned that, if a significant number of complainants were to seek review, this would detract from the main purpose of misconduct proceedings which is to maintain effective standards of conduct and employee suitability in law enforcement agencies. That should be achieved by the proper conduct of the matter by the AFP or the NCA and by their legal representatives.
- 11.33 To allow complainants to regularly intervene as parties would also increase costs and delays in the conduct of these proceedings. It is also likely to increase the prospect of the proceedings becoming more adversarial and more technical. If a complainant wishes compensation or restitution, the NIIC may make those recommendations or the complainant may institute civil actions. Currently if the Attorney-General considers that a penalty imposed upon a member by the Commissioner is inadequate, the Attorney may appeal the decision to the Tribunal.⁵¹⁴

DRP's proposals

11.34 The DRP proposed that the AFP and NCA legislation should include a provision to the effect that for the purposes of the jurisdiction of the AAT 'persons affected by a decision' should be limited to the person who is the subject of the proceeding and to the Chairperson of the NIIC. The latter should be allowed to seek review of a decision where he or she considers that the AFP Commissioner or the NCA Chairperson has imposed a manifestly inadequate penalty. This is necessary to ensure that internal decisions are fair and adequate. It should be a rare occurrence for the NIIC to seek review. The Commission considered whether the power of the NIIC to report to Parliament about an inadequate penalty might be sufficient but is of the view that there must be an express provision for the NIIC to seek review so that any possible injustice in the particular case is reviewed directly and quickly. It would still be open to the NIIC to report on the penalties imposed generally or in relation to individual cases.

Submissions

- 11.35 A consultant to the inquiry suggested that the NIIC's discretion to seek review should be extended to situations where the NIIC was of the view that the penalty was 'inadequate' and not 'manifestly inadequate'. The AAT reviews on the merits and the 'manifestly inadequate' formula is a typical formula for courts of appeal that do not review on the merits.⁵¹⁵
- 11.36 The Victoria Police stated that in Victoria the only person permitted to seek review of the decision is the member against whom the disciplinary sanction is imposed. In the Victorian system if penalties are seen to be manifestly inadequate then the hearing officer's capacity to discharge their duty may be called into question. The NCA agreed with the proposal put forward in the DRP.

Commission's views

11.37 For the reasons stated above there must be a power for the NIIC to seek review of a decision but complainants should not have this capacity. Disciplinary proceedings are concerned with the integrity and accountability of the agency and its officers and should not be an open forum for complainants. There are other more appropriate avenues for their seeking redress. The Commission accepts that a discretion limited to 'manifestly inadequate penalties' would be overly restrictive on the AAT and inconsistent with its usual broad range of merits review.

Recommendation 60 - parties to a decision

The right to seek review by the AAT of a disciplinary decision should be expressly limited to the officer the subject of the action and to the Chairperson of the NIIC where he or she is satisfied that the penalty imposed is inadequate.

Limit on the availability of administrative review

11.38 The DRP proposed that there should be a limit on the availability of administrative review by the AAT. The Commission argued that the imposition of minor sanctions was an integral part of management responsibility and to allow review reduces the capacity for management to provide leadership and responsibility for the health of the organization and that to allow review by the AAT of minor sanctions would needlessly increase costs and delays in the process. The DRP proposed that reprimands, counselling, training or retraining and any penalty that can be reduced to a monetary figure that is below a stipulated amount of penalty units should not be reviewable by the AAT. The Commission considered that currently a figure of \$500 would be appropriate.

Submissions

11.39 The NCA agreed with this proposal.⁵¹⁶ The Victoria Police supported this proposal on the grounds that it was consistent with the Victorian system which excluded review by the Police Review Commission (PRC) for sanctions under \$500, reprimands and adjournments conditional on good behaviour. Although PRC review on these sanctions was excluded an internal review mechanism was available. The Victoria Police advised that this internal review process was rarely used and it was currently under review as there was a belief that there was an acceptance by officers of the lower level sanctions.⁵¹⁷

11.40 The Commission now considers that while some sanctions, such as a caution or counselling, might be regarded as apparently minor, for the officer in question they can have serious consequences. Such sanctions would remain on an officer's record and could be taken into account in any decisions regarding promotion or salary increases. The Commission considers that there would be sufficient disincentives for seeking administrative review for frivolous or vexatious matters, for example, by way of filing fees and legal costs. ⁵¹⁸

Recommendation 61 - Availability of administrative review

There should be no limit on the availability of review by the AAT according to the type of sanction imposed. However, there would be a filing fee for making an application for review. The amount of the fee should be determined by considering such fees in other similar jurisdictions, particularly the AAT's jurisdiction.

Costs

- 11.41 The Disciplinary Tribunal may order that costs incurred by the member be paid, in whole or part, by the Commonwealth. ⁵¹⁹ However, the Commissioner cannot obtain a costs order against a member.
- 11.42 Currently the AAT cannot award costs except where it is specifically empowered to do so under the relevant primary legislation. The Commission in its report *Costs Shifting Who Pays for Litigation*⁵²⁰ has recommended that the AAT should have power to award costs. The Commission considered that the AAT should have a power to
- impose disciplinary and management costs orders to enhance compliance with AAT procedures and
- to make costs orders in favour of a party where it is satisfied that the order was required to permit the party to present his or her case properly or to negotiate a fair settlement taking into account the resources of the parties and the likely costs of the proceedings to each party.

11.43 The issue of costs was also dealt with by the Administrative Review Council (ARC) in its report *Better Decisions: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals*.⁵²¹ The ARC recommended that review tribunals should be able to award costs against any person involved in a review proceeding who in the tribunal's opinion has deliberately engaged in inappropriate conduct that resulted in another person incurring unnecessary costs.⁵²²

DRP's proposals

11.44 The DRP proposed that the legislation for the AFP and NCA should provide that the AAT may award costs. The legislation should provide that generally each party would bear their own costs but costs orders could be made where the AAT:

- made a decision more favourable to the applicant; then the AAT should be able to order that all or part of the costs of the proceedings should be paid by the respondent
- if satisfied that the application for review is wholly unreasonable or frivolous; then it may order that the applicant pay all or part of the costs of the proceedings
- determines to impose its own disciplinary and case management orders to enhance compliance with AAT procedures
- is satisfied that an order for costs is necessary to permit the party to present his or her case properly or to negotiate a fair settlement taking into account the resources of the parties and the likely costs of the proceedings to each party.

Submissions

11.45 The Attorney-General's Department indicated that at this stage it is unable to support the recommendation in the DRP that the AAT be given the power to award costs where the AAT makes a decision more favourable to the applicant.⁵²³ It suggested that the provisions relating to costs should await the Government's response to the Commission's report on costs and also to the ARC's report on merit review tribunals.

11.46 The Victoria Police stated that costs issues do not arise in Victoria as legal practitioners are excluded from the process and the emphasis is on the conduct alleged rather than on an assessment of who presents the best argued case in disciplinary proceedings.⁵²⁴

11.47 The AAT in its submission⁵²⁵ supported the draft recommendation as did the NCA.⁵²⁶

Recommendation 62 - Costs

The legislation for the AFP and the NCA should provide that the AAT may award costs. It should also provide that as a general rule each party should bear their own costs but also specify the following exceptions where the AAT

- makes a decision more favourable to the applicant then the AAT should be able to order that all or part of the costs of the proceedings should be paid by the respondent
- is satisfied that the application for review is wholly unreasonable or frivolous then it may order that the applicant pay all or part of the costs of the proceedings
- determines to impose its own disciplinary and case management costs orders to enhance compliance with AAT procedures
- is satisfied that an order for costs is necessary to permit the party to present his or her case properly or to negotiate a fair settlement taking into account the resources of the parties and the likely costs of the proceedings to each party.

Individual liability for costs

11.48 Another issue is the liability of individual AFP appointees to pay legal costs when their misconduct was directly responsible for charges against an individual being dismissed or for a person being wrongly charged in the first place. Until now the AFP has met costs awarded against the informant. The AFP has submitted that as it may be vicariously liable for the actions of AFP appointees there are strong arguments in favour of leaving the recovery of costs within the existing framework. 527

Commission's view

11.49 The AFP has submitted that the current situation does not prejudice it and in those circumstances the Commission does not advocate any change.

Recommendation 63 - Individual liability for costs

There should be no statutory discretion for the AFP Commissioner or the Chairperson of the NCA to be able to require an individual officer to pay all or part of the agency's legal costs where the Commissioner or Chairperson is satisfied that the officer's misconduct was intentional or reckless and led to charges against an individual being dismissed or for a person being wrongly charged in the first place.

Legal assistance

11.50 The DRP raised the question whether law enforcement officers who were the subject of complaints and or misconduct proceedings should receive legal assistance from the Commonwealth. One argument is that the proper determination of complaints and or misconduct proceedings is in the public interest and consequently accused officers should receive public funding in order to meet their costs particularly where reputation and career are at stake. While making no recommendation, ALRC 9 drew attention to the deficit in provision of funding by Police Associations. This was alluded to in recent consultations with the AFPA. ALRC 9 stated that where the complainant is granted leave to be represented and costs are borne by the Commonwealth, then justice would require that similar assistance should be made available to the police officer.

11.51 The AAT Act provides that an applicant or intending applicant may apply to the Attorney-General for legal or financial assistance to enable the action to be brought. This provision does not prevent a person from applying for legal aid.

Submissions

11.52 A number of submissions agreed that AFP or NCA staff who are the subject of disciplinary proceedings arising out of a complaint should be entitled to seek legal assistance from the Commonwealth.⁵³⁰ The NCA agreed that the current AAT provision should continue to apply.⁵³¹

Commission's view

11.53 The Commission's view is that the current AAT provision should continue to apply as it allows appropriate consideration of requests for special legal assistance.

Recommendation 64 - Legal assistance

The current AAT provision about legal assistance should apply for the review of AFP and NCA misconduct decisions.

Appeals from the Tribunal

- 11.54 Currently parties who have had matters determined by the Disciplinary Tribunal may appeal to the Federal Court on any question of law or on the grounds that a penalty imposed is unduly severe or inadequate. A question of law includes whether there was sufficient evidence to justify a finding of fact. In addition, the Tribunal may refer a question of law to the Full Court of its own motion or on the application of a party. All appeals from the FPDT are currently heard by the Full Court of the Federal Court.
- 11.55 Under the AAT Act there is a right of appeal to the Federal Court on a question of law although only appeals from decisions of Presidential members are required to be heard by the Full Court.

Submissions

11.56 The NCA⁵³⁵ and AFP⁵³⁶ both agreed there should be a right of appeal from the AAT to the Federal Court.

Commission's view

11.57 There should be a right of appeal on a question of law to the Federal Court in accordance with the existing procedures of the AAT. This is clearly the most appropriate forum for appeals.

Recommendation 65 - Appeals

There should be a right of appeal on a question of law to the Federal Court in accordance with the existing procedures of the AAT.

Reforms to disciplinary proceedings

Removal of inappropriate terminology

11.58 The Commission considers that the terms 'discipline' or 'disciplinary' should be removed from the legislation and the term 'misconduct' substituted. Discipline has connotations of the para-military model that should be avoided. All language that has usage in criminal matters should also be avoided such as 'guilt' and 'offences' and 'charges'. As discussed at paragraph 11.6 these proceedings should not be regarded as quasi-criminal or criminal. Instead the language of breach of the terms of an appointment should be used.

Submissions

- 11.59 The Victoria Police expressed the view that the use of the term misconduct was a distinct weakening of the language. 537 It argued that the more severe the terminology used to describe the behaviour, the more useful it is in terms of preventative strategies including symbolically to members of the organization.
- 11.60 The AAT on the other hand supported the proposed changes of terminology and the management model. ⁵³⁸ The NCA also expressed no objection to the change in terminology. ⁵³⁹

Commission's views

11.61 The Commission considers that 'discipline' is an inappropriate term that does connote a para-military model. In the Commission's view the term 'misconduct' is appropriate and does not reduce the significance or seriousness of the proceedings. It clearly encompasses the failure to comply with proper standards of conduct.

Recommendation 66 - Removal of inappropriate terminology

The terms 'discipline' or 'disciplinary' should be removed from the legislation and the term 'misconduct' substituted. All language that has usage in criminal matters should also be avoided in the legislation such as 'guilt' and 'offences' and 'charges'.

Need for negligence proceeding

11.62 The proceeding that an appointee was negligent or careless in the discharge of his or her duties was removed when s 26E of the AFP Act was introduced. The rationale for this removal was that s 26E was to be the procedure to deal with negligent conduct. However, as the DRP noted, s 26E cannot be regarded as a complete substitute for negligence offences because it provides for retirement only. There will be cases of negligence where retirement would be an excessive outcome. The Commission is of the view that negligence offences should be available to deter behaviour that results in significant consequences such as the loss of public revenue.

Submissions

11.63 The Ombudsman stated that a disciplinary offence concerned with negligence might be preferable where the negligent actions have had serious consequences including to complainants but that apart from this the existing disciplinary offences were adequate. ⁵⁴⁰ No submission opposed this proposal.

Recommendation 67 - Need for negligence proceeding

A misconduct proceeding that an appointee was negligent or careless in the discharge of his or her duties should be included in the AFP misconduct legislation.

12. ADR, sanctions and provision of information

Introduction

- 12.1 Chapter 10 discussed the existing AFP and NCA misconduct processes and presented the Commission's recommendations for systems based on managerial responsibility and administrative review. This chapter examines
- the use of ADR to resolve complaints
- sanctions where misconduct is established and
- providing information to complainants and to officers who are the subject of misconduct proceedings
- the legislative structure of the disciplinary systems.

ADR

Greater scope for ADR

- 12.2 Currently Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) tends to be used to resolve minor complaints only under the AFP complaints system. There is no legislative provision to determine when ADR should be used in relation to complaints against the NCA.
- 12.3 However the Commission considers that ADR is currently not being fully utilised. Figures from the 1995-1996 Annual Report show that 145 or 12.9% of complaints were reconciled under s 6A of the Complaints Act while 63 or 5.6% of complaints were conciliated under s 6B of the Complaints Act. The Commission considers that about 70% of all complaints should be suitable for informal resolution or mediation. They can be categorised as minor complaints. The process for those complaints is discussed in chapter 15. In some circumstances ADR might be used for more serious complaints.
- 12.4 There are advantages in the use of ADR for a wider range of complaints. From the perspective of the public interest, ADR may offer the most effective way of actually changing individual police officers' attitudes and behaviour. It might best cater to the needs of individual complainants who, according to survey evidence, often do not want formal disciplinary action taken but instead want the police officer to understand the complainant's feelings and point of view and to modify his or her own behaviour. Some complainants, but certainly not all, also want a face to face meeting with the police officer to discuss the incident. Moreover, many complainants see delay as a major problem and it is the formal investigation and determination of complaints that is likely to take much longer than ADR. Police officers might generally prefer an ADR approach because there is no intensive investigation or risk of a conviction for a disciplinary offence.
- 12.5 Some disadvantages may be that police may feel pressured to 'accept' ADR when they believe they are not guilty of any misconduct. Complainants may also be pressured by the police to accept ADR because it will let the individual officer 'off the hook' on disciplinary charges. The systemic problems that a complaint may identify may be less likely to be addressed if ADR is used because it tends to be a less public process than a formal investigation and hearing.

DRP proposal

12.6 The DRP proposed that the legislation should not prescribe in any detail what types of complaints other than those classified as minor are suitable for ADR but the NIIC should be able to determine any guidelines for its use taking into account for example, the seriousness of the complaint, the public interest, the wishes of the complainant, whether the alleged misconduct was deliberate or inadvertent and whether investigation will be more effective in resolving the complaint. However, any ADR undertaken by the AFP or the NCA should be subject to the approval of the NIIC and monitored by the NIIC. The NIIC should be able to develop guidelines with these agencies about the use of ADR in cases that are not categorised as minor.

Responses to DRP

- 12.7 The National Alternative Dispute Resolution Advisory Council (NADRAC) established pursuant to the previous government's Justice Statement of 1995 has made a number of suggestions about the Commission's proposals. It has pointed out that the term conciliation in the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981* (Cth) is not defined and that the Commission's use of mediation in its issues paper and DRP was also undefined. As the terms are often used in widely differing ways there was a question as to what exactly is being referred to. NADRAC is currently developing definitions for different ADR processes. It is also developing a system for accreditation of mediators.
- 12.8 NADRAC also queried whether the proposed mediation service provider was to be internally or externally based. It stated that mediation is a procedure which involves a neutral third party and that using an internal mediator would jeopardize this neutrality and was likely to discourage complainants from using the dispute resolution system. Using an internal mediator within a hierarchical organization such as the AFP was likely to compound the problems of neutrality. NADRAC expressed the view that using mediation within a hierarchical organisation should be carefully considered. NADRAC also queried what training or accreditation was to be required for mediators and how they were to be selected. It also stated that although the Commission had proposed that the NIIC would monitor the provision of ADR services it was not clear whether this body would have the necessary expertise to do so.
- 12.9 NADRAC also stated that it would be inappropriate for complaints involving serious allegations of sexual harassment to be dealt with internally by way of ADR processes. More generally it considered that the determination as to which complaints are appropriate for ADR was a sensitive issue and that any such determination should be made according to objective criteria. It suggested in its earlier submission that there will be cases where ADR should not be considered but the critical factors in these determinations are likely to be the characteristics of the particular case rather than the type of dispute.
- 12.10 It was also concerned that ADR should not become a replacement for good management. It submitted that although the fact of referral to ADR should be included in an officer's record, other information with respect to ADR proceedings, should not be incorporated. It submitted that the recording of referrals was necessary to ensure the fact that an officer had multiple referrals to ADR was not hidden.
- 12.11 NADRAC supported the proposal for time limits in the ADR process provided that there was room for flexibility in those time limits if there was evidence of movement from parties who were genuinely engaged in the process. It was also of the opinion that ADR should never be compulsory for complainants but acknowledged that there were some situations where it should be compulsory for the law enforcement officer although it considered that this was probably a matter for internal police management decisions. The Attorney-General's Department submitted that since mediation commonly involves the intervention of a third party who, from a position of apparent neutrality, assists the disputants towards an agreed outcome, that the mediator should not be a police officer in relation to complaints against police. The Department also submitted that attention should be given to providing appropriate selection criteria for mediators. It also expressed concern about the use of mediation within a hierarchical organisation such as the AFP.

Commission's view

- 12.12 The Commission supports the use of both informal resolution such as the pilot workplace resolution scheme and mediation for appropriate cases. It recommends that methods such as the workplace resolution scheme should deal with the bulk of complaints being dealt with by ADR and that mediation should be used only in those more serious cases where it appears to be more appropriate. Workplace resolution refers to the pilot scheme where resolving supervisors above are able to resolve non-serious complaints with review both by the IID and the Ombudsman to ensure accountability.
- 12.13 The Commission is using the term 'mediation' to refer to a situation where an independent third party facilitates the parties reaching a consensual agreement. Given the nature of mediation the Commission considers that it is inappropriate for dealing with the majority of complaints because
- it tends to be both time and labour intensive

- it tends to reduce managerial responsibility
- many complainants will not wish to take part in it
- it will increase costs if it is used indiscriminately.
- 12.14 If mediation is to be used in relation to police complaints the outcomes of mediation must be carefully monitored both on an individual and a systemic level. On the individual level there needs to be monitoring to ensure that an individual is not the subject of repeat complaints. On the systemic level mediation and the types of complaints that are being sent for mediation need to be monitored to ensure that complaints that raise important issues of public concern or interest are not being pushed into mediation where the issues of public concern may not be adequately acknowledged.⁵⁴²
- 12.15 Under the Commission's proposed system the NIIC in conjunction with the AFP and NCA should conduct a review of the informal resolution schemes currently being conducted both in Australia and overseas. After consultation with NADRAC and other peak bodies it should develop appropriate definitions of the types of resolution to be used including informal resolution and mediation
- mediators should be independent and have appropriate training
- guidelines about the use of ADR for different types of complaints including sexual harassment cases
- time limits are appropriate but should be subject to flexibility where there is genuine evidence of a matter being resolved.
- 12.16 The use of informal resolution for appropriate cases as determined by guidelines developed by the NIIC and the AFP and the NCA should be encouraged. Its implementation rate and effectiveness should be monitored and audited by the NIIC.

Recommendation 68 - Principles for ADR

The NIIC in consultation with the AFP and NCA and peak ADR bodies should develop a series of principles and guidelines to determine the use of ADR for complaints. This should include

- in consultation with NADRAC and other peak bodies developing appropriate definitions of the types of resolution to be used including informal resolution and mediation
- a policy that mediators should be independent and have appropriate training
- guidelines about the use of ADR for different types of complaints including sexual harassment cases
- guidelines about time limits but they should be subject to flexibility where there is genuine evidence of a matter being resolved.

Recommendation 69 - use of informal resolution

The use of informal resolution for appropriate cases as determined by guidelines developed by the NIIC and the AFP and the NCA should be encouraged. Its use and effectiveness should be monitored and audited by the NIIC.

Should ADR be compulsory in any case?

- 12.17 The DRP proposed that complainants should not be required or pressured into agreeing to any form of ADR. The officer's consent for informal resolution of minor matters should not be required. In all other cases the officer's consent for participating in ADR should be necessary.
- 12.18 All submissions which addressed the issue agreed that ADR should only be used where the complainant consented to such a procedure.⁵⁴³ The AFP stated that informal resolution relies greatly upon the parties involved co-operating and having a positive attitude towards the process. It said that there was little

merit in legislating to compel AFP appointees to attend informal resolution as the AFP could already direct appointees to attend. It said that despite any requirement for an AFP appointee to participate in the informal resolution of a complaint, mediation of a complaint should not be attempted unless the appointee consented to the mediation process. 544

Commission's view

12.19 Informal resolution should only ever be used where the complainant consents to the process. The officer's consent for informal resolution of minor matters should not be required but there should be no legislatively prescribed sanction for an officer refusing to attend or co-operate in an ADR process. In all other cases the officer's consent for participating in ADR should be necessary. However guidelines should be developed to identify circumstances where it is appropriate for management to take these matters into account in assessing officers' performances.

Recommendation 70 - Should ADR be compulsory in any case?

Complainants should not be required to agree or be pressured into agreeing to any form of ADR. The officer's consent for informal resolution of minor matters should not be required. In all other cases the officer's consent for participating in ADR should be necessary.

Admissibility of statements

- 12.20 Currently evidence of a statement made and answer given by an AFP appointee in the course of an attempt to resolve the complaint under these conciliation procedures is not admissible against the appointee in any proceedings including proceedings in relation to a breach of discipline.
- 12.21 The DRP suggested that this provision should continue as it encourages officers to use ADR but that statements made by officers should be able to be used for purely employment related purposes.

Submissions

12.22 The AFP submission to the issues paper stated for ADR processes to be successful both the complainant and the member needed to feel free to be able to discuss the complaint without fear and that if statements were able to be used for criminal, civil or disciplinary proceedings it would tend to discourage open and frank participation in the process. The Victoria Police argued in their submission to the DRP that there should be no use of statements made during ADR for employment related purposes. They stated that it was necessary to create an environment where the subject member was not afraid to admit errors or mistakes. The statements are environment where the subject member was not afraid to admit errors or mistakes.

Commission's view

12.23 The Commission has reconsidered this issue in light of the importance of encouraging parties to be full and frank in the process so there is a greater chance for a successful outcome. Therefore the only aspects of the mediation that should be recorded are the agreed outcomes. No statements made by an AFP appointee during the mediation process should be available or admissible against the appointee for either proceedings or for employment related purposes

Recommendation 71 - Admissibility

Statement or answers made by subject officers in the course of ADR should not be admissible in any proceedings nor should they be available for employment related purposes.

ADR and official records

12.24 In Queensland for both informal resolution and mediation there are no details recorded on the police officer's file. This is also the case in England. The argument for such an approach is that it is necessary to

encourage police to participate in the process and to admit responsibility where appropriate. One possible problem is that there may be officers who are subject to many complaints resolved informally but there is no disciplinary action available and there is no recording on their file. It might be argued that it would be desirable to have a system of monitoring ADR in relation to individual officers, not on their personal files, but for management purposes. It could be difficult, however, to maintain this distinction. Within the AFP, information about complaints that have been informally resolved is held by IID. These records are however available to Employment Standards for reference in relation to reappointment or possible action under s 26E.

12.25 In the DRP the Commission proposed that the AFP and the NCA should have a full profile of their staff and that details of ADR should be recorded preferably on performance review documents.

12.26 Submissions favoured a variety of proposals, from no record,⁵⁴⁷ to recording only the fact that conciliation had taken place,⁵⁴⁸ to recording only upheld ADR complaints.⁵⁴⁹ The Ombudsman thought that information about the outcomes of ADR and complaints should be available to management for use in supervisory contexts and for assessment of suitability although there was a question about whether individual files were the most appropriate place to record this information.⁵⁵⁰ The AFP stated that details of the outcomes of ADR should continue to be recorded.⁵⁵¹

Commission's view

12.27 The Commission is of the view that a record should be kept of both referral to ADR and also the outcome of the ADR process. Such records might be kept on performance review documents rather than personnel files but there must be a co-ordinated system that provides a full employment history and profile.

Recommendation 72 - ADR and official records

The AFP and NCA should keep records of both referral to ADR and also the outcome of the ADR process. Such records might be kept on performance review documents rather than personnel files but there must be a co-ordinated system that provides a full employment history and profile.

Time limits

12.28 The Commission in the DRP asked what were the minimum requirements for informal resolution and whether there should be time limits placed on the process through legislation.

Submissions

12.29 Time limits were supported by most submissions⁵⁵² which commented on this issue although the Ombudsman suggested that the limits should be provided through guidelines rather than in legislation as this would allow the limits to be fine tuned as practical experience with them was gained. The Attorney-General's Department and NADRAC both suggested that the time limits should be flexible in situations where there was evidence of movement by the parties.⁵⁵³

Recommendation 73 - Time limits

Any time limits imposed on the alternative dispute resolution process should be flexible to allow for situations where there is genuine evidence of movement between the parties.

Conferencing

12.30 The DRP asked for views about the possible adaption of diversionary conferencing for use in the context of police complaints. Conferencing has primarily been used in the context of juvenile justice to divert offenders out of the criminal justice system. Offenders who are willing to admit the offence are offered the option of a conference rather than the traditional court process. In one pilot scheme operating in the ACT the conferences are organised by the police and are attended by the victim(s) and their supporters (family and

friends) the offender(s) and their supporters and are facilitated by a trained police facilitator. Both the offender and victim and their supporters are given the opportunity to discuss the offence, the reasons behind it, the consequences of it and the way it has affected each of the parties. The aim of conferencing is to have offenders understand the consequences of their behaviour and to take responsibility for their actions. The conference facilitator attempts to draw up a plan that is acceptable to all parties present and to monitor the implementation of that plan.

12.31 Early evaluation of a conferencing scheme run at Wagga Wagga has suggested that levels of both victim and police satisfaction were high. However, there have been a number of critiques of the diversionary conferencing system. The AFP has indicated that conferencing would never be appropriate for corruption offences. NADRAC has stated that it does not support the use of conferencing or 'shaming' as it called it in the context of complaints against the AFP or NCA. It argued that 'shaming' is a process which should be only used with the utmost caution particularly where a hierarchical organization is involved. Professor John Braithwaite, a leading authority in this area, has expressed the view that conferencing may be useful in the context of police complaints and should be considered.

Commission's view

12.32 The Commission knows of no situation where diversionary conferencing has been adapted for use in the area of police complaints. It notes the diversity of views over the use of conferencing in the juvenile justice area and acknowledges that evaluation of this process is still occurring. Under these circumstances the Commission believes that the AFP and NCA should consult with peak bodies about the use of conferencing and if it is considered a worthwhile option for some types of complaints should consider conducting a feasibility study.

Recommendation 74 - Conferencing

The AFP and NCA should consult with peak bodies about the use of conferencing in these areas and if it is considered a worthwhile option to explore for some categories of complaints should consider a feasibility study with appropriate guidelines and reporting.

Sanctions

12.33 Sanctions or penalties for misconduct are imposed in order to protect the public rather than to punish the wrongdoer and to ensure that the wrongful action does not recur.⁵⁵⁸ This was the view taken by the Federal Court in *Hardcastle* v *Commissioner of Police* when it said

the object of disciplinary proceedings under the Discipline Regulations is to protect the public, to maintain proper standards of conduct by members of the Australian Federal Police and to protect the reputation of that body. The object of disciplinary proceedings is not to punish. 559

Suspension of duty before determining action

12.34 Currently where it appears that an AFP appointee may have committed a disciplinary offence the Commissioner has a discretion to suspend the appointee until the proceedings have been determined. 560

DRP's propsals

12.35 The DRP proposed that this provision should continue with the following additional elements to clarify the consequences of a suspension:

- the AFP Commissioner should be able to approve where appropriate an appointee undertaking paid employment during the period of the suspension
- immediately upon being suspended, an appointee must surrender his or her certificate of identity, uniform and equipment issued to him or her for the performance of his or her duties

- an appointee who does not surrender the above things is guilty of an offence and a warrant may be issued to search for those things and to seize them
- an appointee who has been suspended must comply with an order to return temporarily to work a failure to comply would be an offence
- an appointee who is suspended must not, while on suspension, enter any police premises, other than those areas available to the public, unless under a direction to do so a penalty would apply to a breach of this requirement.

Submissions

12.36 The Victoria Police supported this submission stating that each of the suggested extensions to the power to suspend was consistent with existing Victorian legislation. ⁵⁶¹

Commission's views

12.37 The Commission considers that the proposal in the DRP clarifies the position in relation to suspension and provides the Commissioner with an appropriate range of options.

Recommendation 75 - Power of suspension

The power of suspension should continue with the following additional elements

- the AFP Commissioner should be able to approve where appropriate an appointee undertaking paid employment during the period of the suspension
- immediately upon being suspended, an appointee must surrender his or her certificate of identity, uniform and equipment issued to him or her for the performance of his or her duties
- an appointee who does not surrender the above things is guilty of an offence and a warrant may be issued to search for those things and to seize them
- an appointee who has been suspended must comply with an order to return temporarily to work - a failure to comply would be an offence
- an appointee who is suspended must not, while on suspension, enter any AFP premises, other than those areas available to the public, unless under a direction to do so a penalty would apply to a breach of this requirement.

Current sanctions

12.38 The sanctions for a breach of an AFP disciplinary offence are provided for in the AFP (Discipline) Regulations. Where the Commissioner determines that an appointee is guilty of a disciplinary offence the Commissioner may

- admonish, caution or reprimand the appointee
- impose a fine of a maximum not exceeding the amount equalling the salary for five days
- reduce the salary to a rate that is not lower than the lowest salary for that rank
- reduce the appointee to a lower rank
- dismiss the appointee. 562
- 12.39 Superannuation orders may be made for relevant disciplinary offenses as discussed below.

Dealing with minor misconduct without a misconduct proceeding

12.40 The DRP proposed that in response to minor cases of misconduct supervisors and managers should be able to take positive, direct and immediate responses including requiring attendance at counselling or training programs or issuing caution notices. These notices should be able to be issued on the spot. The Victoria Police has introduced similar measures. A failure to respond to these lower level measures might result in a misconduct proceeding being commenced.

Submissions

12.41 The AFP stated that there appeared to be little distinction between the existing penalties of admonishment, caution and reprimand and that it would therefore be appropriate to abolish the use of admonishments. It agreed that cautions should be used as a warning to an appointee while reprimands should be the base penalty available. The Victoria Police supported this recommendation stating that their system had operated successfully for the last three years. The Victoria Police supported this recommendation stating that their system had operated successfully for the last three years.

Commission's views

12.42 The capacity to deal with minor misconduct without formal proceedings would give management greater flexibility to provide the appropriate sanction or outcome for minor matters. The penalty of admonishment is unnecessary and should be removed from the regulations.

Recommendation 76 - Dealing with minor misconduct

For minor cases of misconduct, supervisors and managers should be able to take positive, direct and immediate responses including requiring attendance at counselling or training programs or issuing Caution Notices. These should be able to be issued on the spot. A failure to respond to these lower level measures may result in a misconduct proceeding being commenced.

The penalty of admonishment should be removed from the regulations.

Telegraphing penalties

12.43 Curently if a disciplinary charge is laid, other than pursuant to the Complaints Act, the system provides for 'telegraphing of penalties' by which the Commissioner must inform the member of the penalty which will be imposed if the member pleads guilty at that stage. The member may choose to accept the penalty or to proceed to defend the charge before the Tribunal. Under the current system, the range of penalties telegraphed are described as too broad (eg ranging from deduction of several days' pay to dismissal) which prompts members to seek determination by the Disciplinary Tribunal. The AFPA has stated that there is a need for review of the practice of telegraphing. 566

Commission's views

12.44 The Commission considers that a discretion to telegraph penalties would be a useful option for all disciplinary proceedings. It would help to prevent unnecessary hearings of matters. The Commission believes that the following provisions would achieve that objective without putting any pressure on officers the subject of proceedings to admit responsibility.

12.45 The AFP Commissioner should have a discretion to advise an AFP appointee, who is the subject of a disciplinary proceeding, of the penalty, or the range of penalty, that the Commissioner would impose if he or she were to find that the action against the officer was sustained. The legislation should provide that the AFP appointee who is the subject of the action may request the Commissioner to exercise that discretion. It should be for the Commissioner to determine in a particular matter to what extent the penalty will be specified. However, the Commissioner should be bound by any indication given if the matter proceeds to the determination of the penalty. No inference as to responsibility should be able to be drawn from the fact that an AFP appointee has sought an indication of penalty in any matter where that appointee subsequently contests the proceeding.

Recommendation 77 - Telegraphing penalties

The AFP Commissioner should have a discretion to advise an AFP appointee, who is the subject of a disciplinary proceeding, of the penalty, or the range of penalty, that the Commissioner would impose if he or she were to find that the action against the officer was sustained.

The legislation should provide that the AFP appointee who is the subject of the action is able to request the Commissioner to exercise that discretion. The Commissioner should determine in a particular matter to what extent the penalty will be specified. The Commissioner should be bound by any indication given if the matter proceeds to the determination of the penalty. No inference as to responsibility on the part of the appointee should be able to be drawn from the fact that the appointee has sought an indication of penalty in any matter where that appointee subsequently contests the proceeding.

Sanctions after a misconduct proceeding

12.46 In the DRP the Commission proposed that the following outcomes should be available for situations where the Commissioner finds a misconduct proceeding proved.

(a) Reprimand

(b) Counselling, training or retraining

- (c) Fines. A fine linked to salary seems an inappropriate measure of penalty given that salaries vary considerably. For example, two officers could be liable for the same misconduct but could receive significantly different penalties on the basis of their different salaries. While in some cases this could be appropriate to reflect their different responsibilities and positions of trust, in other cases it may not. The Commission considers that the most effective means of ensuring that monetary penalties continue to be consistent and able to reflect changes in inflation is for them to be provided for by penalty units as is now common in legislation dealing with fines. Without being prescriptive a maximum at the moment of say \$5 000 might be appropriate.
- (d) Reduction in rank or seniority. There should be a sanction available to reduce the rank or seniority of a person including a power to reduce the rank or seniority for a set period of time and then a return to the previous rank or seniority. The AFP should also be able to suspend these reductions if the officer complies with specified conditions. A failure to comply would allow the AFP to enforce the reduction. The Commission recognises that the AFP has removed a number of ranks and is currently in the process of restructuring the organisation and that it is likely that the reduction of an appointee in rank will not be an appropriate penalty in the future. However the AFP has indicated that this issue should be addressed when the structural changes to the AFP have been finalised.
- (e) **Reduction in remuneration.** This sanction should be available because reducing rank or seniority may not always result in a reduction in remuneration.

(f) Transfer to other duties

(g) Dismissal

Submissions

12.47 The AFP agreed that the current provisions which restricted fines to no more than 5 days pay at the member's salary were restrictive. It also pointed out that currently under regulation 22(2) of the AFP (Discipline) Regulations the Commissioner does not have access to the full range of penalties for a disciplinary offence under regulation 18(1)(h). The AFP argued that this restriction could lead to situations where the only penalties available were inappropriate. 567

Commission's view

12.48 The Commission is of the view that the AFP Commissioner should have a discretion to apply the full range of penalties for all misconduct proceedings and that therefore regulation 22(2) of the AFP (Discipline) Regulations should be amended to ensure that the Commissioner has access to the full range of penalties.

Recommendation 78 - Sanctions

The following sanctions should be available to the Commissioner in all situations where a misconduct proceeding is proved

- reprimand
- counselling, training or retraining
- fines
- reduction in rank or seniority
- reduction in remuneration.

Recommendation 79

Regulation 22(2) of the AFP (Discipline) Regulations should be amended to ensure that the Commissioner has access to the full range of sanctions in all cases.

Should superannuation orders be available?

Current superannuation provisions

12.49 Under the AFP Act, persons may be subject to an order against their superannuation as a penalty if they are found guilty of

- a corruption offence and sentenced to more than 12 months imprisonment or
- a 'relevant disciplinary offence' and dismissed from the AFP as a result. 568

The first circumstance reflects the superannuation orders for corruption offences that can be made against all Commonwealth employees under the *Crimes (Superannuation Benefits) Act 1989* (Cth) (the CSB Act). However the second circumstance for a relevant disciplinary offence is unique to the AFP as no other Commonwealth employee is liable to such a sanction for a disciplinary matter. Under the AFP Regulations a 'relevant disciplinary offence' means any improper use by an AFP appointee of the fact that he or she is an AFP appointee in the course of the commission of a particular disciplinary offence and, in particular, acts which;

- constitute disgraceful or improper conduct either in an official capacity or otherwise
- are prejudicial to the good order and discipline of the AFP
- are likely to discredit the reputation of the AFP
- or which lead to the AFP member being charged before the court with an offence against the Commonwealth, State or Territory or another country where that charge is proved to the satisfaction of the court whether or not the court proceeds to conviction, and
- any act by an AFP member to aid, abet, counsel, procure or be knowingly concerned in or party to the commission of any disciplinary offence. 569

12.50 The CSB Act and the equivalent provisions of the AFP Act can be seen as part of the wider range of legislation in Australia which allows for the proceeds of crime to be traced, frozen and confiscated. ⁵⁷⁰ The

legislation is intended to ensure that offenders do not profit from their crimes, to incapacitate offenders from committing further crimes and to deter offenders.⁵⁷¹

12.51 The rationale for proceeds of crime legislation is to prevent unjust enrichment and to prevent offenders from enjoying the proceeds of their crime. The legislation is thus predicated upon the commission of criminal offences. The only current exception to this is the AFP legislation for relevant disciplinary offences. 572

DRP proposals

- 12.52 The DRP proposed that deducting the whole or a portion of the employer's contribution should be available. It also suggested that the availability of the sanction for disciplinary offences might be extended to all public sector personnel in the interests of consistency and fairness. The Commission acknowledged that this extension of the sanction was outside its current terms of reference.
- 12.53 The Commission also proposed that s 26F of the AFP Act which allows the Commissioner to end an appointment on the ground of serious misconduct should be amended so that the Commissioner would have a discretion to seek a reduction, total or partial, of the employer's contribution to superannuation and interest on that amount in relation to cases of serious misconduct under s 26F which
- involved an abuse by the person of his or her office
- are committed for a purpose that involved corruption or
- are committed for the purpose of perverting or attempting to pervert the course of justice. 573
- 12.54 The rationale for that suggestion was that those people retired under s 26F for cases involving serious misconduct that satisfy the above criteria should not receive a full redundancy package. In such a case the Commission considered that the retiree has forfeited the right to the total employer contribution.

Submissions

- 12.55 The NSW ICAC submitted that sanctions for disciplinary offences should include a loss of the employer contribution and interest thereon.⁵⁷⁴ However the AFP, the AFPA and individual AFP members have expressed concern about the availability of superannuation orders for disciplinary offences and the proposal that this should be extended to cases of dismissal for serious misconduct under s 26F. The AFPA argued that superannuation orders
- adversely affect the families of the members involved
- are draconian and out of proportion to the disciplinary offences committed and
- unfairly single out AFP employees. 575
- 12.56 The South Australian Police Association also took the view that superannuation orders were draconian and not suitable for a disciplinary system.⁵⁷⁶ It stated that superannuation orders penalised the family of an officer and resulted in greater reliance on the welfare system and an increasing burden for the taxpayer.
- 12.57 The Attorney-General's Department opposed the Commission's suggestion that the sanction should be extended to all public servants.⁵⁷⁷ It argued that cancellation of superannuation benefits should only flow from a conviction for a corruption offence and be effected by order of the Court. According to the Department, cancellation by a quasi-judicial or administrative body or particularly at the discretion of the Chief Executive or Departmental Agency Head would seriously undermine the integrity of the sanction. The Department held the view that the triggers for loss of employer funded superannuation should be consistent between the AFP and the CSB Acts.
- 12.58 In relation to the Commission's proposal for s 26F the Department questioned whether this third mechanism was needed. It stated that if the misconduct was so serious that confiscation of superannuation

was warranted there were already two existing mechanisms. The Department stated that the first of these processes (section 47) was judicial and independent while the second (section 49) provided a statutory process which operated on objective criteria which were clearly articulated. The Department indicated that it was opposed to any shortcut procedure for cancellation of superannuation benefits.⁵⁷⁸

12.59 The AFP indicated that employer superannuation contributions should not be withheld for discipline matters.⁵⁷⁹ It was of the opinion that the existing s 26E, s 26F and Part VA provisions combined with the Commissioner's mandatory dismissal powers under the AFP Discipline Regulations gave the Commissioner sufficient discretionary powers to deal appropriately with breaches of discipline.

Arguments against the availability of superannuation orders

12.60 A number of commentators have opposed the availability of superannuation orders under the CSB and the AFP Act. They argue that the basis for confiscation legislation rests on the notion of unjust enrichment, that is preventing offenders from enjoying the proceeds of their crimes and to restoring the status quo. However the superannuation orders under the CSB and AFP Acts lack this basis because they are not specifically directed towards depriving the offender of the fruits of their crime. Superannuation orders under these Acts have a disproportionate impact because the order is calculated solely by having regard to the employer contributions and the interest earned on them and thus bears no relation to the gravity of the offence committed.⁵⁸⁰

12.61 Both the AFP and the CSB legislation were not intended to be punitive or act as retribution but were intended by Parliament to act as a disincentive. ⁵⁸¹ However a perceived problem is that superannuation orders are not linked to the sentencing process. The CSB legislation directs a court when sentencing a person that it shall not take into account the possibility that a superannuation order may be made in relation to the person. Some commentators have argued that merely labelling a superannuation order as a disincentive or a deterrent does not change the fact that it is a severe financial sanction with a punitive impact. ⁵⁸² They also point out that there is no evidence that the risk of both a financial sanction and a sentence is any more likely to deter potential offenders. They argue that if the confiscation function is to be carried out it should be through the operation of the existing proceeds of crime legislation and not through this additional mechanism of superannuation orders. ⁵⁸³

12.62 Unlike the AFP or CSB Acts the relevant Queensland legislation allows the court to make an order for an amount that is considered to be just and equitable having taken the relevant circumstances into account including

- the proportion of time the offender committed the offence over compared with his total length of service in public office
- the nature of the offence or offences and the degree of corruption evidenced by those offences
- the value of the gain to any person from that offence or offences
- the degree of hardship likely to be occasioned by the making of an order to the person's spouse or dependent (provided they can satisfy the court that they were not aware of the conduct that resulted in the order being made). 584

12.63 The Queensland legislation also allows the court to have regard to the making of the superannuation order when determining the appropriate sentence for the criminal offence committed.

12.64 Superannuation orders are also said to be unfair in that they draw an inequitable distinction between public sector and private sector employment. It is suggested that the relevant provisions of the *Crimes (Superannuation Benefits) Act 1989* (Cth) and *Australian Federal Police Act 1979* (Cth) are based on the false assumption that the employer contribution to superannuation is of special character when the employer is the government and indirectly therefore the taxpayer. It is argued that there is in fact nothing special about government employer contributions. In the case of both public and private sector employees, the employer contributions can be seen as deferred salary with the trade off being reduced wage demands. Moreover,

taxpayers support superannuation of both private and public sector workers through the tax concessions available. Commentators also point to the important role that superannuation is seen as playing in Australia's retirement incomes systems by reducing the demand for the aged pension.⁵⁸⁷

12.65 Taxpayers are deemed to benefit from their support of superannuation by the long term reduction of demand for the payment of the age pension. The loss of these contributions through special legislation such as the AFP Act will often mean that a person will be forced to rely on the publicly funded pension. This is described as a classic case of 'double dipping'. It is also argued that superannuation orders operate inequitably on dependents particulary partners and children, and that if partners, in particular are not to be disadvantaged in old age, 'superannuation orders should only apply to that part of the entitlement attributable directly to the fund member'. S89

12.66 These criticisms of superannuation orders have related to those cases where the legislative basis for the order is conviction of a corruption offence on the criminal standard of proof. The above criticisms of these orders become more persuasive when there has been no finding of guilt on the basis of the criminal standard of proof as is the case under s 49 of the AFP Act.

Commission's views

12.67 The Commission agrees with the view put forward by the Attorney-General's Department that there should be no cancellation of superannuation under s 26F and that the AFP Act should be brought into line with the CSB Act. The Commission has taken this view because the sanction of a superannuation order for disciplinary offences does not fit within its model of managerial responsibility. Disciplinary offences are designed to protect the public and maintain proper standards of conduct within the AFP. The addition of a sanction which is currently only applied to other public servants where they are convicted of an offence and sentenced to more than 12 months imprisonment goes beyond what is required to effect the protection of the public and the maintenance of proper standards.

12.68 The continued presence of the sanction also places members of the AFP in a situation that no other Australian law enforcement personnel are placed in. The AFP itself has submitted that employer superannuation contributions should not be withheld for disciplinary matters alone. 590

Recommendation 80 - Superannuation orders should not be available

Superannuation orders should not be available as a sanction for a misconduct proceeding or under s 26F of the AFP Act for serious misconduct. Consequently s 49 of the AFP Act should be repealed.

Should there be a power of expungement?

12.69 There is an issue as to whether misconduct proceedings should be expunged from an officer's records and files after some period of time or where the officer has acted in a way that calls for expungement. Currently there is no expungement provision.

Submissions

12.70 Most submissions that commented on this issue took the view that expungement provisions should not apply in relation to complaints.⁵⁹¹ Most based this on the fact that it was necessary to observe trends in relation to complaints generally and in relation to individual police officers. Four submissions favoured expungement.⁵⁹²

Commission's views

12.71 The Commission does not support the introduction of an expungment provision. Misconduct proceeding are essentially about employee standards and suitability. They are clearly relevant to an employment history and profile and should be recorded for the purpose of promotion, security clearances

and reappointment. The relevance and weight of any matter should be determined by management in the particular circumstances. A rule as to expungement would limit the capacity for flexibility.

Recommendation 81 - Expungement

There should be no statutory provision for the expungement of misconduct proceedings.

Providing information

12.72 The Commission considers that regular and informative reporting to the complainant is a vital part of an effective and credible complaints system. There are two main areas to consider - reporting about investigations and reporting about the outcomes of misconduct proceedings.

Reporting to complainants about investigations

- 12.73 A responsive and comprehensive system for reporting about the progress and outcomes of investigations of complaints is likely to increase public confidence in the integrity of the complaints system. It may also require additional resources from those agencies providing the service.
- 12.74 Complainants are entitled to routine communication about the status of their complaint subject to the exceptional demands of operational security that may be relevant, particularly in cases alleging corruption.
- 12.75 The current reporting requirements under the Complaints Act are not elaborate. The Ombudsman upon receipt of the investigation report is to provide a complainant with particulars of the investigation⁵⁹³ and the Ombudsman may at any time also give a complainant a progress report about the complaint.⁵⁹⁴
- 12.76 Reports should contain sufficient information for a complainant to understand and follow the course of the investigation and decision-making process. Where a complaint is not investigated or substantiated the reasons for this should be provided to the complainant. That might involve for example, an explanation of the standard of proof that applies.
- 12.77 The Ombudsman's current practice is to have one officer who takes responsibility for keeping a complainant advised of developments in the case. The NIIC, the AFP and the NCA should designate a contact officer for a complainant in respect of each individual complaint. That person would be responsible for periodically reporting to the complainant about the progress of the investigation, the reasons for any significant delay and for answering any direct inquiries from the complainant. One possibility is an obligation of reporting at least monthly. This could be done where appropriate by telephone.

Submissions

12.78 The Victoria Police stated that the functions proposed in the draft recommendation were already part of a Victorian investigating officer's responsibilities.⁵⁹⁵ Written progress reports were forwarded to complainants after three months but regular telephone or personal contact between the investigator and complainant before and after this written report was encouraged.

Reporting to the officer involved in the complaint

12.79 One of the most common complaints made during consultations with AFP members was of the stress and uncertainty that occurred during the investigation of a complaint. Members stated that they had little knowledge of what stage of the process the complaint against them was at and that this placed great stress not only on them but on their families. The Commission considers that AFP members are entitled to have information about the progress of the complaint against them provided to them, subject to any necessary protection of the privacy and confidentiality of the complainant and any measures to protect operational security.

Recommendation 82 - Reporting to complainants about investigations

Complainants and officers the subject of a complaint should be given regular reports on the progress of any investigation. This should be subject to, particularly in the case of reporting to the officer, any necessary protection of the privacy and confidentiality of the complainant and any measures necessary to protect operational security.

Reports should contain sufficient information for a complainant to understand and follow the course of the investigation and decision-making process. Where a complaint is not investigated or substantiated the reasons for this should be provided to the complainant. That might involve for example, an explanation of the standard of proof that applies.

Recommendation 83 - Contact officers

The NIIC, the AFP and the NCA should designate a contact officer for a complainant in respect of each individual complaint. That person would be responsible for periodically reporting to the complainant about the progress of the investigation, the reasons for any significant delay and for answering any direct inquiries from the complainant. One possibility is an obligation of reporting at least monthly. This could be done where appropriate by telephone.

Reporting on misconduct proceedings

12.80 The DRP proposed that the AFP or the NCA should have the primary role in determining misconduct actions. As part of that responsibility they should inform the complainant of the misconduct process and the outcome. This should include information about the facts established, the standard of proof, any penalty imposed and the reasons for it.

12.81 The Commission proposed that the AFP and the NCA should be required under their legislation to report to the complainant on the outcome of misconduct actions including the outcome of any review by the AAT or appeal to the Federal Court. They should also be required to do so within a time to be specified in the regulations or under guidelines. Twenty eight days from the finding on a misconduct action or from a decision by the AAT or the Federal Court might be an appropriate time frame.

Submissions

12.82 The AAT has submitted that there should be an obligation on the AFP and NCA to advise complainants in advance of AAT hearings which arise out of their complaint. The Victoria Police currently provides written advice to complainants that disciplinary action has or is to be taken against a member. Although agreeing with the need for the disciplinary process to be transparent the Victoria Police questioned whether written notification of an outcome is the most appropriate mechanism. In Victoria advice on outcomes of disciplinary proceedings or criminal proceedings is provided to complainants either by telephone or in person.

Commission's view

12.83 The Commission agrees with the AAT's suggestion about advance notification of hearings and accepts the comments of the Victoria Police. Wherever possible information about the outcomes of misconduct proceedings or criminal actions should be provided to the complainant either in person or verbally. The officer the subject of the complaint or action should also receive similar notification (where necessary, for example, where the NIIC seeks review of the Commissioner's decision on the grounds it is inadequate).

Recommendation 84 - Reporting on misconduct proceedings

The AFP and NCA should advise complainants that disciplinary or criminal action has been or is to be taken against a member arising out of that complainant's matter. Complainants should also be informed of the outcomes of those proceedings or actions and wherever possible this should be done in person or verbally.

Officers the subject of the complaint should also receive similar notification.

Information about disciplinary results

12.84 The DRP proposed that the AFP and the NCA should consider providing greater dissemination of information about the results of proceedings involving significant misconduct throughout their respective organisations, subject to appropriate protection of the identity of complainants. This could be done in gazettes, in-house information bulletins and notice boards.

12.85 If a proceeding has been held in camera then dissemination of specific decisions even in an anonymous format should be avoided and instead information should be communicated through guidelines. ⁵⁹⁸ However, the Commission considered that as a general rule, those officers found guilty of significant misconduct have forfeited their right to any anonymity. For less serious cases anonymity and the use of guidelines might be appropriate.

Submissions

12.86 The Victoria Police supported this recommendation and stated that the Victoria Police currently published these results every three months in the Victoria Police Gazette and in the Internal Investigations Department quarterly and annual statistical report. The Victoria Police argued that this publication served to prevent rumours from arising and also helped to prevent repetition and promoted rejection of the behaviour concerned.

Recommendation 85

The AFP and the NCA should disseminate widely information about the results of proceedings throughout their respective organisations subject to appropriate protection of the identity of complainants. For example, this could be done by using gazettes, in-house information bulletins and notice boards.

Legislative structure of the disciplinary systems

12.87 The current AFP disciplinary proceedings are provided for by the Australian Federal Police (Discipline) Regulations made under the AFP Act. The Commission has considered whether the new misconduct regulations should be made pursuant to the NIIC Act but has reached the view that because misconduct is not always linked to complaints the misconduct regulations should remain under the AFP Act. This also acknowledges the role of the new misconduct proceedings as a managerial tool for the law enforcement agency. For the same reasons the misconduct provisions for the NCA should be included under the NCA Act.

Recommendation 86 - Legislative structure

The AFP misconduct regulations should remain under the AFP Act.

Recommendation 87

The misconduct provisions to be drafted for the NCA should be provided for under the NCA Act.

13. Anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans and measures

Introduction

- 13.1 This chapter discusses
- anti-fraud plans and anti-corruption plans for the AFP and the NCA
- specific anti-corruption measures
- training and education
- articulating rights and responsibilities in relation to complaints
- the potential for a national or regional strategy and approach to fraud and corruption in law enforcement agencies.

13.2 The chapter examines the role that the National Integrity and Investigations Commission (NIIC) would play in these anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategies. The NIIC is the Commission's preferred external agency for both the AFP and NCA complaints and anti-corruption systems.

Need for planning

13.3 Effective complaints and disciplinary systems are essential to the accountability and credibility of the AFP and the NCA. However, they do not constitute a complete response to the requirements of accountability and credibility. They must be complemented by effective anti-fraud plans and anti-corruption plans that are properly implemented and monitored. The NSW ICAC has submitted that corruption prevention can be achieved through pro-active work, formulating a strategic intelligence plan to combat corruption and targeting specific areas. Since corruption is frequently a product of the culture of an organisation, a change in culture is necessary and can be achieved through education and training. 600

DRP proposal

13.4 The DRP stated that it was essential that the AFP and the NCA each had its own comprehensive antifraud plans and anti-corruption plans and that these plans were co-ordinated where necessary. The Commission proposed that those plans must accurately analyse risk in all aspects of the organisations. The plans must be comprehensive in their scope. Furthermore, the anti-corruption plans should provide for a thorough system of integrity testing for all recruits and regular integrity testing for all staff. The Commission proposed that testing at least every three years for all staff should be a minimum requirement.

Submissions

- 13.5 The AFP stated that it closely monitors its information security regime and is involved in continuous vetting of personnel.⁶⁰¹ Security checking generally occurs every five years especially for personnel working in high risk areas.
- 13.6 The AFP questioned whether the DRP's reference to 'integrity testing' included entrapment or field testing (ie fake crime scenarios or offering of bribes). It stated that although it supported proactive and where appropriate covert strategies, it was uncertain about the wider value of these methods and would wish to have further information about them before supporting their application to the AFP. It also indicated that security testing was both resource and funding intensive and suggested that testing every five years was appropriate particularly where members were not involved in high risk activities.
- 13.7 The AFP advised that its new security plan is likely to be ratified soon by its National Management Team. This plan is based on the principles of integrity, accountability, fairness and trust and emphasises personal integrity and ethical behaviour. The 1996 AFP Enterprise Bargain Agreement provides for testing for illicit drug and financial auditing to be taken into account when assessing employment suitability and the

implementation of these measures is currently being planned. The AFP has also developed a policy on the use by AFP members of pharmaceutical substances and is in the final stages of developing a Professional Reporting Policy to encourage AFP personnel to report malpractice and misconduct.⁶⁰²

13.8 The Victoria Police also supported the need for anti-fraud and anti-corruption planning.⁶⁰³ They indicated that if the Commission's reference to integrity testing was a reference to the integrity testing programs operating in New York and also in New South Wales it was partially supported. They stated that the methods employed in those two jurisdictions were likely to require not only extensive human and financial resources but also a great deal of expertise to manage such a program. At present Victoria focuses on targeted integrity testing where particular individuals or locations are targeted on the basis of information gathered. The Victoria Police indicated that there was force wide support for targeted testing but that random or force wide integrity testing was regarded as causing significant detriment to morale.

The Commission's view

13.9 The DRP used the term 'integrity testing' as a general term to cover all of the possible forms that such testing might take. It was not intended to indicate any particular structure or form of testing. The Commission's view is that the AFP and NCA in consultation with the NIIC should develop a program for integrity testing, including whether it is to be targeted or force wide, what form it will take and how frequently it should be carried out. In developing these programs there should be consultation with the Privacy Commissioner, the Federal Disability Commissioner and other relevant bodies to ensure that any integrity tests comply with federal legislation. Due regard must also be paid to the law relating to entrapment.

Recommendation 88 - Integrity testing

The AFP and NCA in consultation with the NIIC should each develop a program for integrity testing, including whether it is to be targeted or force wide, what form it will take and how frequently it should be carried out. In developing these programs there should be consultation with the Federal Privacy Commissioner, the Federal Disability Commissioner and other relevant bodies to ensure that any integrity tests are consistent with Federal legislation. Due regard must also be paid to the law relating to entrapment.

Anti-fraud plans

13.10 The federal Government in 1987 released a report that reviewed systems for dealing with fraud on the Commonwealth. That report highlighted the need for each Commonwealth agency to have a plan for fraud control.

What is required is recognition that fraud can and does occur, and an explicit, systematic approach to its prevention and detection appropriate to the requirements of the agency in question.⁶⁰⁴

13.11 This approach at a minimum requires

- identification of risk areas
- analysis of options for reducing the risks
- formulating and introducing means of prevention, detection and deterrence
- staff training
- exchange of information with other agencies
- statistical records sufficient to ensure some measurement of the effectiveness of action against fraud. 605

13.12 The Commission sought advice from the AFP and the NCA about their anti-fraud plans. It also contacted the Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board (CLEB) which has the role of assessing compliance with the fraud control policy of the Commonwealth. CLEB has advised that both the AFP and the NCA submitted fraud control plans which complied with the requirements in place before December 1994. At that time a revised Commonwealth fraud policy was established. Both agencies, like many other Commonwealth agencies, are in the process of revising their risk assessment and fraud control plans to meet the additional requirements. The AFP has advised that it intends that its new fraud control plan will be submitted to CLEB in December 1996 or January 1997. The NCA finalised its updated fraud control plan in July 1996 and has submitted it to CLEB.

13.13 The Attorney-General, Mr Daryl Williams AM QC MP, has requested that CLEB review the Commonwealth's current fraud control arrangements in the light of the Government's election commitments and report to him on ways by which fraud control at the Commonwealth level can be strengthened. In response to this request CLEB has prepared a discussion paper canvassing all aspects of Commonwealth fraud control.

Anti-corruption plans

13.14 The AFP has advised that it is developing a Security Plan that is to be a comprehensive anti-corruption plan. Some major elements of that Plan are

- a professional reporting policy that will encourage reporting of unacceptable practices and protect and mentor whistleblowers
- an integrity audit regime that involves all personnel being required to declare private interests and to submit to testing for illicit drugs in the workplace
- senior management to provide statements of integrity

13.15 The NCA has advised the Commission that it currently has no formalised anti-corruption plan but it has a number of measures in place to mitigate against corruption in the NCA. Those measures are discussed below. The Commission considers that the NCA should develop an anti-corruption plan that includes a risk assessment for corruption and regular integrity testing of all staff.

Recommendation 89 - Need for NCA anti-corruption plan

The NCA should develop an anti-corruption plan that includes a risk assessment for corruption and appropriate integrity testing of all staff. The NIIC should be involved in developing and monitoring AFP and NCA anti-corruption plans.

Anti-corruption measures

AFP anti-corruption measures

13.16 As well as the security and anti-corruption plan mentioned above the AFP also advised that it has other extensive anti-corruption measures in place including the following:

- the establishment of the Internal Investigations Division (IID) and Internal Security and Audit (ISA) with the latter having a pro-active focus against corruption
- fixed term appointments
- a unified workforce and a performance management program
- incorporated security, ethics, corruption and fraud awareness in all training programs

- non-renewal of appointments under s 26E and the new s 26F
- loss of superannuation for conviction of corruption offences and prescribed disciplinary offences
- lowering of the burden of proof in disciplinary matters from beyond reasonable doubt to the balance of probability
- recently restructuring to adopt a multi-skilled team approach with the intention that the team concept will act as a self regulator by the rotation of personnel between teams and throughout the organisation
- the AFP Security and Audit Committee established in 1990 which is designed to reduce the risk of fraud and corruption by ensuring in-depth auditing scrutiny of programs and activities
- the AFP Protective Security Manual and the AFP Information Technology Security Policy Statement which establish security clearance policies
- a network of Regional Security Officers for each AFP region.
- 13.17 The AFP is also introducing as part of its accountability and ethics reforms
- a new remuneration scheme to reward those who increase their capabilities and value to the AFP
- greater use of electronic audio and video recording equipment, particularly for detecting people committing crimes and for recording interactions between officers and the public at police stations and offices.
- 13.18 The AFP is conducting research into the utility of forensic lie detection (polygraphs) in assessing integrity.

NCA anti-corruption measures

- 13.19 The NCA has advised that it has the following anti-corruption measures
- the use of small multi-disciplinary teams
- rigorous external reporting requirements to the PJC, the IGC, the Standing Committee on Organised Crime and Criminal Intelligence (SCOCCI) and the National Co-ordination Committee
- rigorous internal reporting through weekly reports to the General Manager, Operations and the Authority from all its areas
- secondment of investigators for only a two year period
- rotation of staff within regional offices
- heavy scrutiny of the NCA's coercive powers means that there is special care taken by the NCA in its recording and control of information
- a strict 'need to know' requirement for information passing beyond investigation
- management is closer to investigation than in other law enforcement agencies because of the need to ensure NCA standards meet the expectations of the NCA's partner agencies
- a high level of internal control of exhibits and documents
- strict supervision and control of assets

- auditing of financial procedures and systems
- annual audit by the Australian National Audit Office.

13.20 The NCA has a Security Branch whose main function is to develop, implement and monitor protective security within the NCA so as to ensure the integrity of its staff and assets. It carries out security checks on staff and potential members of staff. There is also an internal auditor who examines whether procedures are being followed. The NCA has an Audit Committee which meets twice a year to review internal audit matters.

Human resource policies to reduce corruption

13.21 It has been suggested that because it is almost impossible to remove the opportunities for police to become involved in corruption it is essential to attempt to prevent corruption through human resource policies. American research suggests that women and graduates from higher education may be less likely to be drawn into the occupational culture which allows corruption to flourish although Australian research suggests that women are just as influenced by police culture as men and that their ethical standards like men's decline after time on the job. Other factors which might be useful in the fight against corruption include extensive training in ethics and communication and a management structure that stresses ethical methods and a focus on crime prevention rather than law enforcement and prosecution.

Role of the NIIC

13.22 The DRP proposed that the NIIC would be a key agency in providing external review and assistance to the AFP and the NCA in relation to anti-corruption strategies and measures. The Commission proposed that the NIIC should regularly consult with the AFP and the NCA about their anti-fraud plans and anti-corruption plans. The NIIC would be empowered to conduct random audits of all aspects of the process and to make recommendations about these systems. The NIIC would include in their annual reports to Parliament information about the AFP and NCA strategies and would report on the results of its auditing. The AFP and the NCA in developing and reviewing these measures and strategies would need to develop appropriate information links with the NIIC.

Submissions

13.23 The NCA submitted that as CLEB was currently responsible for managing and oversighting federal agencies' fraud control plans any role for the NIIC would entail duplication of roles with CLEB and the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO). It also saw duplication of roles in relation to the proposed NIIC role in auditing and reporting.

13.24 The Victoria Police stated that the development, extent and implementation of anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans is a responsibility of the relevant agency since it is the agency itself which is ultimately accountable for failures in relation to anti-fraud and anti-corruption. It added that agencies would no doubt welcome advice, suggestion and constructive criticism from other agencies in developing these plans.

Commission's views

13.25 The Commission does not consider that the ANAO could provide the type and level of auditing necessary for the AFP and the NCA's anti-fraud and anti-corruption plans and measures. The ANAO would be unable to provide the continuous audit that would be necessary, including periodic and random auditing. Probably the ANAO could only conduct a general audit every 3 years. Moreover, assessing fraud and corruption measures requires special expertise and experience in law enforcement that the ANAO is unlikely to have.

13.26 The Commission also does not believe that CLEB could provide what is necessary for the AFP and NCA. CLEB has a central policy role in Commonwealth fraud control but no independent statutory existence and it is within the bureaucratic ambit of the NCA. It currently has no investigative role in relation to fraud control implementation and must essentially accept agencies' statements about implementation. CLEB's current functions are to:

- advise the Minister for Justice on:
 - matters affecting the law enforcement interests of the Commonwealth, including the impact on the criminal environment of major government policy changes;
 - the functions of, and priorities to be pursued by, Commonwealth law enforcement agencies;
 - the allocation of resources to Commonwealth law enforcement agencies within the portfolio
 - statutory appointments to Commonwealth law enforcement agencies and
 - national law enforcement issues in which the Commonwealth has an interest
- prepare national criminal assessments for the Minister and the Government
- provide Government with, and review annually, a list of Commonwealth law enforcement priorities for endorsement based on assessments provided by the Office of Strategic Crime Assessments
- monitor and report to the Minister on the performance of Commonwealth law enforcement agencies against the priorities endorsed by the Minister
- relate priorities and functions to resources and report to the Minister on how Commonwealth law enforcement resources have been applied to the Government's priorities
- advise Commonwealth law enforcement agencies on appropriate co-ordination arrangements to facilitate common services, exchange of information and joint operations
- authorise standards which represent best practice in the operations and technology of Commonwealth law enforcement agencies
- authorise standards for the prevention and deterrence of fraud on the Commonwealth for use by all Commonwealth agencies and
- prepare an Annual Report to Parliament. 613

13.27 Given that CLEB is comprised of the Chairperson of the NCA, the Chairperson of the Australian Securities Commission, the Commissioner of the AFP, the Secretary of the Attorney-General's Department and an executive member it is also open to question how independent any scrutiny of the AFP or NCA by CLEB would be regarded by the law enforcement community and the public.

Recommendation 90 - NIIC's role in anti-corruption and anti-fraud plans

The NIIC should regularly consult with the AFP and the NCA about their anti-fraud plans and anti-corruption plans. The NIIC would be empowered to conduct random audits of all aspects of the process and to make recommendations about these systems. The NIIC would include in their annual reports to Parliament information about the AFP and NCA strategies and would report on the results of its auditing.

The AFP and the NCA in developing and reviewing these measures and strategies would need to develop appropriate information links with the NIIC.

Recommendation 91 - Avoiding duplication

The NIIC and CLEB should enter into a protocol to avoid any duplication of roles in relation to antifraud policies of the AFP and the NCA.

Training and education

13.28 The Commission considers that training and education of AFP and NCA staff is significant in helping to reduce the causes of complaints and corruption. Given that the complaints and disciplinary systems

proposed in this paper are significantly different to the current situation, AFP and NCA staff would need to be trained for the operation of these new systems. Information and training should also be included in induction packages and courses. The DRP proposed that NIIC should provide assistance in the training requirements.

Submissions

13.29 The NCA stated that currently the NCA carries out training of seconded police in NCA specific areas only such as EEO and information technology. Training in areas common to the NCA and AFP is the responsibility of the AFP.⁶¹⁴ It stated that upon the introduction of a misconduct code or a new system for handling complaints against the NCA, the NCA would ensure that all members of its staff were trained in the procedures.

13.30 The Victoria Police submitted that training and education was essential for the success of any disciplinary system and anti-corruption program. They suggested that anti-corruption programs and changes in disciplinary structures need continual reinforcement, not only in the training environment but in the workplace on a day to day level. The delivery of information about these programs should be provided by individuals with exposure to operational policing. The Victoria Police also suggested that it was useful to link the marketing of anti-corruption programs with general discussions on the philosophy of policing.

Commission's view

13.31 The NIIC would play a significant role in assisting the AFP and NCA to develop appropriate training in relation to integrity and accountability and the working of the new complaints systems. The Commission considers that the following might be useful principles in that process.

- Teaching and instruction about ethics and integrity should permeate training at all levels including recruitment and in-service training programs.
- Training should consider the civil rights of citizens as well as police powers.
- All staff should undergo specific training on how to handle potentially difficult situations in order to avoid the sources of complaints, particularly at the customer service level. This might include conflict resolution skills and dispute resolution. This type of training should be a requirement for all officers in routine contact with the general public.
- Training should not only be conducted by specialist internal units. If the training has that narrow focus then it fuels the perception that preventing or detecting corruption is the responsibility of the special unit. The training will often need to be interactive and involve case studies and realistic situations.

Recommendation 92 - Training

The NIIC should play a significant role in assisting the AFP and NCA to develop appropriate training in relation to integrity and accountability and the working of their new complaints systems.

Articulating rights and responsibilities

13.32 There is a growing interest in developing ethics and codes of conduct within all organisations including law enforcement agencies. These measures can increase integrity and accountability.

13.33 The DRP proposed that both the AFP and the NCA should have a document that was accessible to both their staff and the general public that sets out the rights and obligations of staff and the public in relation to making and resolving complaints. This could be part of a broader code of conduct or mission statement. A breach of the code or statement would not confer any legal right.

Submissions

- 13.34 Almost all the submissions that commented on this issue agreed that there should be a charter of rights but that this should not provide the basis for a legal action if breached. It was thought that the charter of rights was useful as a mechanism for making the importance of complaints apparent to the AFP. The concept of a code of conduct was seen as desirable although the Ombudsman thought that the code should deal with other aspects of AFP and NCA behaviour as well.
- 13.35 One NCA officer supported the introduction of a common code of conduct for all NCA staff including seconded police officers. The Victoria Police supported the recommendation in principle and stated that the focus of a similar document being developed in Victoria was not limited to the making and resolving of complaints. 619
- 13.36 The AFP has advised that it is developing a Code of Conduct that will complement other relevant policies such as training 620 while the NCA has stated that an ethics statement has been drafted and circulated to staff for comment. 621

The Commission's view

13.37 The Commission's view is that it would be desirable for both the AFP and the NCA to have the type of document proposed in the DRP. It would improve understanding and awareness and set out general standards of conduct.

Recommendation 93 - Articulating rights

The AFP and the NCA should have a document that is accessible to both their staff and to the general public that sets out the rights and obligations of staff and the public in relation to making and resolving complaints. This could be part of a broader code of conduct or a mission statement. A breach of the code or statement would not confer any legal right.

Potential for a national or regional strategy

13.38 There are two possibilities to consider. The first is a national strategy for Australia and the second is a strategy that incorporates not only Australia but also other countries in the region.

National strategy

- 13.39 The Commission considers that a national strategy to ensure the integrity and competency of Australian law enforcement officers has many attractions. It recognises and takes account of the fact that criminal activity and general law enforcement issues cross jurisdictional boundaries. This is exemplified in the role of the NCA itself where co-operation and joint operations with national, State and Territory law enforcement agencies is a primary function. It also encourages the adoption of national standards and allows greater professional support to those seeking to apply these standard in any particular jurisdiction.
- 13.40 This national approach could include standards for recruitment, training, policy and procedures and data systems. There have been some developments in these areas.
- 13.41 The Australasian Police Ministers' Council (now the Ministerial Council on the Administration of Justice) has endorsed the development of an Australasian Policing Strategy. One of the major goals is to enhance professionalism and accountability including developing a common code of ethics, a strategy for police education and training and developing strategies for dealing with serious misconduct. One desirable innovation would be the introduction of a uniform complaint management data system which would be very useful in assisting in comparisons of different approaches to complaints including the resources involved. The NSW Government has requested the Ministerial Council on the Administration of Justice to consider the introduction of such a system. 623

Regional strategy

13.42 An AFP proposal at the Conference of Commissioners of Police of Australia and the South West Pacific region in March 1996 suggested that a regional strategy beyond Australasia is also a possibility. The Conference resolved to

- produce a clear, understandable and viable definition of corruption
- support the proposal to define a set of anti-corruption measures for consideration by all agencies in the region
- require the Police Commissioners' Policy Advisory Group (PCPAG) to advance this proposal out of session and to report to the next conference
- direct the PCAG to pay particular attention to the recommendations of the NSW Royal Commission into the Police and the Fifth Australasian Internal Investigations Seminar
- request the PCAG to examine and report to the Conference on the resource and operation efficiency implications of each of the measures that it recommends. 624

Submissions

13.43 The Victoria Police said that as criminal activity including police corruption was not limited by jurisdictional boundaries an extensive regional approach was clearly desirable. However, they were uncertain about how effective anything beyond a national approach would be.

13.44 The Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption stated that should a decision be made to pursue a regional approach to anti-corruption issues it would be interested in offering comments on the proposal with a view to possible further participation. ⁶²⁶

Recommendation 94 - Developing a national strategy

The Commission endorses the measures taken so far, such as the Australasian Policing Strategy, to develop a national strategy to ensure the integrity and competency of Australian law enforcement agencies. The national strategy should include standards for recruitment, training, policy and procedures and data systems.

Recommendation 95 - Developing a regional strategy

The Commission endorses the AFP proposal for a regional strategy against law enforcement corruption and recommends that this strategy be further developed.

14. Scope of complaints systems

Introduction

- 14.1 This chapter considers the scope of complaints systems for the AFP and the NCA. The main issues are
- how should 'complaint' be defined
- who should be able to complain
- who may be subject to a complaint
- should anonymous complaints be accepted
- what options should be available to describe complaints outcomes
- should there be an offence of making a deliberately false complaint
- how to protect and encourage whistleblowers.

Definition of complaint

14.2 Currently there is no definition of complaint under the Complaints Act. The only statutory guidance in the Complaints Act is that a complaint must relate to 'action taken by an AFP appointee'. That expression is defined as:

action that the appointee takes or purports to take:

- (a) because of his or her being an AFP appointee; or
- (b) in the exercise of powers, or the performance of functions, given to him or her as an AFP appointee by this Act or by another law. 628

The Disciplinary Tribunal has suggested that a 'complaint' under the Complaints Act is:

- any communication concerning the conduct of an AFP appointee from which it may be inferred that the person seriously disapproves of the action identified, and
- the person intends that this disapproval be made known to that member. 629

The NCA Act provides no statutory framework for complaints.

DRP proposals

14.3 In the DRP the Commission decided that in light of its proposal to remove the distinction between complaints and allegations a definition of complaint was required. The Commission proposed that 'complaint' should be defined to include all situations where a person expressly or by implication seeks review of, or challenges, the validity or appropriateness of the conduct of an AFP appointee or of the AFP as an organisation. This definition would remove the current distinction between complaints and allegations and was considered sufficiently broad so as to encourage people to come forward with their grievances. The Commission was of the opinion that a broad definition would ensure that the NIIC and others do not unnecessarily restrict the ambit of what can be raised.

14.4 The DRP also considered the question of interagency communications and gave the example of a communication between the DPP and the AFP about an AFP member's failure to appear at a court hearing. Because it is a statement about the inaction of an AFP officer it would be regarded as falling within the current definition of complaint despite the unsuitability of dealing with the matter in this way. The DRP proposed that the NIIC should have a power under the guidelines it develops to declare that interagency communications are not complaints unless a party involved requests the communication to be dealt with in that way.

Submissions and consultations

- 14.5 The NCA expressed concern about the definition of 'complaint'. The NCA's view was that the proposed definition would inappropriately extend the jurisdiction of the NIIC because it would encompass any action for review or legal challenge to actions or decisions of the NCA or its staff in the performance of their statutory functions. The NCA argued that legal challenges under the NCA Act or applications for judicial review should be excluded from the complaints system.
- 14.6 The Commission's response is that the Complaints Act enables AFP policies and procedures to be the subject of a complaint⁶³¹ and that such a definition is necessary for the effective operation of any complaints process. Complaints will often concern allegations about the misuse of power and authority by NCA or AFP officers. A power to review those actions is fundamental to any complaints system involving instrumentalities with coercive powers. To exclude complainants from the jurisdiction of the complaints authority solely on the ground that they have chosen to challenge the NCA or a member of it in the courts, either under the NCA Act, by judicial review or otherwise, would severely restrict the NIIC's ability to investigate complaints dealing with policy and practice in circumstances where there may well be a need to do so. An important example is where an individual complaint raises the possibility of an institutional defect.
- 14.7 There may be circumstances where a complainant could proceed with remedies in addition to, or subsequent to, the making of a complaint. Other remedies include petitioning Parliament or asking a politician to raise the complaint, seeking an unofficial or official inquiry, claiming compensation for injuries allegedly sustained by the criminal activity of police or other staff (eg under victims' compensation schemes) or seeking a civil law remedy by taking legal action. The latter includes: assault, false imprisonment, malicious prosecution, negligence, trespass, seizure of goods and damage to goods. Complainants alleging discrimination may also seek redress under federal anti-discrimination legislation. In some cases, however, complainants may choose not to proceed with civil action due to excessive costs or delays or the difficulties of proof.
- 14.8 Under the Complaints Act the Ombudsman has the discretion to determine that a complaint should not proceed if the complainant has exercised his or her legal rights and caused the complaint to be reviewed by a court or tribunal. The Commission proposes that the NIIC should have a similar discretion. This should be sufficient to meet the concerns of the NCA.
- 14.9 The AFP's submission also expressed concern with the width of the proposed definition.⁶³⁴ The AFP argued that the definition was likely to apply to situations where persons are merely expressing their views without any intention of making a complaint. The AFP gave the following examples where, in its view, the definition of complaint would to be too wide:
- (a) a person charged with an offence challenges the arresting member's action in court by way of defence
- (b) demonstrators make general claims of police brutality
- (c) persons who are severely intoxicated or mentally dysfunctional make wild and exaggerated claims and
- (d) reports in the media.

The Commission does not share the AFP's concerns. Each of the above examples would be regarded as complaints in the general sense of that word. However, they would only become 'complaints' under the proposed legislation if they were brought to the attention of the NIIC, the AFP or the NCA. The Commission believes that it is imperative that potential complainants are not dissuaded from making their complaints by technical or legalistic definitions of complaint. In addition, there are a number of appropriate filtering mechanisms, including the discretions of the NIIC not to investigate matters, which will ensure that resources are focused on those matters properly deserving of attention or investigation.

- 14.10 To take each of the AFP's examples in turn:
- (a) In this example, the NIIC would have the power to declare that a person's challenge to the action of AFP members in court is not a complaint unless one of the agencies concerned requests that it be dealt

with under the Act. In any event, the NIIC's proposed discretions would allow the NIIC to either choose to investigate the matter or not.

- (b) Similarly, the NIIC would be able to exercise its discretion to enable general claims of police brutality by demonstrators to be investigated if the NIIC decided that this was the appropriate action. To limit the definition to exclude such claims would be to limit the important public interest component of the NIIC's functions.
- (c) A narrower, legalistic definition of complaint is unlikely to prevent wild and exaggerated claims by people who are severely intoxicated or mentally dysfunctional. The discretion provisions relating to frivolous or false complaints could be applicable in these circumstances.
- (d) Reports in the media may in some circumstances constitute a complaint. If after exercising its discretion the NIIC decided that a media report may have some substance that requires investigation, it is appropriate that the NIIC should be able to investigate the allegations within the report, particularly if they are of public interest.

The Commonwealth Attorney-General's submission to the DRP stated that the functions and duties of an AFP appointee are so diverse that a definition of 'complaint' is necessary.⁶³⁵ The Department agreed that the definition should be cast in general terms and not be too prescriptive. The definition offered in the DRP met those requirements. The Victoria Police also supported the definition proposed by the Commission.

- 14.11 The Victoria Police was concerned that the power of the NIIC to declare that certain matters were not complaints was to be legislative in character.⁶³⁶ It argued that reliance on legislation to determine what is or is not a 'complaint' would lead to unnecessary complications. Further, it asserted that if an inter-agency communication is clearly expressed to be a complaint, it ought be treated as such.
- 14.12 The Commission's response to this concern is that the NIIC's power to declare that interagency communications are not complaints would not be provided for in the legislation. It would be included in the guidelines determining how the NIIC should deal with a potential complaint. An interagency communication which is expressed to be a complaint would satisfy the definition of 'complaint' because in this situation at least one of the parties involved in the complaint wants it to be treated as such.

Recommendation 96 - Definition of 'complaint'

A 'complaint' should be defined to include all situations where a person expressly or by implication seeks review of, or challenges, the validity or appropriateness of the conduct of an AFP appointee or of the AFP as an organisation.

Recommendation 97 - Interagency communications

Under its guidelines the NIIC should be able to declare that interagency communications are not complaints unless one of the agencies requests that the communication be dealt with as a complaint under the Act. The same discretion should apply to matters raised in court or tribunal proceedings.

Recommendation 98 - Definition of complaint for NCA

A similar definition of complaint should be adopted for the purposes of the NCA.

Removal of the distinction between 'allegations' and 'complaints'

Current distinction

14.13 Currently there is a distinction between 'complaints' and 'allegations'. 'Allegations' are determined according to the procedures set out in AFP General Order 6 and are defined to mean 'a report' made by an

AFP member or by the public 'concerning the behaviour of an appointee not being a matter to which the Complaints Act applies'. 637 Matters to which the Complaints Act does not apply are:

- internal complaints made to an AFP appointee⁶³⁸
- 'off duty' conduct⁶³⁹ and
- disputes relating specifically to the employment of an AFP member.⁶⁴⁰
- 14.14 'Off duty' conduct is behaviour that is unconnected to the exercise, or purported exercise, of police powers or the performance, or purported performance, of police functions. The distinction between off duty conduct and conduct where a member purports to act as a police officer is often complex. Some submissions suggested that because police officers enjoy a privileged position of trust and exercise extensive powers as well as having a public duty to uphold and enforce the law, police must aspire to exemplary standards in order to maintain community confidence. Even off duty behaviour can reflect on the police force. For example, an officer who regularly gets drunk while off duty in hotels might be seen as bringing discredit on the reputation of the AFP. Off duty conduct may indicate a potential for corruption. For example, a police officer who uses drugs recreationally may be supplied by criminals raising the possibility of blackmail and the request for favours in response to police protection of illegal activities.
- 14.15 The Australian Federal Police Amendment Act 1996 (Cth) which deals with the power of the Commissioner to terminate appointments on the basis of serious misconduct adopts the following definition of 'serious misconduct' that appears to cover off duty conduct:
- corruption, a serious abuse of power or a serious dereliction of duty or
- any other seriously reprehensible act or behaviour by a person whether acting, or purporting to act, in the course of his or her duties as a member or staff member *or not*. [italics added].

DRP proposals

- 14.16 The Commission was of the view that the current distinction between complaints under the Complaints Act and allegations under AFP General Order 6 is both confusing and unnecessary. The introduction of one system of complaints that covers the current category of allegations would allow the NIIC to have a complete picture of the types of complaints that are being made about the AFP and would assist in providing an overview of the AFP's performance.
- 14.17 The Commission was also of the view that off duty conduct should remain predominantly a matter for the AFP to deal with internally if it raises issues about a member's suitability for the profession of policing. The Commission recognised, however, that there may be some situations where the NIIC should investigate off duty conduct, particularly where there is a suggestion of serious misconduct. The Commission proposed that off duty conduct should be able to come within the definition of a complaint. However, the NIIC would have a discretion to send matters involving off duty conduct to the AFP. The NIIC would be able to require a report about how the AFP dealt with a particular matter involving off duty conduct.
- 14.18 The Commission argued that a relevant distinction is between complaints that relate to misconduct and complaints that relate merely to employment performance and suitability. The Commission was therefore of the view that all matters which would previously have been regarded as falling under AFP General Order 6 should now fall within the broader definition of a complaint and would fall within the review of the NIIC. However, the Commission proposed that the NIIC would have a discretion and a system of guidelines to refer matters that relate solely to internal management back to the AFP and the NCA. As stated above the Commission envisaged that these guidelines would deal with matters such as off duty conduct.

Submissions and consultations

14.19 A number of submissions including those from the AFP and the Attorney-General's Department made the point that there was merit in having oversight of internal complaints by an external body and suggested

that the determination of all allegations by the AFP should be regularly audited and reported on by the external agency. 641 The Commission supports this view.

Recommendation 99 - Removal of the distinction between 'allegations' and 'complaints'

In the definition of 'complaint' in recommendation 96, 'Conduct' should be defined to include any action or inaction (or alleged action or inaction):

- whether or not it also involves non-AFP participants
- whether or not it occurred while the AFP appointee was officially on duty.

Recommendation 100

The distinction between allegations and complaints should be abolished with matters currently defined as allegations under AFP General Order 6 to be regarded as complaints.

Recommendation 101 - Internal management matters

The NIIC should have a discretion to refer matters that relate solely to internal management back to the AFP or NCA for investigation and resolution.

Recommendation 102

In conjunction with the AFP and NCA the NIIC should draft a set of guidelines which deal with the matters that will be referred back to the AFP and NCA.

Discretion not to investigate

14.20 The Complaints Act provides the Commonwealth Ombudsman with a number of discretions to determine that a complaint should not be investigated or should not be investigated further. The Ombudsman can exercise the discretion not to investigate where

- she is satisfied that the complainant became aware of the action complained of more than 12 months before the complaint was made
- if in her opinion:
 - (i) the complaint is frivolous or vexatious or was not made in good faith; or
 - (ii) the complainant does not have a sufficient interest in the subject matter of the complaint
- if a person has been charged with an offence or breach of discipline or offered a caution or admonition for a breach of discipline in relation to the action complained of
- if in her opinion, the investigation or further investigation of that action is not warranted having regard to all the circumstances.

The Ombudsman also has power to determine that a complaint shall not be investigated where a complainant has sought review by a court or tribunal or has a right to have the action complained of reviewed by a court or tribunal.

DRP proposals

14.21 The Commission proposed that each of these discretions should be available to the NIIC but that the time limit should be extended to 24 months.

Submissions and consultations

14.22 The Ombudsman's submission suggested that these discretions are broad enough. 643 In relation to the 12 month limitation the Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs has suggested that the limitation period should be increased so that people from non-English speaking backgrounds who have cause to complain have a sufficient opportunity to become familiar with the complaints processes of the AFP before the time period elapses. 644 The Department in its submission gave the example of refugees from a country where the police are part of a repressive regime. These refugees distrust the police and the independence of any complaints mechanism. A twelve month limitation period therefore would not provide an adequate opportunity for a refugee to gain trust in the Australian complaints processes and lodge a complaint. The Commission supported the extension of the time limit to a period of two years. It recognised that the NIIC would still have the more general discretions which it can apply if investigation in all the circumstances is thought not to be warranted.

14.23 The Victoria Police suggested that there should be no discretion relating to a time limit. 645 It commented that regardless of the age of the complaint, such a power was a discretionary power of exclusion and that the investigating agency would conduct an investigation into appropriate matter whether the substance of the complaint arose 10 days or 10 years ago. It suggested therefore that the time limit should be abolished rather than extended.

14.24 The Commission agrees that there is force in the argument put by the Victoria Police. However, the view of the Commission is that in some cases the age of the complaint is a significant issue. The Commission considers a two year time limit constitutes an appropriate balance, ensuring the substance of the complaint is properly recognised and considered in addition to the recognition that the age of the complaint may be relevant.

Recommendation 103 - Discretion not to investigate

Each of the discretions contained in s 24 of the Complaints Act should be available to the NIIC although the time limit in s 24(1)(a) should be extended to two years.

Who may be subject to a complaint?

14.25 Currently complaints may be made about 'action taken by an AFP appointee', whether or not the AFP appointee is identified. 646 'AFP appointee' is defined as:

- (a) a member of the Australian Federal Police; or
- (b) a staff member of the Australian Federal Police; or (c) a special member of the Australian Federal Police.⁶⁴⁷

DRP proposals

14.26 The Commission considered that all AFP employees and staff should come within the complaints system including AFP temporary employees, secondees and consultants engaged by the AFP. Having all categories of staff covered by the legislation reflects the reality that any staff member can be the subject of a complaint. For example, complaints could cover unauthorised access to information. By ensuring that all staff are covered by the complaints system the AFP will be encouraged to take a wider view of the complaints system than merely regulating police powers.⁶⁴⁸ For the purposes of the complaints legislation the definition of an AFP appointee should be amended to clearly cover consultants and secondees.

14.27 The current approach focuses on individual police employees. Although the Ombudsman can investigate a complaint which is in substance 'about the practices and procedures of the Australian Federal Police'⁶⁴⁹ a complaint must still arise from the actions of an individual AFP appointee. The Commission proposed that the Act should clearly indicate that collective action by the AFP can also give rise to a complaint within the Act. This would allow a greater focus on organisational deficiencies identified in complaints.

NCA and scope of complaints legislation

14.28 The range of NCA employees covered by the proposed NIIC Act is dealt with in chapter 5.

Submissions

14.29 The Victoria Police noted that the Victorian Deputy Ombudsman has a discretionary power to investigate a complaint if the conduct complained about is concerned with established practices or procedures of the police and the Deputy Ombudsman considers that those practices or procedures should be reviewed. The Victoria Police suggested that the Victorian model is more practical and workable than the Commission's proposal that the Act should clearly indicate that complaints can be about the AFP as an organisation or about collective action by the AFP. The Commission prefers its proposal. The Commission's proposal makes it explicit that policies and procedures can be the subject of a complaints. It is a vital policy objective that legislation clearly applies not only to individual complaints about AFP appointees, but also to structural and systemic deficiencies within the AFP as an organisation.

Recommendation 104 - Who may be subject to a complaint?

All employees, temporary employees, secondees and consultants of the AFP should be covered by the complaints legislation.

Recommendation 105 - Collective action

The Act should provide that a complaint can be about the AFP as an organisation or about the collective action of the AFP.

Who should be able to complain?

Current position

14.30 The Complaints Act does not clearly define who can make a complaint. The Act provides that the Ombudsman may determine that a complaint should not be investigated if the 'complainant does not have a sufficient interest in the subject matter of the complaint'. The practice of the Ombudsman is to accept complaints made by individuals or organisations on behalf of the person who is directly affected by, or a witness to, the conduct that gives rise to the complaint provided there is some indication that the individual concerned has authorised the agent to make the complaint.

14.31 The Act does not define 'sufficient interest'. The term could be applied broadly to include a member of the public with personal knowledge of, or a special interest in, the circumstances giving rise to a complaint, or narrowly so as to be limited to those directly affected by the events giving rise to the complaint. 652

Policy objectives

14.32 A broad test of standing has the potential to increase the number of complaints and it may increase access by Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders, youth and persons from a non-English speaking background to the complaints system if they can complain through bodies such as community legal centres. To ensure broad access to the complaints system the legislation should expressly allow for complaints by agents and different bodies on behalf of complainants.⁶⁵³ There is no need, however, to define who these organisations or individuals could be as to do so would curtail the right of a complainant to ask any person or organisation to make the complaint on his or her behalf. The legislation should provide that groups or corporations may lodge complaints as entities.

DRP proposals

14.33 The DRP proposed no change to the current requirement of standing that the person or body must have a 'sufficient interest' in the matter. The DRP also proposed that there is no need to define 'sufficient interest' more specifically.

14.34 The Commission considered that there is no need to specify that an agent must have evidence of authority to act as an agent. At present there is no requirement for proof of authority and the Ombudsman is able to deal with the matter in a common sense way. If there is uncertainty as to whether the complainant has authorised the person or organisation lodging the complaint to do so the Ombudsman contacts the individual, or asks the person lodging the complaint to provide written authorisation or requests the complainant to contact the Ombudsman. Formalising the system of authorisation is likely to lead to a more rigid and complex system which may deter complainants with low literacy skills and result in less access to the system.

Submissions

14.35 The NCA, the Victoria Police and the Commonwealth Ombudsman agreed with these proposals. 655

Commission's views

14.36 The Commission has reconsidered the issue of standing and now takes the view that the legislation should make no prescriptions about standing. The requirement of 'sufficient interest' should be removed from the legislation. One of the most important aims of a complaints system is to ensure that legitimate complaints are considered and if necessary investigated. The source of the complaint is secondary. A person who is not directly affected by the conduct or who does not witness it may be in a position to make a legitimate complaint that otherwise may not come to the attention of the complaints system. For example, those who are directly affected by conduct or who were witnesses may be reluctant to report the conduct.

14.37 The NIIC would assess the substance of any complaint. That is the fundamental task. In the Commission's view a requirement of standing for the making of complaints is unnecessarily formal and is highly unlikely to deter those who would seek to make trivial or false complaints. The NIIC would have discretions available so that it would not have to investigate or act upon trivial, misconceived or false complaints.

Recommendation 106 - Who should be able to complain?

The legislation should not require persons or organisations to have any particular standing to make a complaint. The current requirement of 'sufficient interest' should be removed.

Recommendation 107 - Organisations or corporate bodies may complain

The legislation should specify that organisations or corporate bodies may lodge a complaint in the same way as individuals.

Recommendation 108

The legislation should expressly allow complaints by organisations on behalf of individuals but the legislation should not specify any organisation.

Recommendation 109 - Agency

The legislation should not specify a requirement of proof for an agent to lodge and proceed with a complaint.

Should anonymous complaints be accepted?

14.38 *Current position.* A complaint to an AFP appointee can be made whether or not the identity of the complainant is known to the member who receives the complaint. The Act is silent concerning anonymous complaints to the Ombudsman, but it appears that they are accepted subject to the Ombudsman's discretion to determine that a complaint should not be investigated if 'the investigation, or further investigation, of that action is not warranted having regard to all the circumstances'. There are no express provisions concerning

anonymous 'allegations'. The Ombudsman's records show that the following numbers of anonymous complaints have been received.

- In 1993/94, 7 anonymous complaints were received of which 4 were investigated.
- In 1994/95, 8 anonymous complaints were received of which 1 was investigated.
- From June 1995 to February 1996, 11 anonymous complaints were received of which 3 have been, or are in the process of being, investigated. 658

The proportion of anonymous complaints for the years 1993/94 and 1994/95 is therefore less than 1.3% with a much smaller proportion of those anonymous complaints being investigated.

- 14.39 *Issues*. Many complainants, especially police officers, fear victimisation when they make a complaint. The opportunity to make anonymous complaints encourages complaints to be made because complainants need not fear retribution. This promotes the legislative aim of ensuring the disclosure of instances of police deviance, particularly internal complaints which are most likely to reveal serious police misconduct. The Ombudsman has stated that several serious complaints have been lodged anonymously by AFP appointees which upon investigation have been found to have had substance.
- 14.40 *DRP proposals*. The Commission considered that the very small number of anonymous complaints which are actually investigated by the Ombudsman each year suggests that anonymous complaints are not being used widely to victimise police. The Commission was of the view that anonymous complaints should continue to be able to be accepted given that they have in the past revealed serious misconduct and that they provide an avenue for complaints by police officers who may fear victimisation in particular.
- 14.41 The Commission considered it a primary policy objective that anonymous complaints be accepted as there is always the possibility that they may provide valuable information. The Commission also acknowledged that some anonymous complaints may be vexatious, frivolous or vindictive. In balancing these concerns the Commission proposed that normally anonymous complaints should be accepted and investigated. However, where a preliminary inquiry indicates that there is little substance to the allegations or the conduct complained of is not such that it would constitute a criminal or disciplinary offence, then the complaint should not be investigated.
- 14.42 No particular problems with anonymous complaints in relation to the NCA were brought to the Commission's attention. The Commission's view was that the same approach should be adopted for the NCA as proposed for the AFP.
- 14.43 *Submissions and consultations*. The Ombudsman's Office has said that in the case of anonymous complaints the Office will often carry out some preliminary inquiries to test whether there is any likely substance in the complaint and whether there is sufficient information to enable the complaint to be investigated. A full investigation is usually only conducted when the answer to both of these questions is in the affirmative. The Ombudsman has a discretion to decide that a complaint which lacks proper substance ought not be investigated and the figures supplied by the Ombudsman suggest this discretion is used.⁶⁶²
- 14.44 During consultations, many AFP officers expressed concern about the acceptance and investigation of anonymous complaints.⁶⁶³ They argued that this gave people the opportunity to make malicious or false complaints without fear of punishment. One view was that if there was an anonymous complaint or any other complaint to which there was no substance there should be a formal apology, presumably by the AFP to the officer involved.⁶⁶⁴ Another suggestion was that there should be a greater distinction in the formal outcomes of complaints instead of merely 'complaint unsubstantiated' to indicate those cases where an officer had been vindicated.⁶⁶⁵
- 14.45 The AFP's submission to the DRP argued that the Commission's proposed anonymous complaints provision was too narrow, restrictive and legalistic. 666 It suggested that the AFP should be able to investigate anonymous complaints, if it chooses to do so, even in the event that the NIIC has exercised its discretion not

to investigate. The AFP considered it important that the NIIC advise the AFP of the details of such complaints for intelligence purposes.

14.46 The Victoria Police agreed with the AFP's submission. It submitted that the DRP proposal was too restrictive in spelling out when the investigation of an anonymous complaint should occur.⁶⁶⁷ It argued that the level and extent of any investigation should be determined on the basis of the information that is available or which might reasonably be pursued, not on the basis of some restrictive legislative provision.

14.47 *Commission's views.* The Commission is now of the view that it would be more appropriate for the Act to provide that anonymous complaints be accepted and made subject to the normal procedure for the handling of complaints. This is consistent with the approach that it is imperative not to discourage complainants by restrictive, technical or legalistic procedures or provisions. The Commission considers it appropriate that the NIIC accept all anonymous complaints according to the requirements of the legislation concerning complaints generally and according to the guidelines established by the NIIC. The Commission is also of the view that subject to operational security and the nature of the complaint, the NIIC would usually provide the details of anonymous complaints to the relevant organisation.

Recommendation 110 - Should anonymous complaints be accepted?

Anonymous complaints should continue to be accepted. There should not be any legislative prescription as to how they should be treated or in what circumstances they should be investigated.

Recommendation 111 - No specific discretion necessary for anonymous complaints

The NIIC does not require a specific discretion not to investigate anonymous complaints as the discretion to determine that an investigation is not warranted in all the circumstances is sufficient.

Recording complaints outcomes

Current situation

14.48 The IID and the Ombudsman have an administrative arrangement that provides for the following main outcomes after a complaint has been investigated

- substantiated
- unsubstantiated
- incapable of determination
- conciliated.⁶⁶⁸

14.49 Under this arrangement the outcome of 'substantiated' has the following options

- no further action
- supervisory action concerning member
- criminal or disciplinary action
- action concerning practices or procedures.

14.50 The Ombudsman uses the following definitions

- substantiated satisfied that the evidence shows the AFP's actions were defective
- unsubstantiated satisfied that the evidence does not show the AFP's actions were defective
- incapable of determination the evidence is not conclusive either way and further investigation is unlikely to produce a different result. 669

Submissions and consultations

14.51 The Commission found during its consultations with AFP personnel that there was widespread dissatisfaction with the current range of outcomes. In particular, personnel were concerned that there was no outcome which indicated that there was no fault found against the officer or that a complaint was false.

Commission's view

- 14.52 The primary task of the investigator of a complaint must be to determine whether the complaint is substantiated or not. In the Commission's view a finding of 'substantiated' should mean that the investigator is satisfied that what the complainant alleged did happen. A finding of 'unsubstantiated' should mean that the investigator is satisfied that what the complainant alleged did not happen. Complaints should only be classified as 'incapable of determination' where the investigator has expended appropriate resources and effort but cannot be sufficiently satisfied to make a positive finding of substantiated or unsubstantiated.
- 14.53 The Commission considers that the determination of the outcome of an investigation of a complaint should be concerned with establishing the relevant facts of the matter. The issue of whether the AFP's actions were defective or the officer has acted improperly, and for example, should be subject to criminal and/or disciplinary action, should only follow after that initial factual determination. The Commission considers that to cover the full range of options and to ensure consistency in investigative approach some changes to the current complaints outcomes are necessary.
- 14.54 The Commission proposes that there should be an additional classification of 'deliberately false'. This category would be used for cases where the investigator determined that the complainant has deliberately made a false complaint. This additional classification would allow the opportunity to attribute a greater degree of responsibility in the outcome for deliberately false complaints. A record should also be kept of all cases where the complainant has been convicted of the offence of making a deliberately false complaint.
- 14.55 The outcome 'unsubstantiated' would be appropriate where the investigator is satisfied that the complaint was false but not deliberately so; that is, the alleged conduct did not happen and the complaint was either made as a result of a misinterpretation of the facts or a misunderstanding. The statistical records should be able to differentiate between the categories of 'unsubstantiated' and 'deliberately false' but also aggregate them to show the total number of complaints that are unsubstantiated or substantiated.
- 14.56 The Commission also proposes that there should be an optional endorsement available in those cases that are determined to be 'substantiated'. This endorsement of 'substantiated-no fault' would be used for cases where the investigator determines that the complaint is substantiated but that the officer or officers concerned acted without fault.
- 14.57 The options for investigation outcomes for complaints should be provided for in the legislation and each outcome should be statutorily defined. This would assist in achieving consistency in investigative approach and outcomes.

Recommendation 112 - Recording of complaint outcomes

The current complaint outcomes of 'substantiated', 'not substantiated', 'incapable of determination' and 'conciliated' should be retained but with the additions of the category of 'deliberately false' and the option of 'substantiated - no fault'.

Recommendation 113 - Options for investigations outcomes

The options for investigation outcomes for complaints should be provided for in the legislation and each outcome should be statutorily defined.

Use of offences to achieve proper scope of complaints system

Current position

14.58 There are two specific offences that can help to achieve an appropriate balance between punishing or deterring false complaints and encouraging legitimate ones. These are the offence of making a false complaint and the offence of victimising a complainant. The two balance each other.

Deliberately false complaints

14.59 It is an offence to make a false complaint under the Complaints Act.⁶⁷⁰ However, proceedings for the offence cannot be brought without the consent in writing of the Ombudsman or, if the Ombudsman refuses to consent, the Attorney-General. The offence was introduced following a recommendation of a Working Party consisting of the AFP, the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the federal Attorney-General's Department. The Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs also agreed with the introduction of the offence.⁶⁷¹

Width of the offence

14.60 There are different views about the necessary width of the section and the appropriate penalty. For example, the Northern Territory Act⁶⁷² provides for an extremely broad offence of intentionally creating a 'false impression' which would lead to the investigation of a complaint. However, the consent of the Northern Territory DPP is required before the charge may be laid. In Queensland, it is also an offence to make a frivolous or vexatious complaint to the Criminal Justice Commission, ⁶⁷³ and if the offence is proven the offender may be ordered to pay the costs of any investigation which is instituted. ⁶⁷⁴ In South Australia the false complaint offence includes an offence of preventing a person from making a complaint. ⁶⁷⁵ Any prosecution is subject to the consent of the Police Complaints Authority.

DRP proposals

14.61 The Commission considered that the offence of a false complaint should be retained in order to ensure a proper balance in the system. The Commission proposed that the offence should be amended to ensure that a court or tribunal can award the costs of any investigation into the false complaint against any person found guilty of the offence. The NIIC should monitor the way in which complainants and potential complainants are informed of the existence of the offence by police so as to ensure that existence of the offence is not used as a way of improperly deterring people from making complaints.

14.62 The Commission received no specific submissions on the application of this offence to the NCA. It was of the view that the offence should apply to false complaints concerning the NCA.

Submissions and consultations

14.63 One view is that the process for dealing with false or vexatious complaints is necessary to ensure that the complaints mechanism retains internal credibility.⁶⁷⁶ The Ombudsman's view is that on balance there is probably a place for such an offence but only with at least the existing safeguards in place. The Ombudsman still had some concerns about the offence and whether it acts as a deterrent.

14.64 Many AFP officers consulted were concerned about false, vexatious or trivial complaints that could be used to harass officers or to delay criminal investigations or process.⁶⁷⁷ A common suggestion was that some formal screening of these types of complaints was necessary so that only those with substance and significance were actually investigated.⁶⁷⁸ Some reference was made to the AIDEX demonstrations. It was suggested that the Ombudsman had been biased against the police and had solicited complaints.⁶⁷⁹

14.65 One suggestion was that officers should be able to claim compensation for stress where they had unfounded complaints made against them. Another view was that complainants should have to make statutory declarations about their complaints. ⁶⁸¹

Commission's views

14.66 There is nothing in the current Complaints Act which precludes an AFP officer from pursuing his or her common law rights to seek redress from persons making false or malicious complaints. Officers are also entitled to seek compensation for stress related problems in common with other employees. The Commission's view is that to grant AFP appointees and NCA staff specific statutory remedies regarding such complaints is unnecessary.

Recommendation 114 - False complaints

The false complaints offence should be retained but should be amended to allow a court on conviction of a person to award the costs of any investigation into the false complaint against that person.

Victimisation of complainants

14.67 The AFP Complaints Working Party⁶⁸² recommended that there be an offence of victimisation. The Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs also recommended that an offence of victimisation be created to balance the proposed offence of false complaint.⁶⁸³ In 1994 an offence of victimisation was inserted in the Complaints Act as follows

- s 88A. A person must not cause, or threaten to cause, detriment to another person (the victim) on the ground that the victim, or any other person:
- (a) has made or might make a complaint under this Act; or
- (b) has made or might give a document or other information to a person under this Act.

Penalty: Imprisonment for 6 months.

DRP proposals

14.68 The Commission considered that the offence of victimisation should be retained. The rationale for the offence is clear. Complainants need to be encouraged to come forward with grievances and to be made aware that they are protected from possible victimisation including threats of prosecution for making a false complaint or from civil action by a member against whom the complaint is made. No submissions have been received in relation to the NCA and the availability of this offence. The Commission considered that this offence should also apply to matters arising in relation to the NCA.

Recommendation 115 - Victimisation of complainants

The offence of victimisation should be retained under the NIIC Act and should also apply to complaints concerning the NCA.

Disclosing the substance of a complaint to another AFP member

14.69 *Current position*. It is an offence for an AFP officer, staff member or person investigating a complaint to divulge information supplied to or acquired by the AFP during the investigation of a complaint except in the performance of his or her duties or with the consent in writing of the appropriate person. The section does not prevent a person from disclosing information in the production of a report made under the Act or in

evidence before a court or disciplinary tribunal.⁶⁸⁵ It is also an offence for the Ombudsman or her staff to divulge or communicate information obtained in the course of investigation of a complaint.⁶⁸⁶

- 14.70 These offences are intended to protect the confidentiality of information relating to complaints and their investigation. However, there is an exception that allows the Commissioner a discretion to disclose information to any person or to the public if in the opinion of the Commissioner it is in the interests of the AFP or the public. The AFP uses this discretion to disclose information to supervisors and managers when patterns of complaints about individual appointees are detected by the IID. This information is now also taken into account when considering dismissal or reappointment of appointees.
- 14.71 In response to the Issues Paper, the Ombudsman said difficulties remain over how much information should be disclosed for such purposes. The Ombudsman was concerned that protection of the complainant's right to complain may be curtailed if complainants believe that their personal details and complaints could become widely known within the AFP. The Ombudsman said that there have also been cases where information was disclosed to operational areas of the AFP in order to investigate the individual complainant. The Ombudsman argued that this should only occur where there is overwhelming public interest in that investigation as balanced against the public interest in protecting the integrity of the complaints system.
- 14.72 According to the Ombudsman the information required by the AFP to supervise and manage appointees does not need to include information identifying the complainant. The Ombudsman suggested that the secrecy provisions should be redrafted to provide that information relating to appointees, including complaint investigation details, should be available for prescribed purposes within the AFP, but that personal information identifying the complainant should not be disclosed without the consent of the Ombudsman. To protect the internal confidentiality of the complaints process, secrecy provisions should also apply to information obtained by AFP appointees as a result of a complaint investigation. This would ensure that the integrity of the complaints system is protected and appointees are accountable.
- 14.73 *DRP proposals*. The Commission proposed that the secrecy provisions should ensure that information relating to AFP appointees does not need to include the identification of the complainant. The legislation should provide that information relating to appointees, including complaint investigation details, should be available for defined purposes within the AFP as discussed above, but that personal information identifying the complainant should not be disclosed without the consent of the NIIC.
- 14.74 *Submissions and consultations*. Victoria Police agreed that information identifying the complainant should not be disclosed beyond that which is necessary to investigate and to prosecute or resolve the complaint. However, it raised the concern that there may be instances where it is essential for the safety of police members that the identity of the complainant be disclosed. Such a situation may arise where the demonstrated behaviour of a complainant is such to warrant concern as to the welfare of police. The Commission's view is that in these unusual circumstances the NIIC would provide such details.
- 14.75 *NCA and secrecy provisions*. The Commission is of the view that similar provisions should apply to the NCA. The current secrecy provisions applying to the NCA are discussed in chapter 5. The NCA agreed with the application of the proposed secrecy provisions.

Recommendation 116 - AFP and NCA secrecy provisions

The secrecy provisions in the Complaints Act s 87 should be redrafted to ensure that information relating to appointees does not need to include information identifying the complainant. The legislation should provide that information relating to appointees, including complaint investigation details, should be available for defined purposes within the AFP as discussed above, but that personal information identifying the complainant should not be disclosed without the consent of the NIIC.

Similar provisions should apply to the NCA.

Protection and encouragement of whistleblowers

14.76 Whistleblowers are people in organisations who report corrupt, illegal, fraudulent or harmful activity by the organisation or members of it.

Current situation

- 14.77 There is whistleblowing legislation in some State jurisdictions. ⁶⁹⁰ There is currently no Commonwealth legislation.
- 14.78 A Senate Select Committee on Public Interest Whistleblowing issued a report in August 1994 and recommended that Commonwealth legislation should be passed establishing an independent agency to be known as the Public Interest Disclosures Agency (the Agency). The role of the Agency would be to receive public interest disclosures and arrange for an appropriate authority to investigate them. Other functions would be to ensure the protection of people making such disclosures, to provide a national education program and to develop and oversee recommendations relating to the Agency's role. The AFP advised that it recommended that whistleblowing legislation apply to it and all government departments and agencies.⁶⁹¹
- 14.79 The Committee recommended that the AFP be covered by any whistleblower protection legislation. It also commented that there appeared to be a lack of successful police force reform to date in relation to protecting and encouraging whistleblowing and that additional education initiatives and strategies should be directed at whistleblower protection in State and federal police services. Other recommendations were directed at changing community attitudes towards whistleblowers and informing the public of the public benefits flowing from whistleblowing.
- 14.80 On 1 December 1994 a further Senate Select Committee was established to inquire into unresolved whistleblower cases. The report of this Committee was tabled in October 1995. A response by the previous government to the earlier report was tabled in Parliament on 26 October 1995. The Government stated that it would introduce whistleblowing legislation as part of its response to the Gibbs committee's recommendations ⁶⁹² and as part of its response to the recommendations of the Samuels' Commission of Inquiry into ASIS. ⁶⁹³ However, no further action was taken on introducing whistleblowers legislation before the recent change of government.
- 14.81 The NSW Royal Commission into Police has highlighted the ethical dilemmas and fears that many would-be whistleblowers face. Whistleblowers must be encouraged and protected and this is especially so in relation to organisations like the AFP and the NCA where there may be cultures that victimise or intimidate whistleblowers.

DRP proposals

14.82 The Commission considered that legislation to protect and encourage whistleblowers was necessary. The Commission commented that while legislation covering all Commonwealth agencies was desirable, there was a pressing need for legislation covering the AFP and NCA.

Submissions and consultations

- 14.83 The Whistleblowers Association strongly supported effective federal whistleblower protection to underpin the effectiveness of any AFP and NCA complaints system. 694
- 14.84 The Attorney-General's Department advised the Commission that the federal Government is currently considering the introduction of whistleblowing legislation to protect public officials who expose corruption in the public service. This would apply to the AFP and NCA.
- 14.85 The submissions from the AFP and Victoria Police did not support the term 'whistleblowing' as it is widely regarded as being derogatory and demeaning. The AFP considered more acceptable terms to be 'professional reporting' or 'integrity reporting'. The Victoria Police refers to people who report internal criminality as 'internal sources'.

14.86 The AFP advised that a policy is being finalised in conjunction with the Ombudsman in relation to whistleblowers. According to the AFP, the policy provides, among other things, for the Ombudsman to be notified as early as possible of reports, including advice on allegations of harassment of appointees who report under the policy. The Victoria Police advised that it has introduced a policy, supported by a range of strategies and disciplinary offences, to encourage internal reporting and to encourage and protect those people who make such reports. It has also sought legislation in support of these strategies.

14.87 The NCA's submission to the DRP commented that while the NCA has always supported, and will continue to support, whistleblower legislation, it is not aware of any information or allegations indicating that there is a pressing need for such legislation in respect to the NCA. The view of the NCA is that the functions of the NCA are such that it may have a less pressing need for such legislation than others.

Commissions views

14.88 The NCA has a central role in the national criminal investigative process. It has access to highly confidential information. It is also has special coercive powers in certain circumstances. There is a potential for misuse of confidential information and for misconduct as there is for any other body involved in the criminal investigative process.

14.89 Many of the NCA's operations are carried out by police officers. In this respect problems associated with police culture may apply to the NCA as they do to other police services. One of the issues associated with this culture is the difficulty law enforcement agencies have in ensuring the protection of whistleblowers. To suggest that there may be less pressing need for the protection of whistleblowers in the NCA than police services is to fail to acknowledge the nature of the NCA's activities. One NCA officer in a confidential interview with the Commission commented that the NCA culture was predominantly a police culture and that there were real problems for whistleblowers who needed protection. The Commission is unaware of any programs undertaken by the NCA to encourage whistleblowers and to ensure their protection.

14.90 The Commission acknowledges the concerns of the AFP and Victoria Police with the use of the term 'whistleblowers'. The term is used in this report because of its wide usage and familiarity. The Commission agrees, however, that any legislation in this area should avoid the term 'whistleblower' for the reasons outlined by the AFP and the Victoria Police.

14.91 Statutory whistleblower protection at the federal level has been discussed since 1991⁶⁹⁹ and there is an increasing recognition of the need for protection for whistleblowers not only in relation to law enforcement but in general industry also.⁷⁰⁰ The Commission considers that appropriate legislation should be enacted as a matter of priority.

Recommendation 117 - Protection and encouragement of whistleblowers

The Commission supports legislation to protect and encourage whistleblowers. This should cover all Commonwealth agencies including the AFP and the NCA. The legislation should be enacted as a matter of priority.

Recommendation 118

The NIIC should assist the AFP and NCA in developing and reviewing whistleblower policies and programs.

Other issues

Avoiding disciplinary action

14.92 *Retiring on ground of invalidity.* The Issues Paper raised the question of whether officers who are likely to face disciplinary action may try to avoid it by resigning or taking retirement on the grounds of invalidity. The AFP submitted that retirement on the ground of invalidity has not been used to avoid disciplinary proceedings. Under the provisions of the AFP Act and the Commonwealth superannuation

legislation, the retirement of AFP appointees on invalidity grounds cannot be legally effected without the issue of an appropriate certificate by the Commonwealth Superannuation Board of Trustees.

14.93 The DRP did not suggest there was any need to change the current situation. There was no response to this suggesting any alternative views.

14.94 **Resignation.** Under the AFP Act the resignation provisions differ according to whether the appointee is a member or a staff member. A staff member may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Commissioner with the resignation taking effect from the date specified in the notice. For a member's resignation to be effective it must be offered three months after (or within such shorter period as the Commissioner allows) a notice is given to the Commissioner indicating the member's intention to resign. ⁷⁰¹

14.95 The AFP advised that there have been some occasions where members or staff members who have been the subject of disciplinary proceedings have resigned. Generally these resignations have been accepted with the result that the disciplinary action lapses. The AFP submitted, however, that each case is considered in the context of the surrounding circumstances and there may be occasions when accepting the resignation is in the best interests of the AFP. An example would be where the person's behaviour or conduct raises serious doubt as to his or her continued employment suitability but s 26E or non renewal of appointment is not available and there is no guarantee that a disciplinary hearing will result in a finding of dismissal. The Commissioner's power not to accept a resignation is limited by s 52 of the AFP Act.

14.96 Section 52 provides that where proceedings are started in respect of a breach of a relevant disciplinary offence and the person, either before or after those proceedings are commenced, gives notice of intention to resign or resigns or is retired to take effect on or after the commencement of proceedings, the resignation or retirement will not have any effect. In this situation the person will be regarded as being suspended without pay. The AFP has stated that it has received legal advice that proceedings under s 52 are limited to Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal proceedings which is a further restriction on the situations where the Commissioner could refuse to accept a resignation.

14.97 The NSW Police Integrity Commission Act 1996 (NSW) provides that conduct may be dealt with, or continue to be dealt with, under that Act even though any police officer involved has ceased to be a police officer and that references in the Act to a police officer should be read where appropriate as including a former police officer. In the Commission's view a similar provision which would allow the NIIC to investigate conduct of a former officer should be provided in the proposed NIIC legislation.

14.98 The Commission considers that in the interests of public confidence in the system the s 52 power to defer resignation and suspend an officer without pay should be extended to those situations where

- the Commissioner has initiated an action for misconduct by providing the appointee with notice in writing of the initiation of that action or
- a formal investigation into the appointee's conduct has been commenced by the NIIC or at its direction.

14.99 *Submissions*. The AFP's submission commented that the power to investigate or deal with former AFP appointees should extend to compelling former appointees to provide relevant information to the body investigating complaints coupled with the imposition of criminal sanctions for a refusal or a failure to comply with such a direction. ⁷⁰²

14.100 The Victoria Police suggested that if members are subject to disciplinary action it is preferable that they be dismissed than allowed to resign. The Victoria Police advised that it is seeking legislative amendments which will allow the Commissioner to refuse to accept a member's resignation for a number of reasons, including that charges are pending.

14.101 The Commonwealth Attorney-General's Department and the NCA supported the proposal but noted that if the NIIC undertakes an investigation into a former AFP appointee or NCA staff member then, unless the investigation discloses evidence of a criminal offence, the powers of the NIIC against a former employee are somewhat limited in that disciplinary action can not be taken.⁷⁰⁴ Where evidence of a criminal offence is

disclosed the NIIC can pass on that information to the AFP or the Director of Public Prosecutions for appropriate action. Where the investigation indicates deficiencies in NCA or AFP procedures or practice, the NIIC would make these observations known to the relevant organisation.

Recommendation 119 - Avoiding disciplinary action

The NIIC Act should include an amended equivalent to s 52 of the *Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act*. The provision should ensure that the Commissioner's power to defer a resignation is available where the Commissioner has initiated an action for misconduct by serving the appointee with notice in writing of the initiation of that action or where a formal investigation into the appointee's conduct has been commenced by the NIIC or at its direction.

Recommendation 120 - Powers in relation to ex-staff

The NIIC should have power to investigate or deal with conduct even though an AFP appointee or NCA staff member has ceased to be an AFP appointee or a NCA staff member.

Provision of an AFP member's name and address upon request

- 14.102 When a person requests the name and place of duty of an AFP appointee for the purpose of making a complaint, the Complaints Act provides that it is an offence to refuse or to give false details. The obligation only exists where the individual requests such information for the purpose of making a complaint.
- 14.103 The AFP has submitted that this requirement for appointees to furnish their names and addresses should be dispensed with in cases where the appointee is wearing a visible official AFP identification number. Appointees should also have a discretion not to disclose their names where there is a justification for not doing so, for example, where the member fears harassment.⁷⁰⁶
- 14.104 Members of the rank of constable and sergeant are required to wear identification numbers attached to the front of their uniforms at all times. However, numbers may be removed or exchanged and the obligation only applies to members at these ranks at the time they are in uniform. This means that the obligation is in fact only applicable to the AFP within the ACT as almost all members of the AFP within the national region operate in civilian clothes. The obligation does not apply when members are off duty but are purporting to act as police officers (for example, an officer who attempts to break up a brawl at a local football game in his or her capacity as a police officer as opposed to that of a concerned citizen).
- 14.105 *DRP proposal.* The Commission was of the view that the requirement should apply even where the officer is wearing an identification number. However, AFP officers should have a discretion not to provide their names or addresses where they believe on reasonable grounds that to do so would jeopardise their safety or the safety of others or jeopardise operational security. The requirement for officers to wear their identification numbers when they are in uniform should be amended to apply to all officers and the numbers should be permanently affixed to uniforms.
- 14.106 *Submissions*. The Victoria Police commented that their operating procedures require all members to immediately give their name, number and station to any person who requests such details on any reasonable occasion. In relation to the Commission's proposal regarding the affixing of identification numbers, the Victoria Police suggested that a proper cost analysis should be undertaken before adopting this strategy.
- 14.107 *Commission's view*. The Commission's view is that the identification of police by complainants is of vital importance. The affixing of identification numbers enables potential complainants to identify with some certainty the officer whom they believe acted improperly. Not having that information may deter a potential complainant from making a complaint. A fundamental policy objective is to ensure that potential complainants are not unfairly dissuaded from complaining.

Recommendation 121- Provision of AFP members' name and address upon request

Officers should be under a duty to provide their names and work addresses on request where the person requesting the information indicates that he or she wishes to make a complaint. However, AFP officers should have a discretion not to provide their names or addresses where they believe on reasonable grounds that to do so would jeopardise their safety or the safety of others or jeopardise operational security. The requirement for officers to wear numbers when they are in uniform should be extended to apply to all officers and the numbers should be permanently affixed.

Medical examinations for complainants

- 14.108 In the Issues Paper the Commission asked about medical treatment or medical services for detainees and others. The Ombudsman responded that although in the past she has had some concerns about AFP care for detainees she believes that the AFP has improved its procedures for ensuring detainees receive adequate medical treatment and that she is not aware of any current concerns.⁷⁰⁸
- 14.109 According to the AFP submission to the Issues Paper, where a person complains of being assaulted by an AFP officer and there are reasons to believe that a medical examination of that person will produce relevant evidence, the normal procedure is to request the person to submit to a medical examination by a AFP medical officer or, in cases outside the ACT, a Commonwealth Medical Officer or private medical practitioner. AFP medical officers conducting examinations in such circumstances submit reports and these reports are, where appropriate, forwarded to the Ombudsman.
- 14.110 The Ombudsman has commented that private medical practitioners are often not experienced in providing a report for such purposes and may provide insufficient detail. She has stated that there would be some benefits in an arrangement whereby complainants are seen by a medical practitioner experienced in forensic medicine if the complainant agrees. The Ombudsman has suggested that where services such as the Victorian Office of Forensic Medicine are available, it would be useful to have arrangements in place to allow access. Where arrangements are not available, or where complainants prefer their own medical practitioners, an alternative may be to develop a reporting form for complainants to give to the medical practitioner to assist in providing adequate information about the examination.
- 14.111 The Ombudsman has also suggested that assessment of medical evidence may well require specific expertise in forensic medicine and that it would be preferable for the external agency overseeing the AFP complaints process and the AFP to have access to independent expertise in considering medical evidence. The Ombudsman has suggested exploring the provision of advice by an existing State or Territory body with sufficient independence.

Submissions

- 14.112 The Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine has stated that it would be willing to assist in establishing procedures for the AFP to facilitate medical examinations for complainants.⁷¹⁰ The Institute suggested it could assist in developing medical services to assist in the investigatory process, the training of medical practitioners in this role or in the provision of expert opinions to both investigators and the courts.
- 14.113 The Victoria Police commented that as complainants cannot be compelled to undergo medical examination by any doctor, the alternative would be to supply the doctor with the best possible information which might assist in the determination of a complaint investigation.⁷¹¹ It suggested that any reporting form developed should include provision for the complainant to authorise release to the investigating agency of information from the doctor for use in the investigation into the complaint and any related proceedings. The Commission agrees with this suggestion.

Recommendation 122 - Medical examinations

The AFP should liaise with the Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine and any similar specialist services to assist in establishing medical procedures for complainants including:

- services for the investigation process
- the training of medical practitioners in this role and
- the provision of expert opinions to both investigators and the courts.

These medical procedures should include developing a pro-forma report for medical practitioners asked to examine a person who has complained about assault or other mistreatment by the police or any other law enforcement officer. In the event that a complainant chooses their own doctor, the doctor should be provided with the best possible information which might assist in the determination of the complaint investigation.

Vicarious liability

14.114 *Issue.* Under the AFP Act s 64B, the Commonwealth is liable in respect of torts and acts or omissions of AFP members in the performance or purported performance of their duties. It is likely that the corrupt activities of a member would not fall within the definition of the performance or purported performance of duties so the Commonwealth would not be liable for these activities. In any case, the Commonwealth's liability does not extend to any punitive damages that may be awarded. These are borne by the member involved. In the DRP the Commission proposed that s 64B be amended to make it clear that corrupt conduct does not fall within the definition of performance or purported performance of duties. In recognition of the fact that it is not only members who may incur liability, s 64B should be extended to include staff members as well.

Recommendation 123 - Vicarious liability

The operation of s 64B should be extended to cover staff members as well as members. The section should be amended to make it clear that the corrupt activities of a member do not fall within the definition of the performance or purported performance of duties.

15. Processing complaints

Introduction

- 15.1 This chapter examines
- receiving complaints
- recording complaints
- providing information about the complaints systems and
- information and advertising.

Receiving complaints

Current situation

15.2 The Complaints Act does not specifically prescribe who may receive a complaint. It is only when a complaint is lodged with the Ombudsman or an AFP appointee that the complaints procedure under the Act is invoked.

DRP proposals

15.3 The DRP expressed the view that although complainants should be able to ask any individual or group to lodge a complaint on their behalf, it was not desirable to widen too much the range of places at which complaints can be lodged formally. This is because including the full range of individuals and organisations would be very difficult and might exclude relevant persons or groups.

15.4 The Commission proposed that complaints be regarded as formally lodged when they are lodged with an AFP appointee, an NCA staff member, the Commonwealth Ombudsman or with the NIIC. The Ombudsman should be retained as a lodgement point because of the fact that she has some presence in all States and Territories apart from Tasmania and because she has already built up some public profile in the community in relation to police complaints. On receiving complaints the Ombudsman would be obliged to forward them directly to the NIIC. The Commission also suggested that the State and Territory anti-discrimination bodies, ICAC, the CJC and the NSW PIC as well as other State and Territory external agencies for handling police complaints might be possible reception points for complaints against the AFP and the NCA. These bodies should be consulted as to whether they would be in a position to act as formal lodgement points.

Submissions

15.5 The NCA, the AFP, the Victoria Police and the Ombudsman supported the Commission's proposals in relation to receiving complaints.⁷¹³

Methods of making complaints

- 15.6 A complaint may be made to the Ombudsman orally or in writing.⁷¹⁴ The Act provides that the Ombudsman may require that an oral complaint be reduced to writing at any time. Where the complainant refuses to put the complaint in writing, the Ombudsman may exercise a discretion not to investigate the complaint.⁷¹⁵ Persons in custody have the right to request the necessary facilities to make a complaint and to have a sealed envelope containing a complaint sent to the Ombudsman without any undue delay.⁷¹⁶
- 15.7 The Commission is of the view that both written and oral complaints should be accepted. Where a complaint is made orally the NIIC, the AFP, the NCA or any other formal recipient should be entitled to require the complainant to reduce the complaint to writing at any time or to provide sufficient information so

that the complaint may be reduced to writing. The Commission is also of the view that the provisions relating to complaints made by people in custody should continue.

Recommendation 124 - Receiving complaints

The legislation should specify that complaints can be lodged with the NIIC, the Commonwealth Ombudsman, the AFP, the NCA and the NIIC. The complainant would be able to nominate an agent to act on his or her behalf.

Recommendation 125 - Complaints lodged with Ombudsman

The legislation should specify that complaints lodged with a Commonwealth Ombudsman's office should be forwarded to the NIIC within 48 hours of receipt. Confidentiality obligations should also apply.

Recommendation 126 - Other possible reception points

Consideration should be given to State and Territory anti-discrimination bodies, ICAC, the CJC and the NSW PIC as well as other State and Territory external agencies for handling police complaints as possible reception points for complaints against the AFP and the NCA. These bodies should be consulted as to their availability and capacity.

Recommendation 127 - Methods of making complaints

Written and oral complaints should continue to be accepted. Where a complaint is made orally the NIIC, the AFP, the NCA or any other formal recipient should be entitled to require the complainant to reduce the complaint to writing at any time or to provide sufficient information so that the complaint may be reduced to writing.

Recommendation 128 - Complainants in custody

The provisions of the Complaints Act relating to complaints made by people in custody should be retained.

Recording complaints

Current situation

15.8 Currently the Act requires various particulars of complaints which are referred to the IID to be recorded. The particulars that must be recorded are set out in the Complaints Regulations and include:

- the names of the complainant, the AFP appointee who is the subject of the complaint, the AFP appointee to whom the complaint was made (if applicable) and the investigator
- the dates of the making of the complaint or the referral from (or to) the Ombudsman (as applicable) and of any referral from the Disciplinary Tribunal to the Commissioner for further investigation
- a description of the substance of the complaint
- the details and outcome of any charge. 718

15.9 More limited recording requirements are imposed on the Ombudsman.⁷¹⁹ There are also annual reporting requirements placed on the IID⁷²⁰ and the Ombudsman⁷²¹ concerning police complaints. The specific requirements for annual statistics include details of the total number and different types of complaints, the number of complaints which were substantiated, unable to be substantiated, not substantiated or withdrawn, the number of complaints in which the complainant and AFP appointee were reconciled and

the number that it was determined should not be investigated.⁷²² At present, only the name, rank and number of the AFP appointee who is the subject of the complaint must be recorded.⁷²³ Other useful information could be obtained for assessing the operations of the complaints system or of the police.⁷²⁴

Issues

- 15.10 There is considerable evidence that police may under-record complaints.⁷²⁵ This is often due to an antagonistic or defensive attitude towards the complaints system. Under-recording of complaints may be reduced by changing the police's perception and culture.
- 15.11 The issues paper asked whether there should be a requirement to record more comprehensive details about the complainant such as
- the complainant's sex
- whether the complainant is a juvenile
- the language spoken at home
- the ethnicity of a complainant
- whether the complainant is Aboriginal
- whether the complainant is disabled.
- 15.12 A number of submissions to the issues paper suggested that such information if it is to be accurate must be collected from the complainant. Requests for this information might cause complainants to feel discriminated against or threatened. The Ombudsman submitted that her office was currently exploring how to obtain useful data about ethnicity and other demographic data without discouraging complainants by asking intrusive questions. The Ombudsman believed that other methods such as surveys were preferable ways of obtaining this information.
- 15.13 The Ombudsman questioned whether it is useful to prescribe legislatively any further details than those above as she believes the categories under which it is important to record details will change over time. The Federal Privacy Commissioner submitted that deriving further details about AFP appointees from existing personnel records would be likely to fall under Information Privacy Principle 10⁷²⁶ so long as the use of such information was confined to internal management purposes within the agency concerned. However, as the use of the information for this purpose would not have been envisaged at the time when the information was collected the Commissioner thought it would be wise to consult with staff first as not to do so could discourage staff from providing such data in future. At the same time any use of such data would need to be carefully monitored to ensure that officers or staff could not be identified despite not being named.

DRP proposals

- 15.14 The Commission considered that the collection of any additional information as listed above in relation to complainants should be voluntary and this should be explained to the complainant along with an explanation of the reason why the information is collected and any persons or agencies to whom the information might be disclosed.
- 15.15 The Commission proposed that no further details for complainants, for AFP appointees or the complaint itself should be specified in the legislation as it would be making the process too rigid when what is necessary is targeted research. A legislative requirement of more detailed information in every case would create delays and additional costs and would also run the risk of intimidating complainants. If the NIIC as part of its research function wanted further information about complainants and AFP or NCA officers it should conduct such research on a voluntary basis and by other means such as surveys.

Submissions

15.16 The Ombudsman strongly supported the Commission's proposal that no further details of complainants, AFP appointees or the complaint itself, other than those already taken, should be specified in the legislation.⁷²⁷

Commission's views

15.17 In chapter 2 the Commission noted the benefits of adding details of management action taken in response to complaints. Management action should be added to the particulars specified in the current legislation.

Recommendation 129 - Recording complaints

The current provisions for particulars required should be maintained but with the addition of management action taken in response to the complaint.

Recommendation 130 - Additional information from complainants

The collection of personal information relating to complainants should be collected through surveys and other research processes from complainants on a voluntary basis only. Survey and research work might include information such as

- the complainant's sex
- whether the complainant is a juvenile
- the language spoken at home
- the ethnicity of a complainant
- whether the complainant is Aboriginal
- whether the complainant is disabled.

Any request for information should be explained to the complainant along with an explanation of the reason why the information is being collected and any persons or agencies to whom the information might be disclosed.

Recommendation 131

No further details of complainants, AFP appointees or the complaint itself should be specified in the legislation.

Failure to record a complaint

- 15.18 *DRP proposals.* Failure to record a complaint may constitute a disciplinary offence under the broad provisions of AFP General Order 5. However, the Commission considered that a specific offence was desirable. The recording of complaints constitutes a fundamental part of an effective and fair complaints system. A failure to record obstructs the whole process. It may frustrate potential complainants, allow police who have misconducted themselves to escape detection and appropriate sanction and it may contribute to a misleading picture of the performance of the law enforcement agency. Under-recording of complaints is a significant problem that must be addressed. The Commission proposed that a deliberate failure to record a complaint should be a criminal offence while a negligent or careless failure to record a complaint should be a specific disciplinary offence.
- 15.19 *Submissions*. The Ombudsman supported a criminal offence of deliberately failing to record a complaint.⁷²⁸
- 15.20 The NCA and the Victoria Police considered it inappropriate that the deliberate failure to record a complaint should be a criminal offence.⁷²⁹ The AFP argued that failure to record a complaint should attract

criminal sanctions only where the failure is deliberate and the allegation relates to the commission, or suspected commission, of a criminal offence or a prescribed disciplinary offence by an AFP appointee.⁷³⁰

15.21 *Commission's views.* The Commission maintains its support for the DRP proposal. A major practical difficulty is raised by the AFP's suggestion which is that the person recording a complaint is not usually in a position to always judge the seriousness of the complaint at the time of recording it. The failure to record complaints and the police tendency to under-record complaints is significant and common.⁷³¹ It is vital to the success of any complaints process that all complaints are recorded. The Commission is of the view that a change in police culture and attitudes is required in this area. The duty to record a complaint needs to be reinforced. Every NCA member, AFP appointee and member of the NIIC should know what duties are imposed upon them to record a complaint and the serious consequences that will follow a deliberate failure to do so. The Commission's proposals would achieve this policy.

15.22 The Commission believes that there should be a defence available where the person had a reasonable belief that

- there was no obligation upon him or her in the circumstances or
- he or she had discharged the obligation.

The NIIC in consultation with the AFP should determine what obligations should be on classes of members in recording complaints.

Recommendation 132 - Recording complaints

The recording of complaints by an officer who is under a duty to do so should be a legislative requirement. A deliberate failure to comply with the duty to record a complaint should be a criminal offence, while a negligent or careless failure to comply with the duty to record a complaint should be a specific disciplinary offence. A defence should be available where the person had a reasonable belief that there was no obligation upon him or her in the circumstances or he or she had discharged the obligation.

Information and advertising

Issues

15.23 There is a need for greater public accessibility to the AFP and NCA complaints systems. Advertising and information strategies should target those most likely to be unaware of the system or who lack the confidence to use it. Campaigns should be directed towards youth, ethnic groups, women, gays and lesbians, Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders and the socially disadvantaged.

DRP proposals

15.24 The DRP proposed that information campaigns should be conducted in innovative and accessible ways. For example, in targeting youth, the NIIC might consider making itself available for interviews or providing information that could be played on television or radio programs that have a large youth audience. Advertising and information could be directed towards youth magazines and newspapers as well as schools, 'drop in' centres, sporting organisations, welfare organisations and other venues that cater for a youth audience. The NIIC should consult with youth workers and others working in the field to ensure that its advertising campaigns are run in ways that are accessible to, and effective for, targeted groups such as youth.

15.25 Information for groups from non-English speaking backgrounds should be directed towards the ethnic press and radio and other services which are used by ethnic groups. Information for indigenous Australians could be disseminated through ATSIC, the Aboriginal Legal Service and through media programs and information outlets delivering services to indigenous Australians.

15.26 Information should also be disseminated in appropriate places including police stations, community legal centres, migrant centres and prisons. There could be a complaints against police 'hotline' under the supervision of the Commissioner for Complaints. The Commissioner for Complaints should employ an Aboriginal and Torres Straits Islander liaison officer and should put in place outreach programs to contact members of ethnic communities and other groups with special needs. Each of these measures would involve some additional resources but it should be recognised that simply translating information into different languages or providing pamphlets will not ensure broad access to the complaints system. Innovative campaigns should also be conducted to target other specific groups such as women and the gay and lesbian community. Both mainstream and alternative avenues should be explored and the focus should be on both written and oral presentations to ensure that those with literacy problems are not excluded from the information campaign.

Submissions

15.27 The Victoria Police noted that both it and the Victorian Deputy Ombudsman (Police Complaints) provide after-hours emergency contact numbers to access on-call services for people wishing to make complaints.⁷³²

Recommendation 133 - Information and advertising

The NIIC in consultation with the Commonwealth Ombudsman should conduct advertising and information campaigns in innovative and accessible ways targeting youth, women, gays and lesbians, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, people from non-English speaking backgrounds and the socially disadvantaged. The NIIC should ensure that its campaigns are conducted both in written and oral forms so that those with literacy problems are not excluded.

Recommendation 134 - Greater accessibility

The Commissioner for Complaints should

- operate a hotline for complaints against the AFP and the NCA
- have an Aboriginal and Torres Straits Islander liaison officer and

should conduct outreach programs directed at specific ethnic groups and other groups with special needs.

A duty on the AFP to provide information

15.28 *Issues*. The Commission asked whether there should be a duty on police to inform a person about the complaints system after any significant interaction with the police or a legislative requirement that those interrogated in police custody be advised that they have a right to make a complaint.⁷³³ The majority of submissions which addressed these issues contended that there should be not be a legislative requirement on the police. Some submissions indicated that this would be tantamount to inviting complaints while others suggested that imposing this requirement would lead to police providing the information in such a way as to actively discourage potential complainants from taking up their complaints. However, the Ombudsman thought that there was some merit in this proposal.

15.29 *DRP proposals.* The Commission considered that it was not practical to place a duty on police to inform a person about the complaints system after any significant interaction with the police. This would be lead to complex debate about what constituted a significant interaction. However, the Commission was of the view that it is essential for people to know about their right to complain and that this right is as crucial as other rights during the investigative process. The Commission noted that there is a significant problem with people being unaware of their right to complain or being directly or indirectly intimidated or deterred from making a legitimate complaint. A legislative duty would ensure that people under arrest would be properly informed of their rights. It would be a positive reinforcement of the independence and effectiveness of the complaints system. Taping or video-recording of interviews would allow the method and manner of the

provision of the information by the police to be monitored so as to avoid intimidation of potential complainants.

- 15.30 As a consequence the Commission proposed an obligation on police to inform a person under arrest of the existence of the complaints process. Part 1C of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth) which deals with the obligations of police when investigating a Commonwealth crime should be amended to provide this duty.
- 15.31 *Submissions and consultations*. The NCA opposed the imposition of a legislative duty on law enforcement officers to inform people under arrest of the existence of the complaints process. ⁷³⁴ It preferred that this duty be part of the police procedures. It was also concerned that if a legislative duty was imposed, the amendment to the *Crimes Act* would require underpinning legislation to extend the duty to State and Territory police officers.
- 15.32 The Victoria Police did not support the Commission's proposal.⁷³⁵ It preferred the Victorian model where there is a requirement for a 'non-involved supervising sub-officer or commissioned officer' to ask all persons interrogated by police whether they are satisfied with their treatment by police.
- 15.33 *Commission's view.* The Commission does not agree with the views of the NCA on this matter. A legislative requirement would best achieve the policy of ensuring that all who come in contact with the police in a significant event such as an arrest are aware of the existence of a complaints process. Further, the Commission supports the extension of the legislative obligation to State and Territory police officers when acting on behalf of the NCA.
- 15.34 Nor would advertising of the complaints system in police stations be enough to ensure that people are aware of their right to make a complaint. The Commission's proposal ensures that people who have been arrested or formally interviewed by the police will become aware of the complaints system. This avoids the significant problem experienced within many complaints systems where police officers intentionally or inadvertently persuade potential complainants not to exercise their right to make a complaint. The Commission supports the Victorian model in two important aspects. The Victoria Police procedure
- acknowledges that people subject to formal police interviews may also be potential complainants and,
- ensures that the officer involved in the taking of information regarding the complaints process is not involved in the arrest or interviewing procedure.

Importantly, the Victoria Police submission suggests that its procedures work well in practice. The Commission is of the view that these aspects of the Victorian procedure should be implemented for the AFP and NCA.

Recommendation 135 - A duty on the AFP to provide information

There should be a legislative duty on police to inform persons under arrest or formally interviewed by the police of the existence of the complaints process. This information should be conveyed to the person by a non-involved supervising officer or commissioned officer. Part 1C of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth) should be amended to include this duty.

16. Special needs of the territories

Introduction

16.1 This chapter discusses specific issues that arise in relation to complaints systems for the ACT, Jervis Bay and the external territories. The AFP has a community policing role in each of these territories.

The ACT

Policing arrangements

16.2 Around 60-70% of complaints against the AFP arise within the ACT because of the AFP's community policing role there. Complaints range from minor matters such as rudeness to more serious complaints such as wrongful arrest. When performing functions in the ACT, AFP members have all the powers conferred on them by the laws of the Commonwealth plus all the powers conferred on police by laws of the Territory.⁷³⁷

16.3 The ACT (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) provided the ACT Legislative Assembly with legislative power with respect to the ACT but it cannot pass legislation about the provision of police services in the ACT. The AFP provides policing services to the ACT in relation to its position as a self governing territory and also in relation to the ACT as the seat of the Commonwealth Government. The ACT Government has entered into an arrangement with the Commonwealth Government in relation to those services. Under the arrangement the ACT Government funds the community policing component of the AFP's services in the ACT (estimated at 86.4% in 1993-1994) while the Commonwealth is responsible for funding the balance of the Territory's resources that contribute to a national service. Included in the ACT Government funding is a component related to IID investigations. The cost of investigation by the Ombudsman's Office into complaints against ACT police is also met by the ACT Government.

Role of the ACT Government

16.4 Under the Administrative Arrangements Order, the federal Attorney-General has responsibility for the AFP Act and the Complaints Act⁷³⁹ and the Minister for Justice has portfolio responsibility for the AFP. The ACT Attorney-General has pointed out that, despite these arrangements, the ACT community views the ACT Attorney-General as the responsible minister when things go wrong in regard to community policing and the complaints process. The ACT Attorney-General relies on his attention being drawn to complaints against the police through media reports, representations from constituents and from other sources.

16.5 The Commission considers that it is important for the ACT Government to have clear and timely access to information about policing matters and complaints that arise in the ACT or that affect the ACT. This is appropriate because the ACT provides funding for the service and because the ACT community looks to the ACT Government to take responsibility for policing issues. Any information provided should be subject to privacy considerations particularly in relation to complainants and operational security.

16.6 The DRP proposed the following

- the AFP and NCA should be able to make recommendations or report to the ACT Attorney-General where the complaint relates to the ACT
- a protocol should be established for the timely notification by the AFP and NCA to the ACT Attorney-General about any complaint which raises significant public interest for the ACT
- the NIIC and the AFP should provide the ACT Attorney-General and the ACT Government with information and analysis about complaints against the AFP as they relate to the ACT.

Submissions

16.7 The submissions from the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the ACT Attorney-General supported the thrust of the recommendations contained in the DRP in relation to the ACT. The ACT Attorney-General suggested some minor changes that have been included in the formal recommendations below.

Recommendation 136 - The ACT

The NIIC Act should allow the AFP or the NIIC to make recommendations or to report to the ACT Attorney-General and the Legislative Assembly where the complaint or matter relates to ACT policing (subject to privacy considerations).

Recommendation 137

A protocol should be established for allowing the ACT Attorney-General to be advised as soon as practicable by the AFP or the NIIC of any complaint about ACT policing that raises significant public interest for the ACT (subject to privacy considerations).

Recommendation 138

Information and analysis about trends in complaints against the AFP should be provided annually by the AFP and the NIIC to the ACT Attorney-General and, through him or her, the ACT Legislative Assembly.

Jervis Bay

16.8 Jervis Bay Territory is an area of 70 square kilometres on the New South Wales coast about 160 kilometres south of Sydney. The Territory's population includes the Royal Australian Naval College, Commonwealth public servants living in the Jervis Bay village, private leaseholders and a permanent Aboriginal population located in Wreck Bay village. The relationship between the AFP and the local Aboriginal community is discussed in chapter 17.

Special needs

16.9 The main issues in relation to Jervis Bay are lack of community awareness about the complaints system and the lack of an accessible alternative to lodging complaints with the AFP. During consultations with the Commission, both the AFP and the Jervis Bay Territory Administration agreed to increase public awareness of the complaints system by use of pamphlets. The AFP also intends to give occasional presentations on the complaints system to community meetings. The Commission's consultations in Jervis Bay and the submission from the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories (DEST) in response to the Issues Paper suggest that there may be some people who would be reluctant to lodge a complaint with the local AFP given the closeness of the small community. The Commission was informed that people were likely to take the view that because the complaint would be investigated by other AFP police it was not worthwhile jeopardising personal and sometimes professional relationships by making a complaint. The physical isolation of the territory from Canberra also makes it difficult to lodge a complaint with the Ombudsman or AFP officers other than those in Jervis Bay.

DRP proposals

16.10 The DRP proposed that the NIIC should arrange with DEST for the Jervis Bay Territory Administration to be a lodging point for sealed complaints documents about the AFP for transmission to the NIIC. The Administration should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. It should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

Submissions

- 16.11 The AFP's submission observed that DEST personnel handling complaints need to be subject to the same accountability, confidentiality and privacy requirements as apply to AFP appointees.⁷⁴¹ This would include the inclusion of a duty on certain DEST personnel to record complaints and criminal sanctions for deliberate failure to record complaints as discussed in chapter 15.
- 16.12 In relation to the Commission's proposal to set up a memorandum of understanding between the AFP and DEST, the AFP argued that there is no need for an arrangement for policing services in the Jervis Bay Territory because the AFP has a legislative responsibility pursuant to the AFP Act to provide such services.⁷⁴²
- 16.13 The Commission accepts that there is no legislative requirement for a memorandum of understanding between the AFP and DEST in relation to the policing of Jervis Bay. However, the Commission supports the view of DEST that a memorandum will help in the practicalities of policing Jervis Bay by improving the interaction between the two agencies.

Recommendation 139 - Jervis Bay

The NIIC should arrange with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories for the Jervis Bay Territory Administration to be a lodgement point for sealed complaint documents about the AFP. It should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. It should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

Recommendation 140

The AFP should enter into a memorandum of understanding with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories in relation to the policing of Jervis Bay.

Recommendation 141 - Requirements on non-AFP appointees

Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories personnel handling complaints need to be subject to the same accountability, confidentiality and privacy requirements as apply to AFP appointees.

The external territories

16.14 The AFP provides policing services to Norfolk Island, Christmas Island, and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. This includes enforcement of Commonwealth laws and general policing under special arrangements entered into between the Minister for Justice and the administrators of these Territories.⁷⁴³

Norfolk Island

16.15 Norfolk Island is situated in the Pacific Ocean about 1 700 kilometres east-north-east of Sydney with a population of around 2 000, about 1 500 of whom are permanent residents. About 46% of the permanent population are of Pitcairn Island descent while many others are from Australia or New Zealand. The Commonwealth can expressly provide that its legislation applies to Norfolk Island, and the legislation of the Norfolk Island legislature also applies to the Territory. Ordinances of the Governor-General also apply. In February 1993 the Minister for Justice and the Administrator of the Territory of Norfolk Island entered into an arrangement for the provision of police and ancillary services. This includes the protection of persons and property, crime prevention and detection, maintenance of peace and good order, enforcement of enactments and the development and maintenance of community needs in the provision of police services and ancillary services.

Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Christmas Island

16.16 Christmas Island is approximately 2 600 kilometres from Perth. Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Christmas Island are Indian Ocean islands off the Western Australian coast. The population of the Island is drawn from Singapore, Malaysia and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. There are three main languages spoken, English, Malay and Chinese, with a number of different dialects. The Cocos (Keeling) Islands comprise a group of 27 small coral islands 2 700 kilometres northeast of Perth. Two of the main islands, West and Home, are inhabited; West by about 200 Commonwealth and private sector employees and their families and Home by about 400 members of the Cocos Malay community. The laws governing the Cocos Islands and Christmas Island are provided by Commonwealth legislation applying to the External Territories, Ordinances made by the Governor-General under the *Cocos (Keeling) Islands Act 1955* (Cth) and the provisions of the law of Western Australia as in force in Western Australia from time to time in so far as they are capable of applying.

Police services

16.17 The AFP provides regulatory services to the Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Christmas Island. 'Regulatory services' are defined as acts that are regulatory in nature but do not include the provision of police services or acts incidental or conducive to the provision of police services. Examples of regulatory services include motor vehicle regulation, driving licence testing and customs functions. AFP members are sworn in as and become members of the Norfolk Island Police Force under the *Norfolk Island Police Act* 1931 (Norfolk Island) on taking up duty on Norfolk Island.

16.18 Submissions and consultations identified the following as major issues in respect of the complaints system in the external territories:

- accessibility
- training for AFP personnel
- translating and interpreting services.

Accessibility

16.19 The Commission's consultations on Norfolk Island indicated that there is very little understanding of the existing complaints system and the role that the Ombudsman plays in the process. The AFP has recently commenced a community awareness program to inform members of the public of the procedures for making complaints against police.⁷⁴⁷

16.20 Lack of accessibility is also likely to be a significant problem on the Cocos (Keeling) Islands and Christmas Island. In fact it may be a greater problem on those islands because of their diverse cultural backgrounds. The population of Christmas Island is drawn from Singapore, Malaysia and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. There are three main languages spoken, English, Malay and Chinese, with a number of different dialects. Two of the main islands of the Cocos (Keeling) Islands are inhabited; West by about 200 Commonwealth and private sector employees and their families and Home by about 400 members of the Cocos Malay community.

16.21 Each of the three external territories is geographically isolated. None has any direct link with the Commonwealth Ombudsman's offices. People on these islands may be reluctant to make a complaint directly to the local AFP because of the smallness of the community and the few AFP appointees on the islands. They could be concerned that their complaints would not be fairly dealt with or kept confidential.

16.22 The DRP proposed that the NIIC should arrange with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories for the respective administrations of Christmas, Cocos (Keeling) Islands and the Office of the Administrator of Norfolk Island to be lodgement points for sealed complaints documents about the AFP, for transmission to the NIIC. Each should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. Each should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

16.23 The DRP also proposed that the AFP in conjunction with the NIIC should develop a policy for increasing awareness of the complaints systems in the external territories.

Submissions

16.24 The AFP's submission supported the Commission's proposals with the proviso that DEST personnel handling complaints observe the same accountability, confidentiality and privacy requirements as apply to AFP appointees.⁷⁵⁰ This would include the offence of deliberately failing to record a complaint as discussed in chapter 15.

Recommendation 142 - The external territories

The NIIC should arrange with the Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories for the respective administrations of Christmas, Cocos (Keeling) Islands and the Office of the Administrator of Norfolk Island to be lodgement points for sealed complaints documents about the AFP, for transmission to the NIIC. Each should be able to provide information to complainants about the complaints process and how to contact the NIIC. Each should have available information leaflets about the complaints system.

Recommendation 143

The AFP in conjunction with the NIIC should develop a policy for increasing awareness of the complaints systems in the external territories.

Training for AFP personnel

16.25 The AFP advised that there is no specific cultural awareness training for AFP members employed on the external territories although cultural awareness and understanding of multi-cultural issues, particularly for Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands, are included in selection criteria for deployment. The AFP believed that it should do more to prepare staff for working in the external territories. It is investigating the cultural awareness and language training that the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) provides for its staff prior to overseas deployment, with a view to supplementing its own training.

Submissions

16.26 The AFP supported the Commission's proposals in relation to training for AFP personnel. The AFP noted that it has recently put into place training packages for members who are deployed to the Indian Ocean territories.⁷⁵¹

Recommendation 144 - Training for AFP personnel

The AFP should develop specific training programs and induction packages for officers who are to work in the external territories. In developing these measures it should consider consulting with the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade and the Department of Environment, Sport and Territories.

Translating and interpreting services

16.27 As Cocos (Keeling) and Christmas Islands have significant numbers of their populations who are from non-English speaking backgrounds translating and interpreting services are very important. One concern discussed in the Issues Paper was the limited use of the Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS) on Christmas Island. The AFP has submitted that because of legislative requirements for the recording of interviews it had not been equipped to use TIS in the police station on Christmas Island for a period of time. Interviews where TIS assistance was required were carried out in the Administration's office in order to use its conference telephone system. Suitable facilities have now been installed in the police station.

- 16.28 The AFP has advised that where it needs to interview a suspect or victim and an interpreter is likely to be required to appear in court, the practice on Christmas Island has been to enlist the services of local certified interpreters if the interviewee consents to this procedure. Local certified interpreters are also engaged by the Administration and the Shire Council.
- 16.29 The AFP has indicated that there are a number of issues that can arise in relation to translating and interpreting. An example is a situation where the services of a TIS interpreter speaking a particular Chinese dialect and the services of a Legal Aid solicitor could not be simultaneously obtained. Ultimately a local certified interpreter was used but approximately eight hours had elapsed from the time of the arrest until when charges were laid.
- 16.30 The value of TIS is limited in circumstances where a warrant is to be executed and an interpreter is required to explain the warrant to the person on whose premises it is to be executed given the detail and complexity of information contained in search warrants. The AFP considered that the preferable option is that interpreting issues arising from search and seizure warrants are addressed by using local certified interpreters to explain the nature and contents of the warrants and the procedures involved.
- 16.31 The AFP stated that on Cocos (Keeling) Islands there are a number of certified interpreters whose services are utilised by the police in addition to using TIS.
- 16.32 The Commission has considered the issue of the use of interpreters and translators more generally in chapter 17. It recommends that the AFP and the NCA should ensure that independent and appropriately trained and qualified interpreters and translators are used wherever there is an issue of proper comprehension because of linguistic reasons. This should especially be the case for formal interviews and statements.

Submissions

- 16.33 The Ombudsman's submission makes no comment in relation to the external territories.⁷⁵³ This is unfortunate given the lack of community awareness of current complaints procedure, especially the external territories as documented above.
- 16.34 The Administrator of Norfolk Island and the Norfolk Island Minister for Health and Education supported the recommendations and the comments contained in the DRP.⁷⁵⁴
- 16.35 The AFP's submission supported the Commission's proposals in relation to training and interpreting services. The Newver, it urged some flexibility in the requirements for using interpreters to cater for the wide range of circumstances that AFP members may come across in the external territories.
- 16.36 A submission from a resident of Norfolk Island emphasised the importance of cultural awareness training for AFP members employed on that Island that took proper account of the special circumstances of the Pitcairn Island descendants.⁷⁵⁶

Recommendation 145 - Translating and interpreting services

The AFP should develop a policy in relation to the external territories for the availability and use of independent and qualified interpreters and translators. This policy should be particularly focussed on Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands.

17. Groups who may have special needs

Introduction

17.1 This chapter discusses groups in the community who may have special needs in relation to complaints against the NCA and the AFP. This includes Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders, women, youth, gays and lesbians, people from non-English speaking backgrounds and people with disabilities.

17.2 The first part of this chapter deals with AFP and NCA personnel who are from these groups. The second part is concerned with possible difficulties for members of these groups external to these organisations.

Part 1 - Internal complaints

AFP's EEO policy and grievance systems

17.3 The DRP proposed that the AFP should engage in a comprehensive education strategy on the productivity benefits of equal employment and opportunity (EEO) programs within the AFP. This proposal was made in response to submissions and evidence that suggested there was a strong degree of hostility within the AFP towards its EEO program. It was suggested that this hostility in part arose from a misunderstanding of how the EEO program worked and the benefits of such programs for the entire force. The DRP also proposed that the AFP continue to consult with bodies such as the Office of the Status of Women to monitor its EEO program and grievance procedures.

Submissions

17.4 The Victoria Police stated that it thought these proposals were appropriate. The Vasiliki Nihas, a consultant to the inquiry, believed that members of the NCA or AFP who would sit on recruitment panels and promotion panels needed to be adequately trained in assessing applicants' support for, and understanding of, EEO principles, but also to ensure that those members were correctly applying those principles in making selections. The Commission agrees with this view.

Recommendation 146 - EEO

Education of officers on the productivity benefits of an EEO program is essential to effect desired long term changes in AFP culture and to promote EEO. The AFP should consider consulting with bodies with relevant expertise and experience such as the Office of the Status of Women as it continues to develop its EEO program and grievance procedures.

Recommendation 147

NCA and AFP members who sit on recruitment and promotion panels need to be adequately trained to assess applicants in relation to EEO and also to ensure they correctly apply the principles of EEO to the selection process.

NCA's EEO policies and grievance procedures

17.5 The DRP stated that there was little available information about the NCA's current EEO program and invited comments.

Submissions

17.6 The NCA advised that its National Strategic Plan for Equal Employment Opportunity 1994-97 was signed by the Chairperson and union representatives following its adoption at the National Consultative Council. The plan has been submitted to, and approved by, the Public Service Commission (PSC) in accordance with legislative requirements. The plan drafted jointly by management and unions was written in

accordance with the PSC's 'New Model for EEO Programs' and restates the NCA's commitment to EEO through four underlying principles:

- all staff are selected on merit
- all staff are given the opportunity to reach their full potential
- workplaces are free from unlawful discrimination and
- managers are responsible for ensuring that the workplace accommodates the legitimate needs of all staff and is free from discrimination and harassment.

17.7 The plan aims to:

- identify strategies which will eliminate and prevent direct and indirect discrimination, especially against members of EEO groups, in all aspects of human resource management
- define strategies to overcome barriers to career progression for members of the EEO groups and
- develop all staff to their potential.

17.8 The National EEO Committee which consists of two management and two staff representatives reviews progress on implementation and achievement of the Plan.

17.9 The NCA has also conducted EEO briefing sessions on sexual harassment for all staff including seconded police officers. These sessions are designed to familiarize staff with the definition of sexual harassment, what kinds of behaviour constitute sexual harassment and strategies for the prevention and elimination of sexual harassment.

17.10 The NCA's National Strategic Plan for EEO is co-ordinated by the Director of Human Resources in the National Office. An Employee Relations Officer has been appointed to co-ordinate EEO throughout the organisation and there are EEO contact officers and sexual harassment contact officers located in each of the NCA's offices.

17.11 Although the NCA's current EEO database does not record EEO data for seconded police (about 20% of NCA staff) this will be rectified when resources permit. The NCA submitted that there were no EEO related grievances notified during the 1995-96 year while the number of women in Senior Officer Grade A and B positions was only slightly increased from that of the previous year but still compared well with the Australian Public Service indicator of 20%. ⁷⁵⁸

Women in Policing Conference

17.12 In July 1996 the first Australasian Women Police Conference was held in Sydney. Around 300 delegates from New Zealand, Papua New Guinea, South-East Asia and throughout Australia participated in the conference.

17.13 The federal Attorney-General told the conference that statistics illustrated that Australia-wide only 28 police women occupied commissioned ranks compared to 1 724 men and that women were also leaving police services in large numbers. Other papers presented at the conference showed that women still faced discrimination and sexual harassment in a work environment that remained highly gendered. This had many serious consequences including evidence that working in such a highly gendered and hostile environment contributed to twice as many female officers 'binge drinking' as their male colleagues.

17.14 Recommendations from this conference included:

• establishing a Council of Australasian Women Police to develop policies and practices relevant to the employment of women in policing

- establishing an Australasian Police Women's Advisory Group to advise the Senior Officers Group and Australian Police Ministers Council on issues affecting women police
- undertaking exit interviews and interviews with former women police to identify reasons why women leave the policing environment
- conducting national research on the issues and problems facing women in policing
- developing best practice in EEO strategies and management
- reviewing existing policies and practices in order to improve the numbers of women in policing and enhance their career opportunities
- improving working conditions for women police by identifying where improvements are required and introducing more flexible rostering practices and part time opportunities
- recognising the need for women police as part of their job to network both internally and with outside professional groups, community organisations and government departments and to develop work plans and roster arrangements that enable women to take part in these networking activities
- improving procedures for dealing with sexual harassment
- improving the capacity of supervisors to deal appropriately with women in policing
- addressing the needs of senior women in police management through programs at the Australian Institute of Police Management including a national women police mentoring project
- improving training, both in respect to the needs of women police and in relation to gender issues.

17.15 The Commission endorses these recommendations. They will assist in ensuring that women are given appropriate opportunities in law enforcement.

Recommendation 148 - Women in policing

The Commission supports the recommendations made at the first Australasian Women Police Conference and encourages the AFP and the NCA to actively participate in implementing the recommendations in their own organisations and throughout the Australasian law enforcement environment.

Part 2 - External complaints

AFP complaints system and Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders

17.16 The Ombudsman submitted that in the past Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities have had little trust in the AFP complaints system but recently there has been some increase in complaints being lodged by members of indigenous communities. The Ombudsman thought it essential that her office play a much greater role in supervising or directly investigating complaints as members of indigenous communities were more likely to have faith in the system if they were confident that their complaint would be independently supervised or independently investigated.

Relations in the ACT

17.17 In the AFP 's view the relationship between the Aboriginal community in the ACT and the AFP is good with AFP management regularly liaising with Aboriginal leaders. AFP police members are undergoing a second round of cultural awareness training. Aboriginal cross-cultural awareness training is provided by consultants⁷⁵⁹ who aim to explore cultural awareness within a framework of anti-racist thinking. Members

discuss information about Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture and are asked to explore attitudes and behaviours towards those cultures and to reflect on their own attitudes and the formation of those attitudes.

Jervis Bay

- 17.18 The Ombudsman stated that Jervis Bay was a long way from a Commonwealth Ombudsman's office and that complaints could only be made to the AFP appointees themselves.
- 17.19 The AFP thought that the Wreck Bay Aboriginal Community in Jervis Bay and those AFP members stationed at Jervis Bay shared a good working relationship. Meetings of the officer-in-charge and the Wreck Bay Aboriginal Community Council (WBACC) take place on an informal basis. The WBACC has indicated that it does not wish for a more formal liaison committee at this stage.
- 17.20 The Commission held meetings in Jervis Bay and invited comments from members of the community.
- 17.21 The consultations indicated that there are no special difficulties in the relationship between the AFP and the Aboriginal community. The Commission understands that the AFP is considering appointing an Aboriginal liaison officer for the area. This would be a useful measure. The community should be consulted about the position and the necessary background and skills of the person. The AFP should continue to ensure that any AFP officer who is to work in Jervis Bay has undergone the cross-cultural awareness training and can demonstrate an understanding of its principles and a capacity to act accordingly. The AFP should also consider the appointment of Aboriginal officers in the area given the significant Aboriginal population but those decisions should take into account suitability and operational requirements.

Special representation

- 17.22 The Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody recommended that in the adjudication of complaints made by or on behalf of Aboriginal persons one member of the review or adjudication panel should be an Aboriginal person nominated by an appropriate Aboriginal organization(s) in the State or Territory in which the complaint arose. It also suggested that the panel should contain a person nominated by the Police Union or similar body.
- 17.23 The Commission understands the reasoning behind this recommendation but considers that its implementation would create a number of significant difficulties. There may be considerable problems in finding an Aboriginal person acceptable to a wide cross section of the indigenous communities. Such an approach might also alienate other members of the community who will question why one group apparently receives special treatment. There would also be a likelihood of polarisation between the Aboriginal representative and the AFP Union representative leading to the body being unproductive.

DRP proposals

17.24 The DRP proposed that the best strategy in relation to determining complaints was to ensure that decision makers have effective cross- cultural communication training. The NIIC as the proposed primary investigatory body should develop its own cross-cultural communication programs and strategies, particularly for those staff who deal with complaints. The DRP also proposed that the NIIC should have an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander liaison and support officer to assist, where appropriate, Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander complainants. That officer should help to publicise the complaints system amongst Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

Submissions

17.25 The Victoria Police stated that the proposals would seem appropriate but were ultimately a matter for the NIIC to determine. The Victoria Police also submitted that while it was appropriate for the NIIC to develop links with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission (ATSIC), similar links should be established with all sections of the community, including police, if the NIIC was to maintain credibility as a truly independent agency concerned with the interests of the entire community.⁷⁶⁰

Recommendation 149 - Cross-cultural training

Decision makers in the AFP and NCA complaints and disciplinary systems should have effective cross-cultural communications training. The NIIC as the proposed primary investigatory body should also develop its own programs and strategies particularly for those who deal with complaints.

Recommendation 150 - Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander liaison and support

The NIIC should employ an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander liaison and support officer in relation to assisting, where appropriate, Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander complainants. The officer should also assist in helping to publicise the programs amongst Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

Recommendation 151

The NIIC should establish links with relevant bodies concerned with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander interests.

People from non-English speaking backgrounds

17.26 The DRP recommended that the AFP and the NCA should try to ensure that independent and appropriately trained and qualified interpreters and translators are used wherever there is an issue of proper comprehension because of linguistic reasons. This should be especially the case for formal interviews and statements.

Submissions and consultations

17.27 The National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau submitted that the Commission should provide a stronger and more positive recommendation. It suggested the following wording: the AFP and the NCA should *ensure* [emphasis added] that appropriately trained and qualified interpreters and translators are engaged to ensure effective communication between the AFP and/or the NCA and people from non-English speaking backgrounds (NESB). The Bureau also suggested that the interpreters and translators should satisfy the standards of the National Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters (NAATI) which is the national testing agency. The Bureau argued that the use of professional interpreters and translators where necessary is a vital part of achieving access and equity for all people in dealing with law enforcement agencies.⁷⁶¹

17.28 Ms Vasiliki Nihas, a consultant to the Commission, said that police needed training in when and how to use interpreters. The training should help police to identify when an interpreter was necessary and the most effective way of using an interpreter. ⁷⁶²

17.29 The Ombudsman submitted that the need to ensure that interpreters are used when required is particularly important to women of non-English speaking backgrounds who may have had fewer opportunities to develop English language skills than men in their communities.⁷⁶³

17.30 The AFP supported the DRP proposal but argued that such a policy needed to be sufficiently flexible to cater for all the practical difficulties such as the lack of qualified interpreters in the external territories and the lengthy delays that could often occur in finding an interpreter.⁷⁶⁴

Commission's view

17.31 The Commission used the phrase 'try to ensure' to take account of the fact that there will be competing priorities for the AFP's resources and that, particularly in some remote areas of the AFP's jurisdiction, independent and appropriately trained and qualified interpreters may not be readily available. While the Commission agrees with the principle behind the Bureau's rewording it doubts that it can be fully implemented in practice because of the exigencies of operations and investigations and the limited resources

available. Nevertheless, the Commission acknowledges the need for the principle of firm commitment as suggested by the Bureau and the Race Relations Commissioner. The AFP and NCA should devise a process to record and explain failure to comply with the principle.

Recommendation 152 - Interpreters and translators

The AFP and the NCA should ensure that interpreters and translators who satisfy the standards of the National Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters are used wherever there is an issue of proper comprehension because of linguistic reasons. This should be especially the case for formal interviews and statements.

The AFP and NCA should monitor the implementation of this principle and explain failures to meet its requirements.

Racially prejudiced behaviour

17.32 The DRP proposed that there should be no specific proceeding against racially prejudiced behaviour. It suggested that while such a proceeding might have some educative value, the key task is to improve internal culture and attitudes so that improper behaviour does not occur in the first place. Further, there is a view, commonly held by many AFP officers, that the disciplinary system is overly regulated and complex and that new proceedings will only add to that concern. The Commission was concerned that a new proceeding would be likely to meet with indifference or antipathy. For those cases where disciplinary action is appropriate then there is scope under the current proceedings to take action.

Submissions

17.33 The Attorney-General's Department suggested that racially prejudiced behaviour was already covered by regulation 18 of the existing AFP discipline regulations, but that the inclusion of such a specific offence might have educative value. Others who thought the offence might have merit were the Ombudsman and the Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs. The National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau acknowledged that the key task is to improve the internal culture, but argued that is a long term process and it is necessary to have disciplinary regulations in place which clearly state the unacceptability of racially prejudiced behaviour by members of the AFP and the NCA. Such an offence makes a powerful statement about the need to eliminate any form of racism, bigotry and prejudice from the AFP and the NCA.

Commission's view

17.34 Inquiries and research indicate that racist attitudes and conduct continue to be a problem amongst some members of the Australian law enforcement community. The Commission accepts that it is important to use all appropriate measures to send the message that the AFP and the NC do not accept racist behaviour within their organisations or in their interaction with the community. The Commission therefore endorses the addition of a misconduct proceeding for abuse of authority or improper action on the grounds of another person's race, ethnicity, national origins, cultural or religious beliefs. The addition of this proceeding will not add any significant complexity to disciplinary proceedings.

Recommendation 153 - Racially prejudiced behaviour

There should be a misconduct proceeding for the AFP and the NCA available against an officer who abuses his or her authority or acts improperly on the grounds of another person's race, ethnicity, national origins, cultural or religious beliefs

Gays and lesbians

17.35 The ACT Gay & Lesbian Anti-Violence Project and the AFP are currently working together to reduce fear amongst the gay and lesbian community in accessing police services. There are two gay and lesbian liaison officers with the AFP and community workshops have been conducted by the AFP addressing such

issues as reporting processes, client rights and delivery of service complaints about the AFP. There is also a public relations media campaign and regular liaison with leaders in the gay and lesbian community.⁷⁷¹

17.36 The Aids Action Council of the ACT has suggested that a formal police policy regarding the policing of beats in the ACT could lead to a significant change for beat users in their relations with police and a more co-operative atmosphere for outreach activities. A beat policy should ensure that plain clothed policing was a last resort and that preventing violence at beats should remain the first priority.⁷⁷²

Recommendation 154 - Policing beats

The AFP should develop a formal policy for the policing of beats and should consider the policy developed by the NSW Police Service.

Recommendation 155 - Gay and lesbian issues

The AFP should provide training to all members and staff members to encourage attitudes of acceptance of gays and lesbians within the workplace and within the community.

The AFP's policies and performance on these issues should be monitored and examined in consultation with relevant community groups.

Women

17.37 A major issue to consider in relation to the AFP are the policies and responses of the AFP within the ACT to domestic violence.

Domestic violence

17.38 According to the Ombudsman there is a need to ensure that female investigators are available where complaints involve allegations of domestic violence, sexual slurs, harassment or sexual assault. This was essential in the first interview.

17.39 The DRP sought comment on the current AFP response to domestic violence.

Submissions

17.40 The Office of the Status of Women has submitted that police need to be clear about their law enforcement role and not confuse this with a conciliator role which might minimise the seriousness of the violence and may jeopardize the safety of the victim. The Office believes that training should be given to all new recruits and refresher training to all officers at appropriate intervals. The content of that training should be consistent with the guidelines of the National Committee on Violence Against Women and the National Strategy on Violence Against Women. The Office also submitted that a specialist domestic violence unit is a way of ensuring a consistent approach through policy and training and through the monitoring of police practice. Police should have clear guidelines on charging and on their powers of arrest where a criminal offence has occurred. The office also submitted that a specialist domestic violence unit is a way of ensuring a consistent approach through policy and training and through the monitoring of police practice. Police should have clear guidelines on charging and on their powers of arrest where a criminal offence has occurred.

17.41 The AFP submitted that its ACT region police respond to incidents of domestic violence as a matter of priority as these disturbances are considered to be potentially life threatening situations. The primary role of police upon attendance is to prevent violence and to defuse hostility. The AFP regularly liaises with the Domestic Violence Crisis Centre.⁷⁷⁴

17.42 The Domestic Violence Crisis Service Inc (DVCS) stated that its close working association with the police and domestic violence victims had revealed that incidents of domestic violence were not always treated as a priority and that the police were inclined to respond to domestic violence as being suitable for a civil remedy such as a DVO rather than as an infringement of the criminal law. The DVCS supported the Office of the Status of Women's view that police must be appropriately trained, that there should be a

specialist domestic violence unit and that there needed to be an arrest response where a criminal offence has occurred.

17.43 The DVCS said that its experience was that police commonly told women that there was nothing the police could do if the victim did not have a domestic violence order. The DVCS agreed with the recommendations made by the ACT Community Law Reform Committee in relation to a pro-arrest policy. The DVCS believed that a pro-arrest policy must have a monitoring system to be effective. It also said that a specialist domestic violence unit should be set up with liaison officers located within the unit. It said at present there were no police domestic violence liaison officers and it was unclear what role Victims of Crime officers played in relation to domestic violence.

17.44 The DVCS said that women escaping domestic violence would often not make complaints because of low self esteem and vulnerability. Accordingly, there should be a 'safety conscious' complaints mechanism set up within a police domestic violence unit, accessible to and supportive of victims.⁷⁷⁵

Recommendation 156 - Domestic violence

The AFP strategy in relation to domestic violence in the ACT should include the following matters.

- Police need to be clear about their law enforcement role and not confuse this with a conciliator role which might minimise the seriousness of the violence and may jeopardise the safety of the victim.
- Training should be given to all new recruits and refresher training to all officers at appropriate intervals. The content of that training should be consistent with the guidelines of the National Committee on Violence Against Women and the National Strategy on Violence Against Women.
- Police should have clear guidelines on charging and on their powers of arrest where a criminal offence has occurred.
- Police regional instructions should direct police to charge where police have reasonable grounds to believe that a criminal offence has occurred in the context of domestic violence.
- The regional instructions should specify that the practice of referring the victim to a service to obtain a domestic violence protection order or a restraining order as a substitute for charging is unsatisfactory and unprofessional.
- The decision about whether to charge should be made by the police and not by the victim. Both victim and offender should be told that the police will decide whether to charge. 776

There should be a specialist domestic violence unit to

- drive and monitor the implementation by police of the ACT Domestic Violence Strategy
- provide support and advice to other police on domestic violence matters
- monitor the quality of domestic violence responses by the police
- liaise with external agencies and victims
- undertake police domestic violence training
- undertake law reform activity
- co-ordinate police-community education initiatives. 777

The Unit should also

- have a Domestic Violence Liaison Officer
- recognise the need for new instructions on exercising the power to arrest and to grant bail, and on the timing and content of training for police on domestic violence.

Strip searches

17.45 There are particular concerns about the use of strip searches in relation to women. The DRP called for comments on the AFP's use of strip searches.

17.46 The Coalition Against Police Violence (CAPV) submitted that a survey that it conducted in Canberra in relation to the AFP strip searches indicated that AFP officers frequently failed to comply with the requirements of the *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth). This included matters such as

- the location of the search
- the sex of the officers in whose presence the search took place
- the obligation where the person was between 10 and 18 to have either arrested that person or have a magistrates order and to conduct that search in the presence of a parent or guardian of the person.

17.47 Guideline 21 of the AFP (ACT Region) Regional Guideline 5/96 states that the following details of any search should be recorded where prisoners held in custody are searched:

- the names of those other members present at the search
- the area where the search was conducted
- the precautions taken for the privacy of the person being searched and
- details of the items discovered as a result of the search.

17.48 The CAPV submitted that when it requested the AFP to provide data collected under this guideline the AFP advised that such information was recorded against prisoner records within the police computer system and statistical retrieval was not possible. The CAPV submitted that in order to improve police accountability, it was important for the community to be able to access statistical data on strip searching of people in custody.⁷⁷⁸

17.49 The Ombudsman has advised that as part of one of her current 'own motion' investigations into the AFP's treatment of youth, the AFP's search practices including strip searches are being examined. The Ombudsman indicated that although the investigation was incomplete there were some concerns about the AFP's personal search practice.⁷⁷⁹

Recommendation 157 - Strip searches

The AFP Commissioner should consider the imminent Ombudsman's report on strip searches and determine in conjunction with the Ombudsman any changes to rules, procedures, training and information. The results of the Ombudsman's report should be available to the NIIC and considered by it.

Youth

17.50 As mentioned above, the Ombudsman has advised that it is currently undertaking its 'own motion' investigation into the treatment of youth by AFP officers. This investigation arose from concerns about the AFP's treatment of youth, in particular, whether protections for youth under relevant legislation were being observed in practice.

17.51 On 7-9 July 1995 the National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau (NPEAB) and representatives of the youth sector held a first national summit on police and ethnic youth relations. The summit recommended that

• the Bureau establish a Working Party of representatives of young people and youth peak advocates to monitor the implementation of the summit recommendations

- the Bureau recommend to the Conference of Commissioners of Police the development and implementation of a national integrated strategy on police and ethnic youth relations
- the Bureau seek funding from suitable sources such as the Office of Multicultural Affairs, the Australian Multicultural Foundation, the Department of Employment Education and Training and the Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs to conduct a national audit of best practice strategies on police and ethnic youth relations from the various initiatives being undertaken around the States and Territories
- the Bureau seek endorsement from police commissioners and take up with State and Territory police services the development of an anti-racism policy, more effective methods of data collection on ethnic youth demographics and a re-examination of training and recruitment
- State and Territory police services, particularly their ethnic affairs units, expand joint police-community initiatives such as youth and community consultations, school programs and other outreach activities
- the Bureau, State and Territory ethnic affairs units, youth advocates and young people themselves examine the development of a joint project with the media industry and unions which helps to foster more positive images of police and youth and their relations
- police, local government, housing, community services, the community sector and other relevant agencies establish inter-departmental committees at the State and Territory level on police and ethnic youth relations
- State and Territory justice departments provide on-going funding for legal services for young people, in particular, ethnic young people, to provide effective information and advice on legal rights
- the Bureau recommend to Commissioners and each State and Territory service that they establish an independent complaints mechanism for handling complaints from young people
- youth delegates attending the first national summit on police and ethnic youth relations form a Youth Network to support and resource their work at the local level and in particular to share information and ideas

17.52 The Commission generally endorses these recommendations as a worthwhile step in establishing a national strategy and suggests that the AFP and the NCA should consider these initiatives and participate as appropriate.

Recommendation 158 - Youth

The Commission endorses the recommendations of the first national summit on police and ethnic youth relations and suggests that the AFP and the NCA should consider these initiatives and participate as appropriate.

Recommendation 159

The AFP should consider the Ombudsman's report on youth and determine in conjunction with the Ombudsman any changes to rules, procedures, training and information. The results of the Ombudsman's report should be available to the NIIC and considered by it.

Recommendation 160

The AFP and NIIC should also consult with peak youth organisations on appropriate methods of providing information and education about the complaints procedure to youth.

People with disabilities

17.53 The Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth) (DDA) makes it unlawful to discriminate against people on the basis of disability in a broad range of activities, particularly in the areas of employment, access to goods, services and facilities, access to premises used by the public and the administration of Commonwealth laws and programs. The phrase 'people with intellectual and physical disabilities' does not cover the full range of disabilities covered by the DDA. The definition of disability under the Act is very broad and includes physical, sensory, intellectual, learning and psychiatric disabilities as well as physical disfigurement. Any policy on the response to people with a disability should consider the definition of disability provided for under the DDA.

17.54 The Disability Commissioner has advised that the DDA exemption for disability discrimination when it is the result of direct compliance with a prescribed law such as statutory medical requirements ended on 1 March 1996 thus requiring the AFP to consider the full range of employment issues including recruitment. The AFP must ensure that people with disabilities have equal access to the AFP's services and to the laws and programs administered by the AFP.

17.55 The Disability Commissioner also submitted that any recruiting strategy or testing of staff, for example, psychological testing, should comply with the provisions of the DDA.

17.56 According to the Disability Commissioner any information strategy must overcome barriers which are common to people with disabilities. Examples of measures which can be used are providing information in Braille, audiotape, computer disk formats; advertising through newsletters produced by disability groups; providing Teletypewriter (TTY) numbers for any hotline and advertising on Radio for the Print Handicapped (RPH).⁷⁸⁰

Recommendation 161 - People with a disability

The AFP and NCA should seek advice from peak disability organisations in developing a comprehensive policy to meet their obligations under the Discrimination Disability Act particularly in relation to recruitment, conditions of employment and provision of services.

Recommendation 162

Any policy on the response to people with a disability should consider the definition of disability provided for under the DDA.

Recommendation 163

The AFP, NCA and NIIC should consult with peak disability organisations and the Disability Discrimination Act Legal Advocacy Services on appropriate methods of providing information and education about the complaints procedures to people with a disability.

Appendix A: Participants

The Commission

The Division of the Commission constituted under the *Law Reform Commission Act 1973* for the purposes of these references comprises the following:

President

Alan Rose AO

Deputy President

Sue Tongue (to October 1995) David Edwards PSM (from 13 December 1995)

Members

Chris Sidoti (to August 1995) Michael Ryland Kathryn Cronin (from 1 February 1996)

Officers

Team Leader

Michael Barnett

Legal Specialist

David Kinley

Law Reform Officers

Lucinda Jones (to September 1995) Annemaree McDonough (to October 1996)

Research Assistants

Annemaree McDonough (to September 1995) Stephen Bird (to December 1995) Peter O'Brien (from July 1996)

Legal Intern

Hanne Stig Andersen (to March 1996)

Project Assistant

Maureen Carter (to December 1995)

Typesetting

Anna Hayduk

Library

Joanna Longley *Librarian*Emma Joneshart *Library Officer* (from April 1995 to September 1996)
Yasmin Catley *Library Officer* (from September 1996)

Consultants

Mr David Allen, Justice Division, Human Rights & Equal Opportunity Commission Mr Bill Antill, Assistant Commissioner, Australian Federal Police (Qld) (to November 1995) Professor John Braithwaite, Division of Philosophy and Law, Australian National University Mr Brian Dargan, Director, Law Reform, National Crime Authority (from February 1996) Dr Sandra Egger, Associate Professor, Faculty of Law, The University of New South Wales The Hon Justice Michael Foster, President, Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal Mr Ian Freckleton, Barrister

Mr Garry Fulton, National Treasurer, Australian Federal Police Association (from June 1996) Dr Adam Graycar, Director, Australian Institute of Criminology

Mr Tom Howe, Deputy Director, Australian Government Solicitor (ACT)

M. Coinnia Hall Danata Editor Conforma Times

Mr Crispin Hull, Deputy Editor, Canberra Times

Mr Mark Ierace, Barrister, Office of the Commonwealth Director of Public Prosecutions

Mr John Ireland, Director, Executive Office, Australian Federal Police (from November 1996)

Ms Jeannine Jacobson, Director, Policy, National Crime Authority (to February 1996)

Mr Ron McLeod, Inspector-General of Intelligence & Security

Ms Vasiliki Nihas, Consultant, Access and Equity and Social Justice

Mr Terry O'Gorman, Vice President, Queensland Council for Civil Liberties

Ms Sue Pidgeon, Senior Assistant Ombudsman, Commonwealth & Defence Force Ombudsman

Mr Daryl Smeaton, Executive Member, Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board

Ms Julie Stubbs, Senior Lecturer in Criminology, University of Sydney

Mr Sid Tilmouth QC, Chairman, Criminal Law Section, Law Council of South Australia

Mr Garry Wills, Federal Agent, Australian Federal Police

AFP liaison and policy contact

Mr Patrick Leonard, Federal Agent, Legislation Review, Australian Federal

Appendix B: Abbreviations

AAT Administrative Appeals Tribunal

ABCI Australian Bureau of Criminal Intelligence

ACT Australian Capital Territory
ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFP Australian Federal Police

AFP Act
Australian Federal Police Act 1979 (Cth)
AFPA
Australian Federal Police Association
AFP Reg
Australian Federal Police Regulations
AGS
Australian Government Solicitor
AIC
Australian Institute of Criminology

AIDEX Australian International Defence Exhibition

ALRC 1 ALRC 1 Complaints Against Police

ALRC 9 ALRC 9 Complaints Against Police (Supplementary Report)

ALS Aboriginal Legal Service
ANAO Australian National Audit Office
APS Australian Public Service
ARC Administration Review Council

ART Administration Review Tribunal
ASIO Australian Security Intelligence Organisation

ASIS Australian Security Intelligence Organisation
ASIS Australian Security Intelligence Service

ATSIC Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission

CAPV Coalition Against Police Violence

CBD Central Business Dictrict
CID Criminal Investigation Division
CJC Criminal Justice Commission (Qld)

CLC Community Legal Centres

CLEB Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board

Complaints Act Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981 (Cth)

CPA Canberra Police Association

CPIB Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau (Singapore)

CPS Crown Prosecution Service (England)
CROC Convention on the Rights of the Child

CSB Act Crimes (Superannuation Benefits) Act 1988 (Cth)

DDA Disability Discrimination Act 1992 Cth

DEST Department of Environment, Sport and Territories

DFAT Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

DPP Director of Public Prosecutions
DVCS Domestic Violence Crisis Service Inc
EEO Equal Employment Opportunity
FNB Federal Narcotics Bureau

FNB Federal Narcotics Bureau FOI Freedom of information

FPDT Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal

IAB Internal Audit Branch (ISA)

IACOLE International Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement

IAU Internal Affairs Unit (WA)

ICAC Independent Commission Against Corruption (NSW)
ICAC (HK) Independent Commission Against Corruption (Hong Kong)
ICCPR International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

ICCPR International Covenant on Civil and Political Rigidal Inter-Governmental Committee on the NCA

IGC Inter-Governmental Committee on the NCA IGIS Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security

IIB Internal Investigation Branch (SA)

IID Internal Investigation Division of the AFP

IIU Internal Investigation Unit (Tas)

IR Informal Resolution

IRC Industrial Relations Commission

ISA Internal Security and Audit (AFP)
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
MPRA Merit Protection Review Agency

NADRAC National Alternative Dispute Resolution Advisory Council

NCA National Crime Authority

NCA Act National Crime Authority Act 1984 (Cth)

NIIC National Integrity and Investigations Commission

NPEAB National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau

NSW New South Wales

NSWCC New South Wales Crime Commission

NT Northern Territory

NYARS National Youth Affairs Research Scheme

NZ New Zealand

OMD Official Misconduct Division (CJC)
OPR Office of Professional Responsibility

PACE Act Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (UK)
PCA (Eng) Police Complaints Authority, England
PCA (SA)
Police Complaints Authority, South Australia

PCA (SA)

Police Complaints Authority, South Australia

PCA (Vic) Police Complaints Authority, Victoria

PCAI (WA) Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations

PCB Police Complaints Board, Republic of Ireland PCPAG Police Commissioner's Policy Advisory Group

PCS Public Service Commissioner
PIC Police Integrity Commission
PJC Parliamentary Joint Committee

PRB Police Review Board, Cleveland, Ohio

PRC Police Review Commission

Qld Queensland

QPS Queensland Police Service

RCIADIC Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody

RCMP Royal Canadian Mounted Police

SA South Australia

SAT Security Appeals Tribunal

SCOCCI Standing Committee on Organised Crime and Criminal Intelligence SSCFPA Senate Standing Committee on Finance and Public Administration

Tas Tasmania

TIS Translating and Interpreting Service

UK United Kingdom
UN United Nations
US United States

USSR United Soviet Socialist Republic

Vic Victoria

VIPs Very Important Persons WA Western Australia

Appendix C: List of submissions

Submissions prior to issues paper

ACT Council of Social Service Inc	Submission 22
Attorney-General's Department, Criminal Law Division	Submission 3
Australian Federal Police	Submission 29
Bates M	Submission 19
Bates BC, Police Commissioner (NT)	Submission 13
Bruce GL	Submission 4
Butterfield Dr AW	Submission 10
Canberra Police Association	Submission 26
Combined Women's Refuge Group	Submission 24
Commonwealth Ombudsman	Submission 17
Confidential	Submission 1
Confidential	Submission 7
Confidential	Submission 18
Confidential	Submission 28
Confidential	Submission 15
Confidential	Submission 27
Department of the Environment, Sport & Territories, Territories Office	Submission 25
Department of Employment, Education and Training	Submission 8
Department of Immigration & Ethnic Affairs	Submission 11
Department of Social Security	Submission 21
ICAC (NSW)	Submission 20
ICAC (NSW)	Submission 23
Kirby The Hon M, President, Court of Appeal (NSW)	Submission 6
Law Society of South Australia, Administrative Law Committee	Submission 9
National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau	Submission 2
O'Connor K, Privacy Commissioner	Submission 16
Office of the DPP (ACT)	Submission 14
Smeaton DP, Executive Member, Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board	Submission 12
Wells Dr D	Submission 5
Submissions to Issues Paper 14	
ACT DPP	Submission 36
ACT Gay & Lesbian Anti-Violence Project	Submission 55
ACT Official Visitor	Submission 60
Administrative Appeals Tribunal	Submission 42
Administrative Review Council	Submission 71
Australian Council for Civil Liberties	Submission 82
Australian Federal Police Association - VIC Branch	Submission 73
Aymkone Pty Ltd	Submission 31
Bruce GL	Submission 30
Children's Interests Bureau	Submission 68
Chrisakis N	Submission 62
Coalition against police violence	Submission 53
Collinridge R	Submission 79
Collinson M	Submission 75
Commonwealth and Defence Force Ombudsman	Submission 76
Commonwealth Attorney-General's Department	Submission 85
Confidential	Submission 70
Cook Mr	Submission 64
Council for Civil Liberties (ACT) Inc	Submission 51
Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs	Submission 65
1 U	

Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories	Submission 81
Diamond R	Submission 91
Evans D	Submission 90
Gissiner MA	Submission 54
Grant N	Submission 37
Gray A	Submission 77
Hastings E, Disability Discrimination Commissioner	Submission 45
Heald CJ	Submission 40
Hewitt B	Submission 88
ICAC, Hong Kong	Submission 57
Keady T	Submission 78
Coalition against police violence (ACT)	Submission 47
King PR	Submission 69
Law Council of Australia	Submission 84
Law Reform Commission of Nova Scotia	Submission 48
Legal Aid Office (ACT)	Submission 44
Merit Protection and Review Agency	Submission 67
Murphy D	Submission 35
National Crime Authority	Submission 72
National Crime Authority	Submission 87
National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau	Submission 32
NSW ICAC	Submission 63
Office of Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security	Submission 39
Office of Multicultural Affairs	Submission 59
Office of the Commissioner of Law Revision, Kuala Lumpur	Submission 43
Office of the Secretary, Commonwealth Dept of Human Services & Health	Submission 41
Office of the Status of Women	Submission 46
O'Connor K, Privacy Commissioner	Submission 61
Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations	Submission 33
Police Association of South Australia	Submission 50
Queensland Law Society Inc	Submission 83
Queensland Police Service	Submission 49
RCMP Public Complaints Commission	Submission 34
Saunders J	Submission 38
Sheehan S The Law Society of WA	Submission 89
The Law Society of WA	Submission 52
Torres Strait Regional Authority	Submission 58
Victorian Council for Civil Liberties	Submission 74
WA Police Service Ward G	Submission 66 Submission 86
	Submission 56
Whistleblowers Australia Inc Whistleblowers Australia Inc	Submission 30 Submission 80
Willshedlowers Australia inc	Submission 80
Submissions to draft recommendations paper	
Submissions to draft recommendations paper	
Administrative Appeals Tribunal	Submission 132
Allen IR	Submission 102
Attorney-General's Department, ACT	Submission 122
Attorney-General's Department, ACT	Submission 127
Australian Federal Police	Submission 124
Australian Federal Police Association	Submission 133
Bowen A	Submission 131
Bruce KG	Submission 123
Chrisakis N	Submission 100
Commonwealth Attorney-General's Department	Submission 126
Commonwealth Ombudsman	Submission 106
Cook RA	Submission 94

Cooney B	Submission 130
Council for Civil Liberties (ACT) Inc	Submission 116
Dainer J	Submission 119
Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories	Submission 112
Domestic Violence Crises Service Inc	Submission 115
Evans D	Submission 113
Fitzpatrick R	Submission 110
Foster, Justice ML, Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal	Submission 114
Hancock RA	Submission 96
National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau	Submission 97
Henderson K	Submission 93
Hewitt B	Submission 109
Independent Commission Against Corruption, Operations Department, Hong Kong	Submission 118
Industrial Relations Court of Australia	Submission 121
Inspector-General Security & Intelligence	Submission 134
Kullack E	Submission 98
National Crime Authority	Submission 120
Office of the Administrator, Norfolk Island	Submission 107
Office of the Status of Women	Submission 101
Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations	Submission 105
Powell N	Submission 103
Queensland Police Service	Submission 111
Queensland Police Union of Employees	Submission 108
Rivell M	Submission 92
Saunders J	Submission 104
Sheehan SW	Submission 99
South Australia Police	Submission 117
Tasmania Police	Submission 128
UTS Community Law Centre	Submission 125
Victoria Police	Submission 129
Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine	Submission 95

Appendix D: International obligations

The international obligations mentioned in the terms of reference are as follows. The relevant provisions of each are summarised

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)

Australia signed this Covenant on 18 December 1972 and ratified it on 13 August 1980. The Covenant entered into force in Australia on 13 November 1980. The Covenant

The Covenant provides for protection of fundamental human rights including

- the right to self determination
- the right to an effective remedy where rights have been violated
- the right to life
- protection from torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment
- the right to liberty and security of person and that no one shall be subjected to arbitrary arrest or detention
- all persons deprived of their liberty shall be treated humanely and with respect for the inherent dignity of the person
- accused juvenile persons shall be separated from adults and be brought as soon as possible for adjudication
- the right of movement and freedom to chose one's own residence
- equality before the courts and tribunals
- the right to a fair and public hearing by a competent, independent and impartial tribunal established by law
- the right to be tried without undue delay
- equality before the law and the entitlement without any discrimination to the equal protection of the law
- the law shall prohibit any discrimination and guarantee to all persons equal and effective protection against discrimination on any grounds such as race, colour, sex, language, origin, political or other, national or social origin, property, birth or other status.

Convention on the elimination of all forms of discrimination against women

Australia signed this Convention on 17 July 1980 and ratified it on 28 July 1983. The Convention came into force in Australia on 27 August 1983.

Article 1 of the Convention provides that the term 'discrimination against women' shall mean any distinction, exclusion or restriction made on the basis of sex which has the effect or purpose of impairing or nullifying the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by women, of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social, cultural, civil or any other field. Article 2 provides that a party to the Convention condemns discrimination to women in all its forms, and agrees to pursue by all appropriate means and

without delay a policy of eliminating discrimination against women and to this end, undertakes (among other things)

- to establish legal protection of the rights of women on an equal basis with men and to ensure through competent national tribunals and other public institutions the effective protection of women against any act of discrimination
- to ensure that public authorities and institutions shall act in conformity with this obligation
- to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women by any person, organisation or enterprise
- to take all appropriate measures, including legislation, to modify or abolish existing laws, regulations, customs and practices which constitute discrimination against women
- to repeal all national penal provisions which constitute discrimination against women.

Article 11 provides that parties to the Convention shall take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women in the field of employment in order to ensure, on a basis of equality of men and women, the same rights.

Article 15 provides that State Parties shall accord to women, in civil matters, legal capacity identical to that of men and the same opportunities to exercise that capacity. Article 15 also provides that parties shall accord to women equality with men before the law.

International convention on the elimination of all forms of racial discrimination

Australia signed the Convention on 13 October 1966 and ratified it on 30 September 1975.⁷⁸² The Convention entered into force in Australia on 30 October 1975.⁷⁸³

Article 1 defines 'racial discrimination' as meaning any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference based on race, colour, descent, or national or ethic origin which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise, on an equal footing of human rights and fundamental freedoms. Special measures taken for the sole purpose of securing adequate advance for a certain racial or ethnic groups or individuals shall not be deemed racial discrimination provided that such measures do not, as a consequence, lead to the maintenance of separate rights for different racial groups and that they shall not be continued after the objectives for which they were taken had been achieved. Article 2 provides that parties to the Convention condemn racial discrimination and undertake to pursue by all appropriate means and without delay a policy of eliminating racial discrimination in all its forms and promoting understanding among all races and to this end

• to take effective measures to review governmental national and local policies, and to amend, rescind or nullify any laws and regulations which have the effect of creating or perpetuating racial discrimination.

Article 5 provides that the parties shall guarantee the right of everyone, without distinction as to race, colour, or national ethnic origin, to equality before the law. Article 6 provides that parties to the Convention shall ensure to everyone within the jurisdiction effective protection and remedies, through national tribunals and other state institutions, against any acts of racial discrimination which violate human rights and fundamental freedoms.

Convention against torture, cruel or inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment

Australia signed this Convention on 10 December 1985 and ratified it on 8 August 1989. The Convention entered into force in Australia on 7 September 1989. 784

This Convention provides a number of measures to prohibit torture, cruelty, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. Article 4, for example, provides that each State Party shall ensure that all acts of torture are offensive under its criminal law. Article 11 provides that each State Party shall keep under systematic review interrogation rules, instructions, methods and practices as well as arrangements for the custody and treatment of persons subjected to any form of arrest, detention or imprisonment with a view preventing any cases of torture. Article 13 provides that each State Party shall ensure that any individual who alleges he (sic) has been subjected to torture in any territory under its jurisdiction has the right to complain to, and to have his (sic) case promptly and impartially examined by, its competent authorities. Steps shall be taken to ensure that the complainant and witnesses are protected against all ill-treatment or intimidation as a consequence of a complaint or any evidence given.

Article 14 provides that each State Party shall ensure in its legal system that the victim of an act of torture can claim redress and has an enforceable right to fair and adequate compensation, including a means for a full rehabilitation as soon as possible.

Convention on the rights of the child (CROC)

Australia signed this Convention on 22 August 1990 and ratified it on 17 December 1990. The Convention entered into force on 16 December 1991.

The Convention creates binding obligations in international law that are not automatically part of Australian domestic law. Article 1 provides that for the purposes of the Convention a child means every human being below the age of 18 years unless, under the law applicable to the child, majority is obtained earlier. Article 2 provides that State Parties shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that the child is protected against all forms of discrimination or punishment on the basis of status, activities, expressed opinions, or beliefs of the child's parents, legal guardians, or family members.

Article 3 provides that in all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration. Article 12(2) provides that a child shall be provided the opportunity to be heard in any judicial and administrative proceedings affecting the child, either directly, or through a representative or an appropriate body, in a manner consistent with the procedural rules of national law. Article 16 provides that no child shall be subjected to arbitrary or unlawful interference with his or her privacy, family, home or correspondence, nor to unlawful attacks on his or her honour and reputation.

Children have the right to be protected from all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse, neglect or negligent treatment, maltreatment or exploitation including sexual abuse while in the care of parents, legal guardians or any other person who has the care of the child. Under Article 23(2) the Convention recognises the right of the disabled child to special care and requires the parties to the Convention to encourage and ensure the extension, subject to available resources, to the eligible child and those responsible for his or her care, of assistance. Article 34 requires the parties to undertake to protect the child from all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse. Article 37 provides that

- no child shall be subjected to torture, cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment
- no child shall be deprived of his or her liberty unlawfully or arbitrarily
- the arrest, detention or imprisoning of a child shall be in conformity with the law and shall be used only as a means of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time
- every child deprived of liberty shall be treated with humanity and respect
- every child deprived of his her liberty shall have the right to prompt access to legal and other
 appropriate assistance, as well as the right to challenge the legality of the deprivation of his or her
 liberty before a court or other competent, independent and impartial authority, and to a prompt
 decision on any such action.

Article 40 provides that there shall be recognition of the right of every child alleged, accused of, or recognised as having infringed penal law to be treated in a manner consistent with the promotion of child's sense of dignity and worth.

Select bibliography

	RRES STRAIT ISLANDER AFFAIRS
	r Scrutiny - Report of the Inquiry into the Implementation by Governments of the nission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Australian Government Printing Service
Canberra 199	
ACCESS TO JUSTICE A	DVISORY COMMITTEE
Access to just	tice - an action plan Commonwealth of Australia 1994
ADMINISTRATIVE REV	
	ministrative Review by Members of Australia's Ethnic Communities Report No 34 Government Printing Service 1991
Better decision	ons: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals Report No 39 Australian Printing Service 1995
ALDER C	
Perceptions of	of the Treatment of Juveniles in the Legal System National Youth Affairs Research ional Clearing House for Youth Studies Hobart 1992
ALDER C & WUNDERS	ITZ J
	erencing and Juvenile Justice. The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism nstitute of Criminology Canberra 1994
	F REPRESENTATIVES STANDING COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND TIONAL AFFAIRS
	E Sun. The Legal Regime of Australia's External Territories and the Jervis Bay
	stralian Government Printing Service Canberra 1991
AUSTRALIA. COMMON	NWEALTH POLICE FORCE
	rt of the Commissioner of Police for year ended 30 June 1977 Canberra Australian Publishing Service 1977
AUSTRALIA. DEPARTN AFFAIRS	MENT OF PRIME MINISTER AND CABINET OFFICE OF MULTICULTURAL
Printing Serv	Equity Plan 1991-94 Australian Federal Police Portfolio Australian Government vice Canberra 1991
	RACE DISCRIMINATION COMMISSIONER
	Nation - A Report on people of non-English speaking background Australian Printing Service Sydney 1993
AUSTRALIA INDEPEN	DENT COMMISSION AGAINST CORRUPTION
	rt 1991/1992 Sydney The Commission 1992
	rt 1992/93 Sydney The Commission 1993
AUSTRALIA. LAW REF	ORM COMMISSION
	against police Canberra Australian Government Publishing Service 1975
Service 1978	against police: supplementary report Canberra Australian Government Publishing
	g - who pays for litigation Australian Government Printing Service 1995
	lism and the law Commonwealth of Australia Sydney 1992
	ore the law: justice for women Commonwealth of Australia Sydney 1994 18 Speaking for ourselves. Children and the legal process March 1996
AUSTRALIA. PARLIAM	ŒNT.
<i>A Report of th</i> 1994	he Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority. Canberra

AUSTRALIA. PARLIAMENT. SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC INTEREST WHISTLEBLOWING In the Public Interest Canberra 1994
AUSTRALIA. PARLIAMENT. SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON UNRESOLVED WHISTLEBLOWER CASES The Public Interest Revisited Canberra 1995
AUSTRALIA. PARLIAMENT. SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Amendment Bill 1994 Canberra The Committee 1994
AUSTRALIA. PRIVACY COMMISSIONER Advice and report to Ministers: disclosure of arrest details of AIDEX demonstrators Australian Federal Police and Department of Social Security Canberra Human Rights Australia 1992
AUSTRALIA. PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
AUSTRALIA. ROYAL COMMISSION INTO ABORIGINAL DEATHS IN CUSTODY
AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY. COMMUNITY LAW REFORM COMMITTEE
AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY. GAY AND LESBIAN POLICE LIAISON NETWORK
AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY. LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY. STANDING COMMITTEE ON SOCIAL POLICY Standing Committee on Social Policy Public Behaviour Inquiry Report February 1990 Canberra Legislative Assembly of the Australian Capital Territory 1990
AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY. STANDING COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AFFAIRS Future of Policing in the ACT No 1 Canberra 1995
AUSTRALIAN FEDERAL POLICE
AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION INCORPORATED Papers presented at the ninth annual AIJA conference 18-19 August 1990, Melbourne Cost of justice; alternative dispute resolution; electronic recording of police interviews with crime suspects Carlton South The Institute 1991
BALDWIN R & KINSEY R

BARKER T	& CARTER DL (ED)
	Police Deviance Cincinnati Ohio Pilgrimage 1986
BAYLEY D	
DITTLET D	Police for the Future Oxford University Press New York 1994
	'Accountability and Control of Police' in T Bennet ed <i>The Future of Policing</i> no15 Cropwood
	Conference Series Institute of Criminology University of Cambridge 1983
BENNETT '	
	The future of policing papers presented to 15th Cropwood Round-Table Conference December 1982 Cambridge University of Cambridge Institute of Criminology 1983
BENYON J	
	A tale of failure: race and policing Policy papers in ethnic relations no 3 Coventry University of
	Warwick 1986
BERNSTEN	J M
	'ICAC a critique' (1989) 1(1) Criminology Australia 8
BILKEY G	
DILKL1 G	'The New Zealand system for dealing with complaints against the police: a comparative
	evaluation' (1981) 4(2) July Auckland University Law Review 151
BIRD G	
DIND G	'Policing Multicultural Australia' in P Moir and P Eijkman ed Policing Australia: Old Issues,
	New Perspectives Macmillan Co of Australia South Melbourne 1992
BITTNER E	;
DITTIVERCE	The functions of the police in modern society: a review of background factors, current practices
	and possible role models Rockville Maryland National Institute of Mental Health 1970
BOWDEN 7	Γ
	Beyond the limits of the law Pelican Books 1973
BRAITHWA	AITE J
	'Good and Bad Police services and How to Pick Them' in H Eijkman and PMoir ed Policing
	Australia: Old Issues, New Perspectives Macmillan Co of Australia South Melbourne 1992
	Resolving Crime in the Community: Restorative Justice Reforms in New Zealand and Australia
	paper presented at the Conference Resolving Crime in the Community: Mediation in Criminal Justice Institute for the Study and Treatment of Delinquency and the London Victim-Offender
	Mediation Network 23 September 1994
	Crime, Shame and Reintegration Cambridge University Press Cambridge 1989
BRONITT S	S & KINLEY D
BITOTATI	'Undercover Policing: Detection or Deception?' in H Selby ed <i>Tomorrow's Law</i> The Federation
	Press Sydney 1995
BROWN DO	
	Civilian review of complaints against the police: a survey of the United States literature Paper
	No 19 London Home Office 1983
	The police complaints procedure: a survey of complainants views London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1987
BROWN L	& WILLIS
	'Authoritarianism in British police Recruits: Importation, Socialization or Myth' 1985 <i>Journal</i> of Occupational Psychology 58

	_ 'Managing police use of force' (1993) vol 60(8) <i>Police Chief</i> 20
BULL R	
-	_ 'Interviewing the Mentally Handicapped' (1993) 9 Policing 88
BUTTERV	VORTHS AUSTRALIA _ Federal Criminal Law vol 1
CAMPBEI	LL R
	_ 'Connolly may reform laws to curb street offences' <i>Canberra Times</i> 16 January 1993 _ 'Failings in the complaints system cause concern' <i>Canberra Times</i> 29 September 1993, 11 _ 'Police action dangerous, inexcusable' <i>Canberra Times</i> 28 September 1993 _ 'Police not the villains: MLA' <i>Canberra Times</i> 29 September 1993, 18
CAMPBEI	LL J
	_'Indigenous employment strategy launched' <i>Platypus</i> Australian Federal Police Journal September 1995 No 48
CAMPOS	CC
	Law enforcement policy and strategy in the Republic of the Philippines' (1991) vol 14(2) Police Studies 76
CANADA.	. COMMISSION IN INQUIRY CONCERNING CERTAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE ROYAL
CANADIA	AN MOUNTED POLICE
-	Security and information Quebec, Minister of Supply and Services 1980
CARTER I	D, SAPP A & STEPHENS D _ The State of Police Education Policy Direction for the 21st Century police Executive Research Forum Washington DC 1989
CHAN J	
	_ 'Policing Youth in "Ethnic" Communities: Is Community Policing the Answer?' in R White and C Adler ed <i>The Police and Young people in Australia</i> Cambridge University Press Melbourne 1994
	'Police Accountability in a Multicultural Society' (1995) 6 Criminology Australia 3
CHADDEI	L D & WILSON PR
———	_ The Police and the Public in Australia and New Zealand St Lucia University of Queensland Press 1969
	_Australian Policing: Contemporary Issues Sydney Butterworths 1989
COMMON	WEALTH OF AUSTRALIA
	_ Implementation of Commonwealth Responses to the Recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody First Annual Report 1992-93 vol1 and 2 Royal Commission Government Response Monitoring Unit Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission Canberra 1994
	_Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Overview of the Response by Governments to the Royal
	Commission Australian Government Printer Canberra 1992 Review of Systems For Dealing With Fraud On The Commonwealth AGPS Canberra 1987
-	
COMMON	WEALTH OMBUDSMAN
	_Annual report 1994/95 Canberra AGPS 1994 Annual report 1995/96 Canberra AGPS 1995
	Report of the Commonwealth Ombudsman <i>Own Motion Investigation into the Improper</i> Accessing of Information by Members of the Australian Federal Police Canberra 20 September
	1995

COOK V	'Improving the capability to monitor police field behaviour' (1992) 26 1 <i>The Journal of</i>
	California Law Enforcement 29
CORBETT	CL
	_'Complaints against the police: the new procedure of informal resolution' (1991) vol 21 <i>August Policing and Society</i> 47
COSTIGAN	N F
	Royal Commission on the Activities of the Federated Ship Painters and Dockers Union Final Report Canberra 1984
CRIMINAL	JUSTICE COMMISSION
	_Ethical Conduct and Discipline in the Queensland Police Service: The Views of Recruits, First Year Constables and Experienced Officers Brisbane 1995 _Whistleblowers-Concerned Citizens or Disloyal Mates? Brisbane 1994
	_Informal Complaint Resolution in the Queensland Police Service: An Evaluation Brisbane 1994 _External Oversight of Complaints Against Police in Australia: A Cross Jurisdictional Comparison Brisbane 1995
CUNNEEN	С
	'Enforcing Genocide? Aboriginal Young People and the Police' in C Alder and R White ed <i>The Police and Young People in Australia</i> Cambridge University Press Melbourne 1994 'Aboriginal Young People and Police Violence' (1991) 2 (49) <i>Aboriginal Law Bulletin</i> 6
CUNNING	HAM AR Police Complaints Authority: collected papers Adelaide The Authority 1988
DEMARIA	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
DE MARIA	_ 'Whistleblowing' (1995) 20 Alternative Law Journal 270
DEANE K	_'Intellectual Disability' (1994) 19 Alternative Law Journal 194
DENMARK	
	Betaenkning om behandlingen af klager over politipersonalet afgivet af et af Justitsministeriet nedsat udvalg (A report reviewing the Danish police complaints system given by an ad hoc expert committee appointed by the Minister of Justice) Copenhagen 1994
DIXON D	
	Reform by Legal Regulation: International Experience in Criminal Investigation Paper presented at the Institute of Criminology Seminar Police Reform Options for Change Parliament House Sydney 20 September 1995
DOUCH A	
	'Police and ethnic youth discuss concerns at summit' AFP Journal <i>Platypus</i> September 1995 no 48, 13
DUGAN JR	& BREDA DR
	_'Complaints about police officers: a comparison among types and agencies' (1991) 19:2 <i>Journal of Criminal Justice</i> 165
DURBACH	I A
	Test Case Mediation - Privatising the Public Interest' (1995) <i>Alternative Dispute Resolution Journal</i> 233

	and the law: white Australia v Nancy' (1993) <i>Language and Culture in Aboriginal</i> Aboriginal Studies Press Canberra 1993, 181
ETTER B	
'Mastering	innovation and change in police agencies' in B Etter & M Palmer eds <i>Police</i> in <i>Australasia</i> The Federation Press Sydney 1995
State of the	CRIMINATION COMMISSION e Nation - A Report on people of non-English speaking backgrounds Australian ent Printing Service Sydney 1993
FINDLAY M	
'Corruption ICAC solu Police aut The Ambi	n control and monstering: government agendas, community expectations and the ation' (1991) 2(3) <i>Current Issues in Criminal Justice</i> 36 hority, respect and shaming' (1993) 51 <i>Current Issues in Criminal Justice</i> 29 guity of Accountability: Deaths in Custody and the Regulation of Police Power' <i>current Issues in Criminal Justice</i> 234
. ,	ting Corruption Prevention Strategies Through Codes of Conduct' (1991) 3 Current
'Internation	Criminal Justice 250 nal Rights and Australian Adaptations: Recent Developments in Criminal ion' (1995) 17 Sydney Law Review 278
FINDLAY M & ODGEAustralian	CRS S & YEO S **Criminal Justice** Oxford University Press Melbourne 1994
FINNANE M Police and 1994	government: histories of policing in Australia Melbourne Oxford University Press
FITZGERALD REPOR	T See Queensland. Criminal Justice Commission
FOX R & MATHEWSDrugs Pole	I icy: Fact Fiction and the Future Sydney The Federation Press 1992
Piercing tl	& SELBY H (ED) our society Sydney Butterworths 1988 ne Blue Veil: An Assessment of External Review of Police' in DChappell and P Australian Policing Contemporary Issues Butterworths North Ryde 1989
FRIEBERG A & PFEF	rred) Wages of Sin: Confiscating Superannuation Benefits' (1993) 17 Criminal Law
GARDE P	
	ng Police Integrity: Denmark' in RH Ward & R McCormack eds <i>Managing Police</i> n: International Perspectives Chicago Office of International Criminal Justice 1987
GARNER B	
	ary of Modern Legal Usage 2nd ed New York Oxford University Press 1995
Streetwatc	RIGHTS LOBBY INCORPORATED the report: a study into violence against lesbians and gay men Darlinghurst Gay and lights Incorporated 1990
Interim Re	BIANS AGAINST DISCRIMINATION (GLAD) sport Survey into Discrimination and Violence Against Lesbians and Gay Men in GLAD Melbourne 1991

GOLDHAR J	
'People with intellectual disabilities and the criminal justice system' (1989) 63 <i>Law Institute Journal</i> 856	
GOLDSMITH AJ (ED)	
'New directions in police complaints procedures: some conceptual and comparative departure (1988) 11:2 <i>Police Studies</i> 60	res'
Complaints Against The Police. The Trend to External Review Oxford Clarendon Press 199	1
GOLDSTEIN JI	
'New teeth for the public's watchdog: the expanded role of the independent accountant in detecting, preventing and reporting financial fraud' (1989) 44(2) <i>Business Lawyer</i> 439	
GOODE M	
'Complaints Against Police in Australia: Where we are Now, and What we Might Learn about the Process of Law Reform, with Some Comments about the Process of Legal Change' in A Goldsmith ed <i>Complaints Against the Police. The Trend Towards External Review</i> Clarend Press Oxford 1991, 115-52	
GRABOWSKI P	
'Wayward Governance: Illegality and its Control in the Public Sector' Australian Institute of Criminology Canberra 1989	:
GREAT BRITAIN	
Police Complaints Board Triennial Review Report London, Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1983	;
GREAT BRITAIN. COMMISSIONER OF POLICE OF THE METROPOLIS	
GREAT BRITAIN. HOME AFFAIRS	
<i>The Annual Report of the Police Complaints Authority for 1988</i> London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1988	
GREAT BRITAIN. HOME OFFICE	
Contacts between police and public London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1984 Evidence to the Royal Commission on Criminal Procedure Memo I-III & VIII Keeping in touch: police-victim communication in two areas London Her Majesty's Stationer	ery
Office 1990 The handling of complaints against the police report of the working group for England and	
Wales London Her Majesty«s Stationery Office 1974	
<i>The Police and Public in England and Wales</i> a British crime survey report London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1990	
GREAT BRITAIN. HOME SECRETARY	
Review of the Public Order Act 1936 and Related Legislation London Her Majesty's Station Office 1980	ery
GREAT BRITAIN. PARLIAMENT. HOUSE OF COMMONS. HOME AFFAIRS COMMITTEE	
Deaths in Custody: Third Report from the Home Affairs Committee Session 1979-80 Londo: Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1980	n
1988 Annual Report of the Police Complaints Authority: Minutes of Evidence session 1988/ V 3 1989	89,
GREAT BRITAIN. POLICE COMPLAINTS BOARD Report of the Police Complaints Board 1978	

	Report of the Police Complaints Board 1983 1983 Triennial Review Report 1980 Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1980
GREAT BR	ITAIN. ROYAL COMMISSION ON THE POLICE 1962 Final Report London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1962
GREAT BR	ITAIN. SCOTTISH OFFICE The Handling of Complaints Against the Police: Report of the Working Group for Scotland London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1974
GRISWOLI	DDB 'Complaints against the police: predicting dispositions' (1994) 22(3) <i>Journal of Criminal Justice</i> 215
GROSMAN	BA Police Command: Decisions and Discretions Toronto MacMillan 1975
GUYOT D	'Bending Granite: Attempts to Change the Rank Structure of American Police Departments' in C Klockars ed <i>Thinking About Police: Contemporary Readings</i> McGraw-Hill Book Company New York 1979
HAIN P (ED	Policing The Police - volume 2 London: John Caldor,1980
HARRISON	J Police Misconduct: Legal Remedies 1987 2nd ed Legal Action Group London 1991
HAYES C	'Ethics in Policing Today' (1994) vol 56 (12) Royal Canadian Mounted Police Gazette 10
HENRY V	'Police Corruption: Tradition and Evolution' in K Byett and C Lewis eds <i>Un-peeling Tradition:</i> Contemporary Policing Centre for Australian Public Sector Management Brisbane 1994
HEWITT P	A Fair Cop: Reforming the Police Complaints Procedure London National Council for Civil Liberties 1982
HONG KON	NG. INDEPENDENT COMMISSION AGAINST CORRUPTION Annual report 1991 Annual report 1992 Annual report 1993
	REPRESENTATIVES STANDING COMMITTEE ON ABORIGINAL AND TORRES LANDER AFFAIRS Islands in the Sun. the Legal Regime of Australia's External Territories and Jervis Bay Territory Australian Government Printier Canberra 1991
HOUSE OF AFFAIRS	REPRESENTATIVES STANDING COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL
	Justice Under Scrutiny Report of the Inquiry into the Implementation by Governments of the Recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Australian Government Printer Canberra 1994

HUMAN RIGHTS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

	Racist Violence Report of the National Inquiry into Racist Violence in Australia Australian
	Government Printer Canberra 1991 _ Juvenile Justice and Young People of Non-English Speaking Background Australian Government Printing Service Canberra 1994
HUNT J	'The Logic of Sexism Among Police' (1990) 1(2) Women and Criminal Justice
ICAC (IIO	
	NG KONG) _An Introduction to the Independent Commission Against Corruption Hong Kong The Commission 1989
	_ ICAC Operations Department Review 1993-94 Hong Kong The Commission 1994
IRACE M	
	Intellectual Disability. A Manual for Criminal Lawyers Intellectual Disability Rights Centre Sydney 1989
JUSTICE ((SOCIETY)
	_ Observations on the Triennial Review Report of the Police Complaints Board London Justice 1980
	Pre-trial Criminal Procedure; Police Powers and the Prosecution Process London Justice 1979
KIRBY JU	STICE MD
	_ Complaints Against Police: How Should They Be Handled: Paper given to the Australian Institute of Criminology United Nations Conference 'Human rights in the administration of justice' Sydney 1976
KLEINIG .	J
	_ 'Teaching and Learning Police Ethics: Competing and Complementary Approaches' (1990) 18 Journal of Criminal Justice 10
LAMBER?	Γ JL _ <i>Police Powers and Accountability</i> London Croom Helm 1986
LAMBER	TON H
	_ 'On-the-spot fines proposed to counter street violence' Canberra Times 8January 1993
LANDA D	& LEWIS C
	_'Making the Police Accountable for their Conduct' in D Chappell and P Wilson eds <i>Australian Policing: Contemporary Issues</i> 2nd ed Butterworths Sydney 1996
LANGER .	J
	_ 'A Preliminary Analysis: Corruption of Political, Economic, Legal and Social Elements in Communities Involved in International Drug Trafficking and its effects on Police Integrity' vol 9(1) <i>Police Studies</i> 42
LAW REF	ORM COMMISSION OF CANADA
	Legal Status of the Police Ottawa The Commission 1981 The Police: A Policy Paper Ottawa The Commission 1980
LAW REF	ORM COMMISSION OF WESTERN AUSTRALIAReport on Police Act Offences Perth The Commission 1992
LEE RP	
	_ Corruption and Its Control in Hong Kong Chinese University Press Hong Kong 1981

COMMITTI	IVE ASSEMBLY OF QUEENSLAND. THE PARLIAMENTARY CRIMINAL JUSTICE
	A report of a review of the Criminal Justice Commission pursuant to s118(1)(f) of the Criminal Justice Act 1989 Report No 26 6 February 1995
LEWIS CE	& LINDEN SB & KEENE J 'Police complaints against police in metropolitan toronto - the history and operation of the office of the Public Complaints Commissioner' (1986) 29:1 <i>The Criminal Law Quarterly</i> 115
LEWIS CE	'Police Complaints in Metropolitan Toronto: Perspectives of the Public Complaints Commissioner' in A Goldsmith ed <i>Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External</i> Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991 'Independent External Review of Police Conduct' in K Bryett and C Lewis eds <i>Unpeeling</i> Tradition: Contemporary Policing MacMillan Education Australia Pty Ltd 1994
LOMAS K	'The police as client' (1988) vol 11(1) Spring Police Studies 28
LUSHER J	Report of the Commission to Inquire into New South Wales Police Administration New South Wales Parliament 1981
LUSTGART	TEN L The Governance of Police London Sweet & Maxwell 1986
MAGUIRE :	M 'Complaints against the Police: The British Experience' in Goldsmith A ed <i>Complaints Against</i> the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991
MAGUIRE :	M & CORBETT C A Study of the Police Complaints System London Her Majesty's Stationery Office 1991
MALAYSIA	The Anti-Corruption Agency Function and Organisation Kuala Lumpur 27December 1993
MARTIN D	'Organising for Change: A Community Law Response to Police Misconduct' 4(1) <i>Hastings Women's Law Journal</i> 156
MARX G	'When the guards guard themselves: undercover tactics turned inward' (1992) 2(3) <i>Policing & Society</i> 151
MASON G	Violence against lesbians and gay men Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1993
MASTERM	AN GG Report on the first three years of operation of the new police complaints system in New South Wales: report to the Honourable BJ Unsworth Sydney Government Printer 1987 'External Review: The New South Wales Experience' in I Freckleton and HSelby ed Police in Our Society Butterworths North Ryde 1988
MCCABE S	& SUTCLIFF F Defining crime: a study of police decisions Oxford Basil Blackwell 1978

<i>La</i>	l's Fair in Love and War: Policing Women' in McKullops & Easteal PW ed <i>Women and the w</i> Proceedings of a Conference held 24-26 September 1991 Canberra Australian Institute of iminology 1993
	M before the judge; perspectives of juvenile defendants in the Children's Court system (2 vol) nberra Report to Criminology Research Council 1981
The	& VERNON J (EDS) Police and the Community in the 1990s Proceedings of a conference held 23-25 October Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1991
MCLENNAN P	AC: a barrister's perspective' (1991) 2(3) Current Issues in Criminal Justice17
MCMAHON P Po	lice accountability: the situation of complaints in Toronto' (1988) 12Contemporary Crises
Me	Implaints against police officers in the Commonwealth of Australia Winston Churchill emorial Trust Hampshire (England) Hampshire Constabulary (1988) mplaints in Australia' (1990) 6(3) Policing 550
MILTE KPol	lice in Australia Sydney Butterworths 1977
	COUNCIL ON THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE rections in Australasian Policing July 1994-1996
	port a waste of time: AFP defends handling of AIDEX demonstrations' <i>Canberra Times</i> 29 ptember 1993, 18
	mmission to investigate allegations of police corruption and the anti-corruption procedures the police department New York The Commission New York 1994
	STEPHENSON G (EDS) Spicion & silence London Blackstone Press 1994
Pol	CH & WILLIAMS WJ (ED) lice law: an arrangement of law and regulations for use of police officers London utterworths 1974
AC	EASTEAN P & EDWARD A T Domestic Violence Research Report to the ACT Community Law Reform Committee stralian Institute of Criminology Canberra 1993
	ou Can Run, But You Can't Hide - Dealing with the Media for Chief Executives' in B Etter d M Palmer eds <i>Police Leadership in Australasia</i> The Federation Press Sydney 1995
	OLICE ETHNIC ADVISORY BUREAU The First National Summit on Police and Ethnic Youth Relations 7-9 July 1995 Melbourne 96

	H WALES. INDEPENDENT COMMISSION AGAINST CORRUPTION Interim report on investigation into alleged police protection of paedophiles The Commission
	Redfern 1994
	H WALES LAW REFORM COMMISSION Scrutiny of the Legal Profession: Complaints Against Lawyers Sydney 1992
	H WALES OMBUDSMAN Annual Report 1993-94 Sydney 1994
NEW SOUT	H WALES. PARLIAMENT. REPORT OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE OFFICE OF
	Inquiry upon the role of the Office of the Ombudsman in investigating complaints against police Sydney Government Printers 1992
	H WALES TASK FORCE ON PREVENTION OF DEATHS IN POLICE CUSTODY Prevention of deaths in police custody: task force report Sydney New South Wales 1988
NEWTON M	1
	'Self-scrutiny gives rise to a new culture' <i>Platypus</i> Australian Federal Police Journal September 1995 no 48
NEW ZEAL	AND. LAW COMMISSION
	Criminal evidence: police questioning: a discussion paper Wellington The Commission 1992 Police questioning Wellington The Commission 1994
O'CONNOR	I
	'Young People and Their Rights' in R White and C Adler ed <i>The Police and Young People in Australia</i> Cambridge University Press Melbourne 1994 76-101
O'CONNOR	KP
	Federal Police Records Sydney Law Reform Commission 1979
OLIVER I	
	Police, Government and Accountability Macmillan Press Basingbroke 1987
	AN FOR THE NORTHERN TERRITORY OF AUSTRALIA Annual report 1994/95 Northern Territory
OVED IE	
OVER JE	'Independent element - yes or no' (1982) vol 55(3) Police Journal 238
ONTARIOC	DMBUDSMAN
	Public Opinion Survey: Winter 1991 Ontario 1991
PALMER M	
	'The Likely Environment in the year 2000 and Beyond' in B Etter & M Palmer eds <i>Police Leadership in Australasia</i> The Federation Press Sydney 1995
PARLIAME	NTARY JOINT COMMITTEE (PJC)
	Who is to guard the guards? An Evaluation of the National Crime Authority Commonwealth
	Government Printer Canberra 1991 Drugs Crime and Society (The Cleeland Commission) Commonwealth Government Printer
	1989
PARLIAME	NT OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA
	Select Committee on the Western Australian police Service Interim Report Perth June 1996

PETTERSO	ON WE
	_'Police Accountability and Civilian Oversight of Policing: An American Perspective' in Goldsmith A ed <i>Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review</i> Clarendon Press Oxford 1991
PERLA S	_'Community police liaison committee' (1985) vol 10(3) Legal Services Bulletin145
PIDGEON	S
	_ Complaints against Police: Legislation and Issues in Australia Thesis for Masters of Public Law Australian National University September 1986
POLICE CO	OMPLAINTS AUTHORITY (GREAT BRITAIN) _Annual Report 1993 London HMSO March 1994
PRENZLEI	R T, HARRISON A & EDE A
· 	_'The Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service: Implications for Reform' (1996) 72(6) *Current Affairs Bulletin 4*
OUEENSL.	AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE COMMISSION
	Implementation of reform within the Queensland Police Service: the response of the Queensland Police Service to the Fitzgerald Inquiry recommendations Brisbane The Commission 1994
	_'Report on a review of police powers in Queensland' Volume V <i>Electronic surveillance and other investigative procedures</i> Toowong The Commission 1994
	_ 'Report on a review of police powers in Queensland' volume III Arrest without warrant, demand name and address and move on powers Toowong The Commission 1993 _ Report on an inquiry into allegations of police misconduct at Inala in November 1990 Toowong
	The Commission 1991 _Informal Complaint Resolution in the Queensland Police Service: An Evaluation Brisbane November 1994
	_ External Oversight of Complaints: A Cross-Jurisdictional Comparison Brisbane July 1995 _ Police Powers in Queensland Brisbane The Criminal Justice Commission 1991
OUEENSL	AND POLICE SERVICE REVIEW
	Report on the Review of the Queensland Police Service Brisbane July 1996
RAVEN GI	
	'Complaints and efficiency - the modern police force' (1994) 18(1) Criminologist 27
REINER R	
	_ The Politics of the Police Wheatsheaf Books Brighton 1985 _ 'Multiple Realities, Divided Worlds: Chief Constables' Perspectives on the Police Complaints System' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991
RICHARDS	SON N
	_'Bad news cop' (1993) 9 November <i>The Bulletin</i> 18 _'The practice of principle' (1993) 30 November, <i>The Bulletin</i> 24
ROBINSO	N J
	_ 'Police Effectiveness: Old Dilemas, New Directions' in D Chappell and P Wilson eds <i>Australian Policing: Contemporary Issues</i> Butterworths Sydney 1989
ROYAL CA	ANADIAN MOUNTED POLICE PUBLIC COMPLAINTS COMMISSION _ Annual Report 1994-95 Minister of Supply and Services Canada

	OMMISSION GOVERNMENT RESPONSE MONITORING UNIT, ABORIGINAL AND
TORRES S	TRAIT ISLANDER COMMISSION Implementation of Commonwealth Responses to the Recommendations of the Royal
	Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in custody First Annual Report 1992-3 Volumes 1 and 2
ROYAL CO	OMMISSION INTO ABORIGINAL DEATHS IN CUSTODY National Report Commonwealth Government Printer Canberra 1991
ROYAL CO	DMMISSION INTO THE NEW SOUTH WALES POLICE SERVICE
	_ <i>Interim Report</i> Sydney 1996 _ Interim Report. Immediate Measures for the Reform of the Police Service of New South Wales _ Sydney 1996
SARRE R	
	_ 'Towards the Notion of Policing 'By Consent' and its Implications for Police Accountability' in D Chappell & P Wilson ed <i>Australian Policing Contemporary Issues</i> Butterworths North Ryde 1989
SCARMAN	T T
	The Brixton Disorders Cmnd 8247 Her Majesty's Stationery Office London 1981
SCHRAMN	1 D _ 'Isolation is no longer a buffer against trans-national crime' <i>Platypus Magazine</i> No 51 June 1996
SEYMOUR	
	_ Dealing with Young Offenders Law Book Company North Ryde 1988
SENATE S	TANDING COMMITTEE ON FINANCE AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION Review of the Office of the Ombudsman Australian Government Printing Service Canberra 1991
SHEARING	G C
	Organizational police deviance: its structure and control Toronto Butterworths 1981
SINGAPOR	RE CORRUPT PRACTICES INVESTIGATION BUREAU The Corrupt Practices Investigation Bureau. An Introduction Singapore October 1990
SIXTH CO	NFERENCE INTERNATIONAL ANTI-CORRUPTION - YOUNG JONG KIM _ Open paper: preventing corruption in Korea; a comparative perspective among Korea, Singapore and Hong Kong Mexico 1993
SIXTH CO	NFERENCE INTERNATIONAL ANTI-CORRUPTION - DR JON ST QUAH Workshop paper: combating corruption Singapore style Mexico 1993
SKOLNICK	X J & BAYLEY D _ The New Blue Line: Police Innovation in Six American Cities Free Press New York 1986
SOUTH AU	USTRALIA. COMPLAINTS AGAINST POLICE COMMITTEE Report of the committee on complaints against the police (Grieve report) Adelaide Chief Secretary's Office 1983
SOUTH AU	USTRALIA POLICE COMPLAINTS AUTHORITY _Annual Reports 7th, 8th and 9th (1991-94)
SOUTH AU	JSTRALIA POLICE Review of Policing Adelaide June 1994

SPARROW	ML 'Complaints against police and Departmental Management: making the connection' (1992) 59:8 The Police Chief 45
STEVENS I	P & WILLIS C Ethnic minorities and complaints against the police London Home Office 1981
STEWART	JUSTICE Report of the Royal Commission of Inquiry into Drug Trafficking Australian Government Printing Service Canberra 1983
STRETTON	IS 'ICAC under the microscope - paper 2' (1992) 2(2) Australian Corporate Lawyer 9
STUBBS J	Complaints against police in New South Wales NSW Crime Bureau of Crime Statistics Research Sydney 1992
SUNAHAR	A DF 'Public inquiries into policing' (1992) 162 Canadian Police College Journal 135
SWANTON	B & VAGG J Resolution of complaints made against police persons: A proposal Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1975
SWANTON	B & HANNIGAN G & PSAILA T Police source book 2 Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1985
SWIVEL M	'Public Convenience, Public Nuisance: Criminological Perspectives on the Beat' 1991 3(3) Current Issues in Criminal Justice 237
SYDNEY M	ORNING HERALD 20 September 1995, 1, 4
TEMBY I	'A return to ethics' (1994) 65(1) i 54 'ICAC: working in the public interest' (1991) 2(3) Current Issues in Criminal Justice 11
TEMKIN J	'Disability, Child Abuse and Criminal Justice' (1994) 57 Modern Law Review402
TEMPLETO	ON H The abuse of authority' (1992) 8(2) <i>Policing</i> 119
TERRILL R	'Civilian Oversight of the Police, Complaints Process in the United States: Concerns, Developments, and more Concerns' in Goldsmith A ed <i>Complaints Against the Police. The</i> Trend to External Review Oxford Clarandon Press 1991
THE CORR	UPT PRACTICES INVESTIGATION BUREAU The Corrupt Practices Bureau Singapore The Bureau 1990
ТООНЕҮ В	G'ICAC: living in an imperfect world' (1991) 2(3) <i>Current Issues in Criminal Justice</i> 30

TOPPING I	
	The Police Complaints System in Northern Ireland' in GoldsmithA ed <i>Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review</i> Clarendon Press Oxford 1991
TWENTY-I	FIRST OFFICERS' COURSE
	Effects of law reform - look into the future Canberra Australian Police College 1980
TYNAN M	
	'Women in Australasian policing: The need for a national agenda' Paper presented to the First Conference of Australasian Women Police 29-31 July 1996
UILDRIKS	N
	Policing police violence Deventer The Netherlands Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers 1991
UNITED N.	ATIONS
	United Nations General Debate Economic and Social Consequences of Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking: An Interim Report Commission on Narcotic Drugs 38th Session Vienna 14-23 March 1995
UNITED ST	TATES COMMISSION ON CIVIL RIGHTS
	Who is guarding the guardians: a report on police practices Washington DC The Commission 1981
	TATES. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE. NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF LAW ENFORCEMENT IINAL JUSTICE; EDGAR I, JAMES M; MARCUS, MARVIC; WHEATON, ROBERT J &
	Team policing National Criminal Justice Reference Service 1976
UNITED ST	TATES. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; WILSON, JQ & BOLAND B The effect of the police on crime United States Department of Justice Law Enforcement Assistance Administration 1979
UNIVERSI	TY OF SYDNEY. INSTITUTE OF CRIMINOLOGY
	Complaints against police Seminar proceedings of the Institute of Criminology Sydney Institute of Criminology 1976
	Police discretion in the criminal process Sydney University of Sydney Faculty of Law 1980 Policing public order Sydney Government Printer 1986
VERNON J	& BRACEY D (EDS)
	Police resources and effectiveness Proceedings of a seminar held 31May-2 June 1988 Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1989
VERNON J	& BERWICK D (EDS)
	Police Technology: Asia Pacific Police Technology Conference Proceedings of a conference held 12-14 November 1991 Canberra Australian Institute of Criminology 1993
VICTORIA	. BOARD OF INQUIRY INTO ALLEGATIONS AGAINST MEMBERS OF THE VICTORIA POLICE FORCE
	Report of the Board of Inquiry into Allegations against Member of the Victoria Police Force vol 1 Melbourne Government Printer 1978
VICTORIA	. CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE ON POLICE POWERS OF INVESTIGATION
	Custody and investigation: report on section 460 of the Crimes Act 1958 Melbourne Government Printer 1986
	Identification tests and procedures - fingerprinting: interim report Melbourne Government Printer 1987

VICTORIA.	DEPUTY OMBUDSMAN (POLICE COMPLAINTS) The alleged suppression of police investigations, police intelligence and related matters Melbourne Government Printer 1993
VICTORIA.	PREMIER'S DRUG ADVISORY COUNCIL Drugs and our community Melbourne 1996.
WALKER J	Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice Australian Institute of Criminology August 1992
WALKER K	The Law's Construction of (Homo) Sexuality' (1995) <i>Law in Context</i> 52
WALKER S	'Answers to 10 Key questions about civilian review' (1992) 18:355 <i>Law Enforcement News</i> 7 'The effectiveness of civilian review: observations on recent trends and new issues regarding the civilian review of the police' (1992) 14 <i>American Journal of Police</i> 26
WARD RH	& MCCORMACK R Managing police corruption: international perspectives Chicago Office of International Criminal Justice 1987
WARREN F	Protecting the police: a fresh look at police accountability, complaints procedures and the impact of ethnic minorities on the police London Conservative Political Centre 1982
WATT S	'Oversight in policing' (1991) 33:3-4 Canadian Journal of Criminology 347
WEST P	'Investigation of complaints against the police: summary report of a national survey' (1988) 7:2 American Journal of Police 101
WHITE R &	ALDER C The police and young people in Australia Melbourne Cambridge University Press 1994 Street life: Police Practices and Youth Behaviour' in R White and C Adler ed The Police and Young People in Australia Cambridge University Press Melbourne 1994
WIGAN B &	& ROGER P 'Intelligence, The Servant of Strategy: Empowering crime prevention and control' (1996) vol 1(1) Themis The Journal for Justice Professionals March 16
WORTLEY	R & HOMEL R 'Police Prejudice as a Function of Training and Outgruop Contract: A Longitudinal Investigation' (1995) 3 <i>Law and Human Behaviour</i> 19
YOUNG JK	Preventing Corruption in Korea: A Comparative Perspective among Korea, Singapore and Hong Kong Opening Paper at the Sixth International Anti-Corruption Conference Cancun Mexico November 1993
YOUTH JU	STICE COALITION OF NEW SOUTH WALES Nobody Listens: The Experience of Contact Between Young People and Police Youths Justice Coalition of NSW Western Sydney Juvenile Justice Interest Group and the Youth Action Policy Association Sydney 1994

ZANDER M

_____ The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 London: Sweet & Maxwell 1991 Rev 2nd

Table of legislation

Commonwealth

Commonweatur	
Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 Administrative Appeals Tribunal Act 1975 Australian Federal Police Act 1979	2.35, 6.58, 8.95, 10.58 11.16, 11.28, 11.32, 11.55 11.2, 2.34, 3.6, 1.2, 6.67, 10.2, 10.4, 10.6, 10.8-9, 10.11, 10.12, 10.28, 11.28, 11.62, 12.49-50, 12.53, 12.65-67, 12.87, 12.64 14.25,14.92, 14.94-96,
Australian Federal Police Amendment Act 1996 Australian Security Intelligence Organisation Act 197 Cocos (Keeling) Islands Act 1955 Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Act 1981	14.114, 16.2-3, 16.4, 16.12, 16.14 10.10, 14.15 11.19 16.16 1.2, 1.12, 3.6, 3.7, 3.8, 3.15, 3.16, 3.17,3.19, 3.20, 3.22, 3.24, 3.50, 3.52, 3.53-54, 3.76, 3.78, 3.92, 6.51, 8.10, 8.88, 10.34, 10.35, 10.38, 10.49, 11.9, 11.27, 12.3, 12.7, 12.43, 12.75, 14.2, 14.6,
Crimes Act 1914 Crimes (Superannuation Benefits) Act 1989 Disability Discrimination Act 1992 Evidence Act 1995	14.8, 14.13, 14.20, 14.25, 14.27, 14.30-31, 14.38, 14.59, 14.66, 14.69, 14.102, 15.2, 15.6, 15.8, 16.4 6.34, 6.47, 6.52, 7.68, 15.30, 15.34, 17.46 12.49, 12.50, 12.60, 12.61, 12.62, 12.64, 12.67 17.5-6
Freedom of Information Act 1982 Health Insurance Act 1973 Industrial Relations Act 1988 Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security Act 19 Law and Justice Legislation Ammendment Act (No 1) Migration Act 1958	
National Crime Authority Act 1984 National Witness Protection Act 1995 Ombudsman Act 1976 Privacy Act 1988 Public Service Act 1922 Telecommunications (Interception) Act 1979 Whistleblowers Protection Bill 1991	5.7, 5.9, 5.10, 5.14-15, 5.28, 5.65, 5.92-93, 5.158, 6.56, 10.87, 10.92, 12.87, 14.2 8.38 3.22, 3.24, 6.48, 14.59, 14.69 6.83, 6.89 1.7, 5.8, 8.95, 10.27, 10.84 6.3, 6.107-108 14.91
Australian Capital Territory	
ACT (Self Government) Act 1988 Public Interest Disclosure Act 1994	16.3 14.77

New South Wales

Crimes Act 1900	6.46
NSW Police Integrity Commission Act 1996	14.97
NSW Police Legislation Amendment Bill 1996	
Police Corruption Commission Bill 1996	14.97
Protected Disclosures Act 1994	14.77

Northern Territory

Police Administration Act 1978	14.60
Queensland	
Criminal Justice Act 1989 Police Service Administration Act 1990 Whistleblowers Protection Act 1994	14.60 4.20, 6.77 14.77
South Australia	
Police (Complaints and Disciplinary Proceedings) Act 1985 Whistleblowers Protection Act 1993	14.60 14.77
Victoria	
Police Regulation Act 1958	10.59
Western Australia	
Official Corruption Commission Act 1988	14.77
Norfolk Island	
Norfolk Island Police Act 1931	3.4, 16.17
United Kingdom	
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984	14.32

Table of cases

Briginshaw v Briginshaw (1938) 60 CLR 336	10.59, 11.2-3
Commissioner of Police v Peter Gerald Stoane (unreported) Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal 25 September 1985 Jenkinson J (DP)	14.2
Dolan v Australian and Overseas Telecommunications Corporation (1993) 31 ALD 510	11.6
Hardcastle v Commissioner of Police (1984) 53 ALR 593	10.54, 10.79, 12.33
Kish v Taylor (1911) KB 625	5.158
Re Kirby and Collector of Customs (1989) 20 ALD 369	11.3
R v Hulme (1870) IR 5 QB 377	5.158
R v Miller (unreported) NSW Supreme Court of Criminal Appeal 3 May 1996 Mahoney P, McInerney, Hulme JJ	6.44
R v White; Ex parte Byrnes (1963) 109 CLR 665	10.54

Index

Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders Administrative review Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) Allegations Anonymous complaints Anti-fraud Australian Capital Territory (ACT)	3.44, 8.87, 14.32, 15.23, 17.16-25 2.33-36, 10.1, 10.13-30, 10.53-96, 11.1, 11.38-40 12.2-27 3.8-9, 3.11, 3.31, 14.3, 14.13-19 8.88, 14.38-47 5.154, 5.166-167, 8.140, 8.168 16.2-7, 17.37-49
Burden of proof	10.59, 11.2-3
Christmas Island Cocos (Keeling) Islands Conciliation Corruption Criminal Justice Commission (Qld)	16.16-36 16.14-14 3.13-14, 7.45-48 2.16-24, 5.39-44, 5.107, 5.120, 5.140, 5.142, 5.165-167, 6.12-13, 6.15, 6.44-45, 6.82, 6.85, 6.88, 6.99, 7.8, 7.19-34, 7.52, 7.58, 7.78, 7.90, 8.5, 8.7-8, 8.31-35, 8.43-46, 8.49-61, 8.63, 8.66-69, 8.71-72, 8.77, 8.81-83, 8.85-86, 8.91, 8.109, 8.127, 8.132, 8.140, 8.167, 9.5-8, 9.25-26, 9.28, 9.36, 9.43-44, 9.49, 9.77-80, 9.82-85, 9.92-93, 9.107-108, 9.110, 9.114-141, 10.10-11, 10.23, 10.61-63, 12.53, 13.1-9, 13.14-27, 13.31, 13.42-44, 14.15 1.21, 2.17, 2.21, 4.10, 4.18-24, 5.78, 5.111, 7.58-62, 7.77-78, 8.4, 8.14-16, 8.60-61,
	8.63-64, 8.76, 8.80, 8.157-160, 9.17-21, 9.95, 9.103
Definition of complaint Delays Derivative use Disciplinary Tribunal Disciplinary offences Domestic violence Drugs	3.6, 14.1-12 3.40-42, 3.56, 3.64, 3.82-83, 3.101, 8.25, 10.70, 10.72, 11.20-26 11.20-23 2.36, 6.51, 8.101, 10.38-42, 10.48-52, 11.2, 11.13, 11.27, 11.41, 11.54, 12.43, 14.2, 14.69, 15.8 10.35-37, 11.62-63, 12.55 17.37-44 2.58-61, 9.114-115, 9.119, 9.127-129
Elliot, J	
Failure to record a complaint False complaints	5.62-75, 5.80 15.18-22 14.37, 14.44, 14.54, 14.58-66
Gays and Lesbians	8.87, 15.23, 17.35-36
Harrison inquiry	1.11-13, 8.126, 9.13-16, 9.124
Independent Commission Against Corru	
Information about Disciplinary Results Inquiry into Racist Violence Internal Investigation Division (IID)	8.13-14, 8.48-50, 8.77, 8.80, 9.92, 12.55, 13.3 12.84-86 1.15, 17.34 3.15-22, 3.27, 3.29-30, 3.32-37, 3.50, 3.54-55, 3.57-60, 3.62-66, 3.78, 3.82, 3.89-90,
Internal Security and Audit (ISA)	3.92-93, 3.103, 7.1, 7.37, 7.39, 7.86-93, 8.101, 8.105-109, 8.127-128, 9.96, 10.40, 11.9, 11.23, 13.16 3.23-25, 3.35-39, 3.66, 7.86-89, 8.18, 8.105-108, 8.127-128 13.16, 14.48, 14.70
Jervis Bay	3.4, 3.65, 16.8-13, 17.18-21
Karageorge, C	5.50-53

Mccartney Anderson, J Mollen Commission Miscarriages of justice	5.45-49 1.30, 9.93, 9.110 6.43-47
Niland report Norfolk Island NSW Royal Commission into the Police Interim Report	1.10, 9.83 3.4, 3.65, 16.14-36 1.28, 3.80, 4.26-41, 6.26, 6.57-58, 8.43-52, 8.57, 8.77, 9.80
Objectives Obligations to report Off duty conduct Operation Ark Operation Wallah	2.40-51 6.63-78 14.14-19 5.54-57 9.17-21
People with a disability People from non-English speaking backgrounds Pooley, J	17.53-56 17.26-34 5.58-61
Receiving complaints Recording complaints Resignation Right to silence Roles of the AFP and NCA Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody	15.2-7 14.48-57, 15.8-22 14.94-101 11.8-19 3.31, 3.34-35, 5.5-17 1.14, 3.44
Sanctions Skrijel, M Superannuation	12.1, 12.33-68 5.39-44 12.49-71
Vicarious liability	14.114
Whistleblowers Women	13.14, 14.76-91 13.21, 17.12-15, 17.37-49
Youth	3.44, 3.80, 17.50-52

Complaints Against Police ALRC 1 & Complaints Against Police: Supplementary Report ALRC 9.

The NCA's mixed workforce is discussed in ch 4. It comprises the Chairperson, members, persons employed under the Australian Public Service Act 1922 (Cth), consultants, seconded personnel, legal counsel and members of joint task forces.

The first attempt in 1984 would have conferred jurisdiction on the Commonwealth Ombudsman but was rejected by a Senate Committee on the ground that the Ombudsman may face difficulties in dealing with organised crime. The second attempt in 1992 was part of a wider amending Bill to the NCA Act and would have conferred jurisdiction on the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security but the Bill was not proceeded with on grounds unrelated to this issue.

ALRC IP 18 Speaking for ourselves. Children and the legal process March 1996.

Platypus. The Journal of the Australian Federal Police No 48 September 1995, 6-7.

⁶ Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody National Report Volume 4 AGPS Canberra 1991 ch 29.

The Royal Commission Government Response Monitoring Unit, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission Implementation of Commonwealth Responses to the Recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody First Annual Report 1992-93 Vol 1 and 2. See also Commonwealth of Australia Aboriginal Deaths in Custody. Overview of the Response by Governments to the Royal Commission AGPS 1992.

House of Representatives Standing Committee on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs Justice under scrutiny. Report of the Inquiry into the implementation by Governments of the recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody AGPS November 1994.

⁹ Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission Racist Violence. Report of the National Inquiry into Racist Violence in Australia AGPS Canberra 1991.

¹⁰ Commonwealth Government Printer Canberra November 1991.

Access to Justice Advisory Committee Access to justice, an action plan Commonwealth of Australia 1994.

- Australia. Parliament. Senate Standing Committee on Finance and Public Administration Review of the Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman AGPS Canberra December 1991.
- 13 Report of a Commission of Inquiry pursuant to Orders in Council Brisbane 1989.
- 14 Queensland Police Service Review Report on the Review of the Queensland Police Service. Prepared for the Honourable Russell Cooper MLA Minister for Police and Corrective Services and Minister for Racing Brisbane July 1996.
- Parliament of Western Australia. Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service. Interim Report, Terms of reference 3 Parliament House June 1996.
- Parliament of New South Wales. The Joint Committee on the Office of the Ombudsman Inquiry upon the Role of the Ombudsman in Investigating Complaints Against Police April 1992.
- NSW Ombudsman NSW Police Complaints System December 1995.
- Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report Sydney 1996.
- 19 Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report. Immediate measures for the reform of the Police Service of New South Wales Sydney November 1996.
- 20 For a discussion of Project Guardian see 'Ethics and Ethos' Police Life August 1996, 4-6.
- M Mollen Commission to investigate allegations of police corruption and the anti-corruption procedures of the police department New York 1994.
- 22 IP ch 6.
- 23 IP ch 7.
- 24 M Findlay 'The Ambiguity of Accountability: Deaths in Custody and the Regulation of Police Power' [1994] Current Issues in Criminal Justice 234, 235.
- J Braithwaite 'Good and Bad Police Services and How to Pick Them' in H Eijkman and P Moir ed *Policing Australia: Old Issues, New Perspectives* Macmillan Co of Australia South Melbourne 1992, 13.
- Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly on 17 September 1979.
- 27 See ch 8.
- 28 C Shearing Organisational Police Deviance. Its Structure and Control Butterworths Toronto 1981, 1.
- 29 Submission 120.
- 30 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 178.
- B Etter 'Mastering innovation and change in police agencies' in B Etter & M Palmer eds Police Leadership in Australasia 281.
- 32 Submission 134.
- B Wigan & P Roger 'Intelligence, The Servant of Strategy: Empowering crime prevention and control' *Themis* The Journal for Justice Professionals Vol 1 No 1 March 1996 16-21 19.
- 34 ibid.
- In relation to the AFP see the AFP Act s 26E.
- 36 Access to Justice Report 313-316.
- 37 Submission 124.
- 38 Submission 129.
- 39 Submission 120.
- 40 A Goldsmith 'External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Complaints Procedures' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991 13-16, 14.
- 41 id 54-5.
- 42 See ch 13.
- 43 Lateral entry means there is greater movement across police forces by way of transfer at middle and senior levels and greater competition from applicants who have had careers external to the police forces.
- 44 Most notably, Fitzgerald Report 1989 Brisbane 148-149, Wood J, NSW Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Transcript, 4 October 1995, R Fox & I Mathews 'Drugs Policy: Fact, Fiction and the Future' 1992, 143-145.
- 45 In particular, Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority Drugs Crime and Society (The Cleeland Commission) 1989 AGPS 86-87.
- 46 Fitzgerald Report 148.
- 47 id 196
- 48 Wood J NSW Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Transcript 4 October 1995.
- 49 ibid.
- 50 New South Wales Police Service Submission to the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service 49.
- Police Board of New South Wales Submission to the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service November 1995, 5-6.
- 52 UTS Community Law Centre Submission 125.
- J White MP (Tasmania) also argued that drug laws had to be changed if police corruption was to be significantly reduced (the Hobart Consultations February 1996).
- Victoria. Premier's Drug Advisory Council *Drugs and our community* Melbourne 1996.
- AFP members are sworn in as and become members of the Norfolk Island Police Force under the *Norfolk Island Police Act 1931 (NI)* on taking up duty on Norfolk Island.
- 56 s 4.
- 57 ibid.
- 58 AFP Act s 6(2), (3) and s 27.
- 59 General Order 6.
- 60 AFP Annual Report 1995-96, 44.
- 61 ibid.
- 62 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 119-120.
- 63 AFP Annual Report 1995-96, 45.
- s 6A. An AFP appointee is a member of the AFP or a staff member of the AFP or a special member of the AFP appointed under s 27.
- s 6 and also see s 22.
- 66 AFP Annual Report 1995-96, 44.
- see Part II Division 3 particularly s 14.
- 68 s 14.
- 69 s 7.
- 70 s 16(4).
- 71 s 10.
- 72 s 8.

- 73 The Act allows a maximum of three years: s 17.
- AFP Submission 29. S 16(1) Complaints Act requires the Commissioner to ensure that at all times there are a minimum of 2 Federal police Officers serving in the IID.
- 75 s 16(2).
- 76 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96 AGPS Canberra 1995, 120.
- 77 s 23(1)(a).
- 78 s 46.
- 79 s 36.
- 80 s 21A.
- ISA was until recently the Internal Security and Audit Division (ISAD) but it is no longer a division under the new organisational structure of the AFP. Similarly the IID is also now referred to as II. However, the Complaints Act has not been amended to reflect that change so the Commission still refers to the stipulated statutory title of IID.
- 82 Fitzgerald report Brisbane 1989.
- 83 AFP Submission 29.
- 84 ibid.
- 85 see s 8.
- 86 Ombudsman Annual Report 1994-5, 157.
- 87 id 158.
- 88 ibid.
- 89 Information provided to the Commission by the Commonwealth Ombudsman.
- That is, from the receipt of the complaint by the IID until the file is first referred to the Ombudsman for review purposes.
- Old Calculated from when the IID refers a complaint for review to the Ombudsman and concluding when the Ombudsman advises the AFP that the matter is considered finalised by her Office.
- 92 See Ontario Ombudsman, *Public Opinion Survey: Winter 1991* Ontario 1991, which found that disadvantaged groups were less aware than the community generally of the existence of the Ombudsman and less willing to use the Office if aware of it: referred to in SSCFPA *Review of the Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman* AGPS Canberra 1991, para 5.77; D Brown *The Police Complaints Procedure: A Survey of Complainants' Views* Home Office Research Study No 93 HMSO London 1987.
- 93 ibid.
- 94 Administrative Review Council Access to Administrative Review by Members of Australia's Ethnic Communities Report No 34 AGPS Canberra 1991.
- 95 RCIADIC: National Report: Volume 4 AFPS Canberra 1991, 29.
- 96 C Alder, I O'Connor, K Warner & R White *Perceptions of the Treatment of Juveniles in the Legal System* National Youth Affairs Research Scheme National Clearinghouse for Youth Studies Hobart 1992.
- 97 See chapter 16.
- 98 Complaints Act s 6, 7, 23 and s 25(5).
- 99 s 35.
- 100 s 7(3).
- 101 s 46(1).
- 102 s 24.
- 103 s 36, 48. 104 s 37.
- 105 s 6(3)
- 106 Confidential Submission 40; G Ward Submission 57.
- 107 M Stevenson Canberra consultation March 1996.
- 108 B Alcroft Canberra consultation March 1996.
- 109 S Sheehan Submission 99.
- J Brookes Brisbane consultation March 1996.
- 111 Comment made at Norfolk Island consultation March 1996.
- R Hancock Submission 65.
- 113 S Stergiou Canberra consultation March 1996.
- 114 K Henderson Submission 64.
- 115 Comment made at public meeting Norfolk Island and Jervis Bay February 1996
- eg D Evans *Submission 61*; Department of the Environment, Sport and Territories *Submission 52*.
- 117 B Alcroft Canberra consultation March 1996.
- 118 Submission 104.
- 119 J Saunders Submission 104.
- 120 Meeting with AFP Officers Western Australia consultation March 1996.
- 121 AFP general Muster consultation Canberra March 1996.
- 122 AFP Officers consultation Jervis Bay February 1996.
- 123 Comment made at AFP Officers consultation Adelaide March 1996.
- 124 AFP General Muster Eastern Region Headquarters consultation Sydney December 1995.
- Meeting with AFP members Eastern Region December 1995; AFP General Muster Adelaide March 1996.
- 126 Mr L Sullivan President of the ACT Council for Civil Liberties Consultation Canberra March 1996.
 127 AFP General Muster Perth March 1996.
- 128 Meeting with AFP Officers Western Australia consultation March 1996.
- 129 Comment made by an AFP Officer at the Brisbane consultation March 1996.
- eg ACT General Muster March 1996.
- Comment made at consultation with the AFP General Muster Eastern Regional Headquarters December 1996.
- AFP General Muster Western Australia March 1996.
- 133 AFP General Muster Consultation Perth March 1996.
- 134 D Pearce 'The Commonwealth Ombudsman: The Right Office in the Wrong Place 'Speech given at the Conference of Public Law Canberra August 31 1996.
- 135 Submission 134.
- 136 Submission 106.
- 137 Ombudsman Submission 106.
- 138 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 178.

- 139 See ch 7.
- 140 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 120.
- 141 Submission 105.
- 142 R Campbell 'Ombudsman sees no virtue in law reformer's plan' *Canberra Times* 26 July 1996, 11; S Dunlevy 'Federal Police face new scrutiny' *The Daily Telegraph* 18 July 1996, 2; S Dunlevy 'Ombudsman to step up police checks' *The Daily Telegraph* 19 July 1996, 29; C Merritt 'Ombudsman rejects cutback' *Australian Financial Review* 24 July 1996; A Rose, ALRC President, 'Radical rethink needed on AFP complaints handling' *Canberra Times* 1 August 1996, 10; R Evans 'Ombudsman under fire' *Australian Lawyer* 31 August 1996, 8.
- 143 Submission 124.
- 144 Submission 105.
- 145 IACOLE Submission 54.
- 146 Justice Michael Kirby Submission 6.
- 147 A Goldsmith 'External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Complaints Procedures' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991, 40.
- 148 Police Service Administration Act 1990 s 1(4).
- 149 NSW Royal Commission Interim Report 91-2.
- 150 id 89-90.
- 151 DRP para 3.55-62.
- The figure of 70% is an estimate based on an effective and increased use of informal resolution; see ch 8, paras 8.17, 8.139 and ch 12, paras 12, 2–16
- National Crime Authority Act 1984 (Cth) s 37.
- 154 s 47.
- 155 s 47.
- 156 s 49 and 58.
- 157 According to the NCA the memorandum with South Australia is in draft form and is likely to be formally entered into soon.
- 158 s 50.
- 159 s 11(1)(c).
- 160 s 4
- 161 Information provided to the Commission by the NCA.
- 162 NCA Annual Report 1995-96, 62-64.
- 163 s 4.
- 164 s 51.
- Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia Who is to Guard the Guards? An evaluation of the National Crime Authority. Report by the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority November 1991, 131-2.
- 166 ibio
- Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia. 37th Parliament. A report of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority October 1994.
- 168 Submission 120.
- Access to Justice Advisory Committee Access to Justice, an action plan Canberra 1994, ch 12.
- 170 Channel 9 Sunday program 22 September 1996, 'A case of rough justice' The Canberra Times 7 September 1996.
- 171 Confidential Submission 131.
- The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia. Report of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority Operation Ark October 1990. Parliamentary Paper No 430 of 1990.
- 173 Submission 31.
- 174 Submission 91.
- 175 See ch 16.
- NCA Submission 91 and Attorney-General's Department Submission 97.
- 177 Submission 91.
- 178 Submission 66.
- 179 South Australian Police Submission 117, Victoria Police Submission 129.
- 180 Submission 111.
- Submission 53.
- Mr Eisman also argued that the IGIS staff and resources were too limited to investigate complaints concerning the AFP or the NCA. Sydney consultation March 1996.
- Australian Council for Civil Liberties Submission 53.
- 184 Submission 84
- 185 Comments made at a meeting with NCA staff at Perth consultation March 1996.
- 186 Comments made at a meeting with NCA staff at Perth consultation March 1996.
- 187 Comments made at a meeting with NCA staff at Perth consultation March 1996.
- 188 Confidential consultation.
- 189 Comments made at NCA staff consultation Adelaide March 1996.
- 190 Comments made at NCA staff consultation Adelaide March 1996.
- 191 Comments made at NCA staff consultation Adelaide March 1996.
- 192 Letter to the Commission 25 September 1996.
- 193 R N Mcleod Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security Submission 10.
- 194 Submission 120
- 195 A Wainwright, PCA South Australia consultation March 1996.
- SCOCCI is designed to enhance the strategic role and effectiveness of the NCA with State and Territory law enforcement systems. The funding arrangement is that the Commonwealth through the NCA will pay for all establishment costs and annual recurrent costs to the approximate value of \$100 000 per annum and the States and Territories will contribute \$200 000 to be contributed by them in proportion to their respective populations as at 1 July each year.
- 197 Submission 120.
- Submission 120 and letter from the PJC to the Commission 25 September 1996.
- 199 Kish v Taylor (1911) KB 625, 633-634; R v Hulme (1870) IR 5 QB 377.
- 200 Submission 120.
- 201 Submission 129.

- 202 J Saunders Submission 104.
- NSW Royal Commission into Police Interim Report para 5.48.
- J Saunders Submission 104.
- The Fitzgerald Inquiry investigators had access to federal tax records.
- 206 The Exposure Draft of the NSW Police Corruption Commission uses this distinction between 'managing 'and 'supervising'.
- 207 See ch
- 208 This mirrors cl 124 of the Exposure Draft of the NSW Police Corruption Bill 1996.
- 209 ALRC 35 Contempt Part VA.
- 210 J Saunders Submission 104.
- 211 R v Miller (unreported) NSW Supreme Court of Criminal Appeal, 3 May 1996 Mahoney P, McInerney, Hulme JJ per Mahoney P at 4 where evidence emerged from a statement by police officers at the Royal Commission into the NSW Police that police officers had perjured themselves and suppressed evidence. This evidence gave rise to an review of conviction under Part 13A of the Crimes Act 1900 (NSW).
- 212 Part 13A (s 474A-74P).
- 213 s 70.
- NSW Royal Commission into the Police Interim Report 95.
- 215 Submission 126.
- 216 Submission 120.
- Letter from the PJC to the Commission 25 September 1996.
- 218 See ch 7.
- 219 Submission 124.
- 220 Submission 129.
- 221 Police Service Administration Act 1990 (Qld) s 7.
- Letter from the PJC to the Commission 25 September 1996.
- 223 Attorney General's Department Submission 126, NCA Submission 120.
- 224 Submission 126.
- 225 Submission 124.
- 226 Submission 129.
- 227 Submission 120.
- 228 Butterworths Federal Criminal Law Vol 1 para 1-205-1-500, 2025-2039.
- 229 N Chrisakis Submission 100.
- 230 s 82-92.
- 231 Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 130-131.
- 232 ibid
- 233 S Bronitt and D Kinley 'Undercover policing: detection or deception?' in H Selby ed Tomorrow's Law Federation Press 1995, 8.
- Total expenditure in connection with the execution of warrants for telecommunications interception for 1994 totalled \$13 054 970 nationally. The AFP totalled \$186 177 and NCA totalled \$1 810 000. Source: *Telecommunications (Intercept)Act 1979 (Cth)* Report for the year ending 30 June 1994 AGPS Canberra 1995, 31.
- View expressed by Victorian Ombudsman consultation Melbourne March 1996.
- NSW Royal Commission into the Police *Interim Report* 99.
- 237 See para 7.86.
- A copy of the guidelines was given to the Commission by the AFP.
- 239 Submission 126.
- 240 Submission 124.
- Quoted by C Lewis 'Independent External Civilian Review of Police Conduct' in K Bryett and C Lewis eds *Un-Peeling tradition:*Contemporary Policing MacMillan Education Australia Pty Ltd Melbourne 103.
- 242 Submission 120.
- 243 Submission 129
- 244 Submission 106.
- 245 Submission 128.
 246 Submission 105.
- The South Australian Police Complaints Authority Annual report (p 58) records that the Authority has adopted these time limits in relation to complaints against the South Australian Police.
- These periods have been agreed upon by the South Australian Police Complaints Authority and the South Australian Police see PCA Annual Report 73.
- 249 Victoria Police Submission 129, Ombudsman Submission 106.
- 250 Submission 124.
- 251 Submission 129.
- As to police 'professionalisation' and professionalism see N Uildriks & H van Mastrigt *Policing Police Violence* Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers Deventer The Netherlands 1991, 205.
- I Freckelton & H Selby 'Piercing the Blue Veil: An Assessment of External Review of Police' in D Chappell & P Wilson *Australian Policing Contemporary Issues* Butterworths North Ryde 1989, 15, 28.
- D Meadus Complaints Against Police Officers in the Commonwealth of Australia study Winston Churchill Memorial Trust 1988, 55. See the discussion of the motives for police to discredit the complainant and concoct their responses in K Russell Complaints Against Police: A Sociological View 2nd ed Milltak Leicester 1978, 62-3.
- The problems of police corroboration of each others version of events, and the common lack of independent witnesses, is referred to extensively in the literature, see for example N Uildriks & H van Mastrigt *Policing Police Violence* Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers Deventer The Netherlands 1991, 110-111.
- 256 Submission 124.
- Submission 82.
- 258 Submission 84.
- Submission 83.
- 260 N Chrisakis Submission 100.
- 261 Submission 134.
- 262 Submission 129.
- 263 Submission 124.
- 264 Submission 120.

- 265 Submission 106.
- 266 Submission 105.
- 267 Submission 128.
- 268 Submission 133.
- 269 Submission 124.
- 270 Submission 133.
- 271 Submission 106
- Senate Standing Committee on Finance and Public Administration report para 5.54. 272
- 273 id para 5.54-70.
- 274 id para 5.48.
- D Pearce 'The Commonwealth Ombudsman: The Right Office in the Wrong Place 'Speech given at the Conference of Public Law August 31 275 1996.
- 276
- 277 Senior AFP police Melbourne consultation March 1996.
- 278 AFP consultation Hobart February 1996.
- 279 Submission 54.
- Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-6 AGPS Canberra 1995, 7. 280
- 281 NSW Royal Commission into the Police Service Interim Report 65.
- M Gissiner President IACOLE letter to the Commission 27 February 1996. 282
- 283 NSW Ombudsman submission to the NSW Royal Commission into the Police Service 23/11/95, Doc1761203-564, quoted in the NSW Royal Commission into the Police Service Interim Report at para 5.2.
- 284 Letter to the Commission 24 September 1996.
- 285 Consultation with the CJC March 1996.
- 286 Submission 104.
- 287 Consultation with the CJC September 1996.
- 288 Submission 106.
- 289 Letter from G Crooke QC Senior Counsel Assisting, Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service to the Commission, September 1996.
- 290 NSW Ombudsman Annual Report 1995-96, 21.
- 291 Submission 105
- Consultation with the CJC September 1996. 292
- 293 NSW Police Board submission to the NSW Royal Commission into the Police Service November 1995, 9.
- 294 Senator BC Cooney, Senator for Victoria Submission 130.
- 295 The Commission has settled on 95% because the Ombudsman would still have a small role to play in forwarding on complaints that are lodged with her offices -see ch 15. The figure \$590 000 is derived from the average yearly expenditure by the Ombudsman over the last three years ie 1992-3 \$618 000, 1993-4 \$769 000 and 1994-5 \$475 000.
- 296 For the AFP see ch 3 and for the NCA ch 5.
- 297 See ch 4 and 10.
- 298 See ch 5 and 10.
- 299 Letter to the Commission 1 October 1996.
- 300 Submission 126.
- 301 Submission 124.
- 302 Submission 106.
- 303 NSW Police Service Annual Report 1994-95 Appendices.
- 304 Letter to the Commission 5 June 1996.
- 305 Ombudsman for the Northern Territory of Australia Annual Report 1994-95, 27.
- 306
- 307 Consultation with R Green Tasmanian Ombudsman February 1996.
- 308 AFP Annual Report 1995-96.
- 309 Submission 106.
- Advice from S Westmacott Investigator, PCA 28 August 1996. 310
- Memorandum from Mr McKechnie QC, Director of Public Prosecutions, to the Premier, the Attorney-General and the Minister for Police 23 311 March 1994. Quoted by the WA Select Committee report 79-82.
- 312 NCA Submission 120.
- The FNB was disbanded in November 1979 and its responsibility for enforcing Commonwealth laws against imported drugs elsewhere than 313 at the Customs barrier was vested in the AFP. Staff of the FNB were transferred to the Office of the AFP on 7 November 1979 and some were appointed to the AFP in 1980.
- 314 S Corby and R Campbell 'Officers took bribes: ex-sex worker' Canberra Times 8 August 1996, 3.
- 315 Submission 104.
- 316 Submission 82.
- J Skolnick & D Bayley The New Blue Line: Police Innovation in Six American Cities Free Press New York 1986 quoted by B Etter 317 'Mastering Innovation and Change in Police Agencies' 292.
- 318 The Western Australian DPP used the phrase in relation to the Western Australia.
- 319 G Masterman 'External Review: The NSW Experience' in I Freckelton and H Selby eds Police in Our Society Butterworths Sydney 1988,
- 320 For example, Uildriks, N and van Mastrigt, H in Policing Police Violence Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers, 1991 at p 9cite the example that in 1987 the six supervisory members of the PCA received 3 730 cases, from which they selected 333 for supervision, ie less than 9% of the cases received.
- 321 Submission 134.
- eg C Hayes 'Ethics in policing today' RCMP Gazette Vol 56 No 12 1994, 10. 322
- 323 J Kleinig 'Teaching and Learning Police Ethics: Competing and Complementary Approaches' Journal of Criminal Justice Vol 18 Pergamon
- 324 I Oliver Police, Government and Accountability Macmillan Press Hampshire 1987, 3.
- Sir Robert Peel's Principles of Policing 1829 quoted by J Munday ' You Can Run, But You Can't Hide Dealing with the Media for Chief 325 Executives' in B Etter & M Palmer eds Police Leadership in Australasia 264.
- 326 Joint Committee on the National Crime Authority Hearing Law Reform Commission proposals for handling complaints against the NCA and AFP Canberra Monday 16 September 1996, 2.

- 327 C Lewis 'Independent External Civilian Review of Police Conduct' in Un-peeling Tradition: Contemporary Policing, K Bryett and C Lewis eds Centre for Australian Public Sector Management Brisbane 1994, 96.
- M Maguire & C Corbett A study of the Police Complaints System HMSO London 1991, 58. 328
- 329 id 191.
- 330 id 55.
- Scarman L The Brixton Disorders Cmnd 8247 HMSO London 1981 para 7.14. 331
- P Hewitt National Council for Civil Liberties A Fair Cop Reforming the Police Complaints Procedure Jupiter Press Ltd Great Britain 1982. Home Affairs Committee, Police Complaints Procedure, Vol II, p.3 (HC 98-II, 1982) quoted in above footnote at p 12. 332
- 333
- 334 S Uglow Policing Liberal Society Oxford University Press Oxford 1988.
- 335 Senior AFP police Melbourne consultation March 1996.
- K Lindsay Coalition Against Police Violence Brisbane consultation March 1996; B Greenhill Brisbane consultation March 1996; Fremantle 336 Community Justice Group Perth consultation march 1996; C Hamilton consultation Jervis Bay February 1996; D Evans Submission 90.
- 337 Consultation Norfolk Island March 1996; B Hewitt Submission 59.
- 338 Mr Cornes Brisbane consultation March 1996.
- 339 Submission 52.
- 340 Confidential Submission 48.
- P Fisk and D Goodman Consultation March 1996. 341
- 342 Hobart consultation March 1996.
- eg see A Goldsmith 'Introduction' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 343
- 344 R Green Tasmanian Ombudsman Hobart consultations February 1996.
- 345 South Australian Police Complaints Authority consultation Adelaide March 1996.
- 346 P Garde 'Maintaining Police Integrity: Denmark' in R Ward and R McCormack eds Managing Police Corruption: International Perspectives Office of International Criminal Justice Chicago 1987. Garde says that the reasons for this lack of corruption are four-fold; the thorough screening and vetting of applicants for the service combined with long training; the fundamentally apolitical, bureaucratic nature of police work; the almost complete absence of legislation attempting to prescribe moral regulations; and, the general nature of Danish law on criminal
- 347 See Betaenkning om behandling af klager over politipersonalet, afgivet af et af Justitsministeriet nedsat udvalg, betaenkning nr. 1278, Kobenhavn 1994 (A report reviewing the Danish police complaints system given by an ad hoc expert committee appointed by the Minister of
- 348 D Martin 'Organising for Change: A Community Law Response to Police Misconduct ' 4(1) Hastings Women's Law Journal 156.
- A Goldsmith 'External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Complaints Procedures' in A Goldsmith ed 349 Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991, 21.
- 350 W Petterson 'Police Accountability and Civilian Oversight of Policing: An American Perspective' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991.
- 351 id 272.
- 352 ibid.
- 353 Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report 3.
- 354 C Rivett Submission 63.
- 355 R Green Tasmanian Ombudsman Hobart consultations February 1996.
- 356 B Etter 'Mastering innovation and change in police agencies' in B Etter & M Palmer Police Leadership in Australasia Federation Press 1995,
- id 295. 357
- D Guyot 'Bending Granite: Attempts to Change the Rank Structure of American Police Departments' 400-02 in C Klockars ed Thinking 358 About Police: Contemporary Readings McGraw-Hill Book Company New York 1979 quoted in B Etter 'Mastering innovation and change in police agencies' in B Etter & M Palmer Police Leadership in Australasia Federation Press 1995, 291.
- J Robinson 'Police Effectiveness: Old Dilemmas, New Directions' in D Chappell & P Wilson eds Australian Policing Contemporary Issues 359 Butterworths Sydney 175.
- 360
- South Australia Police Review of Policing June 1994 33 quoted by B Etter 'Mastering innovation and change in police agencies' in B Etter & 361 M Palmer Police Leadership in Australasia Federation Press 1995, 285.
- 362 D Bayley Police for the Future Oxford University Press New York 1994, 65.
- See M Palmer 'Controlling Corruption' in P Moir and H Eijkman eds Policing Australia. Old Issues New Perspectives MacMillan Australia 363 Pty Ltd Melbourne 1992, 115.
- 364 I Freckelton & H Selby, 'Piercing the Blue Veil: An Assessment of External Review of Police' in D Chappell & P Wilson eds Australian Policing Contemporary Issues Butterworths North Ryde 1989, 19.
- 365 Submission 23.
- F Costigan Royal Commission on the Activities of the Federated Ship Painters and Dockers Union Final Report Canberra 1984; G Fitzgerald 366 Report of a Commission of Inquiry Pursuant to Orders in Council Government Printer Brisbane 1989; J Wood Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Sydney 1996; M Mollen Commission to Investigate Allegations of Police Corruption and the Anti-corruption Procedures of the New York Police Department New York 1994.
- 367 D Bayley 'Preface' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The trend to external review Oxford Clarendon Press 1987, ix-x.
- 368
- 369 C Lewis 'Independent External Civilian Review of Police Misconduct' in K Bryett and C Lewis eds Unpeeling Tradition: Contemporary Policing MacMillan Education Australia Pty Ltd 1994, 100.
- 370 I Freckelton and H Selby 'Piercing the Blue Veil' in D Chappell and P Wilson eds Australian Policing Contemporary Issues Butterworths Sydney 1989, 23.
- 371 D Landa and C Lewis 'Making the Police Accountable for the Conduct' in D Chappell and P Wilson eds Australian Policing Contemporary Issues 2nd ed Butterworths Sydney 1996, 2.
- 372 I Freckelton and H Selby 'Piercing the Blue Veil: An Assessment of External Review of Police' in D Chappell and P Wilson eds Australian Policing Contemporary Issues Butterworths North Ryde 1989, 19.
- 373 Fitzgerald report 289.
- 374 ibid.
- 375 Bingham report 240.
- 376 Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report 36, 39.
- 377 id 35.

- 378 id 59.
- 379 Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report para 5.2.
- 380 Interim Report Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service, Term of Reference 3, June 1996.
- 381 id 83.
- 382 id 96.
- 383 Fitzgerald report 285.
- M Mollen Commission to Investigate allegations of Police Corruption and the Anti-Corruption Procedures of the New York Police Department 1994, 85.
- 385 Police Complaints Board First Triennial Report Command 7966 HMSO 1980.
- 386 Home Office Research and Planning Unit Paper 5 Ethnic Minorities and Complaints Against the Police.
- 387 M Maguire and C Corbett A study of the Police Complaints System HMSO London 1991, 59.
- 388 T Landau Public Complaints Against the Police. A view from Complainants Centre of Criminology University of Toronto 1994, 76.
- B Beach (Chair) Addenda to the Report of the Board of Inquiry into Allegations Against Members of the Victoria Police Force Melbourne 1976; G Lucas Report of the Committee of Inquiry into the Enforcement of Criminal Law in Queensland Brisbane 1977; E Lusher Report of the Commission to Inquire into the New South Wales Police Administration Sydney 1981; D Stewart Report of the Royal Commission of Inquiry into Alleged Telephone Interceptions Canberra 1986; T Neesham Committee of Inquiry Victoria Police Force Melbourne 1985; G Fitzgerald Report of a Commission of Inquiry Pursuant to Orders in Council Brisbane 1989; J Lee Report of the Royal Commission of Inquiry into the Arrest, Charging and Withdrawal of Charges Against Harold James Blackburn and Matters Associated Therewith Sydney 1990; J Wood Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Sydney 1996.
- W Henry 'Police Corruption: Tradition and Evolution' in K Bryett and C Lewis eds Unpeeling Tradition: Contemporary Policing Australian Public Sector Management Brisbane 1994, 164.
- New South Wales Police NSW Police Service 1984 to 1988 to ... An Overview Sydney 1988, 3.
- 392 S Sheehan Submission 99.
- 393 Letter to the Commission 24 September 1996.
- 394 AFP Annual Report 1993/94.
- 395 United Nations General Debate Economic and Social Consequences of Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking: An Interim Report. Note by the Secretariat. Commission on Narcotic Drugs, 38th session Vienna 14-23 March 1995 Item 3 of the provisional agenda 3.
- J Langer 'A Preliminary Analysis: Corruption of Political, Economic, Legal and Social Elements in Communities Involved in International Drug Trafficking and it effects on Police Integrity Police Studies 9 (1) 42-56 quoted by M Palmer 'Controlling Corruption' in P Moir & H Eijkman Policing Australia Old Issues New Perspectives Macmillan South Melbourne 1992, 119.
- 397 J Walker Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice Australian Institute of Criminology August 1992.
- 398 ibid.
- 399 Letter of 4 November 1996 to the Commission.
- 400 T Dickerson 'A need for closer working relationships with the media' AFP Platypus No 50 March 1996, 27-29.
- 401 M Palmer 'The Likely Environment in the Year 2000 and Beyond' in B Etter & M Palmer eds Police Leadership in Australasia Federation Press Sydney 1995, 1-39, 30.
- 402 Assistant Commissioner A Mills 'Organised crime goes global' in Journal of the AFP Platypus September 1995 No 48, 19.
- 403 D SchrammAFP Director International 'Isolation no longer a national buffer against trans-national crime' Platypus No 51 June 1996, 5.
- 404 ibid.
- 405 Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service Interim Report 88
- ⁴⁰⁶ reg 5
- 407 AFP Annual Report 1995-1996, 45.
- 408 AFP Annual Report 1995-1996, 45.
- 409 The person would be excluded from Subdivisions B, C, D and E of Division 3 of Part VIA of the Industrial Relations Act 1998 (Cth).
- 410 Hansard (Sen) 29 May 1996, 1316.
- 411 Submission 124.
- 412 Letters to the Commission dated 21 October 1996, 25 October 1996.
- 413 Submission 129.
- 414 Submission 129.
- 415 Submission 121.
- 416 *Submission 121.*
- 417 Submission 132.
- 418 Submission 120.
- 419 Submission 120.
- 420 Cth Ombudsman Submission 17.
- 421 s 26.
- 422 s 11(3).
- 423 s 11(5)-(7).
- 424 s 54(5).
- 425 s 76(1).
- 426 Ombudsman Submission 17, AFP Submission 29.
- 427 Information provided to the Commission by the AFP.
- 428 Meeting with members of the Victorian police, including members of the Victoria Police IID March 1996.
- 429 Meeting with members of the Tasmania police March 1996.
- South Australian Police Consultation March 1996.
- 431 AFP Consultation March 1996.
- 432 Submission 119.
- 433 AFP Submission 29.
- 434 R v White: Ex parte Byrnes (1963) 109 CLR 665.
- 435 Hardcastle v Commissioner of Police (1984) 53 ALR 593, 597.
- 436 Police Regulation Act 1958 (Vic) s 70.
- 437 s 71.
- 438 s 72.
- 439 s 73.
- 440 s 75.
- 441 (1939) 60 CLR 336.

- 442 Police Regulation Act 1958 (Vic) s 91E -s 91I.
- J Braithwaite 'Good and Bad Police Services and How to Pick Them' in H Eijkman and P Moir eds *Policing Australia: Old Issues, New Perspectives* Macmillan Co of Australia South Melbourne 1992, 13.
- 444 Administrative Review Council. Better Decisions: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals Report No 39 AGPS Canberra 1995.
- 445 id 11
- 446 ibid.
- 447 See Health Insurance Commission decisions under *Health Insurance Act 1973* eg review of decision of the Minister after internal review in respect of a qualification held by a person.
- 448 Merit Protection and Review Agency Submission 67; Law Council of Australia ACT Submission 84; Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 33.
- 449 Submission 83.
- 450 Submission 71.
- 451 Submission 114.
- 452 Submission 119.
- 453 AFP Adelaide Consultation March 1996.
- 454 Submission 129.
- 455 Submission 126.
- 456 Submission 126.
- 457 Consultation March 1996.
- 458 Submission 132.
- 459 Submission 132.
- 460 53 ALR 593, 597.
- 461 Administrative Review Council. Better Decisions: review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals Report No 39 AGPS Canberra 1995.
- 462 ibid
- 463 The Security Appeals Division was created by the *Law and Justice Legislation Amendment Act (No 1) 1996* (Cth) which abolished the Security Appeals Tribunal and transferred those functions to the new division of the AAT.
- 464 Submission 120.
- 465 Submission 120.
- 466 Submission 111.
- 467 Submission 108.
- 468 Submission 117.
- 469 Submission 129.
- 470 Confidential consulation.
- 471 *Submission 120.*
- 472 Submission 129.
- 473 AAT Submission 132, Attorney-General's Department Submission 126.
- 474 Complaints AFP Regulations reg 9.
- 475 (1938) 60 CLR 336, 361.
- 476 id 362.
- 477 Re Kirby and Collector of Customs (1989) 20 ALD 369, 377. In that case the AAT said that it applies the approach adopted in Briginshaw v Briginshaw that reasonable satisfaction is not a state of mind that is attained or established independently of the nature and consequence of the fact or facts to be proved.
- 478 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations WA Submission; Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 76; Law Council of Australia Submission 84; Attorney-General's Department Submission 85; Victoria Police Submission 129; NCA Submission 120.
- 479 Submission 50.
- 480 Submission 52.
- Comment made at AFP General Muster consultation Adelaide March 1996; AFP General Muster Sydney December 1995.
- In the State disciplinary tribunals, the standards are as follows:

Western Australia balance of probabilities

South Australia beyond reasonable doubt

Victoria balance of probabilities

Tasmania balance of probabilities

New South Wales balance of probabilities

Queensland balance of probabilities

Northern Territory balance of probabilities.

- 483 Complaints Act s 7(5)-(6).
- 484 s 27(5)-(6).
- 485 As to the operation of the 'use only' immunity see: M Findlay 'International Rights and Australian Adaptations: Recent Developments in Criminal Investigation' (1995) 17 Sydney Law Review 278, 286--290.
- 486 s 7(8), s 44.
- 487 s 28.
- 488 Police Association of South Australia Submission 50; Victorian Council for Civil Liberties Submission 74; ACT Director of Public Prosecutions Submission 36.
- 489 Comments made at AFP General Muster consultation Sydney December 1995.
- 490 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations WA Submission 33; The Law Society of Western Australia Submission 52; Law Council of Australia Submission 84; Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 76.
- 491 Submission 106.
- 492 Submission 129
- 493 Complaints Act s 83.
- 494 Submission 129.
- 495 Submission 120.
- 496 AdministrativeAppeals Tribunal Act 1975 (Cth) s 62.
- 497 Section 60(3) of the AAT Act gives witnesses before the Tribunal the same immunities as witnesses before the High Court. The AAT has also held that no adverse conclusion should be drawn by the fact that a person declines to answer a question on the basis that to do so may be incriminating: *Dolan v Australian and Overseas Telecommunications Corp* (1993) 31 ALD 510.
- 498 Submission 124.

- 499 Australian Security Intelligence Organization Act 1979 (Cth) s 69. This provision was repealed when the SAT was abolished and the Security Appeals Division of the AAT created by the Law and Justice Legislation Amendment (No 1) Act 1995 (Cth).
- 500 Submission 126.
- 501 Senate Standing Committee for The Scrutiny of Bills Alert Digest No 1 of 1996, 40.
- 502 Submission 126.
- 503 Submission 120.
- 504 Submission 135.
- 505 Submission 126.
- 506 Complaints Act s 74.
- 507 A person who fails to comply with such directions may be imprisoned for six months.
- 508 Administrative Appeals Tribunal Act 1975 (Cth) s 35.
- 509 Submission 129.
- 510 Submission 135.
- 511 Submission 120.
- 512 Complaints Act s 75(6).
- 513 AAT Act s 27.
- 514 Complaints Act s 68.
- T Howe, Deputy Director AGS (ACT). 515
- 516 Submission 120.
- 517 Submission 129.
- 518 Commission's consultants meeting Sydney September 1996.
- 519 Complaints Regulations reg 7.
- 520 Australian Law Reform Commission Report 75 Costs Shifting - who pays for litigation Sydney 1995.
- 521 Administrative Review Council Report No 39 Better Decisions: Review of Commonwealth Merits Review Tribunals AGPS Canberra 1995.
- 522 id Recommendation 21.
- 523 Submission 126.
- 524 Submission 129.
- 525 Submission 132.
- 526 Submission 120.
- 527 Submission 124.
- 528 Consultation Canberra 24 August 1995.
- 529 AAT Act s 69.
- Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations WA Submission 33; Merit Protection and Review Agency Submission 67; 530 Victorian Council for Civil Liberties Submission 74; The Law Council of Australia Submission 84.
- 531 Submission 120.
- 532 Complaints Act s 79.
- 533 s 80.
- 534 s 79(3).
- 535 Submission 120.
- 536 Submission 135.
- 537 Submission 129.
- 538 Submission 132. 539 Submission 120.
- 540 Submission 76.
- 541
- Correspondence from NADRAC dated 14 March 1996 and 3 September 1996. 542 A Durbach 'Test Case Mediation - Privatising the Public Interest' (1995) Australian Dispute Resolution Journal 233.
- 543 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations WA Submission 33; Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 76; Attorney-General's Department Submission 85.
- 544 Submission 135.
- 545 Submission 135.
- 546 Submission 129
- 547 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 33.
- Attorney-General's Department Submission 85 who thought that although the fact conciliation had taken place should be recorded the 548 question of whether the outcome should be recorded was a question for police management.
- 549 The Law Society of Western Australia Submission 52.
- 550 Submission 76.
- 551 Submission 135
- Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 33; Heald CJ Submission 40; ICAC Submission 63; 552 Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 76; Attorney-General's Department Submission 85.
- 553 Attorney-General's Department Submission 126; Correspondence from NADRAC 3 September 1996.
- 554 C Alder & J Wundersitz (eds) Family Conferencing and Juvenile Justice The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism? Australian Institute of Criminology Canberra 1994.
- 555 Submission 135.
- 556 Correspondence from NADRAC dated 3 September 1996.
- 557 Letter to the Commission.
- 558 Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board Submission 12.
- 559 (1984) 53 ALR 593, 597.
- 560 AFP (Discipline) Regulation 20.
- 561 Submission 129.
- 562 (Discipline) Regulation 22.
- 563 Correspondence from the AFP dated 11 September 1996.
- 564 Submission 129.
- 565 AFP (Discipline) Regulations reg 19.
- 566 Consultation Canberra August 1995.
- 567 ibid.
- 568 s 49.

- 569 AFP (Discipline) Regulations reg 18A and reg 2(2)(c) & (d).
- 570 A Frieberg and M Pfeffer 'The (Deferred) Wages of Sin: Confiscating Superannuation Benefits' (1993) 17 Criminal Law Journal 156, 157.
- 571
- 572 Attorney-General's Department Submission 126.
- 573 574 Submission 63.
- 575 Consultation AFPA Canberra 24 August 1995.
- 576 Submission 50.
- 577 Submission 126.
- 578 ibid.
- 579 Correspondence from AFP dated 11 September 1996.
- 580 A Frieberg & M Pfeffer 'The (Deferred) Wages of Sin: Confiscating Superannuation Benefits' (1993) 17 Criminal Law Journal 157, 172.
- 581 House of Representatives Hansard, 24 May 1989, 2851 per A Griffiths and House of Representatives.
- A Frieberg and M Pfeffer 'The (Deferred) Wages of Sin: Confiscating Superannuation Benefits' (1993) 17 Criminal Law Journal 156, 174. 582
- 583 id 175-177.
- 584 Public Officers' Superannuation Benefits Recovery Act 1988 (Qld) s 8(1)(b).
- 585 A Frieberg and M Pfeffer 'The (Deferred) Wages of Sin: Confiscating Superannuation Benefits' (1993) 17 Criminal Law Journal 156, 177.
- 586 ibid.
- 587 id 162.
- 588 id 178.
- 589 id 180.
- 590 Correspondence from AFP dated 11 September 1996.
- 591 Legal Aid Office (ACT) Submission 44; Coalition Against Police Violence (QLD) Submission 53; Privacy Commissioner (NSW) Submission 61; Law Council of Australia (ACT) Submission 84; Attorney General's Department Submission 85.
- Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 33; CJ Heald Submission 40; ICAC NSW Submission 63; 592 The Law Society of Western Australia Submission 84.
- 593
- s 38A. 594
- 595 Submission 129.
- 596 Submission 132.
- 597 Submission 129.
- 598 Submission 16.
- 599 Submission 129
- 600 Submission 23. 601 Submission 124.
- 602 Submission 124.
- 603 Submission 129.
- 604 Commonwealth of Australia Review of systems for dealing with fraud on the Commonwealth AGPS Canberra 1987, 38.
- 605 ibid.
- T Prenzler, A Harrison and A Ede 'The Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service: Implications for Reform' (1996) 72(6) Current 606 Affairs Bulletin 4.
- 607 id 11. See also J Hunt 'The Logic of Sexism Among Police' 1990 1(2) Women and Criminal Justice and D Carter, A Sapp and D Stephens The State of Police Education Policy Direction for the 21st Century Police Executive Research Forum Washington DC 1989.
- 608 A Horin 'Police Women no more'virtous' the men: report' 31 July 1996 Sydney Morning Herald 2.
- 609 T Prenzler, A Harrison and A Ede 'The Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service: Implications for Reform' (1996) 72 (6) Current Affairs Bulletin 11. See also L Brown and A Willis 'Authoritarianism in British Police Recruits: Importation, Socialization or Myth' Journal of Occupational Psychology 58 1985; R Wortley and R Homel 'Police Prejudice as a Function of Training and Outgroup Contact: A Longitudinal Investigation' Law and Human Behaviour 19(3) 1995.
- 610 P Grabowsky 'Wayward Governance: Illegality and Its Control in the Public Sector' Australia Institute of Criminology Canberra 1989.
- Submission 120. 611
- 612 Submission 129
- 613 CLEB Annual Report 1994-1995 AGPS Canberra 1995.
- 614 Submission 120.
- 615 Submission 129
- 616 Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 33; Legal Aid Office (ACT) Submission 38; Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 76; Law Council of Australia Submission 84; Attorney General's Department Submission 85.
- 617 Submission 84 Law Council of Australia, Submission 76 Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 38 Legal Aid Office (ACT).
- 618 Confidential consultation.
- 619 Submission 120.
- Submission 124. 620
- 621 Submission 120.
- 622 The Ministerial Council on the Administration of Justice Directions in Australasian Policing July 1994-1996, 1.
- 623 New South Wales Hansard Legislative Assembly Mr Whelan Minister for Police, Second Reading Speech Police Corruption Commission Bill 24 April 1996, 13.
- 624 This information about the Conference was provided to the Commission by the AFP.
- 625 Submission 129
- 626 Submission 118.
- 627 s 4.
- 628 ibid.
- 629 Commissioner of Police v Peter Gerald Sloane (unreported) Federal Police Disciplinary Tribunal, 25 September 1985 Jenkinson J (DP).
- 630
- 631
- 632 For a discussion of remedies see J Harrison & S Cragg Police Misconduct: Legal Remedies 2nd ed Legal Action Group London 1991.
- 633 s 24(2).
- 634 Submission 124.
- 635 Submission 126.

- 636 Submission 129.
- 637 AFP General Order 6, s 1.
- 638 Internal complaints (ie complaints made to an AFP appointee by another AFP appointee) are excluded by s 6(4).
- 639 s 4
- 640 s 5(3). In s 3(3) action 'in relation to employment' is defined to include action 'with respect to the promotion, termination of appointment or discipline of, or the payment of remuneration to, AFP appointees'.
- 641 AFP Submission 24, Attorney-General's Department Submission 126.
- 642 Complaints Act s 24.
- 643 Submission 106.
- National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau Submission 97.
- 645 Submission 129.
- eg Complaints Act s 5, 22.
- AFP Act s 3(1). Also see: s 6(2): 'The *members* of the Australian Federal Police are: (a) the Commissioner of Police; and (b) a Deputy Commissioner or the Deputy Commissioners of Police; and (c) senior executive commissioned police officers; and (d) other commissioned police officers; and (e) non-commissioned police officers.'; s 6(3) AFP Act: 'The *staff members* of the Australian Federal Police are senior executive officers, and other officers who are not police officers.'; s 27 AFP Act provides that *special members* may be appointed by the Commissioner of the AFP with such powers and duties as are specified in the instrument of appointment. [Italics supplied]
- 648 Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 47.
- 649 s 23(1)(a).
- 650 Submission 129.
- 651 s 24.
- T O'Gorman has suggested that public interest groups should have standing to make a complaint: consultants' meeting 7 September 1995. See also ALRC Report 78 Beyond the doorkeeper standing to sue for public remedies.
- Note *Police and Criminal Evidence Act* s 88 (UK) which expressly allows for complaints to be received and sent to the Police Complaints Authority by various bodies.
- 654 Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 47.
- 655 Submission 120, Submission 129 and Submission 106.
- 656 s 5(1)(c).
- 657 s 24(1)(d)
- 658 Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 47.
- This perception casts doubt on the effectiveness of the victimisation offence in Complaints Act s 88A.
- see generally A Goldsmith 'External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Complaints Procedures' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991, 20.
- It should be noted that the incidence of anonymous complaints does not appear to be high. For example, research into complaints against police in New South Wales showed that less than 3% of complaints in 1990 and 1991 were anonymous: J Stubbs *Complaints Against Police In New South Wales* New South Wales Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research Attorney-General's Department Sydney 1992, 8-9.
- Section 24(1)(d) allows the Ombudsman to determine that a complaint not be investigated if in his/her opinion the investigation of the action is not warranted having regard to all the circumstances.
- 663 AFP General Muster Western Australia March 1996; AFP officers Jervis Bay consultation February 1996.
- AFP General Muster Western Australia March 1996.
- AFP General Muster Western Australia March 1996.
- 666 Submission 124.
- 667 Submission 129
- Instruction to IID 16 July 1996.
- Information provided by the AFP 18 November 1996.
- 670 s 19. The penalty is 20 penalty units. It is also an offence to make a false statement to the Ombudsman: Ombudsman Act s 44 (20 penalty units).
- 671 SSFCPA Review of the Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman AGPS Canberra December 1991.
- 672 Police Administration Act 1978 (NT) s 150.
- 673 Criminal Justice Act 1989 (Qld) s 136.
- 674 Criminal Justice Act 1989 (Qld) s 137.
- 675 Police (Complaints and Disciplinary Proceedings) Act 1985 (SA) s 49.
- DP Smeaton, Executive Member, Commonwealth Law Enforcement Board Submission 12.
- 677 eg AFP general muster Eastern Region Sydney December 1996 ; meeting with AFP officers consultation Jervis Bay February 1996; Meeting with AFP officers general muster Adelaide March 1996.
- 678 AFP General Muster Brisbane March 1996.
- AFP General Muster Consultation ACT March 1996; AFP General Muster Sydney December 1995.
- AFP Brisbane consultation March 1996.
- AFP General Muster Western Australia March 1996.
- The Working Party consisted of the AFP, the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the federal Attorney-General's Department.
- The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia. Report by the Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs Complaints (Australian Federal Police) Amendment Bill 1994 Senate Printing Unit Parliament House 1994 Canberra 7-13.
- Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative Investigations (WA) Submission 18.
- 685 s 87.
- Ombudsman Act s 41.
- 687 s 87(3A).
- 688 Submission 17.
- 689 Submission 129.
- 690 Public Interest Disclosure Act 1994 (ACT), Whistleblowers Protection Act 1994 (QLD), Protected Disclosures Act 1988 (NSW), Whistleblowers Protection Act 1993 (SA), Official Corruption Commission Act 1988 (WA).
- 691 Submission 95.
- The Review of Commonwealth Criminal Law (the Gibbs Committee) was set up in 1987 and released its final report in December 1991. In the course of its review the Committee examined proposed reforms to the official secrecy laws and examined whistleblowing in this context. See the Review of Commonwealth Criminal Law *Final Report* December 1991 Parliamentary Paper No 371 of 1991.
- 693 See report of the Commission of Inquiry into the Australian Secret Intelligence Service (Samuels' Commission) 1995.
- 694 Submission 51.

- 695 Submission 126
- 696 AFP Submission 124; Victoria Police Submission 129.
- 697 Submission 120.
- 698 Confidential consultation
- 699 The Whistleblowers Protection Bill 1991 (Cth) was introduced by Senator Valantine on 12 December 1991.
- 700 Independent Commission Against Corruption Corruption Matters April/May 1996 No 2.
- 701 AFP Act s 37.
- 702 Submission 124.
- 703 Submission 129.
- 704 Commonwealth Attorney-General Submission 126, NCA Submission 120.
- 705 s 88
- 706 Submission 29.
- Submission 129. 707
- 708 Submission 76.
- 709 Submission 29.
- 710 Submission 95.
- 711 Submission 129.
- 712 AFP Act s 64B.
- NCA Submission 120; AFP Submission 124; Victoria Police Submission 129; Ombudsman Submission 106. 713
- 714 Complaints Act s 5 (1).
- 715 Complaints Act s 22 (3).
- s 22 (4). 716
- 717 s 18.
- 718 Complaints Regulations reg 4(1).
- 719 s 43, Complaints Regulations reg 6.
- 720 s 18(2).
- 721 s 38(2).
- 722 See Complaints Regulations reg 4(2), 5.
- 723 Complaints Regulations reg 4(1)(b), 6(a)(ii).
- This observation was made in respect of the NSW complaints system, J Stubbs consultants' meeting 7 September 1995 and see J Stubbs 724 Complaints against the Police in New South Wales NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research Sydney 1992, 5-6.
- 725 A Goldsmith ' External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Police Complaints Procedures' in A Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991, 22
- 726 Information Privacy Principle 10 deals with limits on the use of personal information and provides that a record keeper who has records containing personal information obtained for a particular purpose shall not use the information obtained for other purposes unless the individuals involved have consented, it is authorised by law or it is necessary for enforcement of a criminal law or other law. Other situations where the information could be used are where the record keeper believes on reasonable grounds that the information is necessary to prevent or lessen a serious or imminent threat to the life or health of an individual or the purpose for which the information is used is directly related to the purpose for which the information was obtained.
- 727 Submission 106.
- 728 Submission 106.
- 729 NCA Submission 120; Victoria Police Submission 129.
- 730 Submission 124.
- A Goldsmith ' External Review and Self-Regulation: Police Accountability and the Dialectic of Police Complaints Procedures' in A 731 Goldsmith ed Complaints Against the Police. The Trend to External Review Clarendon Press Oxford 1991, 22; M Maguire and C Corbett A Study of the Police Complaints System London: HMSO 1991, 19-21.
- 732 Submission 129.
- 733 Issues Paper para 9.8.
- 734 Submission 120.
- 735 Submission 129
- 736 see ch 3.
- 737 AFP Act s 9.
- 738
- 739 However Part III of the Complaints Act which deals with the responsibilities of the Ombudsman is the portfolio responsibility of the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet.
- 740 Commonwealth Ombudsman Submission 106, ACT Attorney-General Submission 122.
- 741 Submission 124.
- 742 AFP Act s 8(1)(aa).
- 743 These arrangements are entered into under the AFP Act s 8(1)(c).
- ALRC Report 69 (Part 1) Equality before the law: equality for women Appendix 3. 744
- 745
- 746 House of Representatives Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs. Islands in the Sun. The Legal Regime of Australia's External Territories and the Jervis Bay Territory AGPS Canberra 1991.
- 747
- 748 House of Representatives Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs. Islands in the Sun. The Legal Regime of Australia's External Territories and the Jervis Bay Territory AGPS Canberra 1991.
- 749 The Cocos (Keeling) Islands have only one AFP appointee.
- 750 Submission 124.
- 751 Submission 124.
- 752 Issues Paper paras 11.17-20.
- 753 Submission 106.
- 754 Submission 107.
- 755 Submission 124.
- 756 D Evans Submission 113.
- 757 Submission 129.
- 758 Submission 120

- 759 Dalton Morgan & Associates.
- 760 Submission 129.
- 761 Submission 97.
- 762 Comments made at Sydney consultants meeting August 1996.
- 763 Submission 106.
- 764 Submission 124.
- 765 Submission 136.
- Submission 126. 766
- 767 Submission 76.
- 768 Submission 65.
- 769 Submission 32.
- 770 eg HREOC Inquiry into racist violence.
- 771 Submission 55.
- 772 Submission 55.
- 773 Submission 101.
- 774 Submission 124.
- 775 Submission 115.
- 776 777 The Australian Capital Territory Domestic Violence Community Law Reform Committee, Canberra 1995, 82.
- id 103.
- 778 Correspondence from CAPV dated 23 September 1996.
- 779 Submission 106.
- 780 Submission 45
- 781 The Convenant was adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on 16 December 1966.
- 782 Australia did not ratify Article 4(a).
- 783 The Convention opened to signature on 7 March 1966 and was adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on 21 December 1965.
- 784 The Convention was adopted by the General Assembley of the United Nations in December 1984 and entered into force on 26 June 1987.